
1
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

South Florida Water Management District

GOVERNING BOARD MONTHLY MEETING 
AGENDA

This meeting is open to the public

May 9, 2013
9:00 AM

District Headquarters - B-1 Auditorium
3301 Gun Club Road

West Palm Beach, FL 33406

FINAL REVISED 05/08/2013 4:40 PM

Pursuant to Section 373.079(7), Florida Statutes, all or part of this meeting may be conducted 
by means of communications media technology in order to permit maximum participation of 
Governing Board members.

The Governing Board may take official action at this meeting on any item appearing on this 
agenda and on any item that is added to this agenda as a result of a change to the agenda 
approved by the presiding officer of the meeting pursuant to Section 120.525, Florida Statutes. 
The order of items appearing on the agenda is subject to change during the meeting and is at 
the discretion of the presiding officer. Public Comment will be taken after each presentation and 
before any Governing Board action(s) except for Governing Board hearings that involve the 
issuance of final orders based on recommended Orders received from the Florida Division of 
Administrative Hearings.

1. Call to Order - Dan O'Keefe, Chair, Governing Board

2. Pledge of Allegiance - Dan O'Keefe, Chair, Governing Board

3. Recognition of former Governing Board Member Joe Collins - Dan O'Keefe, 
Chair, Governing Board

4. Employee Recognitions - Presented by Melissa Meeker, Executive Director

• May Employee of the Month and Good Samaritan Award:  Ed Artau, Senior 
Attorney, Office of Counsel

• May Team of the Month:  Land Management Team, Operations, Maintenance 
& Construction



2
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

• 25 Year Service Recognition:  Tom Teets, Federal Policy Chief, Everglades 
Policy & Coordination 

5. Agenda Revisions - Reagan Walker, Director, Office of Governing Board & 
Executive Services

6. Abstentions by Board Members from items on the Agenda

7. Water Resources Advisory Commission (WRAC) Report - Kevin Powers, 
Chair



3
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

Consent Agenda

Members of the public wishing to address the Governing Board are to complete a Public 
Comment Card and submit the card to the front desk attendant. You will be called by the Board
Chair or designee to speak. If you want to request that an item be removed from the Consent 
Agenda and be discussed by the Governing Board, please advise the Governing Board when 
you are called upon to speak. Governing Board directives limit comments from the public to 3 
minutes unless otherwise determined by the Governing Board Chair. Your comments will be 
considered by the Governing Board prior to adoption of the Consent Agenda.

Unless otherwise determined by the Chair, Board action on pulled Consent Agenda items will 
occur at or after 9:00 a.m. on Thursday. Regulatory items pulled from the Consent Agenda for 
discussion will be heard during the Discussion Agenda. Unless otherwise noted, all Consent 
Agenda items are recommended for approval.

8. Public Comment on Consent Agenda

9. Pull Items for Discussion from Consent Agenda

10. Board Comment on Consent Agenda

11. Approval of Minutes for the April 11, 2013, Regular Business meeting held in 
West Palm Beach, Florida

12. Regulatory Consent Items - ITEM REVISED

• Permit Denials 
• Consent Orders
• Conservation Easement Amendment and Releases
• Water Use Variances

Application No 990115-7  Powell Ranch (Tiger Cattle):  Withdrawn

Release of conservation easements added for:
City of Kissimmee / Shingle Creek, Arrow Ridge and Villa Del Sol 

13. Right of Way Occupancy New Permits

• Right of Way Occupancy Permit Modifications

14. Waivers for Water Resources Advisory Commission (WRAC) Members 
pursuant to Section 112.313, Florida Statutes

15. Resolution No. 2013 - 0501 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District approving release of District canal, 
road and mineral reservations, and issuance of non-use commitments; 
providing an effective date. (OMC, Kathy Massey, ext. 6835)



4
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

16. Resolution No. 2013 - 0502 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District approving the conveyance of fee 
owned right of way interests containing  0.19 acres, more or less, to Miami-
Dade County at no cost; being a portion of the C-103S right of way, in Section 
18, Township 57 South, Range 39 East, Miami-Dade County, and approve 
the waiver of the reservation of rights pursuant to Section 270.11, Florida 
Statutes, subject to satisfaction of certain terms, conditions and requirements; 
providing an effective date. (OMC, Kathy Massey, ext. 6835)

17. Resolution No. 2013 - 0503 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing the Executive Director, 
or her designee, to take appropriate action in the casting of South Florida 
Water Management District landowner votes in the June 2013 election for the 
Board of Supervisors of the Troup Indiantown Water Control District for the 
purpose of protecting the District's interests; providing an effective date. 
(OMC, Ray Palmer, Ext. 2246) - ITEM REVISED

18. Resolution No. 2013 - 0504 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing the Executive Director, 
or her designee, to take appropriate action in the casting of South Florida 
Water Management District landowner votes in the June 2013 election for the 
Board of Supervisors of the Pine Tree Water Control District for the purpose 
of protecting the District's interests; providing an effective date. (OMC, Ray 
Palmer, ext. 2246) - ITEM REVISED

19. Resolution No. 2013 - 0505 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing the Executive Director, 
or her designee, to take appropriate action in the casting of District landowner 
votes in the June 2013 election for the Board of Supervisors of the Pal Mar 
Water Control District for the purpose of protecting the District's interests; 
providing an effective date. (OMC, Ray Palmer, ext. 2246)

20. Resolution No. 2013 - 0506 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District approving a new 10-year lease 
agreement for 570.77 acres in Palm Beach County, between the current 
lessee Pero Family Farms, Inc., Palm Beach County and the District in the 
amount of $178,477.50 per year as revenue to the District; providing an 
effective date. (Contract Number 4600002862) (OMC, Jayne Bergstrom, ext. 
2864)

21. Resolution No. 2013 - 0507 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing the Florida Fish and 
Wildlife Conservation Commission to manage alligator and waterfowl hunting 
opportunities on Tract numbers D7100-101, 49104-001, and 49104-002 
consisting of approximately 11,389 acres within Compartment C and STA 6 in 
Hendry County during 2013 and subsequent years, subject to certain terms 
and conditions; providing an effective date. (OMC, Dan Cotter, ext. 2301)



5
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

22. Resolution No. 2013 - 0508 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing the Florida Fish and 
Wildlife Conservation Commission to establish SFWMD tracts consisting of 
approximately 4892 acres in Miami-Dade County, and approximately 1170 
acres in St. Lucie County, as Public Small Game Hunting Areas for the 2013-
14 hunting season and manage waterfowl, small game, non-native reptile and 
hog hunting on such lands subject to terms and conditions; providing an 
effective date. (OMC, Dan Cotter, ext. 2301)

23. Resolution No. 2013 - 0509 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing a three-year contract 
with two (2) one-year renewal options with James L. King and Associates, 
Inc., the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, for Flat Mowing Services 
in the Clewiston Field Station area, in the amount of $740,155.26 for three 
years, of which $158,605.70  in ad valorem funds are budgeted and the 
remainder is subject to Governing Board approval of the FY14-FY16 budgets; 
providing an effective date. (Contract Number 4600002863) (OMC, Mitchell 
Murphy, ext. 3218)

24. Resolution No. 2013 - 0510 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing entering into a 
Memorandum of Understanding with Palm Beach Aggregates, LLC to 
establish the framework of responsibilities for the design, permitting, 
construction and operation of the Phase 1 C-51 Reservoir; providing an 
effective date.  (Contract Number 4600002864) (REG, Lennart Lindahl, ext. 
6283) - SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ADDED

25. Resolution No. 2013 - 0511 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District amending Section 101-222 (a) and 
(b), Section 120-1 (e) and (f) and Section 140 –12 (b), (c) and (d) of the 
District Policies Code regarding Governing Board Committees to provide 
consistency regarding the number of members, the appointment of 
Committee chairs and vice-chairs and the frequency of meetings; providing 
for inclusion in the District Policies Code; providing for severability; providing 
an effective date.  (EXO, Dan DeLisi, ext. 6232)

26. Board Vote on Consent Agenda

27. General Public Comment



6
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

Workshop

28. Technical Reports

A) Water Conditions Report - Tommy Strowd, Assistant Executive Director, 
Operations, Maintenance & Construction (ext. 6998)

B) Ecological Conditions Report - Terrie Bates, Division Director, Water 
Resources (ext. 6952)

29. Land Assessment Process Update - Ray Palmer, Section Leader, Real Estate 
(ext. 2246)

30. Central Everglades Planning Project Update - Ernie Barnett, Assistant 
Executive Director, Everglades & Water Resources (ext. 2110)

31. Legislative Update - Ernie Barnett, Assistant Executive Director, Everglades & 
Water Resources (ext. 2110)

32. Loxahatchee Replacement Storage - Ernie Barnett, Assistant Executive 
Director, Everglades & Water Resources (ext. 2110)



7
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

Discussion Agenda

33. Resolution No. 2013 - 0512 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District supporting the designation of May 
19-25, 2013 as Water Reuse Week in Florida; providing an effective date. 
(WR, Mark Elsner, ext. 6156)

34. Resolution No. 2013 - 0513 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District amending Part I, District Policies; 
Chapter 101, Agency Administration; Article II, Governing Board Delegations 
of Authority; Division 2, Specific Delegations; Section 101-41, Agency 
Administration Delegations, of the District Policies Code regarding 
amendment of the Governing Board’s Delegation of Authority to issue 
Consumptive Use Permits to the Executive Director, providing for inclusion in 
the District Policies Code; providing for severability; providing an effective 
date.  (REG, Len Lindahl, ext. 6283)

35. Resolution No. 2013 - 0514 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District to authorize entering into a 790-day 
contract with Douglas N. Higgins, Inc., the lowest responsive and responsible 
bidder, for North Shore Trash Rakes S-129 and S-131 Project, in an amount 
of $7,843,000, for which $500,000 in ad valorem funds are budgeted and the 
remainder is subject to Governing Board approval of the FY14 and FY15 
budgets; providing an effective date.  (OMC, John Mitnik, ext. 2679)

36. Resolution No. 2013 - 0515 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District authorizing the official ranking of 
short-listed firms and entering into a 7-year contract with Brown & Caldwell, 
subject to successful negotiations for the design of the S-5A Repowering and 
Automation Project, in an amount not-to-exceed $5,000,000 for which 
$100,000 of ad valorem funds are budgeted and the remainder is subject to 
Governing Board approval of FY14-FY20 budgets; providing that, if 
negotiations are unsuccessful, the District will proceed with negotiations in 
ranked order until a contract has been successfully negotiated; providing an 
effective date. (Contract Number 4600002851) (OMC, John Mitnik, ext. 2679)

37. Resolution No. 2013 - 0516 A Resolution of the Governing Board of the 
South Florida Water Management District to authorize entering into a 
purchase order agreement with Pantropic Power, Inc., (Caterpillar), to provide 
three (3) C9.3 engines, associated control panels and controls programming 
for the S-13 Repowering and Automation Project, and authorize a Sole 
Source Procurement as an exception to the general standards of competition, 
in an amount not-to-exceed $1,300,000 for which $300,000 in ad valorem
funds are budgeted and the remainder is subject to Governing Board 
approval of the FY14 budget; providing an effective date. (Purchase Order 
Number 4500074756) (OMC, John Mitnik, ext. 2679)

38. General Public Comment



8
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

Public Hearing

39. Adopt amendments to Rules 40E-6.011, 40E-6.021, 40E-6.031, 40E-6.041, 
40E-6.051, 40E-6.091, 40E-6.201, 40E-6.221, 40E-6.321, 40E-6.331, 40E-
6.341, 40E-6.351, 40E-6.361, 40E-6.381, 40E-6.451, 40E-6.481, 40E-6.501, 
40E-6.521, and 40E-6.601, F.A.C., repeal Rules 40E-6.101, 40E-6.121, 40E-
62.011, 40E-62.020, 40E-62.021, 40E-62.023, 40E-62.041, 40E-62.042, 40E-
62.043, 40E-62.051, 40E-62.101, 40E-62.301, 40E-62.321, 40E-62.331, 40E-
62.341, 40E-62.351, 40E-62.381, and 40E-62.651, F.A.C.,  and new rules 
40E-6.701, 40E-6.711, 40E-6.721, 40E-6.731, 40E-6.741 and 40E-6.751, 
F.A.C., and the materials incorporated by reference in Rule 40E-6.091, 
F.A.C., regarding the Right of Way Permitting Program for Works and Lands 
of the District. (OMC, Jorge Patino, ext. 6175)

40. Adopt amendments or repeal provisions in Chapters 40E-0, 40E-1, 40E-4 and 
40E-41, F.A.C., repeal Chapters, 40E-40 and 40E-400, F.A.C., and amend 
and rename the Basis of Review for Environmental Resource Permit 
Applications within the South Florida Water Management District, and 
authorize publication of a Notice of Change if necessary, to address 
comments from the Joint Administrative Procedures Committee and/or the 
Office of Fiscal Accountability and Regulatory Reform.  (REG, Anita Bain, ext. 
6866)



9
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

Staff Reports

41. Monthly Financial Statement - Doug Bergstrom, Division Director, 
Administrative Services

42. General Counsel's Report - Carolyn S. Ansay

43. Executive Director's Report - Melissa L. Meeker

Report on permits issued by authority delegated to the Executive Director 
from April 1-30, 2013.

44. Board Comment



10
Governing Board Meeting Agenda of the South Florida Water Management District – May 9, 2013

Attorney Client Sessions

45. Attorney Client Session

Attorney client session pursuant to Section 286.011(8), Florida Statutes 
(2012), to discuss strategy related to litigation expenditures and/or settlement 
negotiations in United States of America v. South Florida Water Management 
District, et al., United States District Court, Southern District of Florida, Case 
No. 88-1886-CIV-Moreno. 

ATTENDEES: Governing Board Members F. Barber, S. Batchelor, M. 
Hutchcraft, J. Moran, D. O’Keefe, J. Portuondo, K. Powers, T. Sargent, G. 
Waldman; Executive Director M. Meeker; District attorneys C. Ansay, K. 
Burns, C. Kowalsky, D. MacLaughlin.  (Carolyn S. Ansay, ext. 6976)

Action Items (if any) Stemming from Attorney Client Session

Attorney client session pursuant to Section 286.011(8), Florida Statutes 
(2012), to discuss strategy related to litigation expenditures and/or settlement 
negotiations in United States of America v. South Florida Water Management 
District, et al., United States District Court, Southern District of Florida, Case 
No. 88-1886-CIV-Moreno. (Carolyn S. Ansay, ext. 6976)

46. Adjourn



 

May Employee of the Month 

Ed Artau – Senior Attorney 

Office of Counsel 

 

Ed recently resolved a longstanding condemnation case while also 

providing just-in-time assistance to a family in need. Ed represents the 

District in a CREW land acquisition matter which was unresolved because 

the heir to the estate of the former owner was missing.  

A $7,500 deposit was made by the District in 2001 as an estimated 

payment for the CREW parcel and remained there for 12 years.  Ed’s 

diligence allowed the District to finally track down the heir.  

During discussions with the heir, Ed discovered that she and her family, 

which includes a disabled son, were going to lose their home due to unpaid 

property taxes if not paid by March 31. 

Ed worked diligently to get all of the necessary parties to approve the 

settlement and expedite the process so the family could get the $7,500 to 

settle the case.  This money would allow them to pay their property taxes 

before the deadline.  

Ed convinced the Clerk of Court to manually issue a check immediately to 

avoid the normal one-week process and, ultimately, the family saved their 

home. 

For these efforts, we recognize Ed as our May Employee of the Month! 

 

4.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ay
 2

01
3 

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

R
ec

o
g

n
it

io
n

s 
 (

12
35

 :
 E

m
p

lo
ye

e 
R

ec
o

g
n

it
io

n
s)



 

Good Samaritan Award 

Ed Artau – Senior Attorney 

Office of Counsel 

 

In addition to Ed’s diligence to resolve a 12-year old land acquisition matter 

– for which he is recognized as Employee of the Month --  his kind and 

selfless efforts to further assist the heir and her family are worthy of this 

special recognition.  

On the day the $7,500 check was expedited and issued at the Lee County 

Clerk of Court, the heir went to the local bank in Ft. Myers where the check 

was drawn on to cash it. The bank would not cash the check. 

The heir contacted Ed who helped her locate a physical location for her 

personal bank, which was in Wellington. She drove to the bank and by the 

time she arrived, the bank had closed.  

The family had counted on the funds from the check to purchase gas to 

drive back across the state. Ed met them at the gas station and filled up 

their tank at his own expense and bought a sandwich and fruit for their son.   

Ed’s dedication to the District and the public is commonly reflected in his 

late nights preparing for court and his many community service endeavors. 

However, in this instance, Ed truly went above and beyond the call of duty.  

 

For his spirit of generosity, we recognize Ed with a Good Samaritan Award.  

 
 
 

4.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ay
 2

01
3 

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

R
ec

o
g

n
it

io
n

s 
 (

12
35

 :
 E

m
p

lo
ye

e 
R

ec
o

g
n

it
io

n
s)



 

May Team of the Month 

Land Management Team 

Operations, Maintenance and Construction 

 

Joe Bozzo  

Steve Coughlin       

James Mizell 

Rob Startzman 

Maco Touchet 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ay
 2

01
3 

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

R
ec

o
g

n
it

io
n

s 
 (

12
35

 :
 E

m
p

lo
ye

e 
R

ec
o

g
n

it
io

n
s)



 

This team assisted to complete the much- needed Operations and 

Maintenance work at the BOMA property in Lee County.  

The 1,773-acre parcel was acquired in partnership with Lee County to be 

used as a nutrient removal project on the Caloosahatchee River.   

This high- priority dispersed water management project experienced 

problems with seepage during a limited test during the last rainy season. In 

order to provide storage and not impact State Road 80, the work had to be 

completed before this year’s rainy season. With limited time and money, 

solutions had to be innovative and creative.  

Land management stepped forward and staff rehabilitated the southeast 

above-ground impoundment berms.  They removed the massive amount of 

exotics within the system, placed soil erosion fabric and rip rap in the 

discharge area to eliminate erosion, rebuilt the south berm, and excavated 

a key ditch to provide better flow through the high areas in the interior 

impoundment berms.  

The exceptional work was completed in less than two weeks. The facility is 

now operational and ready for storage during the next rainy season if 

needed.  

This effort is an example of coordination and resource-sharing that enables 

the District to complete a high quality project at a low cost.  

Thanks and congratulations to the land management team! 

 

4.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ay
 2

01
3 

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

R
ec

o
g

n
it

io
n

s 
 (

12
35

 :
 E

m
p

lo
ye

e 
R

ec
o

g
n

it
io

n
s)



25-Year Service Recognition 

Tom Teets – Federal Policy Chief 

Office of Everglades Policy and Coordination 

 

In 1988, Tom was hired as a Senior Water Use Engineer in outdoor 

conservation and helped to develop the Xeriscape program. He managed 

the District’s first Lower East Coast Regional Water Supply Plan and laid 

the groundwork for water supply planning in the Lower East Coast region.   

 

In the early 2000s, as project manager for the Central and Southern Florida 

Project Comprehensive Study, known as the Restudy, he led development 

of the CERP plan.  Working tirelessly with stakeholders to garner support, 

he supported management as the Federal legislation was developed to 

authorize and implement CERP.  In the mid-2000s, Tom focused on the 

state’s Acceler8 program to expedite CERP projects, including Picayune 

Strand, C-111 Spreader Canal and Biscayne Bay Coastal Wetlands.    

 

After the State Legislature passed the Northern Everglades Protection 

Program in 2007, Tom managed the program. He created an interagency 

team to develop a comprehensive water quality and quantity watershed 

restoration plan, known as the Lake Okeechobee Phase II Technical Plan, 

in under a year.  Today, as Federal Policy Chief, he leads the District’s 

efforts in implementing the CERP program and the District’s Dispersed 

Water Management Program.  Tom is widely recognized as a career-long 

contributor to and champion of Everglades Restoration.  

Thanks, Tom, for 25 outstanding years! 

4.a

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ay
 2

01
3 

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

R
ec

o
g

n
it

io
n

s 
 (

12
35

 :
 E

m
p

lo
ye

e 
R

ec
o

g
n

it
io

n
s)



CONSENT AGENDA TABLE OF CONTENTS
REGULATORY ITEMS FOR GOVERNING BOARD ACTION

May 9, 2013
  

              I

             II

            III

             IV

DENIALS                       

CONSENT ORDERS

CONSERVATION EASEMENT AMENDMENTS AND RELEASES

WATER USE VARIANCES

OKEECHOBEE COUNTY 1

2

3

5

PAGE

12.a

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text
REVISED

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text

jaddie
Typewritten Text



 REGULATION AGENDA ITEMS 
 
PERMIT DENIAL: Those listed on the consent agenda are routine in nature and non-controversial.  Such 
denials are typically due to failure of applicant to complete the application.  Unique or controversial projects or 
those requiring a policy decision are normally listed as discussion items. Permit types include: 
  
 Environmental Resource (ERP):  Permits that consider such factors as the storage of storm water 

to prevent flooding of a project (upstream or downstream projects); the treatment of stormwater prior 
to discharge from the site to remove pollutants; and the protection of wetlands on the project site. 

  
 Surface Water Management:  Permits for drainage systems, which address flood protection, water 

quality, and environmental protection of wetlands. 
 
 Water Use:  Permits for the use of ground and/or surface water from wells, canals, or lakes. 
 
 Lake Okeechobee Works of the District:  Permits that set concentration  limits for total 

phosphorus in surface discharge from individual parcels  in the Lake Okeechobee Basin.       
 
 EAA Works of the District:  Permits to reduce the total phosphorus load  from the EAA by 25 

percent in water discharged to Works of the District. 
 
 Wetland Resource:  Permits for dredge and fill activities within Waters of the State and their 

associated wetlands. 
  
 
ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING: A case in litigation conducted pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act 
(Chapter 120, Florida Statutes) involving the determination of a suit upon its merits.  Administrative hearings 
provide for a timely and cost effective dispute resolution forum for interested persons objecting to agency 
action. 
 
FINAL ORDER: The Administrative Procedures Act requires the District to timely render a final order for an 
administrative hearing after the hearing officer submits a recommended order. The final order must be in 
writing and include findings of fact and conclusions of law. 
 
CONSENT ORDER: A voluntary contractual agreement between the District and a party in dispute 

which legally binds the parties to the terms and conditions contained in the agreement. Normally used as a 
vehicle to outline the terms and conditions regarding settlement of an enforcement action. 
 
CONSERVATION EASEMENT: A perpetual fee ownership in real property that retains such land or water 
area in its predominantly natural, scenic, open, or wooded condition. Conservation easements generally limit 
the use of the conservation area to passive, recreational activities such as hiking and bicycling. The District 
will consider as mitigation for the adverse impacts to wetlands or other surface waters functions caused by a 
proposed project, the preservation, by conservation easement, of wetland ecosystems. 
 
TECHNICAL DENIAL:  This action normally takes place when a proposed project design does not meet 
water management criteria or the applicant does not supply information necessary to complete the technical 
review of an application. 
 
EMERGENCY ORDER and AUTHORIZATION: An immediate final order issued without notice by the 
Executive Director, with the concurrence and advice of the Governing Board, pursuant to  (Section 
373.119(2), Florida Statutes, when a situation arises that requires timely action to protect the public health, 
safety or welfare and other resources enumerated by rule and statute. 
 
 

12.a

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)



MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT/UNDERSTANDING:  A contractual arrangement between the District 
and a named party or parties.  This instrument typically is used to define or explain parameters of a long-term 
relationship and may establish certain procedures or joint operating decisions. 
 
PETITION: An objection in writing to the District, requesting either a formal or an informal administrative 
hearing, regarding an agency action or a proposed agency action. Usually a petition filed pursuant to Chapter 
120, Florida Statutes, challenges agency action, a permit, or a rule. Virtually all agency action is subject to 
petition by substantially affected persons.  
 
SEMINOLE TRIBE WORK PLAN: The District and the Seminole Indians signed a Water Use Compact in 
1987.  Under the compact, annual work plans are submitted to the District for review and approval. This plan 
keeps the District informed about the tribe plans for use of their land and the natural resources. Although this 
is not a permit, the staff has water resource related input to this plan. 
 
SITE CERTIFICATIONS: Certain types of projects (power plants, transmission lines, etc.) are permitted by 
the Governor and Cabinet under special one-stop permitting processes that supercede normal District 
permits. The Water Management Districts, DEP, DCA, FGFWFC, and other public agencies are mandatory 
participants. DEP usually coordinates these processes for the Governor and Cabinet. 
 
VARIANCES FROM, OR WAIVERS OF, PERMIT CRITERIA: The Florida Administrative Procedures Act 
provides that persons subject to an agency rule may petition the agency for a variance from, or waiver of, a 
permitting rule.  The Governing Board may grant a petition for variance or waiver when the petitioner 
demonstrates that 1) the purpose of the underlying statute will be or has been achieved by other means and, 
2) when application of the rule would create a substantial hardship or would violate principles of fairness. 
 

12.a

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)



1

                                   DENIALS

OKEECHOBEE COUNTY
___________________________________________________________________________________

1. PINE CREEK SPORTING CLUB - RUNWAY   APPL.  NO. 100315-13

US LAND ACQUISITIONS I I LLC PERMIT NO. N/A

SEC 25  TWP 34S  RGE 35E ACREAGE:   9.30

    PERMIT TYPE: ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (NEW STANDARD PERMIT) 

RECEIVING BODY: UNKNOWN

   PRIMARY ISSUES: FINAL ORDER TO DENY DUE TO APPLICANT'S FAILURE TO COMPLETE 

APPLICATION

    LAST DATE FOR BOARD ACTION: MAY 9, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

LAND USE: AIRPORT RELATED 

FACILITIES

12.a

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)



2

1.

2.

3.

RESPONDENT:

RESPONDENT:

RESPONDENT:

SEC 11  TWP 51S  RGE 40E

SEC 29  TWP 50S  RGE 41E

SEC 8, 9  TWP 25S  RGE 27E

BROWARD COUNTY

BROWARD COUNTY

OSCEOLA COUNTY

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________
CONSENT ORDERS

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

L A FITNESS PEMBROKE PINES

PARKSIDE ESTATES

EMERALD ISLAND (FKA FISHER ISLAND PHASE 1)

FITNESS INTERNATIONAL LLC

PARKSIDE ESTATES OF DAVIE

PARK SQUARE HOMES

SETTLEMENT OF AN ENFORCEMENT ACTION REGARDING NON COMPLIANCE WITH PERMIT 

CONDITIONS FOR FAILURE TO SUBMIT CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION CERTIFICATION AND 

COMPLETE THE REQUIRED OPERATION TRANSFER

SETTLEMENT OF AN ENFORCEMENT ACTION REGARDING NON COMPLIANCE WITH PERMIT 

CONDITIONS FOR FAILURE TO SUBMIT CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION CERTIFICATION

SETTLEMENT OF AN ENFORCEMENT ACTION REGARDING NON COMPLIANCE WITH PERMIT 

CONDITIONS FOR FAILURE TO SUBMIT CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION CERTIFICATION AND 

COMPLETE THE REQUIRED OPERATION TRANSFER

12.a

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)



3

1.

2.

3.

PERMITTEE:

PERMITTEE:

PERMITTEE:

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________
CONSERVATION EASEMENT AMENDMENTS AND RELEASES

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

SW 196TH AVENUE AND PEMBROKE ROAD ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

WYNDHAM LAKES ESTATES PHASES 4 & 5

CAMDEN LAKES

CITY OF PEMBROKE PINES

BOGGY CREEK LLC

PULTE HOME CORPORATION / JEN FLORIDA VI LLC

APPROVE A REQUEST FOR RELEASE OF A 3.78 ACRE AREA WITHIN THE CONSERVATION 

EASEMENT FOR THE 196TH AVENUE PROJECT IN THE CITY OF PEMBROKE PINES (CITY).  ON 

JUNE 15, 1995, THE DISTRICT ISSUED ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT 06-02089-S FOR 

THE CONCEPTUAL APPROVAL OF A 43.14 ACRE WETLAND MITIGATION AREA ASSOCIATED WITH 

THE ENCANTATA RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT IN BROWARD COUNTY.  THE CONSERVATION 

EASEMENT WAS SUBSEQUENTLY INCORRECTLY RECORDED BOTH OVER THE MITIGATION AREA AS 

WELL AS THE 196TH AVENUE ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY.  THE CITY HAS NOW APPLIED TO IMPROVE

196TH AVENUE (APPLICATION NUMBER 121109-2).  THEREFORE, THE 3.78 ACRE PORTION OF

THE CONSERVATION EASEMENT EXTENDING OUTSIDE THE PERMITTED WETLAND MITIGATION 

BOUNDARIES IS REQUESTED TO BE RELEASED.

APPROVE A REQUEST FOR THE PARTIAL RELEASE OF A CONSERVATION EASEMENT IN A 

PROJECT AREA KNOWN AS WYNDHAM LAKES ESTATES PH 4&5 (APPLICATION NO. 130227-13) 

IN ORANGE COUNTY. THE EXISTING EASEMENT WAS RECORDED OVER WETLAND 11 (SPECIFIED 

IN DOCUMENTS AS W11) IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE BOGGY CREEK PROPERTY PERMIT 

(APPLICATION NO. 020327-24) AND AMENDED AND RESTATED IN 2007 FOR THE WYNDHAM 

LAKES ESTATES PHASES 4&5 SOUTH ERP (APPLICATION NO. 070227-4) WHICH IMPACTED 

BUFFER AND ADDED ADDITIONAL BUFFER.  SPECIFICALLY, 0.194 ACRES OF UPLAND BUFFER 

WILL BE REMOVED FROM THE EXISTING CONSERVATION EASEMENT BUT THE 0.08 ACRES 

PREVIOUSLY EXCLUDED WILL BE RESTORED TO REFLECT THE ORIGINAL EASEMENT 

CONFIGURATION.

APPROVE A REQUEST FOR RELEASE OF A STANDARD CONSERVATION EASEMENT OVER A 1.319-

ACRE PRESERVE AREA (LABELED PRESERVE III-A), WHICH WAS RECORDED OVER THE AREA ON

APRIL 13, 2004 PURSUANT TO APPLICATION NO. 020806-14/PERMIT NO. 11-02226-P. THIS

PRESERVE AREA WAS CONSIDERED 100% SECONDARILY IMPACTED AND MITIGATED FOR 

PURSUANT TO APPLICATION NO. 050104-22/PERMIT NO. 11-03124-P. THE CURRENT SITE 

PLAN NOW SHOWS DIRECT IMPACTS TO THIS AREA FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT.

12.a

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)



4

4.

5.

6.

7.

PERMITTEE:

PERMITTEE:

PERMITTEE:

PERMITTEE:

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________
CONSERVATION EASEMENT AMENDMENTS AND RELEASES

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

GORDON RIVER GREENWAY PARK (FKA MIDTOWNE ESTERO)

SHINGLE CREEK REGIONAL TRAIL - NORTH PHASE 1

ARROW RIDGE

VILLA DEL SOL

COLLIER COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

CITY OF KISSIMMEE

ARROW RIDGE PARTNERS LIMITED

VILLAS DEL SOL AT KISSIMMEE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION INC

AMENDMENT OF A CONSERVATION EASEMENT TO ADD ADDITIONAL LANGUAGE RELATING TO 

THIRD PARTY RIGHTS GRANTED TO THE U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS ("CORPS") FOR THE

ONSITE PRESERVE AREAS. SUBSEQUENT TO THE ISSUANCE OF PERMIT NO. 11-03344-

P/APPLICATION NO. 110617-17 ON JUNE 11, 2012, COORDINATION BETWEEN THE SFWMD, 

COLLIER COUNTY AND THE CORPS RESULTED IN SOME ADDITIONAL LANGUAGE BEING ADDED TO

THE EASEMENT.

APPROVE A REQUEST FOR THE PARTIAL RELEASE OF A CONSERVATION EASEMENT TO ALLOW 

FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE SHINGLE CREEK REGIONAL TRAIL- NORTH PHASE 1 

(APPLICATION NO. 120906-14) IN OSCEOLA COUNTY. THE EXISTING EASEMENT WAS 

RECORDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TROPICAL ISLE PERMIT NO. 49-00869-P AND THE 

UNDERLYING PROPERTY IS OWNED BY THE CITY OF KISSIMMEE. COMPENSATION FOR THE 

REMOVAL OF THE 0.034 ACRES FROM THE CONSERVATION AREA IS NOT REQUIRED SINCE THE 

EASEMENT WAS ESTABLISHED FOR CONSERVATION PURPOSES AND DID NOT PROVIDE 

MITIGATION FOR WETLAND IMPACTS.

APPROVE A REQUEST FOR THE PARTIAL RELEASE OF A CONSERVATION EASEMENT TO ALLOW 

FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE SHINGLE CREEK REGIONAL TRAIL- NORTH PHASE 1 

(APPLICATION NO. 120906-14) IN OSCEOLA COUNTY. THE EXISTING EASEMENT WAS 

RECORDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ARROW RIDGE PERMIT NO. 49-00869-P-02. 

COMPENSATION FOR THE REMOVAL OF THE 0.054 ACRES FROM THE CONSERVATION AREA IS 

NOT REQUIRED SINCE THE EASEMENT WAS ESTABLISHED FOR CONSERVATION PURPOSES AND 

DID NOT PROVIDE MITIGATION FOR WETLAND IMPACTS.

APPROVE A REQUEST FOR THE PARTIAL RELEASE OF A CONSERVATION EASEMENT TO ALLOW 

FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE SHINGLE CREEK REGIONAL TRAIL- NORTH PHASE 1 

(APPLICATION NO. 120906-14) IN OSCEOLA COUNTY. THE EXISTING EASEMENT WAS 

RECORDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE VILLA DEL SOL PERMIT NO. 49-00869-P. 

COMPENSATION FOR THE REMOVAL OF THE 0.088 ACRES FROM THE CONSERVATION AREA IS 

NOT REQUIRED SINCE THE EASEMENT WAS ESTABLISHED FOR CONSERVATION PURPOSES AND 

DID NOT PROVIDE MITIGATION FOR WETLAND IMPACTS.

12.a

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)



5

1.

2.

PERMITTEE:

PERMITTEE:

PALM BEACH COUNTY

PALM BEACH COUNTY

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________
WATER USE VARIANCES

PROJECT:

PROJECT:

ROSS RESIDENCE

951 YAMATO ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC

702 ASSOCIATES LLC

951 YAMATO ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC

ENTER A FINAL ORDER GRANTING A PETITION FOR VARIANCE TO 702 ASSOCIATES LLC 

AUTHORIZING A VARIANCE FROM THE DAY OF THE WEEK LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION MEASURES 

SPECIFIED IN CHAPTER 40E-24, F.A.C., TO PROVIDE FOR WATER CONSERVATION THROUGH 

IMPLEMENTATION OF AN ADVANCE IRRIGATION SYSTEM.

ENTER A FINAL ORDER GRANTING A PETITION FOR VARIANCE TO 951 YAMATO ACQUISITION 

COMPANY LLC AUTHORIZING A VARIANCE FROM THE DAY OF THE WEEK LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION

MEASURES SPECIFIED IN CHAPTER 40E-24, F.A.C., TO PROVIDE FOR WATER CONSERVATION 

THROUGH IMPLEMENTATION OF AN ADVANCE IRRIGATION SYSTEM.

12.a

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
re

g
_r

m
_1

00
_s

d
 (

R
ev

is
ed

 II
) 

 (
12

15
 :

 R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

n
se

n
t 

It
em

s)



               
       

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

RIGHT OF WAY OCCUPANCY CONSENT AGENDA FOR GOVERNING BOARD APPROVAL 
May 9, 2013 

RIGHT OF WAY OCCUPANCY NEW PERMITS: 

RIGHT OF WAY OCCUPANCY PERMIT MODIFICATIONS: 

RELAXATION OF STANDARDS AS ALLOWED UNDER DISTRICT RULE 40E-6.011(9) F.A.C.: 

Governing Board action is required for routine requests for permits which conform to applicable rules for  
utilization of Works and Lands of the District.  Items are placed on this Consent Agenda when the staff's  
recommendation is for approval.  

Governing Board action is required for routine requests which involve a change, addition or deletion to a  
use of the right of way which was previously permitted.  Items are placed on this Consent Agenda when  
the staff's recommendation is for approval.   

Governing Board reserves sole authority to make a determination that portions of the District's rights of  
way are inaccessible for routine maintenance activities due to a variety of physical limitations.  While a  
determination that a certain segment of right of way is presently unusable for routine land-based  
maintenance activities and relaxation of the restrictions in Zones 2, 3, 4 and 5 may be allowed, such  
determination shall be at the sole discretion of the District and does not obviate the need for individuals  
with proposed or existing facilities within these areas to obtain permits from the District.  Further the  
District reserves the right to enter these areas to conduct emergency operations or to require the removal  
of any encroachments that are inconsistent with these rules at such time as maintenance access is  
perfected through the area.  

           

           

           

2          

3          

4          

I 

II 

III 

PAGES 

13.a

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_r

eg
_1

01
  (

12
18

 :
 R

ig
h

t 
o

f 
W

ay
 R

eg
u

la
to

ry
 C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



 2  

PALM BEACH COUNTY 

PAULA AND ANDREW HERRON 

TIMBERWOOD OF NAPLES ASSOCIATIONS, INC. 

AUTHORIZING: 

AUTHORIZING: 

AUTHORIZING: 

COUNTY: 

COUNTY: 

COUNTY: 

14160 

14159 

14155 

12-0504-4 

13-0322-3 

12-1109-2 

Appl No.: 

Appl No.: 

Appl No.: 

Easement 

Easement 

Agreement 

LINEAR PARK (PANTANO CONNECTOR TRAIL) CONSISTING OF A 10' WIDE SHARED USE PATH AND   
AMENITIES INCLUDING SHADE SHELTERS, BENCHES, BICYCLE RACKS, INFORMATION KIOSKS AND SIGNS  
WITHIN THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY OF C-18E AND THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY OF C-18W BEGINNING AT   
RIVERBEND PARK AND ENDING AT THE WESTERN BOUNDARY OF THE LOXAHATCHEE SLOUGH NATURAL   
AREA FOR A TOTAL DISTANCE OF 5.6 MILES.  

PROPOSED BANK RESTORATION, EXISTING FENCE AND ARECA PALMS ENCROACHING 10 FEET FROM   
TOP OF CANAL BANK WITHIN THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY OF C-100C AT THE REAR OF 7920 S.W. 141 
STREET. (CONDITIONED UPON GOVERNING BOARD APPROVAL OF RELAXATION HEREIN.)  

EXISTING PILE-SUPPORTED VEHICULAR BRIDGE CROSSING AIRPORT ROAD CANAL LOCATED   
APPROXIMATELY 3,600 FEET SOUTH OF PINE RIDGE ROAD SERVING THE TIMBERWOOD OF NAPLES   
ASSOCIATION, INC.  

LAST DATE FOR BOARD ACTION:  June, 2013 

LAST DATE FOR BOARD ACTION:  June, 2013 

LAST DATE FOR BOARD ACTION:  June, 2013 

Permit Number: 

Permit Number: 

Permit Number: 

 1. 

 2. 

 3. 

RIGHT OF WAY OCCUPANCY NEW PERMITS 

PALM BEACH       

MIAMI-DADE       

COLLIER       

13.a

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_r

eg
_1

01
  (

12
18

 :
 R

ig
h

t 
o

f 
W

ay
 R

eg
u

la
to

ry
 C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



 

 
 

 3  
 
 
 
 
 

ABRAHAM H. AND MAGDALENA E. LE ROUX 10321 
13-0220-1M 
Easement 

EXISTING ROOF OVER PORTION OF DOCK WITHIN THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY OF C-24 AT THE REAR OF   
2701 S.W. PIER COURT.  

 1. 
Appl No.: 

Permit Number: 
COUNTY: 

AUTHORIZING: 

LAST DATE FOR BOARD ACTION: May, 2013 

ST. LUCIE       

RIGHT OF WAY OCCUPANCY PERMIT MODIFICATIONS 

13.a

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_r

eg
_1

01
  (

12
18

 :
 R

ig
h

t 
o

f 
W

ay
 R

eg
u

la
to

ry
 C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



RELAXATION OF STANDARDS AS ALLOWED UNDER DISTRICT RULE 40E-6.011(9), F.A.C. 

 

1. It is the recommendation of the staff of Operations, Maintenance and Construction Division that 
the Governing Board waive, for future Right of Way Occupancy Permit Applications, the 
requirement contained in District Rules which specifies that an unencumbered 40 foot wide strip 
of right of way as measured from the top of bank landward, is required in order for the District to 
perform the routine operations and maintenance activities along both sides of C-100C from a 
point beginning at S.W. 82nd Avenue and continuing easterly and then southerly for 3,820 feet to 
S.W. 144th Street.    

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             
Staff’s recommendation is based on the fact that this reach of the District’s C-100C Canal 
Maintenance Easement right of way has limited over bank, has been encumbered with 
encroachments for many years and is inaccessible by the Miami Field Station for routine 
land-based maintenance activities.  Chemical spray crews using small vessels currently 
perform routine canal maintenance in the area. 

 
District Rule 40E-6.011(9), F.A.C., (Policy and Purpose), asserts that “the District reserves sole 
authority to make a determination that portions of the District’s rights of way are inaccessible for 
routine maintenance activities due to a variety of physical limitations.  While a determination 
that a certain segment of right of way is presently unusable for routine land-based maintenance 
activities such determination shall be at the sole discretion of the District and does not obviate 
the need for individuals with proposed or existing facilities within these areas to obtain permits 
from the District.  Further, the District reserves the right to enter these areas to conduct 
emergency operations or to require the removal of any encroachments that are inconsistent with 
these rules at such time as maintenance access is perfected through the area.” 

 
The waiver specifically excludes the adjacent owners whose properties lie adjacent to the 
District’s required 100’ long staging area located upstream and downstream of all four 
quadrants of pile-supported bridge and utility crossings.  Applications for encroachments within 
these specified staging areas when submitted shall be handled on an individual basis. 

 
Further, the establishment of the areas covered by Rule 40E-6.011(9), F.A.C. will be applied to 
all future applicants in the geographical area specified above. 
(Easement) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 

13.a

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_r

eg
_1

01
  (

12
18

 :
 R

ig
h

t 
o

f 
W

ay
 R

eg
u

la
to

ry
 C

o
n

se
n

t 
A

g
en

d
a)



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Tommy Strowd, Assistant Executive Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Release of District canal, road and mineral reservations, and issuance of non-
use commitments

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  Canal reservations evolved from efforts to provide 
infrastructure, without cost to the taxpayers, to carry out drainage and reclamation 
projects, and provide roads.  Many, but not all, conveyances of land by the State of 
Florida through the Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund (TIIF), Trustees of the 
Internal Improvement Trust Fund (TIITF) and the Everglades Drainage District (EDD), a 
predecessor to the South Florida Water Management District, reserved rights to 
construct future water control works, percentages of the mineral rights, together with the 
right of ingress, egress and exploration, and reservations for State and County road 
rights-of-way. 

The District routinely receives applications for releases of these reservations from 
landowners, attorneys, title companies and lending institutions, who consider the 
reservations to be title defects; applications are processed by the Real Estate 
Management Section. If applicable, applications are reviewed by appropriate District 
personnel and appropriate local governmental agencies to determine that there is no 
present or future need for the canal reservation. Road reservations are released upon 
review and approval by the affected county and the Florida Department of 
Transportation.    Mineral reservations are released for parcels containing 1.25+/- acres 
or less, and non-use commitments are issued for parcels greater than 1.25+/- acres.

CONSIDERATIONS:  See Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof, which 
contains the details of releases to be approved and issued.

AUTHORIZATION:  Pursuant to Section 373.096 of the Florida Statutes, the Governing 

Board of the District may release any reservation for which it has no present or apparent 

use under terms and conditions determined by the Board.

FISCAL IMPACT:  None; reservations were acquired at no cost to the District.

RECOMMENDATION:  A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District approving release of District canal, road and mineral reservations, 
and issuance of non-use commitments; providing an effective date.

15

Packet Pg. 28



EXHIBIT “A”

File No.: 18527
Applicant: Saint Joseph Properties, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Reserving Deed: QCD (DB 469-484, 12/15/1944)
Fee paid: $250.00
Action: Approve release of District mineral reservations
Acres: 1.04 acres, more or less
Legal Description: Portion of Parcels 1 and C-1, SECTOR 6, PB 141-21, Section 17, 

Township 50 South, Range 40 East 
Location: 1501 Bonaventure Boulevard, Weston, Broward County
Reviewed by: N/A - no routing required for mineral reservations

File Nos.: 18528, 18529, 18530 and NUC 1622
Applicant: Estate Mansions LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Reserving Deeds: E-2935 (DB 2523-479, 4/24/1945); E-195 (DB 2355-202, 

2/10/1944), and E-103 (DB 2346-169, 1/11/1944)
Fee paid: $1,150.00
Action: Approve release of District canal and road reservations and 

issuance of non-use commitment
Acres: 33.23 acres, more or less
Legal Description: Portions of Blocks 11, 14, 16 and 17, ESTATES MANSIONS FIRST

ADDITION, PB 165-48, Section 14, Township 56 South, Range 39 
East 

Location: SW corner of SW 127th Avenue and SW 224th Street, Miami, Miami-
Dade County

Reviewed by: Water Supply Development Section, Right of Way Section, 
Environmental Resource Permitting Bureau, Survey Section, Office 
of Everglades Policy and Coordination, and Miami-Dade County

File Nos.: 18531, 18532, 18533, 18534, 18535, 18536 and NUC 1623
Applicant: Crossroad Properties of Boynton Beach, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company
Reserving Deeds: T-1528 (DB 282-330, 6/30/1925);  T- 2404 (DB 356-99, 

10/15/1925);  T-4835 (DB 357-516, 3/31/1926); T-4386 (DB 375-
212, 3/31/1926); T-5411 (DB 442-482, 4/25/1929), and E-7012 (DB 
929-169, 12/12/1950)

Fee paid: $1,975.00
Action: Approve release of District canal reservations and issuance of non-

use commitment
Acres: 145.83 acres, more or less

15

Packet Pg. 29



Legal Description: Portion of Block 53, PALM BEACH FARMS CO. PLAT NO. 3, PB 2-
45, Section 30, Township 45 South, Range 42 East

Location: State Road 7 at  Boynton Beach Blvd., Boynton Beach, Palm 
Beach County

Reviewed by: Water Supply Development Section, Right of Way Section, 
Environmental Resource Permitting Bureau, Survey Section, Office 
of Everglades Policy and Coordination and Lake Worth Drainage 
District

File No.: 18537
Applicant: Alfred L. Schoen and Rita Schoen, husband and wife
Reserving Deed: QCD (DB 919-37, 9/5/1950)
Fee paid: $250.00
Action: Approve release of District mineral reservations
Acres: 0.14 acres, more or less
Legal Description: Lot 37, VILLAGES OF WINDSOR PARCEL E - PHASE 1, PB 96-

122, Section 8, Township 45 South, Range 42 East
Location: 6590 Via Rienzo, Lake Worth, Florida, Palm Beach County
Reviewed by: N/A - no routing required for mineral reservations

15

Packet Pg. 30



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0501 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District approving release of District canal, road and 
mineral reservations, and issuance of non-use commitments; 
providing an effective date. (OMC, Kathy Massey, ext. 6835)

WHEREAS, certain underlying landowners have requested that the South Florida 

Water Management District (“District”) release certain District canal, road and mineral 

reservations, and issue non-use commitments;

WHEREAS, the District is empowered to grant such releases and approvals 

pursuant to Section 373.096, Florida Statutes;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South 

Florida Water Management District:

Section 1.  The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 

hereby approves the release of District canal, road and mineral reservations, and 

issuance of non-use commitments, as described in Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and 

made a part hereof.

Section 2.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

15

Packet Pg. 31



SAGEMONT WAY

HA
RB

OU
R 

SID
E 

DR

HARBOUR LN

ST TROPEZ C IR

SAGEMONT WAY

HA
RB

OU
R 

SID
E 

DR

HARBOUR LN

ST TROPEZ C IR

Broward County

Release of
Reservation

For copies of this map (\\Ad.sfwmd.gov\dfsroot\data\aa_gis\arc_data\maps\ReleaseofReservation\GB_2013-4-23_18527.mxd), Created on 4/23/13 by SMF. Contact the Real Estate Section.

IMPORTANT DISCLAIMER: 
This map is a conceptual or planning tool only. The South Florida 
Water Management District does not guarantee or make any 
representation regarding the information contained herein. It is not 
self-executing or binding, and does not affect the interests of any 
persons or properties, including any present or future right or use of 
real property.

18527
BO

NAV
EN

TU
RE

 BL
VD

£¤1
ROYAL PALM BLVD

S POST RD

INDIAN TRCE

BONAVENTURE BLVD

15.a

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

00
_M

ap
_1

85
27

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
01

  :
 R

el
ea

se
 o

f 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

ca
n

al
, r

o
ad

 a
n

d

aschlut
Typewritten Text
ca_om_200_Map_18527_pdfMay 9, 2013

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text



15.b

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

00
_M

ap
_1

85
28

_1
85

29
_1

85
30

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
01

  :
 R

el
ea

se
 o

f 
D

is
tr

ic
t

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text
ca_om_200_Map_18528_18529_18530.pdfMay 9, 2013



15.c

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

00
_M

ap
_1

85
31

-1
85

36
  (

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 N

o
. 2

01
3 

- 
05

01
  :

 R
el

ea
se

 o
f 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
ca

n
al

, r
o

ad

aschlut
Typewritten Text
ca_om_200_Map_18531-18536.pdfMay 9, 2013



VIA AVELLINO

VIA
 B

EL
LIN

I

VIA
 R

IE
NZ

O
VIA COMO

VIA AVELLINO

VIA
 B

EL
LIN

I

VIA
 R

IE
NZ

O
VIA COMO

Palm Beach County

Release of
Reservation

For copies of this map (\\Ad.sfwmd.gov\dfsroot\data\aa_gis\arc_data\maps\ReleaseofReservation\GB_2013-4-30_18537.mxd), Created on 4/30/13 by SMF. Contact the Real Estate Section.

IMPORTANT DISCLAIMER: 
This map is a conceptual or planning tool only. The South Florida 
Water Management District does not guarantee or make any 
representation regarding the information contained herein. It is not 
self-executing or binding, and does not affect the interests of any 
persons or properties, including any present or future right or use of 
real property.

18537

LANTANA RD

HYPOLOXO RD

15.d

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

00
_M

ap
_1

85
37

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
01

  :
 R

el
ea

se
 o

f 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

ca
n

al
, r

o
ad

 a
n

d

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text
ca_om_200_Map_18537.pdfMay 9, 2013

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text



1227.docx 
5/2/2013 3:43 PM 
1 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

 
RELEASE OF DISTRICT CANAL, ROAD AND MINERAL RESERVATIONS: 
 
File No.:  18527 
Applicant:  Saint Joseph Properties, LLC, a Florida limited liability company 
Reserving Deed: QCD (DB 469-484, 12/15/1944) 
Acres:   1.04 acres, more or less 
Legal Description: Portion of Parcels 1 and C-1, SECTOR 6, PB 141-21, Section 17, 

Township 50 South, Range 40 East  
Location:  1501 Bonaventure Boulevard, Weston, Florida, Broward County 
 
 
File Nos.:  18528, 18529 and 18530 
Applicant:  Estate Mansions LLC, a Florida limited liability company 
Reserving Deeds: E-2935 (DB 2523-479, 4/24/1945); E-195 (DB 2355-202, 

2/10/1944), and E-103 (DB 2346-169, 1/11/1944) 
Acres:   33.23 acres, more or less 
Legal Description: Portion of Blocks 11, 14, 16 and 17, ESTATES MANSIONS FIRST 

ADDITION, PB 165-48, Section 14, Township 56 South, Range 39 
East  

Location: SW corner of SW 127th Avenue and SW 224th Street, Miami, 
Miami-Dade County 

 
 
File Nos.:  18531, 18532, 18533, 18534, 18535 and 18536 
Applicant: Crossroad Properties of Boynton Beach, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company 
Reserving Deeds: T-1528 (DB 282-330, 6/30/1925); T-2404 (DB 356-99, 10/15/1925); 

T-4835 (DB 357-516, 3/31/1926); T-4386 (DB 375-212, 3/31/1926); 
T-5411 (DB 442-482, 4/25/1929), and E-7012 (DB 929-169, 
12/12/1950) 

Acres:   145.83 acres, more or less 
Legal Description: Portion of Block 53, PALM BEACH FARMS CO. PLAT NO. 3, PB 2-

45, Section 30, Township 45 South, Range 42 East 
Location: State Road 7 at Boynton Beach Blvd., Boynton Beach, Palm Beach 

County 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15.e

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

00
_r

d
_E

xh
A

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
01

  :
 R

el
ea

se
 o

f 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

ca
n

al
, r

o
ad

 a
n

d
 m

in
er

al
 r

es
er

va
ti

o
n

s,
 a

n
d

 is
su

an
ce

 o
f 

n
o

n
-



1227.docx 
5/2/2013 3:43 PM 
2 

File No.:  18537 
Applicant:  Alfred L. Schoen and Rita Schoen, husband and wife 
Reserving Deed: QCD (DB 919-37, 9/5/1950) 
Acres:   0.14 acres, more or less 
Legal Description: Lot 37, VILLAGES OF WINDSOR PARCEL E – PHASE 1, PB 96-

122, Section 8, Township 45 South, Range 42 East  
Location:  6590 Via Rienzo, Lake Worth, Florida, Palm Beach County 
 
 
ISSUANCE OF NON-USE COMMITMENT: 
 
File No.:  NUC 1622 
Applicant:  Estate Mansions LLC, a Florida limited liability company 
Reserving Deed: E-2935 (DB 2523-479, 4/24/1945) 
Acres:   6.85 acres, more or less 
Legal Description: Portion of Blocks 16 and 17, ESTATES MANSIONS FIRST 

ADDITION, PB 165-48, Section 14, Township 56 South, Range 39 
East  

Location: SW corner of SW 127th Avenue and SW 224th Street, Miami, 
Miami-Dade County 

 
 
File No.:  NUC 1623 
Applicant: Crossroad Properties of Boynton Beach, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company 
Reserving Deed: E-7012 (DB 929-169, 12/12/1950) 
Acres:   10 acres, more or less 
Legal Description: Portion of Block 53, PALM BEACH FARMS CO. PLAT NO. 3, PB 2-

45, Section 30, Township 45 South, Range 42 East 
Location: State Road 7 at Boynton Beach Blvd., Boynton Beach, Palm Beach 

County 
 

15.e

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

00
_r

d
_E

xh
A

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
01

  :
 R

el
ea

se
 o

f 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

ca
n

al
, r

o
ad

 a
n

d
 m

in
er

al
 r

es
er

va
ti

o
n

s,
 a

n
d

 is
su

an
ce

 o
f 

n
o

n
-



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Karen Estock, Division Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Approve the conveyance of a portion of District fee owned C-103S right of way

HIGHLIGHTS: The Applicant, Miami-Dade County, has requested that the District 
convey a portion of the C-103S right of way in Section 18, Township 57 South, Range 
39 East, to accommodate their proposed road widening project.  The area to be 
conveyed is located at the corner of SW 172nd Avenue (McMinn Road) and SW 328th

Street (Lucy Street).

CONSIDERATIONS:  The conveyance of this fee owned canal right of way is in the 
best interest of the public and will allow the County to complete the necessary road 
widening project.

Key staff members of the District reviewed the application and have no objections to the 
conveyance.

The conveyance will be subject to the following terms, conditions and requirements, 
which must be satisfied to the approval of the District:

a. Applicant must provide a legal description and sketch for the conveyance 
instrument, subject to District review and approval.

b. All costs associated with this transaction shall be paid for by the Applicant, 
including but not limited to all recording costs, and under no 
circumstances shall the District be obligated to pay any amount to the 
Applicant or otherwise in connection with this transaction.  

c. The Applicant shall complete the relocation of the drainage ditch and 
District Water Control Structure (PC36) northerly of its present location, 
including a stabilized, clear, unobstructed maintenance berm and 
vehicular access route, being a minimum of 40 feet in width as measured 
from the useable relocated top of the canal bank as depicted in the permit 
drawings, as submitted to and approved by the District, (Miami-Dade 
County Project No. 20040558, SW 328th Street from US-1 to SW 16nd 
Avenue).

d. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary permits and approvals from the 
District, Miami-Dade County, and any other governmental entities, if any, 
and pay all associated fees.  There is no representation, guaranty or 
assurance made by the District that the District’s Governing Board will in 
fact approve the issuance of any required District permits, and there is no 

16

Packet Pg. 38



obligation on the part of the District’s Governing Board to approve the 
issuance of any required District permits.  The District’s review process for 
any required permits will be done separate, independent and unfettered of 
the fact that the District has approved this Resolution and shall be in 
accordance with the District’s applicable rules. 

e. All of the foregoing terms, conditions, and requirements set forth in 
subparagraphs (a.) through (d.), inclusive, must be satisfied to the 
satisfaction of the District in its sole and absolute discretion no later than 
October 31, 2016.

FISCAL IMPACT:  Said parcel was acquired by the Central and Southern Florida Flood 
Control District (CSFFCD) in 1966 at a cost of $1,430.   Because this project is for the 
benefit of the public, the Applicant is requesting that the District waive its $1,000 
application fee and convey its interests at no cost, without reserving the right to mine 
and develop phosphate, minerals, metals or petroleum pursuant to Section 270.11, 
Florida Statutes.

AUTHORIZATION:  Pursuant to Section 373.056, Florida Statutes, any water 
management district within this chapter shall have authority to convey or lease to any 
governmental entity, land or rights in land owned by such district not required for its 
purposes under such terms and conditions as the governing board of such district may 
determine; and pursuant to Section 373.096, Florida Statutes, the governing board of 
the District may release any easement, reservation or right of way interest for which it 
has no present or apparent future use under terms and conditions determined by the 
board.

RECOMMENDATION:  A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District approving the conveyance of fee owned right of way interests 
containing 0.19 acres, more or less, to Miami-Dade County at no cost; being a portion of 
the C-103S right of way, in Section 18, Township 57 South, Range 39 East, Miami-
Dade County, and approve the waiver of the reservation of rights pursuant to Section 
270.11, Florida Statutes, subject to satisfaction of certain terms, conditions and 
requirements; providing an effective date.

16

Packet Pg. 39



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0502 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District approving the conveyance of fee owned right of 
way interests containing  0.19 acres, more or less, to Miami-Dade 
County at no cost; being a portion of the C-103S right of way, in 
Section 18, Township 57 South, Range 39 East, Miami-Dade County, 
and approve the waiver of the reservation of rights pursuant to 
Section 270.11, Florida Statutes, subject to satisfaction of certain 
terms, conditions and requirements; providing an effective date. 
(OMC, Kathy Massey, ext. 6835)

WHEREAS, pursuant to a request from the applicant, Miami-Dade County, the 

District has determined that it is in the public interest to convey a portion of its fee owned 

right of way to accommodate a proposed road widening project.  The portion of right of 

way to be conveyed is 0.19 acres, more or less, and is located at the corner of SW 172nd

Avenue (McMinn Road) and SW 328th Street (Lucy Street); and 

WHEREAS, upon the satisfaction of certain terms, conditions and requirements,

the Governing Board has determined that said 0.19+/- acre parcel is not required by the 

District for present or apparent future use; and

WHEREAS, the applicant has requested that the District waive the $1,000 

application fee,  convey its interest at no cost and waive its reservation of phosphate, 

mineral, metal and petroleum rights pursuant to Section 270.11, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 373.056, Florida Statutes, any water management 

district within this chapter shall have authority to convey or lease to any governmental 

entity, land or rights in land owned by such district not required for its purposes under 

such terms and conditions as the governing board of such district may determine; and 

pursuant to Section 373.096, Florida Statutes, the governing board of the District may 

release any easement, reservation or right of way interest for which it has no present or 

apparent future use under terms and conditions determined by the board.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South 

Florida Water Management District:

Section 1: The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District has 

determined that the District has no present or apparent future use for the subject portion 

16

Packet Pg. 40



of fee owned right of way and therefore hereby approves conveying 0.19 acres, more or 

less, located in Section 18, Township 57 South, Range 39 East, Miami-Dade County, C-

103S project, to the applicant at no cost and without reserving any phosphate, mineral, 

metal or petroleum rights in the subject property pursuant to Section 270.11, Florida 

Statutes, provided all of the following terms, conditions, and requirements are satisfied to 

the satisfaction of the District, in its sole and absolute discretion:

a. Applicant must provide a legal description and sketch for the conveyance 
document, subject to District review and approval.

b. All costs associated with this transaction shall be paid for by the Applicant, 
including but not limited to all recording costs, and under no 
circumstances shall the District be obligated to pay any amount to the 
Applicant or otherwise in connection with this transaction.  

c. The Applicant shall complete the relocation of the drainage ditch and 
District Water Control Structure (PC36) northerly of its present location, 
including a stabilized, clear, unobstructed maintenance berm and 
vehicular access route, being a minimum of 40 feet in width as measured 
from the useable relocated top of the canal bank, as depicted in the permit 
drawings, as submitted to and approved by the District, (Miami-Dade 
County Project No. 20040558, SW 328th Street from US-1 to SW 16nd 
Avenue).

d. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary permits and approvals from the 
District, Miami-Dade County, and any other governmental entities, if any, 
and pay all associated fees.  There is no representation, guaranty or 
assurance made by the District that the District’s Governing Board will in 
fact approve the issuance of any required District permits, and there is no 
obligation on the part of the District’s Governing Board to approve the 
issuance of any required District permits.  The District’s review process for 
any required permits will be done separate, independent and unfettered of 
the fact that the District has approved this Resolution and shall be in 
accordance with the District’s applicable rules. 

e. All of the foregoing terms, conditions, and requirements set forth in 
subparagraphs (a.) through (d.), inclusive, must be satisfied to the 
satisfaction of the District in its sole and absolute discretion no later than 
October 31, 2016.

Section 2: The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 

hereby authorizes the Chairman to execute the conveyance document.  No conveyance 

document shall be delivered to the applicant, or shall be effective, until all of the foregoing 

requirements have been fully completed and fulfilled to the District’s satisfaction, and 

such document must be recorded in the Public Records of Miami-Dade County.

16

Packet Pg. 41



Section 3: This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

16

Packet Pg. 42



C-1
03S

SE
 6T

H 
AV

E

SW 328TH STSE 8TH ST
C-1

03S

SE
 6T

H 
AV

E

SW 328TH STSE 8TH ST

Miami-Dade County

BR100-001
~0.19 acres

For copies of this map (\\Ad.sfwmd.gov\dfsroot\data\aa_gis\arc_data\maps\ReleaseofReservation\GB_2013-4-24_BR100-001.mxd), Created on 4/24/13 by SMF. Contact the Real Estate Section.

IMPORTANT DISCLAIMER: 
This map is a conceptual or planning tool only. The South Florida 
Water Management District does not guarantee or make any 
representation regarding the information contained herein. It is not 
self-executing or binding, and does not affect the interests of any 
persons or properties, including any present or future right or use of 
real property.

BR100-001

¬«997

SW 320TH ST

PALM DR

NE 8TH ST

¬«5

16.a

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

01
_M

ap
_B

R
10

0-
00

1 
 (

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 N

o
. 2

01
3 

- 
05

02
  :

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e 

co
n

ve
ya

n
ce

 o
f 

a

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text
ca_om_201_Map_BR100-001.pdfMay 9, 2013

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text

aschlut
Typewritten Text



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Karen Estock, Division Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Authorize Exec. Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Troup 
Indiantown WCD Annual Election

CONSIDERATION:  The District is the sole owner of 8,977.18 acres of land within the 
Troup Indiantown Water Control District.  Troup Indiantown will hold its annual 
landowners’ meeting in June 2013 in order to elect a member to its three member Board 
of Supervisors.    Voting within the District is based upon number of owned acres.  As a 
result of the C-44 acquisition, the South Florida Water Management District is the 
majority landholder.  In order to protect the interests of the District, the staff is 
requesting authorization to cast the landowners’ votes.

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve a Resolution authorizing the Executive Director or her 
designee to take appropriate action in the casting of landowner votes in the June 2013 
election for the Board of Supervisors of the Troup Indiantown Water Control District. 

17

Packet Pg. 44



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0503 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing the Executive Director, or her 
designee, to take appropriate action in the casting of South Florida 
Water Management District landowner votes in the June 2013 
election for the Board of Supervisors of the Troup Indiantown Water 
Control District for the purpose of protecting the District's interests; 
providing an effective date. (OMC, Ray Palmer, Ext. 2246)

WHEREAS, the South Florida Water Management District ("SFWMD") is the sole 

owner of 8,977.18 acres of land located within the Troup Indiantown Water Control 

District ("Troup"), a water control district established by the laws of Florida, pursuant to 

Chapter 298, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, Troup is conducting an election in June 2013 in order to elect a 

member to its Board of Supervisors, pursuant to Section 298.12, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, as landowners within Troup,  pursuant to Section 298.11, Florida 

Statutes, the SFWMD is entitled to cast votes in the election for the Board of 

Supervisors; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Troup has many statutorily mandated 

and authorized functions and powers pursuant to Chapter 298, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the exercise of these powers and functions by the Board of 

Supervisors can have a substantial impact on the lands owned by the SFWMD; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board hereby determines that it is necessary,

appropriate and in the public interest to authorize the Executive Director, or her 

designee to take action in the casting of ballots in the election for the Board of 

Supervisors in order to protect the interest of the SFWMD lands within the Troup District

owned by the SFWMD; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South 

Florida Water Management District:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 

hereby authorizes the Executive Director, or her designee to take any or all of the 

17

Packet Pg. 45



following actions with respect to the casting of ballots in the June 2013 election for the 

Board of Supervisors of the Troup Indiantown Water Control District:

(1) To cast all votes for the land owned solely by the SFWMD for a 

candidate for the Troup Board of Supervisors whom the Executive Director, or her 

designee believes, in her discretion, will act, when serving as a member of the Board, in 

the best interests of the SFWMD.

(2) To take whatever other action that is legally required to cast the 

SFWMD's votes in the election.  

Section 2. The District Clerk is authorized and directed to furnish a copy of this 

Resolution to the Secretary of the Troup Indiantown Water Control District.

Section 3. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

17

Packet Pg. 46



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Karen Estock, Division Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pine Tree 
WCD Annual Election

CONSIDERATION:  The District is the sole owner of 2,806 acres of land within the Pine 
Tree Water Control District.  Pine Tree will hold its annual landowners’ meeting in June 
2013 in order to elect a member to its three member Board of Supervisors.  Voting 
within the District is based upon number of owned acres.  In order to protect the 
interests of the District, the staff is requesting authorization to cast the landowners’ 
votes.

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve a Resolution authorizing the Executive Director or her 
designee to take appropriate action in the casting of landowner votes in the June 2013 
election for the Board of Supervisors of the Pine Tree Water Control District. 

18

Packet Pg. 47



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0504 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing the Executive Director, or her 
designee, to take appropriate action in the casting of South Florida 
Water Management District landowner votes in the June 2013 
election for the Board of Supervisors of the Pine Tree Water Control 
District for the purpose of protecting the District's interests; 
providing an effective date. (OMC, Ray Palmer, ext. 2246)

WHEREAS, the South Florida Water Management District ("SFWMD") is the sole 

owner of 2,806 acres of land located within the Pine Tree Water Control District (“Pine 

Tree”), a water control district established by the laws of Florida, pursuant to Chapter 

298, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, Pine Tree is conducting an election in June 2013 in order to elect a 

member to its Board of Supervisors, pursuant to Section 298.12, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, as landowners within Pine Tree,  pursuant to Section 298.11, Florida 

Statutes, the SFWMD is entitled to cast votes in the election for the Board of 

Supervisors; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Pine Tree has many statutorily 

mandated and authorized functions and powers pursuant to Chapter 298, Florida 

Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the exercise of these powers and functions by the Board of 

Supervisors can have a substantial impact on the lands owned by the SFWMD; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board hereby determines that it is necessary, 

appropriate and in the public interest to authorize the Executive Director, or her 

designee to take action in the casting of ballots in the election for the Board of 

Supervisors in order to protect the interest of the SFWMD lands within the Pine Tree 

District owned by the SFWMD; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South 

Florida Water Management District:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 

hereby authorizes the Executive Director, or her designee to take any or all of the 

18

Packet Pg. 48



following actions with respect to the casting of ballots in the June 2013 election for the 

Board of Supervisors of the Pine Tree Water Control District:

(1) To cast all votes for the land owned solely by the SFWMD for a 

candidate for the Pine Tree Board of Supervisors whom the Executive Director, or her 

designee believes, in her discretion, will act, when serving as a member of the Board, in 

the best interests of the SFWMD and Trustees.

(2) To take whatever other action that is legally required to cast the 

SFWMD's votes in the election.  

Section 2. The District Clerk is authorized and directed to furnish a copy of this 

Resolution to the Secretary of the Pine Tree Water Control District.

Section 3. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

18

Packet Pg. 49



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Karen Estock, Division Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pal Mar 
WCD Annual Election

CONSIDERATION:  The South Florida Water Management District (“SFWMD”) is the 
owner of approximately 10,722.19 acres of land within the Pal Mar Water Control 
District.  Pal Mar will hold its annual landowners’ meeting in June 2013 in order to elect 
a member to its five member Board of Supervisors.  Voting within the District is based 
upon number of owned acres.  In order to protect the interests of the District, the staff is 
requesting authorization to cast the landowners’ votes.

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a Resolution authorizing the Executive Director or 
her designee to take appropriate action in the casting of landowner votes in the June 
2013 election for the Board of Supervisors of the Pal Mar Water Control District. 

19

Packet Pg. 50



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0505 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing the Executive Director, or her 
designee, to take appropriate action in the casting of District 
landowner votes in the June 2013 election for the Board of 
Supervisors of the Pal Mar Water Control District for the purpose of 
protecting the District's interests; providing an effective date. (OMC, 
Ray Palmer, ext. 2246)

WHEREAS, the South Florida Water Management District ("District") is the sole owner 

of approximately 10,722.19 acres of land located within the Pal Mar Water Control District ("Pal 

Mar"), a water control district established by the laws of Florida, pursuant to Chapter 298, 

Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the District is owner of approximately 10,722.19 acres in Pal Mar; and

WHEREAS, Pal Mar is conducting an election in June 2013 in order to elect a landowner 

member to its Board of Supervisors, pursuant to Section 298.12, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, as landowners within Pal Mar,  pursuant to Section 298.11, Florida 

Statutes, the District is entitled to cast votes in the election for the Board of Supervisors; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Pal Mar has many statutorily mandated and 

authorized functions and powers pursuant to Chapter 298, Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the exercise of these powers and functions by the Board of Supervisors can 

have a substantial impact on the lands owned by the District; and 

WHEREAS, Section 298.11, Florida Statutes requires that a member of the Board of 

Supervisors be a resident of the County within which Pal Mar lies and own land within Pal Mar, 

and,

WHEREAS, Pal Mar Water Control District boundaries encompass both Palm Beach 

and Martin Counties; and, 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board hereby determines that it is necessary, appropriate 

and in the public interest to authorize the Executive Director, or her designee to take action in 

the casting of ballots in the election for the Board of Supervisors in order to protect the interest 

of the District in the lands in Pal Mar owned by them and to have representation on the Pal Mar 

Water Control District Board of Supervisors; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South Florida 

Water Management District:

19

Packet Pg. 51



Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District hereby 

authorizes the Executive Director, or her designee, to take any or all of the following actions with 

respect to the casting of ballots in the June 2013 election for the Board of Supervisors of the Pal 

Mar Water Control District:

(1) To cast all votes for the land owned solely by the District for a candidate 

for the Pal Mar Board of Supervisors whom the Executive Director, or her designee believes, in 

her discretion, will act, when serving as a member of the Board, in the best interests of the 

District.

(2) To obtain proxy from the landowner votes for the land owned by the 

District for such candidate.

(3) To take whatever other action that is legally required to cast the District's 

votes in the election. 

Section 2. The District Clerk is authorized and directed to furnish a copy of this Resolution 

to the Secretary of the Pal Mar Water Control District.

Section 3. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this ___ day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

19

Packet Pg. 52



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Karen Estock, Division Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Approve ten year agricultural (row crops) with Pero Family Farms, Inc. (Lease 
Agreement# 4600002862)

Background:
Pero Family Farms, Inc. (“Pero Farms”) entered into a lease agreement (the “Lease”), 
effective as of June 1, 2000, with McMurrain Farms Limited Partnership, a Florida 
limited partnership, for approximately 623.96 acres of farm land, located on the west 
side of State Road 7, one mile north of West Atlantic Avenue, within the Agricultural 
Reserve Area of unincorporated Palm Beach County.  The Lease was then amended to 
exclude 53.19 acres from the total leased acreage, decreasing the acreage available for 
leasing to 570.77 acres.

On June 6, 2000, an Interlocal Agreement was executed between the District and the 
County providing for the purchase from McMurrain Farms Limited Partnership of lands 
in the area known as the “Palm Beach County Agricultural Reserve Area” and giving the 
District 60.6% fee interest in the 570.77 acres of the McMurrain Farms/Pero Property 
(the “Premises”) and the Lease. 

The Lease has been amended several times:

• Amendment one, dated July 26, 2005, extended the Lease through May 31, 
2006;  

• Amendment two, dated May 16, 2006, extended the Lease through May 31, 
2009; 

• Amendment three, dated February 3, 2009, extended the Lease through May 31, 
2012; and  

• Amendment four, dated June 5, 2012, extended the Lease through May 31, 
2013.

The District’s current policy on administration of leases (SFWMD District Policies Code, 
Section 140-10(1) does not allow lease terms to exceed ten years.  The District’s and 
County’s lease agreement with Pero Farms has now been in effect for nearly thirteen 
years, thus exceeding the maximum allowable cumulative total number of lease years 
and requiring (SFWMD District Policies Code, Section 140-10(1)(a)) that a new lease 
for the Premises be solicited and awarded.

20

Packet Pg. 53



Pursuant to the District’s lease procurement process, the District solicited bids for an 
agricultural lease for the Premises and Pero Farms was the only responsible bidder. 

How this helps meet the District’s 10-year Strategic Plan:
The continued revenue from a lease is advantageous to the District.  The revenues 
generated from this lease will assist the Land Resources Bureau in managing other 
District-owned Interim and Restoration lands.

The rent amount will be $294,517.32 ($516.00 per acre) for the first year with the 
District receiving $178,477.50 and the County receiving $116,039.82. After the first year 
the lease fees will be subject to annual adjustments based on either Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) or appropriate Agricultural Commodity Index (ACI) whichever the Lessee 
chooses.

In accordance with SFWMD District Policies Code, Section 140-10(1)(c) and (2)(d)(1)), 
in the fifth year of the lease term, a new appraisal will be performed to determine a new, 
updated market rent for the lease. This new appraisal will establish the annual rent for 
years six through ten of the lease term. In addition, the new rent will be subject to an 
annual ACI or CPI adjustment as well.

Last year the total annual lease fee was set at $183,728.06 of which the District 
received $111,339.20. The new annual lease fee represents an approximate 60 percent 
increase in revenue.

Funding Source:
There are no District costs associated with this item other than the cost of administering 
the lease.

This Board item impacts what areas of the District, both resource areas and 
geography: 
The approved lease will be administered by the Leasing and Mitigation Administration 
Section situated within Land Resources Bureau. The Premises is located adjacent to 
US Hwy. 441 in western Palm Beach County.

What concerns could this Board item raise?
There are no concerns regarding this Board item.

Why should the Governing Board approve this item? 
The item will bring approximately $1,784,775 in revenue to the District over the next ten 
year period.  

20

Packet Pg. 54



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0506 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District approving a new 10-year lease agreement for 
570.77 acres in Palm Beach County, between the current lessee Pero 
Family Farms, Inc., Palm Beach County and the District in the 
amount of $178,477.50 per year as revenue to the District; providing 
an effective date. (Contract Number 4600002862) (OMC, Jayne 
Bergstrom, ext. 2864)

WHEREAS, the Governing Board, pursuant to Section 373.093 of the Florida 
Statutes, may lease lands or interests in land under terms and conditions determined by 
the Governing Board;

WHEREAS,  with respect to 570.77 acres in Palm Beach (the “Premises”), the 
District, Palm Beach County and Pero Family Farms, Inc. (the current lessee of the 
Premises), desire to enter into a Lease Agreement for a ten year term from July 1, 
2013, through June 30, 2023 under Contract Number 4600002862 (the “Lease 
Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the main use of the Premises, currently and pursuant to the Lease 
Agreement, will be row crops; and

WHEREAS, District staff recommends that the Governing Board approve the 
Lease Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South 
Florida Water Management District:

Section 1: The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
approves the Lease Agreement No. 4600002862.

Section 2: The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
hereby authorizes the Bureau Chief of the District’s Procurement Bureau to execute the 
Lease Agreement.

Section 3. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013. 

20

Packet Pg. 55



Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

20

Packet Pg. 56



So
uth

 Fl
or

ida
 W

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t D

ist
ric

t
La

nd
 A

cq
uis

itio
n D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
GI

S S
EC

TIO
N

33
01

 G
un

 C
lub

 Ro
ad

, W
es

t P
alm

 Be
ac

h, 
Flo

rid
a 3

34
06

56
1-

68
6-

88
00

 - 
 FL

 W
AT

S 1
-8

00
-4

32
-2

04
5  

-  
ww

w.
sfw

m
d.g

ov
MA

ILIN
G 

AD
DR

ES
S: 

P.O
. B

ox
 24

68
0 -

 W
es

t P
alm

 Be
ac

h, 
FL 

33
41

6-4
68

0

W9
20

1-2
81

 - P
ero

 Fa
rm

s
Ro

w 
Cr

op
 Le

as
e A

pp
rai

sa
l

Pa
lm

 B
ea

ch
 C

ou
nt

y
To

w
ns

hi
p 

46
 S

ou
th

R
an

ge
 4

1 
E

as
t1211

7

1
2

13
14

18

6

441

SR
-7

US
-44

1
US

 H
IG

HW
AY

 44
1

L-4
0

BOB WEST RD

HAPPY HOLLOW RD

SA
NT

A 
AN

ITA
 D

R

CH
UR

CH
ILL

 D
OW

NS
 D

R

    
    

    
    

  
UP

DA
TE

D
16

-F
EB

-2
01

2

Image Source: 2011 Palm Beach County Half-Foot Natural Color Aerial Photography

WATER 
CONSERVATION 

AREA 1

27

98

1
17

41
414141

98
441

75

75

95

95

595COLLIER

LEE HENDRY

GLADES

MARTIN

HARDEE

DE SOTO

MONROE

OKEECHOBEE

CHARLOTTE

PALM BEACH

MIAMI-DADE

BROWARD

HIGHLANDS
ST. LUCIE

MANATEE

SARASOTA

POLK INDIAN RIVERHILLSBOROUGH

70

78

TPK

Fo
r c

op
ie

s 
of

 th
is

 m
ap

 (\
\a

d.
sf

w
m

d.
go

v\
df

sr
oo

t\d
at

a\
aa

_g
is

\a
rc

_d
at

a\
m

ap
s\

La
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t\2

01
2-

02
-1

5_
M

A
P

_J
LS

_R
O

W
C

ro
ps

_P
er

o_
A

pp
ra

is
al

.m
xd

)w
hi

ch
 w

as
 p

ro
du

ce
d 

on
 2

/1
5/

20
12

 b
y 

J.
 S

an
tia

go
, c

on
ta

ct
 th

e 
R

ea
l E

st
at

e 
G

IS
 S

ec
tio

n

Ra
ng

e 4
1 E

as
t

Ra
ng

e 4
2 E

as
t

IMPORTANT DISCLAIMER: 
This map is a conceptual or planning tool only. 
The South Florida Water Management District 
does not guarantee or make any representation 
regarding the information contained herein. It is
not self-executing or binding, and does not affect
the interests of any persons or properties, including
any present or future right or use of real property.

0 500 1,000
Feet

Atlantic Ocean

Gulf of Mexico

SITE

Lake
Okeechobee

Legend
W9201-281 (Pero Farms - Row Crops)

Approx. Farmed Acres: 490.99 ±
Total Lease Acres: 570.77

20.a

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

06
_M

A
P

_J
L

S
_R

O
W

C
ro

p
s_

P
er

o
_A

p
p

ra
is

al
 2

   
(R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
06

  :
 A

p
p

ro
ve

 t
en

 y
ea

r 
ag

ri
cu

lt
u

ra
l (

ro
w

 c
ro

p
s)

 w
it

h



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Tommy Strowd, Assistant Executive Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Alligator and Waterfowl Hunting in Compartment C and STA 6

Background:  
Managed alligator and waterfowl hunting has proven to be a popular and project 
compatible recreational opportunity with the Stormwater Treatment Areas.  Conducted 
in coordination with the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, waterfowl 
hunts were first established in the Stormwater Treatment Areas in 2003 and alligator 
hunts were initiated in 2006.  These hunts have not affected the operation or function of 
the Stormwater Treatment Areas and have provided well received hunting opportunities 
for the public.

Construction activities have been completed within the Compartment C flow-ways which 
now provide one contiguous filtration marsh between STA 5 and 6.  Given the success 
of past hunts, and the completion of construction, staff recommends the Governing 
Board authorize the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission to administer 
public waterfowl and alligator hunting opportunities within the Compartment C flow-ways 
and STA 6 beginning in 2013 and for subsequent years. 

Similar to the alligator and waterfowl hunts that occur in Stormwater Treatment Areas 
1W, 2, 3/4 and 5, regulations and procedures will be implemented to ensure the 
continued security of District’s facilities and the proper administration of the hunt 
program.  No-cost permits will be issued by the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation 
Commission, as part of the agency’s alligator and waterfowl hunting programs, 
providing interested individuals a chance to hunt in this area.  The number of permits 
issued will be determined by the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission in 
consultation with District staff.  The use of motorized boats, including airboats, and all-
terrain vehicles will be prohibited.  

Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission law enforcement officers will provide 
an increased law enforcement presence in the area during established hunts. Specific 
times, dates, and areas for alligator and waterfowl hunts will be established in 
consultation with District staff to assure hunting activities in the additional areas do not 
interfere with the operation of Stormwater Treatment Areas.

How this helps meet the District’s 10-Year Strategic Plan:
The proposed activities would provide additional public recreational opportunities on 
District property in support of the District’s 10-year strategic plan.

21

Packet Pg. 58



 
Funding Source: 
This item does not require the expenditure of additional District funds.

This Board item impacts what areas of the District, both resource areas and 
geography: 
Stormwater Treatment Areas are located in Hendry County and will be managed by the 
Land Resources Bureau within the Operations, Maintenance and Construction Division 
in cooperation with the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission.  

What concerns could this Board item raise?
Concerns of a general nature could be raised regarding opening this area to hunting.  
However, this site is in a remote area and hunting is an existing authorized activity 
administered by the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 

Why should the Governing Board approve this item? 
This proposal would increase recreational opportunities on District lands consistent with 
District policy and legislative directives. 

21

Packet Pg. 59



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0507 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing the Florida Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission to manage alligator and waterfowl 
hunting opportunities on Tract numbers D7100-101, 49104-001, and 
49104-002 consisting of approximately 11,389 acres within 
Compartment C and STA 6 in Hendry County during 2013 and 
subsequent years, subject to certain terms and conditions; providing 
an effective date. (OMC, Dan Cotter, ext. 2301)

WHEREAS, the District is required by the Everglades Forever Act (Section 
373.4592(4)(a), Florida Statutes) to make “[stormwater treatment areas] available for 
public recreational use unless the District Governing Board can demonstrate that such 
uses are incompatible with the restoration goals of the Everglades Construction Project 
or the water quality or hydrological purposes of the STA’s or would otherwise adversely 
impact the implementation of the project”; and

WHEREAS, SFWMD Tract Numbers D7100-101, 49104-001, and 49104-002, 
consisting of approximately 11,389 acres located in Hendry County, identified on Exhibit 
“A” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (collectively the ”Properties”); 
and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Rule 40E-7.527, Florida Administrative Code, public 
hunting on District lands may only be established with the approval of the Governing 
Board, and such hunting shall be regulated, administered, and enforced by the Florida 
Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission (“Commission”); and

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management 
District deems it necessary, appropriate, and in the public interest to authorize the 
Commission to establish the Properties for alligator and waterfowl hunting, in 
accordance with Rule 40E-7.527, Florida Administrative Code; and, 

WHEREAS, the Commission will manage public hunting and other recreational 
uses of the Properties in compliance with all applicable laws, statutes and regulations 
and requirements and in a similar manner to other Commission-managed areas in 
Florida. 

WHEREAS, Commission law enforcement officers will provide an increased 
presence during the established alligator and waterfowl hunts on the Properties; and

WHEREAS, the days, times, and areas for alligator and waterfowl hunts shall be 
determined in consultation with District staff; and  

WHEREAS, the number of permits issued by Commission for alligator and 
waterfowl hunting shall be determined in consultation with District staff; and 

21

Packet Pg. 60



WHEREAS, the Commission will make the specific restrictions set forth above 
known to permit applicants and only for alligator hunting mail a letter to each permit 
holder prior to the hunt dates describing the specific restrictions; and

WHEREAS, the Commission and the District will conduct an evaluation and 
coordination meeting no later than 120 days after the close of alligator and waterfowl 
hunt seasons.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South 
Florida Water Management District:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
hereby authorizes the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission to manage 
alligator and waterfowl hunting opportunities on  the Properties during 2013 and 
subsequent years including a prohibition on the use of airboats, other motorized boats 
or all-terrain vehicles thereon in accordance with Rule 40E-7.527, Florida Administrative 
Code, subject to those certain terms and conditions referenced hereinabove and all 
applicable laws, statutes, regulations and other requirements.

Section 2. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

21

Packet Pg. 61



Exhibit “A” 
  Compartment C and 

 STA 6 
Hendry County, Fl 

Lake Okeechobee 

STA 3/4 

Compartment C 
and STA 6 

Tracts D7100-101, 
49104-001,49104-002,  

May 9, 2013 

21.a

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

08
_E

xh
A

_m
ap

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
07

  :
 A

lli
g

at
o

r 
an

d
 W

at
er

fo
w

l



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Tommy Strowd, Assistant Executive Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Public Small Game Hunting Areas, 2013-14 Hunting Season

Background:
As defined by the District’s Public Access and Recreational Use Rule (Rule 40E-
7.521(29), Florida Administrative Code), “vacant undesignated land” means District 
lands which are greater than 10 acres, have legal and practical public access, and are 
not designated as a management area, a stormwater treatment area, an impoundment, 
or right-of-way.

Lands within this category have been purchased by the District for various water 
resource projects. In an attempt to utilize such vacant lands for public recreation, 
including hunting, these areas were first inventoried and assessed for possible 
recreational uses in 2006.  The primary focus of this assessment was to evaluate if any 
of these areas could be opened for small game hunting.  The assessment identified the 
Rocky Glades project area located in Miami-Dade County, and the C23/24 project area 
located in St. Lucie County, as sites that would be available for hunting related 
recreation provided such use did not interfere with planned construction activities. 

The Rocky Glades Public Small Game Hunting Area in Miami-Dade County has 
expanded in size from the original 230 acre site established in 2006 to the 3574 acre 
site established for the 2012-13 hunting season.  The proposed boundary for the 2013-
14 hunting season will be modified to include areas that do not have planned 
construction. Approximately 1100 acres of the C23/24 project area was established as a 
Public Small Game Hunting Area from 2006 to early 2011. The property was not 
established for hunting during the 2011-12 and 2012-13 seasons while the District 
evaluated other proposed uses for the property.  Based on the success of past hunting 
programs offered on both properties and the availability of property for public use, staff 
recommends re-establishing the Rocky Glades Public Small Game Hunting Area, 
consisting of approximately 4892 acres, and the C23/24 Public Small Game Hunting 
Area, consisting of approximately 1170 acres, for the purpose of hunting waterfowl, 
small game, non-native reptiles and hogs during the 2013-14 hunting season.

The Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission has agreed and is supportive of 
re-establishing the Rocky Glades and C23/24 sites as Public Small Game Hunting 
Areas and administer waterfowl, small game, non-native reptiles and hog hunting 
opportunities on the properties during the 2013-14 hunting season in accordance with 
State and Federal regulations with approval from the District.  Although check stations 

22

Packet Pg. 63



have not been operated in the past to collect harvest or public use data, reports from 
Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commissions Wildlife Officers and comments 
received by District staff indicate hunting activities provided on this area in the past have 
been successful and well received by the public. 

How this helps meet the District’s 10-year Strategic Plan:
The proposed activities would provide additional public recreational opportunities on 
District property in support of the District’s 10-year strategic plan.

Funding Source:
This item does not require the expenditure of additional District funds. 

This Board item impacts what areas of the District, both resource areas and 
geography: 
This activity will take place in Miami-Dade and St. Lucie Counties and will be managed 
by the Land Resources Bureau within the Operations, Maintenance and Construction 
Division in cooperation with the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission.  

What concerns could this Board item raise?
Concerns of a general nature could be raised regarding opening these areas to hunting.  
However, these sites are in remote areas and hunting has been a previously authorized 
activity administered by the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 

Why should the Governing Board approve this item? 
This proposal would increase recreational opportunities on District lands consistent with 
District policy and legislative directives.

22

Packet Pg. 64



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0508 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing the Florida Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission to establish SFWMD tracts consisting of 
approximately 4892 acres in Miami-Dade County, and approximately 
1170 acres in St. Lucie County, as Public Small Game Hunting Areas 
for the 2013-14 hunting season and manage waterfowl, small game, 
non-native reptile and hog hunting on such lands subject to terms 
and conditions; providing an effective date. (OMC, Dan Cotter, ext. 
2301)

WHEREAS, pursuant Rule 40E-7.521(29), Florida Administrative Code., District 

lands greater than ten (10) acres, with legal and practical access, that are not otherwise 

designated as a Management Area, a Stormwater Treatment Area, an Impoundment or 

Right of Way, as those terms are defined in Rule 40E-7.521, F.A.C., are defined as 

“vacant undesignated lands”; and 

WHEREAS, SFWMD Tract Numbers B7100-007, B7100-009, B7100-016, 

B7100-017, B7100-019, B7100-020, B7100-029, B7100-206, B7100-209, B7100-210, 

B7100-215, B7100-216, B7100-237, B7100-252, B7100-253, 16100-002, 161-003, and 

16100-004 consisting of approximately 4892 acres located in Miami-Dade County, 

identified on Exhibit “A-1” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference 

(collectively the ”Properties”), and SFWMD Tract Numbers KE100-018, KE100-118; 

KE100-121, KE100-126, KE100-132, KE100-134, KE100-135, KE100-136, KE100-137, 

KE100-139, KE100-141, KE100-142, KE100-143, and KE100-144, consisting of 

approximately 1170 acres located in St. Lucie County, identified on Exhibit “A-2” 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (collectively the ”Properties”), 

qualify as “vacant undesignated lands” under Rule 40E-7.521(29), F.A.C.; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Rule 40E-7.527, Florida Administrative Code, public  

hunting on District lands may only be established with the approval of the Governing 

Board, and such hunting shall be regulated, administered, and enforced by the Florida 

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission (“Commission”); and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management 

District deems it necessary, appropriate, and in the public interest to authorize the 

22

Packet Pg. 65



Commission to establish the Properties as Public Small Game Hunting Areas, in 

accordance with Rule 40E-7.527, Florida Administrative Code; and, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the South 

Florida Water Management District:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 

hereby authorizes the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission to establish 

the Properties as Public Small Game Hunting Areas for the 2013-14 hunting season, 

and to manage public waterfowl, small game, non-native reptile and hog hunting and 

prohibit camping, fires, and motorized vehicles thereon, in accordance with Rule 40E-

7.527, Florida Administrative Code, subject to all applicable laws, statutes, regulations 

and other requirements.

Section 2. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

22

Packet Pg. 66



22.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

09
_E

xh
A

1_
m

ap
  (

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 N

o
. 2

01
3 

- 
05

08
  :

 P
u

b
lic

 S
m

al
l G

am
e 

H
u

n
ti

n
g

 A
re

as
, 2

01
3-

14
 H

u
n

ti
n

g
 S

ea
so

n
)



22.b

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 c

a_
o

m
_2

09
_E

xh
A

2_
m

ap
  (

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 N

o
. 2

01
3 

- 
05

08
  :

 P
u

b
lic

 S
m

al
l G

am
e 

H
u

n
ti

n
g

 A
re

as
, 2

01
3-

14
 H

u
n

ti
n

g
 S

ea
so

n
)



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Tommy Strowd, Assistant Executive Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Clewiston Flat Mowing - Contract Number 4600002863

Agenda Item Description
A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District to 
authorize entering into a three-year contract with two (2) one-year renewal options with James 
L. King and Associates, Inc., the lowest responsive and responsible bidder for Flat Mowing 
Services in the Clewiston Field Station area, in the amount of $740,155.26 for three (3) years, of 
which $158,605.70 in ad valorem funds are budgeted and the remainder is subject to Governing 
Board approval of the FY14-FY16 budgets; providing an effective date.

Background
Maintenance of the Right of Ways is required to ensure that vegetation is controlled at a 
manageable height and will uphold the operational integrity of the District’s flood control system. 
This project for the Clewiston Field Station area, will contract approximately 13,234 acres to be 
mowed on an annual basis. The lowest responsive and responsible bidder is James L. King and 
Associates, Inc., at $15.98 per acre. Since this is a work order contract, the amount of acres to 
be mowed will fluctuate, based on the weather, budget, and construction projects in these 
areas. 

Core Mission and Strategic Priorities
Mowing the District’s Right of Ways will reduce and control vegetative growth along canal banks 
which can impede operations, inspections and access to the District’s water control facility. 

Funding Source
This is a three-year contract with two (2) one-year renewal options, in the amount of 
$740,155.26 for which $158,605.70 in ad valorem funds are budgeted in FY13 and the 
remainder is subject to Governing Board approval of the FY14-FY16 budgets.

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends authorizing the approval of Contract Number 4600002863, as this item 
supports continual operations and maintenance of the District canal system.  If not mowed and 
maintained, these areas would become a potential hazard to the public as well as District 
employees.   

If you have any questions, please call Tommy B. Strowd, P.E., at ext. 6998 or Joel Arrietta at 
ext. 2867.

23

Packet Pg. 69



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0509 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing a three-year contract with two (2) 
one-year renewal options with James L. King and Associates, Inc., 
the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, for Flat Mowing 
Services in the Clewiston Field Station area, in the amount of 
$740,155.26 for three years, of which $158,605.70  in ad valorem 
funds are budgeted and the remainder is subject to Governing Board 
approval of the FY14-FY16 budgets; providing an effective date. 
(Contract Number 4600002863) (OMC, Mitchell Murphy, ext. 3218)

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District deems it 
necessary, appropriate and in the public interest to authorize entering into a three-year contract 
with two (2) one-year renewal options with James L. King and Associates, Inc., the lowest 
responsive and responsible bidder, for Flat Mowing Services in the Clewiston Field Station area, 
in the amount of $740,155.26 for three years, of which $158,605.70  in ad valorem funds are 
budgeted and the remainder is subject to Governing Board approval of the FY14-FY16 budgets; 
providing an effective date. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SOUTH 
FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District hereby 
authorizes the execution of Contract Number 4600002863 with James L. King and Associates, 
Inc.

Section 2. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

23

Packet Pg. 70



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Lennart J. Lindahl, Assistant Executive Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: C-51 Memorandum of Understanding

Background
This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is proposed to facilitate the design, construction 
and operation of a reservoir in the western C-51 basin as discussed for several years.  Palm 
Beach Aggregates, (PBA) and the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) propose 
entering into a MOU in order to identify, at a high level, the responsibilities of PBA and SFWMD 
needed to move the project forward.  In essence, PBA will design, finance and construct the C-
51 Reservoir as an alternative water supply project that will benefit a region of the SFWMD. The 
SFWMD will provide regional analysis of water conveyance, assistance in permitting, and 
eventually will operate the project. The PBA will reimburse the SFWMD for the operation of the 
project.  

This MOU is the first in a series of agreements that will be necessary as the project moves 
through phases to completion.

Relevance to District’s Mission and Strategic Goals
The C-51 Reservoir is an alternative water supply and water management project which would 
provide benefits to areas in South Florida. The C-51 Reservoir at full completion would 
comprise a series of interconnected Storage Cells capable of storing up to 75,000 acre-feet of 
water producing approximately 185 MGD of water availability for the region. 

Funding Source
The PBA will be funding the design and construction of the proposed reservoir. The SFWMD will 
expend resources and manpower in performing pre-construction conveyance analysis and 
permitting assistance.   

Impacted District Regions and Divisions 
The MOU addresses the first phase of the C-51 Reservoir.  

Potential Concerns
The Board should not be concerned about exploring this project as a future water supply option 
for the region. 

Reason item should be approved 
The C-51 project could potentially represent a very important future regional water source for an
area of our District with a growing population. 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me at extension 6283.  
LJL/st

24

Packet Pg. 71



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0510 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing entering into a Memorandum of 
Understanding with Palm Beach Aggregates, LLC to establish the 
framework of responsibilities for the design, permitting, construction 
and operation of the Phase 1 C-51 Reservoir; providing an effective 
date.  (Contract Number 4600002864) (REG, Lennart Lindahl, ext. 
6283)

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
deems it necessary, appropriate and in the public interest to authorize entering into a 
Memorandum of Understanding with Palm Beach Aggregates, LLC.   The agreement 
will identify responsibilities of each of the parties for the design, permitting and 
construction and eventual operation and maintenance of Phase 1 of the C-51 Reservoir 
Project  providing an effective date; now therefore

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SOUTH FLORIDA 
WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
hereby authorizes the execution of Contract Number 4600002864 with 
Palm Beach Aggregates, LLC.

Section 2. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013. 

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

24

Packet Pg. 72



 

Page 1 of 5 

C-51 RESERVOIR MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN THE SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT  

AND PALM BEACH AGGREGATES, LLC 

 

This C-51 Reservoir Memorandum of Understanding on Project Protocol (“MOU”) is entered 

into as of last date executed below by and between the South Florida Water Management District, a 

public corporation of the State of Florida existing by virtue of Chapter 25270, Laws of Florida, 1949, 

and operating pursuant to Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 40E, Florida Administrative Code, 

as a multipurpose water management district (“SFWMD”) and Palm Beach Aggregates, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company (“PBA”) (each a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”). 

A. WHEREAS, PBA owns or controls certain agricultural and mining properties in Palm 

Beach County upon which it has proposed to develop, design, finance construction and construct the C-

51 Reservoir as an alternative water supply and water management project which would provide 

benefits to areas in South Florida under the jurisdiction of the SFWMD (“Region”). The C-51 

Reservoir at full completion would comprise a series of interconnected Storage Cells capable of storing 

up to 75,000 acre-feet of water producing approximately 185 MGD of water availability for the Region.  

In addition, the project would incorporate affiliated pumping, inflow and outflow structures, and 

network of canals, waterways, and other water bodies (“Conveyance Systems”) including those owned 

and operated by Chapter 298 Districts (“ 298 Districts”).  This MOU addresses Phase 1 of the C-51 

Reservoir, which would include Storage Cells capable of storing approximately 14,000 acre feet of water 

at control elevation 16.5 feet, NAVD 88, producing approximately 35 MGD of water availability for the 

Region. 

The remaining storage capacities in the C-51 Reservoir would be completed in other phases, which would 

be the subject of future memoranda of understanding which would provide the development approach and 

structure for those other phases. 

B. WHEREAS, the goal of Phase 1 of the C-51 Reservoir would be for the SFWMD to 

capture and divert excess stormwater that would otherwise flow into the Lake Worth Lagoon estuarine 

habitat or other water bodies to the C-51 Reservoir, where it would be stored for later re-introduction by 

the SFWMD for the benefit of the Region during periods of low rainfall, for the purpose of maintaining 

water levels within the Region and re-charging natural systems, surface water bodies and the surficial 

aquifer systems, to enhance protection against salt water intrusion, and to benefit water supply utilities 

and other water users that wish to participate in Phase 1 of the project (“Participants”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the covenants and 

agreements set forth herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. PROJECT IMPLEMENTATION 

1.1 PBA proposes to design, develop, permit, finance construction and construct Phase 1 of the C-51 

Reservoir in accordance with this MOU.  PBA will assume and bear all risks related to the 

design, development, permitting, construction financing, construction, and completion of Phase 1 

of the C-51 Reservoir, and will provide for payment of the agreed upon costs for necessary 

improvements to the Conveyance System attributable to Phase 1 water flows.    

1.2 Upon completion of Phase 1 of the C-51 Reservoir, PBA proposes to transfer ownership of the 

completed Phase 1 to a not-for-profit corporation. The intent is for the not-for-profit corporation 

to qualify for charitable tax-exempt status under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) so that 

the Participants in the Phase will receive the lowest possible operating and potential financing 

24.a

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

ro
to

co
l M

em
o

ra
n

d
u

m
 o

f 
U

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 D
ra

ft
 2

01
3-

5-
3 

 (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
10

  :
 C

-5
1 

M
em

o
ra

n
d

u
m

 o
f



 

Page 2 of 5 

costs on a going forward basis.  Upon transfer of the completed Phase 1, the governance of the 

not-for-profit corporation would be determined by the Participants and any involved 298 Districts 

that wished to participate in governance. 

1.3 PBA will request pre-application permit meetings with the SFWMD on the preparation of one or 

more long duration permits for the C-51 Reservoir.  PBA will then submit the permit 

application(s) to the SFWMD, subject to compliance with the Basis of Review (“BOR”) and 

Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, and subject to the regulatory approval of the SFWMD.   

2. PERMITS AND REGULATORY PROCEEDINGS 

2.1 This MOU does not grant any permit approvals or commit SFWMD to grant any approvals.  

2.2 Pursuant to Section 373.2234, Florida Statutes, and the BOR, and as determined during the 

permitting process, the SFWMD may consider: designating the C-51 Reservoir as a preferred 

water supply source for consumptive uses; certifying that additional water from the Regional 

System is available through implementation of the C-51 Reservoir as an alternative water supply; 

determining the relationship between water flows from the C-51 Reservoir to allocable water 

availability for Participants; other authorization mechanisms to provide long duration permits to 

Participants who enter into capacity allocation agreements for the C-51 Reservoir; and 

establishment of an area served by the Project in accordance with the needs of the Region, 

SFWMD water supply planning areas, and the Participants. 

2.3 The SFWMD will provide operational analysis and evaluation of the connections between Phase 

1 of the C-51 Reservoir and the Conveyance Systems to efficiently and effectively move water 

into and out of the C-51 Reservoir. 

2.4 The SFWMD will provide conceptual operational and regulatory analyses of the regional 

Conveyance System infrastructure and other circumstances as may be useful for making the C-51 

Reservoir available to Participants or projects in the Region. The SFWMD will also consider 

including the C-51 Reservoir in the 2013 Update to the Lower East Coast Regional Water Supply 

Plan.   

2.5 The SFWMD agrees to use it best efforts at efficiently processing Project-related permit 

applications.   

3. PARTICIPANT ALLOCATIONS 

3.1 PBA will be solely responsible to undertake, at its expense, solicitations of interest for Phase 1 of 

the C-51 Reservoir to seek sufficient capacity allocation agreements to economically support 

commencement of construction of Phase 1 of the C-51 Reservoir.  The SFWMD will have no 

responsibility with respect to securing capacity allocation agreements.   

3.2 No Participant will be required to use the C-51 Reservoir as a water supply source nor be 

obligated to enter into a capacity allocation agreement with PBA.  Each Participant will make its 

own technical and financial feasibility analysis and public interest finding as to whether entering 

into a capacity allocation agreement is superior technically and/or financially to other alternative 

water supply options available to the Participant.     

24.a

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

ro
to

co
l M

em
o

ra
n

d
u

m
 o

f 
U

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 D
ra

ft
 2

01
3-

5-
3 

 (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
10

  :
 C

-5
1 

M
em

o
ra

n
d

u
m

 o
f



 

Page 3 of 5 

3.3 Participants will submit water use permit applications to the SFWMD together with a copy of an 

executed capacity allocation agreement. The SFWMD will confirm the allocation relationship 

between water outflows and water availability for each permit application through the permitting 

process, which may be different from the proposed allocation in the capacity allocation agreement 

and subject to reconciliation.   Each Participant shall be required to maintain a capacity allocation 

agreement in full force and effect during the duration of the water use permit. 

3.4 Nothing in this MOU will require or obligate the SFWMD to issue any water use permits. 

Execution of a capacity allocation agreement by a Participant does not guarantee the Participant 

will receive a water use permit from the SFWMD.     

3.5 The SFWMD will have no responsibility or obligation for the management or administration of 

any capacity allocation agreement. 

4. CONVEYANCE SYSTEM COORDINATION 

4.1 PBA will be responsible for entering into such Conveyance System agreements with the 298 

Districts as may be necessary, with input from the SFWMD, to implement the provisions of this 

Section 4. The Conveyance System agreements would provide a basis, (i) for construction of and 

payment of any improvements needed for the Conveyance System, (ii) for any operational 

protocols necessary to convey water for the implementation of the Phase and for flood control 

purposes, and (iii) for the payment of any incremental operation and maintenance costs, other 

costs to be incurred, and any fees by the 298 Districts.  

4.2 The SFWMD agrees to consider Conveyance System permit applications that may be submitted 

in conjunction with the C-51 Reservoir by 298 Districts, with the intent that such Conveyance 

System permits be supplemental or additional to the current 298 District permits and impose no 

harm on existing permit allocations and conditions due to conveying water through a 298 

District’s portion of the Conveyance System in the Project. 

4.3 The SFWMD will be responsible for operating its components of the Regional System as 

necessary or useful, including inflow structures, outflow structures and pumping facilities, to (i) 

divert water from the Regional System to the C-51 Reservoir, (ii) convey water from the C-51 

Reservoir to the Regional System, (iii) convey water from the C-51 Reservoir through the 

Regional System, and (iv) and coordinate with 298 Districts for the conveyance of water from the 

Regional System through their portions of the Conveyance System. 

5. COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 

5.1 PBA will commence the completion of construction of Phase 1 of the C-51 Reservoir upon the 

attainment of the following Conditions Precedent: 

5.1.1 Issuance of the reservoir permit(s) to PBA; 

5.1.2 Execution by Participants of capacity allocation agreements allocating the storage 

capacity of the Phase to be constructed by PBA; 

5.1.3 Issuance of water use permits to the Participants for the phase; 

5.1.4 Receipt by PBA of all other governmental approvals necessary to commence 

construction of the Phase; 

5.1.5 Receipt by PBA of construction financing to fund the commencement and complete 

construction of the Phase. 

24.a

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

ro
to

co
l M

em
o

ra
n

d
u

m
 o

f 
U

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 D
ra

ft
 2

01
3-

5-
3 

 (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
10

  :
 C

-5
1 

M
em

o
ra

n
d

u
m

 o
f



 

Page 4 of 5 

5.1.6 Receipt of Conveyance System agreements as necessary for the conveyance of water 

through the Conveyance Systems for the Phase. 

5.1.7 Completion of an O&M Agreement pursuant to Section 6.2 below. 

 

6. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF THE C-51 RESERVOIR 

6.1 In order to assure the seamless integration of the C-51 Reservoir with the SFWMD’s operation of 

the Regional System and to implement the availability of the C-51 Reservoir as an Alternative 

Water Supply for the Participants, the Parties believe it to be in the best interest of the public for 

the SFWMD to operate the C-51 Reservoir, as part of the SFWMD’s Regional System, to 

maintain stages sufficient to meet the needs of each Phase.   

6.2 During the permitting process, the SFWMD and the PBA intend to develop a written operations 

agreement (“O&M Agreement”).  The Parties anticipate that the O&M Agreement would 

provide for (i) the SFWMD to operate and maintain the C-51 Reservoir with O&M funding on an 

annual basis from the Participants, (ii) coordination between SFWMD and the 298 Districts in 

accordance with Section 4.3(iv), and (iii) would provide for standard SFWMD liability 

protection, indemnifications and insurance coverage. 

7. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

7.1 Either party may terminate this MOU by providing the other Party 30 days written notice of 

termination. 

7.2 Nothing in this MOU nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed (a) to create any duty, 

liability or standard of care to any person that is not a Party to the MOU, (b) no person that is not 

a party to the MOU shall have any rights or interest, direct or indirect, in this MOU and (c) this 

MOU is intended solely for the benefit of the Parties hereto, and the Parties expressly disclaim 

any intent to create any rights in any other third party as a third-party beneficiary to this MOU.   

7.3 Notwithstanding anything in this MOU to the contrary, nothing in this MOU shall require the 

SFWMD to lend or use its taxing power or credit to aid PBA, nor will the SFWMD become a 

joint owner with or stockholder of PBA. 

7.4 No modification or amendment of this MOU shall be binding upon the Parties unless the same is 

in writing and signed with the same authorization originally given by the Party to be bound. 

7.5 This MOU and the rights and obligations of the Parties are to be governed by, construed, and 

interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, and shall be binding upon and 

inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, successors and 

assigns. 

7.6 This MOU shall not constitute a lien, cloud, or encumbrance upon on real property, or actual or 

constructive notice of any such lien, cloud or encumbrance. 

7.7 This MOU shall not limit or restrict the SFWMD’s or any other governmental authority’s 

discretion in the exercise of their governmental or police powers and shall not constitute a 

delegation of such entity’s governmental authority or police powers.   

 

24.a

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

ro
to

co
l M

em
o

ra
n

d
u

m
 o

f 
U

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 D
ra

ft
 2

01
3-

5-
3 

 (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
10

  :
 C

-5
1 

M
em

o
ra

n
d

u
m

 o
f



 

Page 5 of 5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have set their hands and seals. 

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 

DISTRICT 

By Its Governing Board 

 

By: ___________________________ 

Name: ________________________ 

Title: Chairman    

 

Attested:      Legal Form Approved: 

 

By: ____________________________  By: __________________________ 

Name: _________________________  Name: ____________________, Esq. 

Title: District Clerk/Assistant Secretary   Title__________________________ 

Date: _____________, 2013     

 

 

PALM BEACH AGGREGATES, LLC 

 

By: ______________________________ 

Its:  Authorized Representative 

 

Date: _______________, 2013 

24.a

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

ro
to

co
l M

em
o

ra
n

d
u

m
 o

f 
U

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 D
ra

ft
 2

01
3-

5-
3 

 (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 2
01

3 
- 

05
10

  :
 C

-5
1 

M
em

o
ra

n
d

u
m

 o
f



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Dan DeLisi, Chief of Staff

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Governing Board Committee Charters Policy Changes

Background:  The Governing Board has three committees, Audit & Finance, Project & 
Lands, and Human Resources & Outreach, which each have there own charters in the 
form of a District Policy.   This resolution amends the charters to provide consistency 
among the committees for the number of committee members, appointment of chair and 
vice-chair and frequency of meetings.  

How this helps meet the District’s 10-year Strategic Plan: Under Mission Support, 
this item ensures Governing Board meetings are conducted consistently and efficiently 
for more productive decision-making.   

Funding Source:  There is no funding associated with this item. 

This Board item impacts what areas of the District, both resource areas and
geography:  There are no impacts to organizational or geographical areas of the 
District for this item. 

What concerns could this Board item raise?  There are no concerns that this item 
may raise.  

Why should the Governing Board approve this item?  This item will change the 
committee charters to provide consistency regarding the number of members, the 
appointment of chairs and vice-chairs and the frequency of the meetings.  The 
consistency among committees will improve efficiencies for Governing Board meetings.  

For more information, contact Dan DeLisi at ext. 6232.

25

Packet Pg. 78



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0511 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District amending Section 101-222 (a) and (b), Section 
120-1 (e) and (f) and Section 140 –12 (b), (c) and (d) of the District 
Policies Code regarding Governing Board Committees to provide 
consistency regarding the number of members, the appointment of 
Committee chairs and vice-chairs and the frequency of meetings; 
providing for inclusion in the District Policies Code; providing for 
severability; providing an effective date.  (EXO, Dan DeLisi, ext. 6232)

WHEREAS the Governing Board had determined that it is necessary, 
appropriate and in the public interest to amend section 101-222 (a) and (b), Section 
120-1 (e) and (f) and Section 140 -12 (b), (c) and (d) of the District Policies Code 
regarding Governing Board Committees to provide consistency regarding the number of 
members, the appointment of committee chairs and vice-chairs and the frequency of 
meetings; now therefore

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SOUTH FLORIDA
WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board adopts the following amendments to Sections 101-
222 (a) and (b), 120-1 (e) and (f)  and 140-12 (b), (c) and (d) of the District Policies 
Code:

Chapter 101 - AGENCY ADMINISTRATION

ARTICLE VII. - AUDITS 

DIVISION 3. - AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE CHARTER 

Sec. 101-222. - Authority.

(a) The primary responsibility for the District's financial reporting and internal 

operating controls is vested in senior management, as overseen by the 

Governing Board through its Audit and Finance Committee. The Audit and 

Finance Committee is a standing committee of the Governing Board. Its principal 

responsibilities are to see that appropriate accounting policies and internal 

controls are established that promote accountability and that the District issues 

financial statements and reports on time and in accordance with its legal 

obligations. The Audit and Finance Committee is appointed by the Governing 

25

Packet Pg. 79



Board Chair and will be composed of not less than three Board members. The 

Governing Board Chair shall appoint the Chair and Vice Chair of the Audit and 

Finance Committee. The duties and responsibilities of a member of the Audit and 

Finance Committee are in addition to those duties set out for a member of the 

Governing Board. 

(b) The Board authorizes the Audit and Finance Committee to adopt 

reasonable rules of procedure to govern the conduct of its business, the 

scheduling of meetings, the establishment of a quorum, and other administrative 

matters. The Audit and Finance Committee shall furnish a copy of any adopted 

rules to the Board. The Audit and Finance Committee will be given adequate 

support to discharge its responsibilities. The Audit and Finance Committee shall 

ensure that the independent certified public accountants and the Inspector 

General will have unrestricted access to District personnel and public documents. 

The Audit and Finance Committee will meet on a quarterly basis, or more 

frequently as circumstances require at the call of the Governing Board Chair or 

the Committee Chair and report its actions to the Governing Board with such 

recommendations as the Committee may deem appropriate

Chapter 120 - HUMAN RESOURCES 

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL 

Sec. 120-1. - Human Resources and Outreach Charter.

(e) The membership of the Human Resources and Outreach Committee shall 

consist is composed of four or more not less than three members of the 

Governing Board appointed by the Governing Board Chairperson. The Governing 

Board Chairperson appoints Chairperson and Vice Chairperson of the Human 

Resources and Outreach Committee. 

(f) The primary support for the Human Resources Committee shall be the 

Human Resources Department and the Government and Public Affairs Resource 

Area. The Human Resources and Outreach Committee meetings will be noticed

meet at the call of the Governing Board Chair or the Committee Chair and held at 

25

Packet Pg. 80



least on a quarterly basis when needed at the request of the Human Resources 

and Outreach Committee Chairperson. 

Chapter 140 - LAND RESOURCES 

ARTICLE II. - PROJECTS AND LANDS COMMITTEE

Sec. 140-12. - Authority.

(b) The Project and Lands Committee is appointed by the Governing Board 

Chairman will be composed of at least three standing Board members of the 

Governing Board appointed by the Governing Board Chair with invitation 

extended to other Board Members who represent geographic areas impacted by 

proposed acquisitions. The Governing Board Chair shall appoint the Chair and 

Vice Chair of the Project and Lands Committee. The duties and responsibilities of 

a member of the Project and Lands Committee are in addition to those duties set 

out for a member of the Governing Board. 

(c) The Governing Board authorizes the Project and Lands Committee to 

adopt reasonable rules of procedure to govern the conduct of its business,

selection of a presiding officer, the scheduling of meetings, establishment of a 

quorum and other administrative matters. The Project and Lands Committee 

shall furnish a copy of any adopted rules to the full Governing Board. The Project 

and Lands Committee will be given adequate support to discharge its 

responsibilities.

(d) The Project and Lands Committee will meet on an as needed basis at the 

call of the presiding officer at the call of the Governing Board Chair or the 

Committee Chair and will report its actions to the Governing Board with such 

recommendations as the Committee may deem appropriate.

Section 2. Inclusion of Section 1 of this resolution in the District Policies Code 
is authorized and directed.

Section 3. If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause 
or phrase of this resolution is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or invalid or 

25

Packet Pg. 81



ineffective by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the 
validity or effectiveness of the remaining portions of this resolution.

Section 4. This resolution shall take effect immediately on adoption. 

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

25

Packet Pg. 82



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Terrie Bates, Director, Water Resources Division

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Water Reuse Week

Agenda Item Description
This item approves a resolution supporting the week of May 19-25, 2013 as Water Reuse Week 
in Florida.

Background
The State of Florida established the encouragement and promotion of water reuse as state 
objectives in Chapters 373 and 403, Florida Statutes.  Since May is normally the end of the dry 
season and water needs are most acute, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 
along with other governmental agencies and organizations, has declared the third week in May 
(May 19-25, 2013) as Water Reuse Week in Florida.  Water Reuse Week is important to 
increase the awareness of water reuse and its benefits, use water more than once, diversify 
water supply sources and reduce our dependence on traditional sources of water. There are 
113 reuse systems in the District reusing over 269 million gallons per day of reclaimed water for 
beneficial purposes. However, over 580 million gallons per day of potentially reusable water is 
still being disposed through ocean outfalls or down deep injection wells.  

Core Mission and Strategic Priorities
This supports the core mission and strategic priorities through diversification of water supply 
sources by developing alternative sources including the use of reclaimed water and water 
reuse.

Funding Source
This action is at no cost to the District.

Staff Recommendation  
Staff recommends approval of this resolution. Approval of this resolution will not only 
demonstrate the District’s continued support of the use of reclaimed water, but may encourage 
utilities and other users to consider use of reclaimed water.  It also supports the actions of other 
water management districts, local governments, and non-governmental organizations, which are 
adopting similar proclamations throughout Florida.

If you have any questions, please call Terrie Bates at ext. 6952 or Dean Powell at ext.6787. 

33

Packet Pg. 83



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0512 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District supporting the designation of May 19-25, 2013 
as Water Reuse Week in Florida; providing an effective date. (WR, 
Mark Elsner, ext. 6156)

WHEREAS, safe, clean, and sustainable water resources are essential to Florida’s 
environment, economy, citizens, and visitors, and

WHEREAS, water reuse provides a means for conserving and augmenting Florida’s 
precious water resources, and

WHEREAS, Florida has established the encouragement and promotion of water reuse 
as state objectives in Chapters 373 and 403, Florida Statutes, and

WHEREAS, Florida’s permitted reuse capacity exceeds 1.6 billion gallons per day (64 
percent of Florida’s total permitted treatment capacity for all domestic wastewater 
treatment facilities), and Florida has risen to be the national leader in water reuse, and

WHEREAS, there are 113 reuse systems in the South Florida Water Management 
District that are reusing over 269 million gallons per day of reclaimed water for a 
beneficial purpose including irrigation of golf courses, residential lots and other green 
space, ground water recharge, environmental enhancement and industrial purposes, 
and

WHEREAS, there is over 580 million gallons per day of potentially reusable water that is 
currently being disposed of through ocean discharge or down deep injection wells 
based on existing effluent disposal practices within the boundaries of the South Florida 
Water Management District, and

WHEREAS, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection recognizes that the 
third full week in May (May 19-25, 2013) is Florida Water Reuse Week, and

WHEREAS, South Florida Water Management District has joined with the State of 
Florida and other municipalities in encouraging and promoting water reuse and 
conservation, and

WHEREAS, South Florida Water Management District implements an alternative water 
supply funding program to provide financial assistance to entities developing alternative 
water supplies including water reuse; has funded studies and pilot programs to promote 
innovative treatment technologies; has engaged in innovative uses and application of 
reclaimed water; promotes and encourages efficient and effective use of reclaimed 
water; now therefore

33

Packet Pg. 84



BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SOUTH FLORIDA 
WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
hereby supports designating May 19-25, 2013 as WATER REUSE WEEK in Florida and 

Section 2. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
encourages all local governments and utilities to endorse and implement water reuse 
programs and all citizens and businesses to help protect our precious water resources 
by practicing water conservation, use water more than once and to use reclaimed water 
in an efficient and effective manner.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

33

Packet Pg. 85



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Lennart J. Lindahl, Assistant Executive Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: Consumptive Use Permitting - policy change

Agenda Item Description

This item concerns the scope of the existing Governing Board delegation of its authority 
to the Executive Director to issue consumptive use permits.  

Background

In 2009, the Florida Legislature amended Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, to require the 
water management district governing boards to delegate to the executive directors the 
authority to take final action on permit applications, variances, and waivers issued 
pursuant to Parts II and IV of Chapter 373, F.S.  The SFWMD Governing Board 
implemented the legislation by adopting Resolution No. 2009-614, amending the 
District’s Policy Code, and delegating such authority to the Executive Director.  
Associated District rules were also amended to conform with the delegation.  The 
Florida Legislature considered the topic again in 2010 and amended Chapter 373, F.S., 
to restore discretionary authority to the water management district governing boards to 
delegate to the executive director authority to take final action on consumptive use 
permit applications, variances and waivers under Part II, Chapter 373, F.S.

At their June 2010 meeting, the Governing Board considered the new legislation and 
the delegation of authority to take final action on permit applications, variances, and 
waivers issued pursuant to Part II, Chapter 373, F.S.  The Board decided to retain the
complete delegation of authority to take final action this program to the Executive 
Director, as established in 2009.  The Executive Director and designees have, 
therefore, issued all consumptive use permits since the original 2009 delegation.  
Through this experience, the Executive Director has discerned that, occasionally, 
consumptive use permit applications may warrant Governing Board consideration and 
action.  

Core Mission and Strategic Priorities

This item supports the District’s regulatory mission by addressing the scope of 
Governing Board delegation of authority to take final agency action concerning 
consumptive use permit applications.

Funding Source

34

Packet Pg. 86



Consumptive use permit application fees and ad valorem taxes fund agency review and 
action.  This item will not alter existing funding.

Staff Recommendation

None.

If you have any questions, please call Len Lindahl, Assistant Executive Director, at ext. 
6283 or Sharon Trost, Director - Regulation at ext. 6814.

34

Packet Pg. 87



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0513 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District amending Part I, District Policies; Chapter 101, 
Agency Administration; Article II, Governing Board Delegations of 
Authority; Division 2, Specific Delegations; Section 101-41, Agency 
Administration Delegations, of the District Policies Code regarding 
amendment of the Governing Board’s Delegation of Authority to 
issue Consumptive Use Permits to the Executive Director, providing 
for inclusion in the District Policies Code; providing for severability; 
providing an effective date.  (REG, Len Lindahl, ext. 6283)

WHEREAS, the Governing Board has determined it is necessary, 
appropriate, and in the public interest to amend Chapter 101, Article II, Division 
2, Section 101-41 of the District Policies Code regarding amendment of the 
Governing Board’s delegation of authority to issue consumptive use permits to 
the Executive Director; and

WHEREAS, in 2009, the Florida Legislature amended Chapter 373, 
Florida Statutes, to require the water management district governing boards to 
delegate to the executive directors the authority to take final action on permit 
applications, variances, and waivers issued pursuant to Parts II and IV of 
Chapter 373, F.S.; and

WHEREAS, the Governing Board implemented the legislation by adopting 
Resolution No. 2009-614, amending the District’s Policy Code, and delegating 
such authority to the Executive Director; and

WHEREAS, associated District rules were amended to conform with the 
delegation; and 

WHEREAS, the Florida Legislature, in 2010, amended Chapter 373, F.S., 
to restore discretionary authority to the water management district governing 
boards to delegate to the executive director authority to take final action on 
consumptive use permit applications, variances and waivers under Part II, 
Chapter 373, F.S.; and

WHEREAS, at the June 2010 Governing Board meeting, the Governing 
Board considered the new legislation and the delegation of authority to take final 
action on permit applications, variances, and waivers issued pursuant to Part II, 
Chapter 373, F.S., and decided to retain the complete delegation of authority to 
take final action this program to the Executive Director, as established in 2009; 
and

WHEREAS, the Executive Director, and designees, have issued all 
consumptive use permits since the 2009 delegation; and

34

Packet Pg. 88



WHEREAS, the Executive Director has discerned that, occasionally, 
consumptive use permit applications may warrant Governing Board consideration 
and action; and

WHEREAS, the Governing Board, upon consideration of information 
presented, to revise the subject delegation of authority; now therefore

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SOUTH FLORIDA 
WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board adopts the following amendments to the 
District Policies Code:

Section 101 - 41. Agency Administration Delegations.

(a) The Governing Board delegates to the executive director its authority 

to:

(1) Take final action on permit applications under parts II or IV of 

Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, or petitions for variances or waivers 

of permitting requirements under parts II or IV of Chapter 373, 

Florida Statutes.  However, in the case of part II consumptive use 

permits, the Governing Board TO BE DETERMINED. The 

Executive Director may execute this delegated authority through 

designated staff.

Section 2.  If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause 
or phrase of this Resolution is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or 
invalid or ineffective by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall 
not affect the validity or effectiveness of the remaining portions of this resolution.

Section 3.  The delegation made in Section 1 of this Resolution shall take effect 
on June 13, 2013; the other matters addressed in this Resolution shall take 
effect immediately on adoption.  

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

34

Packet Pg. 89



Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

34

Packet Pg. 90



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Jeff Kivett, Division Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: North Shore Trash Rakes - Contract Number 4600002858

Agenda Item Description
The objective is to Provide North Shore Trash Rakes S-129 and S-131 Project with automatic 
trash rakes placed on an upstream concrete bridge; paved access roads; repair parking areas 
as well as provide drainage for runoff; replace manual bypass Gates with automated gates.

Background
The North Shore S-133, S-135 and S-153 Trash Rakes Project is part of the automated Pump 
Station efforts to remotely operate the Structures.

The North Shore S-129 and S-131 Trash Rakes Projects are located as follows:
S-129 - Approx. 12 miles southwest of the C-38 Bridge on the south side of US78.
S-131 - Approx. 7 miles southwest of the S-129 access road on US78, to County Road 721, 
then south approx. ½ mile to the access road to S-131.

Core Mission and Strategic Priorities
The North Shore S-129 and S-131 Trash Rakes Project, is included in the FY 2013 Annual 
Work Plan and 10-year Strategic Plan. This Project helps the Operation and Maintenance 
Program strategic goal to maintain the infrastructure to design conditions.

Funding Source
The lowest responsive and responsible bidder is D. N. Higgins, Inc., with a total amount of 
$7,843,000.00, for which $500,000.00 in ad valorem funds are budgeted; and the remainder is 
subject to Governing Board approval of the FY14 & FY15 budgets; providing an effective date. 
(Contract Number 4600002858) (Alex Garcia, ext. 2533)

Staff Recommendation
Board approval is required at the May Governing Board meeting. By not implementing the 
proposed North Shore S-129 and S-131 Trash Rakes Project, the Pump Stations will not have 
the capability to be operated remotely and will continue to require needed Resources and 
funding that could otherwise be utilized in other sections of the District. The proposed North 
Shore S-129 and S-131 Trash Rakes Project is consistent with the Strategic plan and was 
included in the FY 2013 budget. 

If you have any questions, please call Jeff Kivett, Division Director at ext. 2680 or John Mitnik, 
Bureau Chief at ext. 2679.

35

Packet Pg. 91



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0514 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District to authorize entering into a 790-day contract 
with Douglas N. Higgins, Inc., the lowest responsive and responsible 
bidder, for North Shore Trash Rakes S-129 and S-131 Project, in an 
amount of $7,843,000, for which $500,000 in ad valorem funds are 
budgeted and the remainder is subject to Governing Board approval 
of the FY14 and FY15 budgets; providing an effective date.  (OMC, 
John Mitnik, ext. 2679)

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District deems it 
necessary, appropriate and in the public interest to authorize entering into a 790-day contract 
with Douglas N. Higgins, Inc., the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, for the North Shore 
Trash Rakes S-129 and S-131 Project, in an amount of $7,843,000.00, for which $500,000.00 in 
ad valorem funds are budgeted; and the remainder is subject to Governing Board approval of 
the FY14 & FY15 budgets; providing an effective date. (Contract Number 4600002858);

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE 
SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
hereby authorizes the execution of Contract Number 4600002858 with Douglas N. Higgins, Inc.

Section 2. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.
.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

35

Packet Pg. 92



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Tommy Strowd, Assistant Executive Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: S-5A Final Design - Contract Number 4600002851

Background
S-5A is a flood control pump station that is over 50 years old and reaching the end of its useful 
life.  The District intends to modernize the existing horizontal drainage pumps and their drive 
machinery and automate station operations at the Pumping Station.  The present equipment 
consists of six 116-inch horizontal axial flow Fairbanks Morse pumps driven by 10-cylinder 
Fairbanks Morse blower-scavenged, opposed piston, 2-cycle diesel engines utilizing a chain 
drive with different sized sprockets to obtain the desired reduction in speed.  The S-5A Pump 
Station Refurbishment project is expected to provide a Useful Life Expectancy of 50 additional 
years.

How this helps meet the District’s 10 Year Strategic Plan?
This project is an integral component of the District’s 10-year Strategic Plan to refurbish the 
infrastructure of the Central and Southern Florida Flood Control Project.  This item is necessary 
to maintain the operation of the station for at least the next 50 years.  The S-5A Pump Station 
provides flood control for 230 square mile of the S-5A basin.

Funding Source
This funding request in an amount not-to-exceed $5,000,000.00 for which ad valorem funds in 
the amount of $100,000.00 are budgeted; and the remainder is subject to the Governing Board 
approval of the FY14-FY20 budgets; providing an effective date.

This Board item impacts what areas of the District, both resources areas and geography:
The Operations, Engineering, and Construction Division, the Field Operations & Land 
Management Division and the S-5A Pump Station site, located on the south side of C-51 canal
approximately 1.5 miles east of Twenty Mile Bend on Southern Boulevard, in Palm Beach 
County. 

What concerns could this board item raise? 
This solicitation was performed separate from the full service engineering contracts.  Given that 
the full service contracts are in the process of expiring and a new solicitation will be forth coming 
it was felt that due to the timeliness of this project that a separate RFP process would be 
undertaken.

Why should the Governing Board approve this item?
Approval of this agreement will allow the District to provide a Final Design for the repowering 
and automation of a 50 year old pump station. This Final Design will then be used to enter into a 
contract to construct the improvements needed to refurbish the station.

36

Packet Pg. 93



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0515 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District authorizing the official ranking of short-listed 
firms and entering into a 7-year contract with Brown & Caldwell, 
subject to successful negotiations for the design of the S-5A 
Repowering and Automation Project, in an amount not-to-exceed 
$5,000,000 for which $100,000 of ad valorem funds are budgeted and 
the remainder is subject to Governing Board approval of FY14-FY20 
budgets; providing that, if negotiations are unsuccessful, the District 
will proceed with negotiations in ranked order until a contract has 
been successfully negotiated; providing an effective date. (Contract 
Number 4600002851) (OMC, John Mitnik, ext. 2679)

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District deems it 
necessary, appropriate and in the public interest to authorize the execution of Contract Number 
4600002851 with Brown & Caldwell, subject to successful negotiations for the design of the S-
5A Repowering and Automation Project in an amount not-to-exceed $5,000,000.00 for which 
$100,000.00 of ad valorem funds are budgeted and the remainder is subject to Governing 
Board approval of FY14-FY20 budgets; providing that, if negotiations are unsuccessful with 
Brown & Caldwell, the District will proceed with negotiations in ranked order until a contract has 
been successfully negotiated; providing an effective date.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SOUTH 

FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District hereby 

authorizes the execution of Contract Number 4600002851 with Brown & Caldwell

subject to successful negotiations for the design of the S-5A Repowering and 

Automation Project; providing that, if negotiations are unsuccessful with Brown & 

Caldwell, the District will proceed with negotiations in ranked order until a 

contract has been successfully negotiated.

Section 2.      This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

36

Packet Pg. 94



Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

36

Packet Pg. 95



M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Governing Board Members

FROM: Jeff Kivett, Division Director

DATE: May 09, 2013

SUBJECT: S-13 Repowering and Automation Project - Purchase Order Number 
4500074756

Background:
The S-13 Pump Station was built in 1954 by the United States Army Corps of Engineers 
(USACE).  The pump station is a coastal structure located on the C-11 canal in Broward 
County near the Town of Davie.  This station provides area flood protection and acts as 
a barrier to the inland flow of salt water. The District initiated the S-13 Pump Station 
Repowering and Automation Project in February 2011.

The attached Sole Source Justification request is for the District to purchase three (3) 
Caterpillar C9.3 DITA engines and associated auxiliary equipment as Owner Furnished 
Equipment (OFE) in preparation for the S-13 Pump Station Repowering and Automation 
Project.  The primary driver to purchase the equipment as OFE is the regulatory dates 
for Tier 4 Interim (Tier 4i) engine emission requirements under the Florida Statutes. 

To meet the Tier 4i schedule, the engines must be manufactured no later than 
December 31, 2013 and installed no later than December 31, 2015.  The primary 
construction contract will begin in February 2014, after the Tier4i manufacture deadline.  
Construction cannot begin until that time due to the time required to complete the 
design process, which is currently underway.  

The final engine selection was determined to be the Caterpillar C9.3, provided locally by 
Pantropic Power, Inc.  Over the past 15 years, the District has repowered or constructed 
several pump stations including the north shore stations of S-127, S-129, S-131, S-133 
and S-135 (DD), western stations of G-409 (DD), G-139, G434, G436, G508, and S-9A 
and the more southern stations of S-331 and S-140.  The equipment of these projects 
was selected through the traditional competitive procurement process, and 11 of the 13 
stations were repowered with Caterpillar equipment.  This is an indication that Caterpillar 
is consistently providing the equipment that meets the District’s needs at the most 
competitive price.

Pantropic provided a quote to the District on 4/11/13 based on the latest scope of work 
developed as of 3/20/13.  Pantropic’s total cost based on the 3/20/13 scope is 
$1,089,875.  Since the project plans are still in the design phase, and changes may 
occur between the 3/20/13 date and the completion of Final Design, the Sole Source 
Justification requests an encumbered budget amount of $1,300,000.00.

How this helps meet the District’s 10 Year Strategic Plan?

37

Packet Pg. 96



The Sole Source Justification for purchase of engine equipment supports the 
completion of the S-13 Repowering and Automation Project, which is linked to the 10-
Year Strategic Plan and the District’s primary mission of flood control.  The work 
included under this Agreement is required in order to maintain the 2014 to 2016 
construction schedule and provide the engine equipment package best suited for the 
Project.

Funding Source: 
This funding request is for $1,300,000.00 of which $300,000.00 in ad valorem funds are 
budgeted and the remainder is subject to the Governing Board approval of the FY14 
budget; providing an effective date. 

This Board item impacts what areas of the District, both resources areas and 
geography:
The Operations, Engineering, and Construction Division, the Field Operations & Land 
Management Division and the S-13 Pump Station site in the Town of Davie, located at 
the C-11 Canal in Broward County, are impacted by this Agreement.

What concerns could this board item raise?
In the event the actual cost of the equipment reflected in the completed design plans 
exceeds the estimated cost plus the 20% contingency, any additional amount would 
require future Governing Board approval, potentially impacting the General Contractor’s 
schedule.

Why should the Governing Board approve this item?
Approval of this agreement will allow the District to meet the Tier 4 Interim engine 
emissions requirements for manufacturing, which will allow the construction schedule to 
be met, and provide the engine equipment package best suited for the Project. 

37

Packet Pg. 97



SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

Resolution No. 2013 - 0516 

A Resolution of the Governing Board of the South Florida Water 
Management District to authorize entering into a purchase order 
agreement with Pantropic Power, Inc., (Caterpillar), to provide three 
(3) C9.3 engines, associated control panels and controls 
programming for the S-13 Repowering and Automation Project, and 
authorize a Sole Source Procurement as an exception to the general 
standards of competition, in an amount not-to-exceed $1,300,000 for 
which $300,000 in ad valorem funds are budgeted and the remainder 
is subject to Governing Board approval of the FY14 budget; 
providing an effective date. (Purchase Order Number 4500074756) 
(OMC, John Mitnik, ext. 2679)

WHEREAS, in 1954 the S-13 Pump Station was constructed by the USACE to 
provide area flood protection at the C-11 Canal in Broward County. 

WHEREAS, the S-13 Repowering and Automation Project, currently in design, 
was initiated to replace and refurbish the pump and engine equipment at the S-13 Pump 
Station from 2013 through 2016.

WHEREAS, to meet the Tier 4 Interim (4i) engine emissions requirements under 
the Florida Statutes, the engines must be fabricated no later than December 31, 2013 
and installed no later than December 31, 2015.

WHEREAS, in order to meet the fabrication deadline the engines must be 
ordered 3 to 5 months in advance of the December 31, 2013 deadline, which requires 
the District to enter into a purchase order agreement for the engine equipment and 
initiate production prior to the primary construction contract. 

WHEREAS, the District has evaluated engine requirements and determined that 
the Pantropic Power CAT C9.3 and associated auxiliary equipment and services 
provides the best engine package for use at the pump station. 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
deems it necessary, appropriate and in the public interest to authorize a Purchase Order 
Agreement with Pantropic Power as a Sole Source Procurement as an exception to the 
general standards of competition for three (3) Caterpillar C9.3 Industrial Diesel Engine 
Packages, Provide three (3) Engine Control Centers, one (1) Auxiliary Control Panel, one
(1) Station Control Center and  Auxiliary Equipment, Field Interconnections and 
Programming to meet phased construction from 2014 to 2016 in an amount not-to-
exceed of $1,300,000.00 for which $300,000.00 in ad valorem funds are budgeted and 
the remainder is subject to Governing Board approval of the FY14 budget; providing an 
effective date. Now therefore

37

Packet Pg. 98



BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SOUTH FLORIDA 
WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. The Governing Board of the South Florida Water Management District 
hereby authorizes the execution of Purchase Order Number 4500074756 
with Pantropic Power, Inc.

Section 2. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2013.

Attest:

_________________________
District Clerk/Secretary

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT 
DISTRICT, BY ITS GOVERNING BOARD
By:
___________________________________

Chairman

Legal form approved:
By:
___________________________________

Office of Counsel

Print name:

___________________________________

37

Packet Pg. 99



1 
 

40E-6.011. Policy and Purpose. 
(1) This chapter governs the use of or connection to works or lands of the District. Conditions and criteria are 
established to ensure that uses are compatible with the construction, operation, and maintenance of such works or 
lands. 
(2) Due to the critical importance of works and lands of the District in providing flood protection and other benefits, 
it is considered essential that the District retain complete dominion and control over the use of such works or lands, 
including those subject to right of way occupancy permits. The District acts in a proprietary capacity in acquiring 
lands or interests therein for utilization as works of the District. These rules are based upon proprietary concepts of 
property law. A "permit" to utilize works or lands of the District is a contract between the District and the 
"permittee," whereby the permittee obtains a license which is revocable at will, except as otherwise provided herein. 
All risk of loss regarding expenditures in furtherance of the permitted use is borne by the permittee. The District 
retains complete discretion as to the manner, if any, in which works or lands of the District shall be utilized, and 
nothing in these rules is intended to limit that discretion. 
(3) An exception to subsection (2), above, is made for governmental entities and utilities, which may have their 
consent to utilize District works or lands revoked only for cause, pursuant to the criteria set forth in this chapter. 
(4) The District has determined that an unencumbered 40 foot wide strip of right of way, measured from the top of 
bank landward, is required in order for the District to perform the required routine and emergency operations and 
maintenance activities necessary to insure flood protection to the entire community. In this 40 foot right of way, 
subject only to limited exceptions provided in this rule, the District shall not authorize any aboveground facilities or 
other encroachments. 
(5) The requirement for the unencumbered 40 foot right of way shall be applicable regardless of the District's quality 
of title to the right of way and regardless of the width of the overbank right of way. 
(6) In the past, the District has authorized certain above-ground facilities and uses on its rights of way within a 40 
foot wide area adjacent to the top of bank, as set forth in subsection (4), above. However, over time and with 
experience gained in disaster preparation, operation and recovery, the District has determined that these previously 
authorized above ground facilities and uses are now inconsistent with the current and future operation and 
maintenance needs of the District. These facilities and uses have also been determined by the District to increase the 
operation and maintenance costs (for both routine and emergency operation and maintenance activities) and pose a 
significant additional physical burden on District staff. Subject to those uses specifically allowed in the Ccriteria 
Manual for Use or Occupancy of the Works or Lands of the District (Criteria Manual)(Basis of Review), no future 
authorizations by the District shall allow above- ground facilities or uses within that 40 foot wide area adjacent to 
the top of bank within the right of way, and all previous authorizations for facilities and uses shall be expressly 
limited to minimize their adverse impact on District operations and maintenance. Specifically, such authorizations 
shall not be modified or transferred, and shall be subject to the revocation provisions set forth herein as determined 
necessary by the District in order to meet its current and future operation and maintenance responsibilities to provide 
adequate flood protection to the community. 
(7) In order to effectively and efficiently evaluate proposed installations of above- ground facilities and uses, the 
District has segmented the canal and rights of way into five (5) operational zones shown on the diagram below: 

 

39.a

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



2 
 

The District's rights of way vary in width, and may be either less than forty feet or more than forty feet in width. 
Accordingly, in those cases when the right of way is less than forty feet, only those zones depicted above would be 
applicable to the actual width of the right of way. 
 
The specific above ground facilities and uses which are consistent with the District's operation and maintenance 
needs, and which will generally be authorized are set forth in Rules 40E-6.121 and 40E-6.221, F.A.C. Those 
facilities and uses not specifically identified as being consistent with the District's operation and maintenance needs 
for the respective zones have been determined by the District to be inconsistent with District operation and 
maintenance needs and no District authorization shall be granted. 
 
(8) Due to the varying widths and physical limitations of the rights of way obtained by the District for the canals of 
the Big Cypress Basin, maintenance of the Basin canals is currently performed with different equipment than is 
utilized throughout the remainder of the District. Based on the differing maintenance needs of the Big Cypress 
Basin, application of the five operational zones, as set forth in subsection (7), above, will be reviewed on a case by 
case basis taking into account the width of overbank right of way, the accessibility of the right of way to land-based 
maintenance equipment and any site specific conditions that would impact the Basin's ability to operate and 
maintain the canal which is the subject of a particular application. 
 
(9) The District reserves sole authority to make a determination that portions of the District's rights of way are 
inaccessible for routine maintenance activities due to a variety of physical limitations. While a determination that a 
certain segment of right of way is presently unusable for routine land-based maintenance activities and relaxation of 
the restrictions in zones 2, 3, 4, and 5 may be allowed, such determination shall be at the sole discretion of the 
District and does not obviate the need for individuals with proposed or existing facilities within these areas to obtain 
permits from the District. Further, the District reserves the right to enter these areas to conduct emergency 
operations or to require the removal of any encroachments that are inconsistent with these rules at such time as 
maintenance access is perfected through the area. 
 
(10) The District has further determined that certain facilities and uses meeting specific minimum criteria for various 
right of way zones shall more efficiently be granted authorization with a limited review by District staff, since these 
specific facilities and uses do not adversely impact the District's ability to operate and maintain the District's right of 
way and works of the District. Such authorizations shall be administered by the provisions of Rules 40E-6.201101 
and 40E-6.221121, F.A.C., as a notice general permit. The District will incur less expense in the review of notice 
general permit applications, and, therefore the application processing fee associated with such facilities and uses 
shall reflect accordingly, as set forth herein. If multiple uses are being requested and any of those uses require a 
standard permit, all authorizations shall be requested under the standard permit application and a notice general 
permit will not be required. 
 
(11) In managing its canal and levee system the District must, from time to time, change its criteria and permit 
requirements based on regional and site specific conditions. Applicants are cautioned that the information provided 
by District staff is based on the best available information at the time the information is conveyed, but is subject to 
change. This is particularly true when applicants delay months or years in submitting an application for permit. 
Therefore the rules, criteria and requirements in effect at the time a formal application is received for review will be 
applied to the permit application. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.016, 373.085, 373.086, 373.118, 373.129, 
373.1395 FS. History--New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.01(1), Amended 12-29-86, 9-15-99, 7-12-06, __________. 
 
 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



3 
 

40E-6.021. Definitions. 
(1) The term "above ground facilities" when used in these rules is intended to mean any and all physical 
improvements or uses, whether man-made or natural (e.g., vegetation), that are extended above the existing surface 
of the ground. 
 
(2) The term "change of ownership" when used in these rules is intended to mean the sale, purchase, or transfer of 
beneficial ownership of property adjacent to the District's right of way relative to a right of way occupancy permit; 
or in the case of utilities, bridges, or other such public facilities, the sale, purchase, or transfer of responsibility. 
(3) The term "easement" when used in these rules is intended to mean the District's legal interest in the land for a 
specific limited use, such as access, construction, operation and maintenance of a canal or levee, access, stock piling 
of spoil material, or flowage of the land of another. 
 
(4) The term "fee" ownership when used in these rules is intended to mean absolute and unconditional ownership by 
the District. 
 
(5) The term "financial assurances" when used in these rules is intended to mean a cash bond to be held by the 
District in a non-interest bearing account, a performance bond issued by a licensed bonding company, a letter of 
credit issued by a financial institution authorized to do business in the State of Florida, or other such instrument 
approved by the District. 
 
(6) The term "marina" when used in these rules is intended to mean a docking facility for four (4) or more 
watercraft. 
 
(7) The term "modification" when used in these rules is intended to mean the addition or deletion of any facilities or 
uses not specifically authorized by the original permit. 
 
(8) The term "notice general permit" when used in these rules is intended to mean a revocable license to occupy the 
works or lands of the District for specific types of proposed uses, with limited review by District staff, as set forth 
herein, and not requiring Governing Board approval. 
 
(9) The term "owner" when used in these rules is intended to mean the individual or entity legally responsible for the 
ownership and control of the proposed facility or authorized use. 
 
(10) The term "permit transfer" when used in these rules is intended to mean the changing of responsibility for the 
permit authorization from one person or entity to another. 
 
(11) The term “public works project” when used in these rules is intended to mean projects such as bridges, roads, 
utilities, and parks. 
 
(1211) The term "right of way" when used in these rules is intended to mean those lands acquired by the District in 
fee, easement, or other type of grant, for the purpose of construction, operations and maintenance of works of the 
District's including, but not limited to, canals, and levees system, water control structures, spoil areas, Stormwater 
Treatment Areas (STAs), and access roadsand other easements. 
 
(1312) The term "right of way occupancy permit" when used in these rules is intended to mean a revocable license 
to occupy the works or lands of the District, either by a notice general permit or a standard permit. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



4 
 

(14) The term “safety features” when used in these rules is intended to mean those appurtenances/facilities 
associated with public work projects such as signage, guardrails, bollards, signalization, handrails and 
lighting/security poles. 
 
(1513) The term "STA" when used in these rules is intended to mean the District's Everglades Nutrient Removal 
Project ("ENR"), as well as those areas currently, or in the future, designated by the District as Stormwater 
Treatment Areas. 
 
(16) The term “staging area” when used in these rules is intended to mean that portion of land, 100’ in length, for the 
entire width of the District’s right of way, located on the upstream and downstream sides of all bridge and pile-
supported utility crossings. 
 
(1714) The term "standard permit" when used in these rules is intended to mean a revocable license to occupy the 
works or lands of the District for all uses not covered by a notice general permit, with a full review by District staff, 
as set forth herein, and requiring Governing Board approval. 
 
(1815) The term "top of bank" when used in these rules is intended to mean the point at which the flat or nearly level 
ground surface transitions down to the channel along the side slope of the canal bank. 
 
(1916) The term "tree" when used in these rules is intended to mean not only the trunk of the tree, but the farthest 
part of the canopy of the tree at maturity as well. 
 
(2017) The term "utility" when used herein means companies entities actually providing essential water, electric, 
telephone, fiber optic/cable, sewer, or natural gas services. All other services shall be considered non-essential. 
 
(2118) The term "violator" when used in these rules is intended to mean any persons or entities acting contrary to 
the provisions of Chapter 373, F.S., these rules, as well as the provisions of any permit issued pursuant to these 
rules. 
 
(2219) The term "wWorks of the District" when used in these rules is intended to mean the canals, levees, structures, 
lands, water bodies, and other associated facilities which have been adopted as such by the District's Governing 
Board. 
 
(2320) The term "Zone 1" when used in these rules is intended to mean the canal channel from the top of bank to the 
opposite top of bank, as depicted in Figure 1Rule 40E-6.011(7), F.A.C. 
 
(2421) The term "Zone 2" when used in these rules is intended to mean the point on the right of way from the top of 
bank to a point five (5) feet landward, as depicted in Rule 40E-6.011(7), F.A.C Figure 1. 
 
(2522) The term "Zone 3" when used in these rules is intended to mean the point on the right of way from a point 
five (5) feet landward from top of bank to a point twenty (20) feet landward, as depicted in Rule 40E-6.011(7), 
F.A.C Figure 1. 
 
(2623) The term "Zone 4" when used in these rules is intended to mean the point on the right of way from a point 
twenty (20) feet landward from top of bank to a point forty (40) feet landward, as depicted in Rule 40E-6.011(7), 
F.A.C Figure 1. 
 
(2724) The term "Zone 5" when used in these rules is intended to mean any right of way located farther than forty 
(40) feet from the top of bank, as depicted in Rule 40E-6.011(7), F.A.C Figure 1. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



5 
 

 
Rulemaking Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History--New 9-15-
99, Amended 7-12-06,_________. 
 
40E-6.031. Implementation. 
(1) The effective date for the program established in this chapter is _______ September15, 1999. 
 
(2) All permits issued prior to the effective date of these rules shall remain in effect, except as provided herein. 
 
(3) All applications, and permit application processing fees, for permits received by the District prior to the effective 
date of these rules shall be processed using the criteria set forth in Volume V, Criteria Manual for Use or Occupancy 
of the Works or Lands of the District -- Permit Information Manual, adopted December 24, 1991_______________. 
 
(4) All applications, and permit application processing fees, received by the District on or after the effective date of 
these rules shall be subject to the provisions of these rules and the criteria adopted pursuant to these rules as set forth 
in Rule 40E-6.091, F.A.C. 
 
Rulemaking Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History--New 9-3-
81, Amended 12-29-86, 9-15-99,______________. 
 
40E-6.041. Consent Required. 
(1) Unless expressly exempt by law or District rule, a right of way occupancy permit, either a notice general permit 
or a standard permit, must be obtained prior to connecting with, placing structures in or across, discharging into or 
making use of the works of the District and any additional lands or real property interest owned by the District used 
in conjunction with such works, including the Stormwater Treatment Areas (STAs)Works or lands of the District 
subject to this requirement appear in the document listed in Rule 40E-6.091, F.A.C. 
 
(2) All other use and occupancy of District works or lands must be consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
Ch. 373, F.S., and Title 40E, F.A.C. 
 
(3) These rules do not apply to: 
  (i) Those portions of “management areas” described property managed by the District pursuant to Chapter 
40E-7, Part V, F.A.C., not contained within Works of the District, or 
  (ii)  Property managed by the District pursuant to the District's Real Estate or leasing Ppolicyies, except as 
otherwise limited by Rule40E-6.221(8), F.A.C. 
 
(4) These rules do not apply to the Seminole Tribe of Florida at such time as there exists a District approved 
agreement specifically addressing the use and management of District rights of way between the District and the 
Seminole Tribe of Florida. 
 
(5) Except when works or lands of the District have been affirmatively opened to public vehicular use, a right of 
way occupancy permit must be obtained prior to traveling on or across such works or lands. 
 
(6) A conceptual approval for the use of works of the District may be obtained by processing a right of way 
occupancy permit application in conjunction with the request for a letter of conceptual approval only if the letter of 
conceptual approval is requested pursuant to section 380.06(9)(b), F.S. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



6 
 

Rulemaking Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 380.06(9)(b), 373.118 
FS. History--New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.01(1), 16K-5.10, Amended 7-1-86, 12-29-86, 12-24-91, 9-15-
99,______________. 
 
40E-6.051. Exemptions. 
(1) The following uses are exempt from permitting under this chapter where such facilities and uses comply with the 
criteria contained in the document listed in subsection 40E-6.091(1), F.A.C.: 
 
  (a) The planting or maintenance of native or drought and insect resistant turf grasses; 
 
  (b) Drain lines (pool, roof, air-conditioning); 
 
  (c) Low lying groundcover in certain zones; 
 
  (d) Irrigation lines, flush or pop-up sprinklers, draft lines; and 
 
  (e) Not-for-profit, organized boat races, regattas and similar activities. 
 
(2) An exemption from these rules shall not relieve any person or entity from compliance with other District permit 
requirements and any applicable permit requirements of federal, state and local government. 
 
(3) The District is not responsible for the repair of or claims of damage to any facilities and uses which may incur 
damage resulting from the District's utilization of its rights of way or use by third parties. Improvements placed 
within the right of way are done so at the sole risk of the owner. 
 
(4) The District is not responsible for any personal injury or property damage which may directly or indirectly result 
from the use of water from the District's canal or any activities which may include use or contact with water from 
the District's canal, since the District periodically sprays its canals for aquatic weed control purposes and uses 
substances which may be harmful to human health or plant life. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History--New 12-24-
91, Amended 9-15-99, 7-12-06. 
 
40E-6.091. Publications Incorporated by Reference. 
(1) The "Criteria Manual Basis of Reviewfor Use or Occupancy of the Works or Lands of the District Permit 
Applications within the South Florida Water Management District -- September 15, 1999 "(“Criteria 
Manual”)(NEED TO INCLUDE HYPERLINK TO DOCS), which includes separate and distinct minimum criteria 
developed to address the unique characteristics and operational needs of the respective areas of the Districtfor the 
Okeechobee Basin, the Big Cypress Basin, and the STA's, is hereby published by reference and incorporated into 
this Chapter. 
 
(2) The works and lands of the District lands and works subject to this Chapter are adopted by the Governing Board 
by Resolution in accordance with the provisions of section 373.086, F.S.,The District's lands and works are listed in 
the document referenced in subsection (1) and are hereby published by reference and incorporated into this 
ChapterA current list of the adopted Works of the District is available upon request and can also be located on the 
District’s website (www.sfwmd.gov). 
 
(3) The document listed in subsection (1) is published by the District and available upon request, as well as located 
on the District’s website. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



7 
 

 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 403.0877 FS. History--
New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.01(3), Amended 12-29-86, 12-24-91, 9-15-99, _______________. 
 
40E-6.101. Content of Application. (REPEALED) 
(1) Applications for permits required by this Subpart shall be filed with the District. The applications shall contain 
the following information: 
 
(a) Form NGP-1 "Application to the South Florida Water Management District for Right of Way Notice General 
Permit" effective date September 15, 1999, which is hereby incorporated by reference and which may be obtained at 
the South Florida Water Management District, 3301 Gun Club Road, West Palm Beach, Florida 33406; 
 
(b) The applicant's name and address including zip code and phone number; 
 
(c) All owner's names, as appearing on the tax rolls, and complete address and phone numbers if applicant or user is 
other than the owner(s); 
 
(d) The project location relative to County, Section, Township and Range; Lot, Block and Subdivision; or a metes 
and bounds description; 
 
(e) Whether the proposed use is a modification, an existing use, or is a new use; 
 
(f) A description of the proposed use of or encroachment on works or lands of the District; 
 
(g) A description of the proposed use of or encroachment on works or lands of the District and in which zone, as 
depicted in Figure 1, the proposed use will be located; 
 
(h) Six copies of a scaled or fully dimensioned 8 1/2 " x 11" drawing, reflecting the proposed use in plan and 
elevation views, related to the applicable work of the District, and tied to a known reference point in the immediate 
area of the proposed use. Larger drawings or aerial photographs shall be required, if necessary to adequately show 
the location and nature of the proposed use. A property survey, indicating the location of the District right-of-way 
boundary line shall also be provided. 
 
1. All drawings shall utilize English units of measure or a combination of both English and metric units of measure. 
Vertical datum shall be National Geodetic Vertical Datum (1929), North American Vertical Datum(1988), or Mean 
Sea Level and the datum utilized shall be specified on the drawing(s). 
 
2. All drawings for seawalls or bulkheads and subaqueous or pile-supported crossings shall be supported with cross 
sections of the existing channel. Unless waived or modified by the District pursuant to prior written request by the 
applicant, soundings for the cross sections shall be taken at 10 foot intervals from top of bank to top of bank and 
shall be tied to both canal/levee right of way lines. For subaqueous or pile supported crossings a minimum of 3 cross 
sections shall be supplied by the applicant; one at the point where the proposed crossing crosses the centerline of the 
canal; and one each upstream and downstream of the crossing at points determined by the District. For seawall or 
bulkhead projects the District shall determine the number of cross sections required but said cross sections will be 
no more frequent than one cross section per every 25 feet of proposed bulkheading. Cross sections shall be plotted to 
the same horizontal and vertical scale using standard 10 x 10 cross section paper or similar CAD format. The cross 
sections shall have superimposed upon them the design section for the canal at the location and existing cross 
sectional area below the design water surface shall be accurately calculated by the applicant and printed on or 
adjacent to each cross section. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



8 
 

 
3. Except where exempt pursuant to section 471.003, F.S., drawings for bridge crossings, bulkheads, seawall, 
retaining walls, hard shoreline stabilization and revetment installations shall be signed and sealed by a Florida 
registered professional engineer. 
 
(i) Information sufficient to demonstrate that the proposed use meets the criteria established in the document 
referred to in Rule 40E-6.091, F.A.C.; and 
 
(j) The estimated length of time needed for completion of the proposed work once construction has begun. 
 
(2) Applications shall be signed by both the owner(s) and authorized agent, if applicable. 
 
(3) Applications shall not be considered complete until such time as all required information as set forth in 
subsections (1) and (2), above, and insurance and financial assurances in accordance with Rule 40E-6.361, F.A.C., 
have been received by the District. 
 
Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.086, 373.117, 373.118, 471.003 FS. History--New 
9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.04(1), Amended 12-1-82, 12-29-86, 12-24-91, 9-15-99.Repealed ____________. 
 
40E-6.121. Conditions for Issuance of Notice General Permits. (REPEALED) 
(1) The District has determined that certain uses shall be authorized under a notice general permit when the 
proposed location is in an authorized operational zone and the criteria established in the Basis of Review, 
incorporated by reference in 40E-6.091, F.A.C., have been met. These uses are set forth in the Permit Index Chart 
included in the Basis of Review. Any facilities currently existing cannot be authorized by a notice general permit 
and must receive authorization through the standard permit application process or be promptly removed from the 
District's right of way. 
 
(2) Due to the nature of the projects, the following facilities and uses cannot be authorized by a Notice General 
Permit: 
 
(a) Roadway and highway projects; 
 
(b) Marinas and public boat launching facilities; 
 
(c) Linear Parks; 
 
(d) Permanent buildings and other above-ground structures; 
 
(e) Crude oil and petroleum product pipelines; 
 
(f) Other such facilities or uses. 
 
(3) The District has determined that the proposed activity fully complies with all of the criteria set forth in Rule 40E-
6.091, F.A.C. 
 
(4) Except for utilities, both essential and non-essential, an applicant must own or lease the land adjacent to or 
served by the portion of the works or lands of the District involved. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



9 
 

(5) In addition to the requirements and restrictions set forth in subsections (1) to (4), the District, due to its 
proprietary interest in its lands and works, possesses and exercises all the rights and remedies available to owners of 
real property through statutory and common law. 
 
(6) Any and all above ground facilities located within the clear 40 foot wide right of way, as set forth in Rule 40E-
6.011(4), F.A.C., or within the right of way at locations where the right of way is less than 40 feet wide, as measured 
from the top of the canal bank, are prohibited. 
 
(7) The notice general permit provisions of this rule are not intended to apply to the notice general permit provisions 
in District Chapter 40E-62, F.A.C. 
 
(8) The limiting conditions set forth in Rule 40E-6.361, F.A.C., shall be incorporated into every Notice General 
Permit issued. 
 
Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.016, 373.085, 373.086, 373.118 FS. History--New 
9-15-99Repealed ______________. 
 
40E-6.201. Content of Application. 
(1) Applications for permits required by this Subpart shall be filed with the District.  The standard permit application 
shall contain the following information: 
 
 (a) A completed Form 0122SP-1 "Application to the South Florida Water Management District for Right of 
Way Occupancy Permit" effective date September 15, 1999_______, which is hereby incorporated by reference and 
which may be obtained at the South Florida Water Management District, 3301 Gun Club Road, West Palm Beach, 
Florida 33406; 
 
 (b) The applicant's name and address, if other than owner, including zip code and phone number; 
 
 (c) All owner's names, as appearing on the tax rolls, and complete address if applicant or user is other than the 
owner; 
 
 (d) The project location relative to County, Section, Township and Range; Lot, Block and Subdivision; or a 
metes and bounds description; 
 
 (e) A description of the portion of the works or lands of the District to be used; 
 
 (f) Whether the proposed use is a proposed, existing, or a modification of an existing use, or is a new use; 
 
 (g) A description of the proposed use of or encroachment on works or lands of the District and in which zone, as 
depicted in Rule 40E-6.011(7), F.A.C Figure 1, the proposed use will be located; 
 
 (h) At a minimum, SixFour (4) copies of a the following scaled or fully dimensioned 8 1/2 " x 11" drawings, 
reflecting the proposed use in plan and elevation views, related to the applicable work of the District, and tied to a 
known reference point in the immediate area of the proposed use. Larger drawings or aerial photographs shall be 
required, if necessary to adequately show the location and nature of the proposed use. A property survey, indicating 
the location of the District right of way boundary line, shall also be provided. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



10 
 

  1. All drawings shall utilize English units of measure or a combination of both English and metric units 
of measure. Vertical datum shall be National Geodetic Vertical Datum (1929), North American Vertical Datum 
(1988), or Mean Sea Level and the datum utilized shall be specified on the drawing(s). 
 
  2. All drawings for seawalls or bulkheads and subaqueous or pile-supported crossings shall be supported 
with cross sections of the existing channel. Unless waived or modified by the District pursuant to prior written 
request by the applicant, soundings for the cross sections shall be taken at 10 foot intervals from top of bank to top 
of bank and shall be tied to both canal/levee right of way lines. For subaqueous or pile supported crossings a 
minimum of 3 cross sections shall be supplied by the applicant; one at the point where the proposed crossing crosses 
the centerline of the canal; and one each upstream and downstream of the crossing at points determined by the 
District. For seawall or bulkhead projects the District shall determine the number of cross sections required but said 
cross sections will be no more frequent than one cross section per every 25 feet of proposed bulkheading. Cross 
sections shall be plotted to the same horizontal and vertical scale using standard 10 x 10 cross section paper or 
similar CAD format. The cross sections shall have superimposed upon them the design section for the canal at the 
location and existing cross sectional area below the design water surface shall be accurately calculated by the 
applicant and printed on or adjacent to each cross section. 
 
  3. Except where exempt pursuant to section 471.003, F.S., drawings for bridge crossings, bulkheads, 
seawall, retaining walls, hard shoreline stabilization and revetment installations shall be signed and sealed by a 
Florida registered professional engineer. 
   
 (i) Information sufficient to demonstrate that the proposed use meets the criteria established in the document 
referred to in Rule 40E-6.091, F.A.C.; and 
 
 (j) The estimated length of time needed for completion of the proposed work once construction has begun. 
 
(2) Applications shall be signed by both the owner(s) and/or authorized agent, if applicable. 
 
(3) Applications shall not be considered complete until such time as all required information as the following have 
been received and accepted by the District: 
 (a) all requirements set forth in subsections (1) and (2), above, 
 (b) and insurance and financial assurances in accordance with Rule 40E-6.361, F.A.C.; and 
 (c) all land interests required for access and/or maintenance easements in connection with applications for 
permits that impede, have been reviewed by the District access. 
 
(4) If the District determines that the application is incomplete, the District shall request the information needed to 
complete the application within 30 days of its receipt.  The applicant shall have 90 days from receipt of a timely 
request for additional information to submit that information to the District. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS.  Law Implemented 373.085(1), 373.086, 373.117, 471.003 FS. 
History--New 9-15-99, Amended ______________. 
 
40E-6.221. Conditions for Issuance of Standard Permits. 
(1)  The District has determined that certain uses shall be authorized under a notice general permit when located 
in an authorized operational zone and the activity fully complies with all of the criteria set forth in the Criteria 
Manual, in corporate by reference in Rule 40E-6.091, F.A.C.  These uses are set forth in the Permit Index Chart 
included in the Criteria Manual. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



11 
 

(12) The District has determined that certain uses, not eligible for a notice general permit, shall be authorized under a 
standard permit when located in an authorized zone and when they comply with the criteria established in the Basis 
of Review Criteria Manual, incorporated by reference in Rule 40E-6.091, F.A.C.  These uses are set forth in the 
Permit Index Chart included in the Basis of Review Criteria Manual. 
 
(23) In determining whether standard a permit should be issued, the District shall consider whether the proposed 
activity unduly burdens the District's interests. In making this decision, the District shall weigh the following critical 
factors: 
 (a) interferes with the present or future construction, alteration, operation or maintenance of the works or lands 
of the District; 
 (b) is consistent with the policy and objectives of Chapter 373, F.S., including the legislative declaration of 
policy contained in section 373.016, F.S. 
 
 (c) has an actual or potential negative impact upon environmentally sensitive areas, which include: wetlands; 
endangered or threatened species habitat; aquatic preserves; Outstanding Florida Waters; Class I or Class II waters; 
federal, state and privately owned parks and wildlife management areas; designated areas of critical state concern; 
lands purchased by federal, state and local governments for the purpose of environmental protection, water resource 
protection and aesthetics; and lands which contain native terrestrial plant species in significant amounts. 
Environmentally sensitive areas include areas on and off-site that are affected by activities which occur on, or are 
initiated from, the works of the District; 
 
 (d) degrades water quality within the receiving water body or fails to meet the provisions of Ch. 373, F.S., the 
state water policy, and Title 40E, F.A.C.; 
 
 (e) involves a discharge of wastewater from a new wastewater source or an increased discharge from an existing 
wastewater source; 
 
 (f) will discharge debris or aquatic weeds into works of the District or cause erosion or shoaling within the 
works of the District; 
 
 (g) is supported by financial assurances, which will ensure that the proposed activity will be conducted in 
accordance with Chapter373, F.S., and Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C.; 
 
 (h) interferes with scientific activities; 
 
 (i) presents an increased liability risk to the District; 
 
 (j) meets the general and specific criteria in the Basis of Review Criteria Manual which is incorporated by 
reference in Rule40E-6.091, F.A.C.; 
 
 (k) interferes with actual or potential public use of the District's works or lands, including public recreational or 
other facilities not within the District's works; 
 
 (l) meets applicable criteria in Chapters 40E-61 and 40E-62;, F.A.C. 
 
 (m) The natures of the District's property interest. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



12 
 

 (n) Any and all above-ground facilities located within the clear 40 foot wide right of way, as set forth in Rule 
40E-6.011(4), F.A.C., or within the right of way at locations where the right of way is less than 40 feet wide, as 
measured from the top of the canal bank landward, are prohibited, except for: 
   1. safety features associated with public works projects; and 
   2. installations necessary to support District works, including but not limited to utilitites. 
 
(34) The District shall consider a permit applicant's past and present violation of any District rules or permit 
conditions, including enforcement action, when determining whether the applicant has provided reasonable 
assurances that District standards will be met. 
 
(45) Activities which can be carried out through the District's real property acquisition and disposal policy will not 
be eligible for a permit under this chapter. 
 
(56) The District shall also consider the cumulative impact of allowing the proposed use. Based upon the cumulative 
impact of allowing similar uses in the affected area, the District shall deny uses which appear insignificant with 
regard to the above criteria if the cumulative impact is significant. 
 
(67) The structural integrity of bridges across District works or lands shall be certified by a professional engineer 
registered in the State of Florida, except as provided in Section 471.003, F.S. 
 
(78) In those instances where the District does not own the underlying fee simple title, applicants may be required to 
show the necessary legal interest from the owner of the underlying fee. The District does not, however, assume any 
duty to protect the legal rights of the underlying fee owner. 
 
(89) Except for utilities, Nno commercial uses on the District’s fee-owned rights of way will be authorized by a 
Right of Way Occupancy Permit, allowed on District rights of waybut may be authorized by a lease and/or 
agreement with the District. There shall, however, be no presumption against allowing Ccommercial use of the 
District’s right of way by utilities. non fee-owned rights of way by the underlying fee-owner may be allowed, 
provided such authorizations take into consideration those determining factors set forth in Rule 40E-6.221(3), 
F.A.C. 
 
(910) Except for utilities and governmental entities, both essential and non-essential, an applicant must own or 
lease the land underlying or adjacent to or served by the portion of the works or lands of the District involved. 
 
(1011)  In addition to the requirements and restrictions set forth in Subsections (1) through (9), the District, due to 
its proprietary interest in its lands and works, possesses and exercises all the rights and remedies available to owners 
of real property through statutory and common law. 
 
(12) The Limiting Conditions set forth in Rule 40E-6.361, F.A.C. shall be incorporated into every Permit issued. 
 
(13) Special Conditions that are site specific shall be incorporated into every Permit as may be necessary in the best 
interest of the District. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.016, 373.085, 373.086, 373.117, 
471.003 FS. History--New 9-15-99, Amended _____________. 
 
40E-6.321. Duration of Permits. 
(1) Permits issued prior to the effective date of September 15, 1999??new date??, and which do not comply with the 
Basis of ReviewCriteria Manual incorporated by reference in Rule 40E-6.091, F.A.C., shall expire upon the change 

39.a

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



13 
 

of ownership of the property unless transferred pursuant to Rule 40E-6.351, F.A.C., below. However, Tthese 
authorizations shallmay not be transferred to a new property owner if the activity complies with Rule 40E-
6.221(3)(a) – (i), (m).  Otherwise itand must be immediately removed from the District's right of way. unless a new 
permit application has been submitted and approved by the District. 
 
(2) Unless revoked or otherwise modified, the duration of a right of way occupancy permit is: 
 
 (a) as set forth in the permit, including the special conditions to the permit; or 
 
 (b) after construction is complete, perpetual, unless revoked. 
 
(3) Permits authorizing construction expire automatically on Once issued, a permit is valid to the date indicated on 
the face of the permit, unless construction of the authorized facilities has begun.  Otherwise, a written request for 
extension must beis received by the District on or before the expiration date. If an extension has not been requested 
prior to the expiration of the permit, a new application, including the application processing fee, must be submitted. 
Upon the expiration of a permit, all construction activities must cease until the new permit has been issued. 
Extensions of the construction period may be granted administratively, or in cases involving litigation, 
environmental, water resource, or other impact, shall be referred to the Governing Board for final action. The 
District shall has the right to decline to the extendsion of a permit authorizing construction if the proposed use is no 
longer consistent with the objectives of the District or other provisions of these rules. 
 
RulemakingSpecificAuthority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History--New 9-3-81, 
Formerly 16K-5.07, Amended 12-29-86, 9-15- 99, ___________. 
 
40E-6.331. Modification of Permits. 
(1) Applications for permit modifications required by this Chapter shall be filed by formal application, including the 
permit modification application fee, with the District. 
 
(2) Applications for modification to permitted uses shall be reviewed using the same criteria as new applications, 
pursuant to Rules 40E-6.091, 40E-6.121, and 40E-6.221, F.A.C. 
 
(3) Letter modifications may be issued by District staff, provided the requested modification: 
 
(a) does not substantially alter the permit authorization; 
 
(b) does not interfere with construction, operation and maintenance of District lands or works; and 
(c) is otherwise consistent with the purposes and policies of Chapter 373, F.S., and Chapter40E-6, F.A.C. 
 
(4) Under sections 373.083 and 373.085, F.S., the District is authorized to modify a permit when it determines that 
the currently permitted use has become inconsistent with the factors and conditions enumerated in Rules 40E-6.121 
and 40E-6.221, F.A.C. 
 
(5) Permit modifications may be initiated by the District in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 40E-1, F.A.C. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.016, 373.085, 373.086 FS. History--
New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.11(1), Amended 12-29-86, 12-24-91, 9-15-99,___________. 
 
40E-6.341. Revocation of Permits. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



14 
 

(1) Under sections 373.083 and 373.085, F.S., the District is authorized to revoke a right of way occupancy permit 
under any of the following circumstances: 
 
 (a) the Ppermittee or his agent has committed any of the acts enumerated in Rule 40E-1.609, F.A.C.; 
 
 (b) the permitted use interferes or will interfere with the construction, alteration, operation, or maintenance of 
present or proposed works or lands of the District; 
 
 (c) the Ppermittee has failed to immediately comply with an emergency or other order issued pursuant to 
Rules40E-1.611 and 28-106.50128-107.005, F.A.C.; 
 (d) the permitted use is no longer consistent with the factors and conditions enumerated in Rules40E-6.121 and 
40E-6.221, F.A.C., the provisions of Chapter 373, F.S., Title 40E, F.A.C., and the state water policy, Chapter 62-40, 
F.A.C.; 
 
 (e) the permitted use is inconsistent with any provision of this rule, or any subsequent revisions to this rule, 
including any provision of the Basis of ReviewCriteria Manual, incorporated by reference in Rule 40E-6.091, 
F.A.C.; or 
 
 (f) the permitted use is no longer consistent with District policy, based upon a change in District policy. 
 
(2) Right of Way Occupancy Ppermits are subject to immediate revocation by the District's Executive Director with 
the concurrence of the Governing Board if an emergency condition exists and the continued exercise of the permit 
might endanger lives, human safety or property. 
 
(3) Revocations for reasons specified in subsection (1) shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures 
specified in Rules 40E-1.609 and 28- 107.004, F.A.C. Emergency revocations under subsection (2) shall be 
conducted in accordance with the procedures specified in Rule 28-107.005, F.A.C. 
 
(4) The provisions herein shall take precedence over the general revocation provisions set forth in Rule 40E-
1.609(1)(a) through (e), F.A.C., as the permit program governing use of works and lands of the District is a 
proprietary based program. To the extent there is any conflict between the general provisions of Chapter 40E-1, 
F.A.C., the specific provisions of Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C., shall prevail. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 120.60(5), 373.085, 373.086, 373.129 FS. 
History--New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K- 5.07(3), (4), Amended 12-29-86, 12-24-91, 9-15-99, __________. 
 
40E-6.351. Transfer of Permits. 
(1) As the District has no control over the sale or transfer of real or personal property, it is the sole obligation of a 
Ppermittee or their agent to disclose the existence of a Right of Way Occupancy Permit, its terms and conditions, to 
prospective purchasers. 
 
(2) Right of Way Occupancy Permits shall be transferred when: 
 
 (a) The request is otherwise consistent with the provisions of these rules and Chapter 373, F.S. 
 
 (b) The applicant demonstrates that the permitted use still qualifies for a permit under Rules40E-6.121 or 40E-
6.221, F.A.C. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



15 
 

 (c) The applicant agrees to abide by the provisions of Chapter 373, F.S., this chapter, and the terms and 
conditions of the permit, including these rules, including the standard limiting conditions, and criteria which are 
applicable at the time of the request for transfer. 
 
 (d) The adjoining land use has not changed. 
 
 (e) The request for transfer is accompanied, when required, with the correct fee as set forth in Rule 40E-
6.601(3)(j), F.A.C. 
 
 (f) The applicant authorizes the Districtagrees to record a Notice of Permit in the official records of the county 
clerk's office as specified by the District where the project is located. 
 
 (g) In cases where unauthorized facilities or uses have been added that are not included in the permit 
authorization, a permit transfer request must also be accompanied by a request for modification pursuant to Rule 
40E-6.331, F.A.C. 
 
(3) Right of Way Occupancy Permits will be transferred without a fee when the request for transfer is received 
within twelve (12)months from the change of ownership, as evidenced by the date of transfer of ownership 
appearing in the deed or other instrument of conveyance. 
 
(4) Requests for transfer of Right of Way Occupancy Permits shall be assessed a fifty ($50.00) dollar processing fee 
when the request is received by the District more than twelve (12) months from the date of change of ownership but 
prior to eighteen (18) months from the change of ownership, as evidenced by the date of transfer of ownership 
appearing in the deed or other instrument of conveyance. 
 
(5) Transfers requested more than 18 months from the date of change of ownership shall be denied and require the 
submission of an application and the appropriate application processing fee. 
 
(63) All transfers require a field inspection and shall not become effective until such inspection is conducted and 
confirms all existing facilities and uses are permitted and all uses comply with the criteria in Rule 40E-6.091, 
F.A.C., and the conditions of issuance in Rules 40E-6.121 or 40E-6.221, F.A.C.  If additional facilities are present, 
no transfer will be allowed unless the unauthorized facility or use is removed immediately and the right of way 
restored; or. Applicants must submit a new standard permit application, along with the appropriate application 
processing fee, for all additional facilities not removed and not currently authorized by a Right of Way Occupancy 
Permit. 
 
(74) The District staff shall not issue transfers until all financial assurance and insurance requirements, if any, have 
been provided and accepted by the District staff. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.109, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 373.109 FS. 
History--New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.10, 16K-5.11(2), 16K-5.12, Amended 12-29-86, 9-15-99, _____________. 
 
40E-6.361. Financial Assurances and Insurance. 
(1) The District shall require the applicant requesting a right of way occupancy permit to provide and maintain 
financial assurances to the District and its successors, in the form of a cash bond to be held by the District in a non-
interest bearing account, a performance bond issued by a licensed bonding company, a letter of credit issued by a 
financial institution authorized to do business in the State of Florida, or other such instrument approved by the 
District to ensure full compliance with terms of the permit, including the proper construction, operation, and 
maintenance of the facility. The amount and type of financial assurance shall be determined by the District. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



16 
 

 
 (a) In instances where the District authorizes use of its rights of way as a temporary haul or access road, which 
does not include crossing over District structures or associated facilities, the amount of the financial assurance shall 
be Five Thousand ($5,000.00) Dollars per half mile or multiple thereof, with a minimum amount of Five 
Thousand($5,000.00) Dollars. 
 
 (b) In instances where the District authorizes the construction of a private bridge on or across the District's right 
of way, the amount of the financial assurance shall be based upon a professional engineer's or certified demolition 
company's itemized estimate, to be provided by and paid for by the applicant, of the cost of the demolition of the 
bridge, removal of the debris, and restoration of the right of way.  Such estimates shall be reviewed and approved by 
District staff. 
 
 (c) In instances where the District authorizes the installation of a water or sewer force main installation on or 
across the District's right of way other than those constructed by governmental entities, the amount of the financial 
assurance shall be based upon a professional engineer's or certified demolition company's itemized estimate, to be 
provided by and paid for by the applicant, of the cost of the demolition of the water or sewer force mains, removal 
of the debris, and restoration of the right of way. Such estimates shall be reviewed and approved by District staff. 
Upon acceptance by the governmental entity of the facility and the issuance of a permit transfer by District staff, 
such financial assurances shall be released. 
 
 (d) Any other uses of the District's right of way authorized by the District are subject to adequate financial 
assurances as determined necessary and reasonable by District staff based upon a complete review of the unique 
circumstances and the potential liability, both personal injury and property damage, and environmental risks 
involved with the specific authorized use. 
 
(2) In addition to the provision for financial assurances as provided in subsection (1), above, the District shall 
require liability insurance, naming the District as an additional insured, in such amount and type as the District staff 
determines necessary. All insurance must be written by a company duly authorized to do business in the State of 
Florida or provided pursuant to a self insurance program consistent with the requirements of Florida law. 
 
(3) Any applicable financial assurance or insurance requirement set forth above shall be maintained as a condition of 
the continued validity of the right of way occupancy permit. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 373.103 FS. History--
New 9-15-99. 
 
40E-6.381. Limiting Conditions. 
The District's authorization to utilize lands and other works constitutes a revocable license (including both notice 
general permits and standard permits). In consideration for receipt of that license, Ppermittees shall agree to be 
bound by the following standard limiting conditions, which shall be included within all permits issued pursuant to 
this chapter: 
 
(1) All structures on District works for lands constructed by Ppermittee shall remain the property of Ppermittee, who 
shall be solely responsible for ensuring that such structures and other uses remain in good and safe condition. 
Permittees are advised that other federal, state and local safety standards may govern the occupancy and use of the 
District's lands and works. The District assumes no duty with regard to ensuring that such uses are so maintained 
and assumes no liability with regard to injuries caused to others by any such failure. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



17 
 

(2) Permittee solely acknowledges and accepts the duty and all associated responsibilities to incorporate safety 
features, which meet applicable engineering practice and accepted industry standards, into the design, construction, 
operation and continued maintenance of the permitted facilities/authorized use. This duty shall include, but not be 
limited to, Ppermittee's consideration of the District's regulation and potential fluctuation, without notice, of water 
levels in canals and works, as well as the Pppermittee's consideration of upgrades and modifications to the permitted 
facilities/authorized use which may be necessary to meet any future changes to applicable engineering practice and 
accepted industry standards. Permittee acknowledges that the District's review and issuance of this permit, 
including, but not limited to, any field inspections performed by the District, does not in any way consider or ensure 
that the permitted facilities/authorized use is planned, designed, engineered, constructed, or will be operated, 
maintained or modified so as to meet applicable engineering practice and accepted industry standards, or otherwise 
provide any safety protections. Permittee further acknowledges that any inquiries, discussions, or representations, 
whether verbal or written, by or with any District staff or representative during the permit review and issuance 
process, including, but not limited to, any field inspections, shall not in any way be relied upon by Permittee as the 
District's assumption of any duty to incorporate safety features, as set forth above, and shall also not be relied upon 
by Ppermittee in order to meet Ppermittee's duty to incorporate safety features, as set forth above. 
 
(3) Permittee agrees to abide by all of the terms and conditions of this permit, including any representations made on 
the permit application and related documents. This permit shall be subject to the requirements of Chapter 373, F.S., 
and Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C., including all subsequent rule and criteria revisions. Permittee agrees to pay all removal 
and restoration costs, investigative costs, court costs and reasonable attorney's fees, including appeals, resulting from 
any action taken by the District to obtain compliance with the conditions of the permit or removal of the permitted 
use. If District legal action is taken by staff counsel, "reasonable attorney's fees" is understood to mean the fair 
market value of the services provided, based upon what a private attorney would charge. 
 
(4) This permit does not create any vested rights, and except for governmental entities and utilities, is revocable at 
will upon reasonable prior written notice. Permittee bears all risk of loss as to monies expended in furtherance of the 
permitted use. Upon revocation, the Ppermittee shall promptly modify, relocate or remove the permitted use and 
properly restore the right of way to the District's satisfaction. In the event of failure to so comply within the 
specified time, the District may remove the permitted use and Ppermittee shall be responsible for all removal and 
restoration costs. 
 
(5) This permit does not convey any property rights nor any rights or privileges other than those specified herein and 
this permit shall not, in any way, be construed as an abandonment or any other such impairment or disposition of the 
District's property rights. The District approves the permitted use only to the extent of its interest in the works of the 
District. Permittee shall obtain all other necessary federal, state, local, special district and private authorizations 
prior to the start of any construction or alteration authorized by the permit. Permittee shall comply with any more 
stringent conditions or provisions which may be set forth in other required permits or other authorizations. The 
District, however, assumes no duty to ensure that any such authorizations have been obtained or to protect the legal 
rights of the underlying fee owner, in those instances where the District owns less than fee. 
 
(6) Unless specifically prohibited or limited by statute, Permittee agrees to indemnify, defend and save the District 
(which used herein includes the District and its past, present and/or future employees, agents, representatives, 
officers and/or Governing Board members and any of their successors and assigns) from and against any and all 
lawsuits, actions, claims, demands, losses, expenses, costs, attorneys fees (including but not limited to the fair 
market value of the District's in-house attorneys' fees based upon private attorneys' fees/rates), judgments and 
liabilities which arise from or may be related to the ownership, construction, maintenance or operation of the 
permitted use or the possession, utilization, maintenance, occupancy or ingress and egress of the District's right of 
way which arise directly or indirectly and are caused in whole or in part by the acts, omissions or negligence of the 

39.a

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



18 
 

DistrictPermittee or of third parties. Permittee agrees to provide legal counsel acceptable to the District if requested 
for the defense of any such claims. 
 
(7) The District does not waive sovereign immunity in any respect. 
 
(8) The Ppermittee shall not engage in any activity regarding the permitted use which interferes with the 
construction, alteration, maintenance or operation of the works of the District, including: 
 
 (a) discharge of debris or aquatic weeds into the works of the District; 
 
 (b) causing erosion or shoaling within the works of the District; 
 
 (c) planting trees or shrubs or erecting structures which limit or prohibit access by District equipment and 
vehicles, except as may be authorized by the permit.  Permittee shall be responsible for any costs incurred by the 
District resulting from any such interference, as set forth in (a), (b), and (c), above. 
 
 (d) leaving construction or other debris on the District's right of way or waterway; 
 
 (e) damaging District berms and levees; 
 
 (f) the removal of District owned spoil material; 
 
 (g) removal of or damage to District locks, gates, and fencing; 
 
 (h) opening of District rights of way to unauthorized vehicular access; or 
 
 (i) running or allowing livestock on the District's right of way. 
 
(9) The District is not responsible for any personal injury or property damage which may directly or indirectly result 
from the use of water from the District's canal or any activities which may include use or contact with water from 
the District's canal, since the District periodically sprays its canals for aquatic weed control purposes and uses 
substances which may be harmful to human health or plant life. 
 
(10) Permittee shall allow the District to inspect the permitted use at any reasonable time. 
 
(11) Permittee shall allow, without charge or any interference, the District, its employees, agents, and contractors, to 
utilize the permitted facilities before, during and after construction for the purpose of conducting the District's, 
routine and emergency, canal operation, maintenance, and construction activities. To the extent there is any 
conflicting use, the District's use shall have priority over the Ppermittee's use. 
 
(12) This permit is a non-exclusive revocable license. Permittee shall not interfere with any other existing or future 
permitted uses or facilities authorized by the District. 
 
(13) The District has the right to change, regulate, limit, schedule, or suspend discharges into, or withdrawals from, 
works of the District in accordance with criteria established by the Big Cypress Basin, the District, or the U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers for the works of the District. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



19 
 

(14) If the use involves the construction of facilities for a non exempt water withdrawal or surface water discharge, 
the applicant must apply for and obtain a water use or surface water management permit before or concurrently with 
any activities which may be conducted pursuant to the right of way occupancy permit. 
 
(15) The District shall notify the local ad valorem taxing authority of the lands affected by the permitted use, where 
the Ppermittee owns the underlying fee and derives a substantial benefit from the permitted use. The taxing authority 
may reinstate such lands on the tax roll. Failure to pay all taxes in a timely manner shall result in permit revocation. 
Such permit revocation shall not alleviate the responsibility of the Ppermittee to pay all taxes due and payable. 
 
(16) Permittee shall provide prior written notice to their successors in title of the permit and its terms and conditions. 
 
(17) Permittee shall authorizes the District to record a Notice of Permit through filing the appropriate notice agreed 
to by the District in the public records of the county or counties where the project is located and by providing the 
District with proof of filing or through an equivalent procedure. All costs associated with this requirement shall be 
the responsibility of the permittee. Governmental entities and utilities are not subject to this provision. 
 
(18) This permit is contingent upon compliance with the recording of the Notice of Permit. Failure to provide proof 
of the recording of the Notice of Permit will result in the permit becoming invalid on its own terms, the removal of 
any existing facilities within the right of way, restoration of the right of way to the District's satisfaction, at the 
permittee's expense, and the possible assessment of civil penalties. 
 
(1918) Permittee shall be responsible for the repair or replacement of any existing facilities located within the 
District's right of way which are damaged as a result of the installation or maintenance of the authorized facility. 
 
(2019) All obligations under the terms of this permit authorization and any subsequent modifications hereto shall be 
joint and several as to all owners. 
 
(2120) It is the responsibility of the Ppermittee to make prospective bidders aware of the terms and conditions of this 
permit. It shall be the responsibility of the Ppermittee's contractors to understand the terms and conditions of this 
permit and govern themselves accordingly. 
 
(2221) It is the responsibility of the Ppermittee to bring to the attention of the District any conflict in the permit 
authorization or permit conditions in order that they may be resolved prior to the start of construction. In resolving 
such conflicts the District's determination will be final. 
 
(22) Special Conditions that are site specific shall be incorporated into every Permit as may be necessary in the best 
interest of the District. 
 
(23) The District is not responsible for the repair of or claims of damage to any facilities and uses which may incur 
damage resulting from the District’s utilization of its rights of way or use by third parties.  Improvements placed 
within the right of way are done so at the sole risk of the owner. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085(1), 373.086, 373.103, 373.109, 
373.129, 373.1395, 373.603, 373.609, 373.613 FS. History--New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.01(2), 16K-5.02(2), 16K-
5.03(2), 16K-5.04(4), 16K-5.05, Amended 5-30-82, 12-29-86, 12-24- 91, 9-15-99, __________. 
 
40E-6.451. Emergency Authorization. 
(1) Permission to begin use of works or lands of the District prior to the issuance of a permit shall be granted 
pursuant to Rule 40E-1.6115 and 40E-0.108, F.A.C. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



20 
 

 
(2) All requests for emergency authorizations must be submitted with both the emergency application processing fee 
set forth in Rule 40E-6.601(2)(h), F.A.C., in addition to the applicable standard permit application processing fee set 
forth in Rules 40E-6.601(2)(d) through (g), F.A.C. 
 
(3) In order to be eligible for an emergency permit authorization the applicant must have already filed a standard 
permit application with the District or simultaneously file a standard permit application with the District. 
 
(4) In addition to the required standard permit application contents, the applicant must also file a written statement 
with the District which fully explains the basis and circumstances which support and justify the request for 
emergency authorization. 
 
(5) Mere carelessness or lack of planning on the part of the applicant shall not be sufficient grounds to warrant the 
granting of an emergency authorization. 
 
(6) The Executive Director may grant an emergency authorization pursuant to section 373.119(2), F.S. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 373.119, 373.439 FS. 
History--New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.09, Amended 12-29-86, 7-2-98, 9-15-99.  _________________ 
 
40E-6.481. Emergency Measures. 
(1) In addition to the provisions of Rule 40E-6.521, F.A.C., permitted uses are also subject to immediate alteration, 
repair or removal if an emergency condition exists and the continued exercise of the permitted use might endanger 
lives or property. 
 
(2) In such event the Ppermittee shall immediately comply with any written or oral instructions from the District 
regarding alteration, repair or removal of the permitted use. 
 
(3) If the Ppermittee fails to remove, alter or repair a permitted use when so ordered by the District, the District may 
repair, alter or remove it at the Ppermittee's expense. 
 
(4) Permittee may request an administrative hearing regarding the emergency order in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Rule 28-107.004, F.A.C. 
 
(5) In addition to the provision of Rule 40E-6.521, F.A.C., unpermitted uses are also subject to the provisions of this 
section. 
 
(6) In no circumstances shall the District be responsible for any claims or damages caused in whole or in part, from 
any necessary emergency removal, alteration, or repair of any permitted or unpermitted use. 
 
(7) All permitted and unpermitted uses are subject to the specific terms of an Emergency Order(s) which may be 
issued by the District. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 373.119, 373.439 FS. 
History--New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-5.08, Amended 12-29-86, 7-2-98, 9-15-99, ____________. 
 
40E-6.501. Unlawful Use and Civil Penalties. 
(1) It shall be unlawful to connect with, place structures in or across, or otherwise make use of works or lands of the 
District without a Right of Way Occupancy Permit. The District may use any remedy available to it under Florida 

39.a

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



21 
 

common law and statutory law and the District's rules, to remove or cause the unpermitted use to be removed, as 
well as the assessment of civil penalties pursuant to this rule. 
 
(2) It shall be unlawful for any Ppermittee to violate the provisions of Chapter 373, F.S., Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C., or 
the terms and conditions of a Right of Way Occupancy Permit. The District shall use any remedy available to it 
under Florida common law and statutory law and the District's rules, to remove or cause the unpermitted use to be 
removed, as well as the assessment of civil penalties pursuant to this rule. The District shall, in furtherance of the 
purposes of Chapter 373, F.S., allow the permitted use to be brought into compliance with the permit by means of a 
permit modification if the unlawful use complies with the criteria set forth in Rule 40E-6.091,F.A.C. 
 
(3) Damage to works or lands of the District resulting from the violations specified in subsections (1) and (2), above, 
shall, within the timeframes and in a manner consistent with the District's requirements, be repaired by the violator 
to the satisfaction of the District, however, the District reserves the right to make any and all necessary repairs, the 
full cost of which shall be the responsibility of the violator. 
 
(4) Violators shall be responsible for payment of civil penalties up to $10,000.00 per day, per violation, pursuant to 
section 373.129, F.S., investigative costs and the District's attorney's fees (including appeals). 
 
(5) Factors considered in the assessment of civil penalties shall be: 
 

(a) habitual violator; 

(b) threat to health, safety, and welfare (flooding); 

(c) immediacy of threat; 

(d) severity of impact (size of drainage basin); 

(e) potential for damage to surrounding property; 

(f) threat to District staff if self-help used; 

(g) exposure of District to other liabilities; 

(h) environmental impact; 

(i) water quality; and 

(j) unusual circumstances. 

(6) Vessels which are being occupied or used as a temporary or permanent residence or business, or other vessels 
which have an adverse impact on the District's ability to construct, operate, and maintain its canals and structures, 
will not be permitted within District works or lands. However, this limitation shall not be construed to prohibit 
vessels which are actively navigating from place to place. 
 
(7) The planting of any non-native vegetation not included on the District's designated plant list or specifically 
authorized by District permit within District works or lands will not be permitted. 
 
(8) The abandonment of personal property within District works or lands will not be permitted. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



22 
 

(9) Use of the works or lands of the District as a temporary or permanent place of residence or shelter will not be 
permitted. 
 
(10) It shall be unlawful for any person or entity to remove any spoil, without authorization from the District, and 
the District specifically reserves any and all rights to pursue such violations in both criminal and civil proceedings, 
in addition to the provisions contained herein. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.129 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 373.603, 
373.609, 373.613 FS. History--New 9- 15-99, Amended _____________. 
 
40E-6.521. Self Help. 
(1) Unlawful uses or facilities placed within the works or lands of the District are subject to removal and restoration 
at the District's discretion with no guarantee of salvageability. In no circumstances shall the District be responsible 
for any claims or damages caused, in whole or in part, from any self help removal and restoration of any unlawful 
uses or facilities. 
 
(2) When employing self help, the District is not required to provide any notice of its intended action. 
 
(3) The District may seek to recover removal and restoration costs, investigative costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs 
(including appeals) incurred in carrying out self help done to resolve the unlawful use of District works and lands. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.129 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086, 373.603, 
373.609, 373.613 FS. History--New 9- 15-99. 
 
40E-6.601. Permit Application Processing Fees. 
(1) A permit application processing fee is required and shall be paid to the District when applications are filed 
pursuant to District rules to connect with and make use of the works andor lands of the District. An application is 
not deemed complete and shall not be processed until the appropriate application fee is submitted. These fees are 
assessed in order to defray the cost of evaluating, processing, and mailing required in connection with consideration 
of such applications. Fees are non-refundable in whole or part unless the activity for which an application is filed is 
determined by the District to be exempt or the fee submitted is determined by the District to be incorrect. 
 
(2) Based upon years of experience in reviewing applications for District right of way occupancy permits, the 
District has determined that applications for existing facilities or uses require additional staff time and resources (as 
compared to proposed facilities) in order to thoroughly review and inspect, and this differential shall be reflected in 
the application processing fees for all right of way occupancy permit authorizations as set forth herein. 
 
(3) The fee for permit applications reviewed pursuant to Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C., are as follows: 
 
 (a) Notice General Permit Application, Notice General Permit Modification Application relating to a single 
family residential use (Category NGP-1) No Fee 

  a. Existing, unpermitted facilities which would otherwise be eligible for a NGP-1 shall pay the Category 
SP-1 fee, below. 

 
 (b) Notice General Permit Application, Notice General Permit Modification Application for uses proposed by 
homeowners associations and condominium associations relating to more than one individual lot or dwelling 
unit(Category NGP-2) $150.00 

 a. Existing, unpermitted facilities which would otherwise be eligible for a NGP-2 shall pay the Category 
SP-2 fee, below. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



23 
 

 
 (c) Notice General Permit Application, Notice General Permit Modification Application for uses proposed by 
developers, builders, corporate entities, utilities, county, state, or local entities (Category NGP-3) $300.00 

 a. Existing, unpermitted facilities which would otherwise be eligible for a NGP-3 shall pay the Category 
SP-3 fee, below. 

 
 (d) Notice General Permit Application, Notice General Permit Modification Application relating to bridges, 
excluding culvert bridges (Category NGP-4) $900.00 

 a. Existing, unpermitted facilities which would otherwise be eligible for a NGP-4 shall pay the Category 
SP-4 fee, below. 

 
 (e) Standard Permit Application, Standard Permit Modification Application relating to a single family 
residential use which does not meet Notice General Permit Criteria (Category SP-1) $75.00; 
 
 (f) Standard Permit Application, Standard Permit Modification Application relating to uses by homeowners 
associations and condominium associations and do not meet Notice General Permit Criteria (Category SP-2) 
$300.00; 
 
 (g) Standard Permit Application, Standard Permit Modification Application relating to uses by developers, 
builders, corporate entities, utilities, county, state, or local entities, as well as all other uses not covered in Categories 
SP-1, SP-2 and SP-4 (Category SP-3) $625.00; 
 
 (h) Standard Permit Application, Standard Permit Modification Application relating to uses involving bridges, 
linear parks, greenways, similar park and recreation projects, marinas and associated facilities (CategorySP-4) 
$1750.00; 
 
 (i) Application for emergency authorization pursuant to Rule 40E-6.401, F.A.C. $275.00; 
 
 (j) Requests for Transfer transfer of Right of Way Occupancy Permits, pursuant to Fees are set forth in Rule 
40E-6.351, F.A.C., above. (Transfer) $50.00 
 
(4) Notwithstanding the provisions set forth in this rule, upon request, the District shall waive any and all right of 
way occupancy permit application processing fees for right of way occupancy permit applications submitted by the 
governing body of a governmental entity only if provided with a resolution or other documentation as to the 
reciprocity commitment of the respective governmental entity applying for the right of way occupancy permit and 
clearly establishing that governmental entity's reciprocal waiver of any and all fees required for the District to carry 
out canal operation, maintenance, and construction activities for the District. 
 
(5) Notwithstanding the provisions set forth in this rule, no permit application processing fee will be required from 
utilities or other necessary service providers, where the permitted facility or use of the works or lands of the District 
is required to supply utility or other necessary service to an existing or proposed District facility. 
 
(6) The above permit application processing fees shall not apply to either the Seminole Tribe of Florida or the 
Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida for facilities and uses located exclusively within the boundaries of their 
respective reservations or included in leases with the District. 
 
RulemakingSpecific Authority 373.044, 373.109, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.109, 373.085, 373.086 FS. 
History--New 9-15-99, Amended ____________. 
 

39.a

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



24 
 

40E-6.701 C-18 Policy and Purpose. 
 (1) In addition to the policies and purposes enumerated in Rule 40E-6.011, F.A.C., the C-18 canal right of way, 
downstream of the District's S-46 structure, was established as a revegation area in order to implement a policy for 
revegetation of the C-18 canal right of way through the use of a small scale land use plan. The intent of the 
revegetation plan (“C-18 Plan”) is to restore the natural river values of the northwest fork of the Loxahatchee River 
and Limestone Creek for the benefit of all canal right of way users. The purposes of the revegetation plan include 
maintenance of flood control protection, increasing diversity and desirability of wildlife habitat, providing filtering 
and water quality benefits, and considering the goals of adjacent landowners. 
 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 F.S. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 F.S. History–Formerly 40E-
62.021,  New ________.   
 
40E-6.711   C-18 Canal Right of Way Boundary. 
The boundary of the C-18 canal right of way which is the subject of this rule lies east of District Structure S-46 to 
the easterly limit of the Canal right of way. The boundary is generally depicted on the map in Figure 62-1. The map 
is for illustrative purposes only and should not be relied upon for conveyances of title to real property. 
 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 F.S. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 F.S. History–Formerly 40E-
62.023, New ________. 
 
40E-6.721 C-18 Permits Required. 
 In addition to the requirements of Section 40E-6.041(1), F.A.C.,: 
 (1) an occupancy permit must be obtained prior to removing, maintaining, or pruning vegetation, mooring 
boats, and placing other items on, across, under, or upon District lands and works along the C-18 canal right of way. 
 (2) General Permits shall be issued for ocupancy or uses of the C-18 right of way that are consistent with the 
use zones provided for in Rule 40E-6.751, F.A.C. 
 (3) The District shall require a standard right of way occupancy permit pursuant to Rule 40E-6.221, F.A.C., for 
any occupancy or use of the C-18 right of way which does not comply with the C-18 revegetation plan set forth 
herein. 
 (4) Occupancy or uses of the C-18 right of way which are inconsistent with the use zones provided for in Rule 
40E-6.751, F.A.C., will not be eligible for a general permit under these rules. 
 (5) All projects located within the C-18 canal right of way which require permits pursuant to Rules 40E-6.041 
and 40E-6.721, F.A.C., shall be constructed, altered, operated, and maintained in accordance with the standards and 
criteria specified in Rules 40E-6.091, 40E-6.201, and 40E-6.751, F.A.C.  The most restrictive criteria will apply 
unless the applicant can demonstrate to the District’s satisfaction through accepted methodology that the policy and 
purpose of C-18 revegetation plan will be fulfilled using alternative criteria. 
 (6) An occupancy permit issued pursuant to this Part may be revoked if the permitted use or maintenance 
practices are no longer consistent with the use zones specified in Rule 40E-6.751, F.A.C. 
 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 F.S. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 F.S. History–Formerly 40E-
62.041, 40E-62.042, 40E-62.043, 40E-62.341, New ________. 
 
40E-6.731 C-18 Exemptions. 
 (1) No permit is required under this Part for the improved boat docks in existence as of September 3, 1981, 
which include, but may not be limited to the boat dock located on lot 25.2, Figure 62-1, on the south side of the C-18 
canal approximately 1900 feet west of Loxahatchee River Road (the Moore dock). 
 (2) The exemption provided in section (1) above shall be in effect for as long as the property owner on the 
established date for the C-18 revegtation plan (1-23-1990), owns and occupies the premises.  A change in ownership 
or occupancy of the designated lot shall subject the boat dock to the requirements of the C-18 plan.  

39.a

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



25 
 

 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 F.S. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 F.S. History–Formerly 40E-
62.051, New ________. 
 
 
 
40E-6.741 C-18 Limiting Conditions. 
All projects which have been permitted pursuant to the C-18 Plan shall be subject to the following limiting 
conditions, in addition to all limiting conditions set forth in Rule 40E-6.381, F.A.C.: 
 (1) Maintenance practices or other activities not authorized by an occupancy permit which result in clearing or 
destruction of plant materials or modification of ground slopes or elevations shall be corrected by the permittee. 
Should the correction not be performed in a timely manner, the District may pursue corrective action against the 
permittee. In the event the permittee does not pursue the necessary corrective action, District forces may perform the 
work. In the event District forces perform the restorative work, the permittee shall be liable for the restoration costs. 
 (2) The District may install access control fences on District property on the C-18 right of way at locations to be 
determined by the District. Access control fences may obstruct or eliminate the view corridor overlay zones 
associated with said fence. 
 (3) The District may modify the vegetation on District property on the C-18 right of way at locations to be 
determined by the District. 
 (4) The permittee shall not engage in any activity in the area associated with the permit which interferes with 
the District’s construction, alteration, maintenance or operation of the C-18 canal right of way, and shall be 
responsible for any costs incurred by the District resulting from any such interference including, but not limited to: 
 (a) Discharging debris or aquatic weeds into the C-18 canal, including the renovated portions of Limestone 
Creek; 
 (b) Causing erosion or shoaling within the C-18 canal right of way; 
 (c) Mooring watercraft or other floating objects; 
 (d) Planting plants which are not included in the District’s authorized plant list or which are not authorized by 
the permit; 
 (e) Placing plants in undesirable locations or locations not authorized by the permit. 
 (5) The permittee shall not engage in any activity which interferes with the environmental preservation and 
enhancement of the C-18 canal right of way, including, but not limited to: 
 (a) Trimming or removing existing natural mangroves unless in strict accordance with current permits; 
 (b) Trimming or removing vegetation along the C-18 canal right of way. 
 (6) The limiting conditions provided by Rule 40E-6.381, F.A.C. 
 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 F.S. Law Implemented 373.083, 373.085, 373.086, 373.103, 373.129 F.S. 
History–Formerly 40E-62.381, New ________. 
 
40E-6.751 C-18 Use Zones. 
 (1) The following sections identify and describe the eight use zones that have been established within the C-18 
canal right of way. Three of the use zones are identified as overlay zones. The overlay zones occupy lands in 
common with the other use zones and further define the use regulations in the underlying zone area. The eight use 
zones are: 
 (a) Canal Flood Zone; 
 (b) General Wildlife Area Zone; 
 (c) Limestone Creek Shallow Zone; 
 (d) Limestone Creek Zone; 
 (e) Fire Control Zone; 
 (f) Intertidal Wet Area Overlay Zone; 

39.a

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



26 
 

 (g) Canal Flood Overlay Zone; and 
 (h) View Corridor Overlay Zone. The use zones are generally depicted in Figure 1. The overlay zones are 
generally depicted in Figure 1. The following provisions identify uses which are consistent and inconsistent with 
each use zone. 
 (2) The District has identified water skiing, jet skiing, and any other boating activity that produces boat wakes 
as inconsistent with the Canal Flood Zone, the Limestone Creek Shallow Zone, and the Limestone Creek Zone. 
Although the District does not have jurisdiction to regulate such activities, the District encourages users of the C-18 
canal to observe no wake speeds. The District will also cooperate with the appropriate regulatory authorities to 
establish and maintain no wake zones in the above specified zones. 
 (3) There may be locations in the Limestone Creek Shallow Zone and the Limestone Creek Zone where boat 
docks and access platforms are proposed for installation on private property. The District views such boat docks and 
access platforms as inconsistent with the initial phases of the revegetation plan and discourages, but cannot and does 
not prohibit, construction of such boat docks and access platforms until the revegetation plan succeeds and until no 
wake speeds are established. 
 (4) Canal Flood Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of the primary canal cross section designed for flood control. Said zone is 
defined as the area consisting of the canal, including 105' bottom width, 1 on 2 side slopes from elevation -6.0 to -
3.0, 1 on 5 side slopes from elevation – 3.0 to 3.0, or the channel as it currently exists. This zone shall be free of 
floating or submerged obstructions. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
  1. Fishing; 
  2. Public watercraft sightseeing and cruising; 
  3. Environmental study and appreciation; 
  4. Swimming; 
  5. Maintenance activities conducted by the District and the permittee; and 
  6. Navigation signs. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
  1. Mooring boats or other floating items; 
  2. Docks of any kind; and 
  3. Any activity which blocks, impedes or creates turbulence in the flow of water from flood control 
discharges. 
 (5) General Wildlife Area Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of lands from above elevation 3.0 to the edge of the C-18 canal right of way. 
The area within this zone is intended for the primary use of wildlife and therefore is designed to provide food, cover 
and resting places for wildlife. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
  1. Typical and normal activities of wildlife residing in or visiting the area; 
  2. Environmental study and appreciation; 
  3. Public passage from upland, off-site areas to the C-18 canal right of way, including Limestone Creek; 
  4. Maintenance activities conducted by the District and the permittee; 
  5. Paths which meet the requirements of subsection 40E-62.651(5)(e), F.A.C.; 
  6. Permitted utility uses; and 
  7. Small group picnicking. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
  1. Clearing or substantial thinning of vegetation; 
  2. Capturing, trapping, hunting or otherwise taking, harassing or destroying wildlife, not including fishing 
and shellfishing activities or removing dangerous wildlife, such as poisonous snakes and rats; 
  3. Camping; and 
  4. Large group picnicking. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



27 
 

 (d) Public passage areas shall not interfere with areas designed for food, cover, resting and passageways for 
wildlife. Users of the C-18 canal right of way are advised to dress properly for passage through native vegetation 
and are further advised that wildlife may be encountered. 
 (e) A general permit is in effect pursuant to this Part for paths which are designed and maintained for access by 
residents adjacent to the C-18 canal right of way subject to the following requirements: 
  1. Paths shall meet District design standards, generally following an irregular alignment in order to 
minimize interruption to wildlife areas, to minimize opening direct viewing corridors from the C-18 canal, and to 
discourage passage of the general public from the right of way onto private property; 
  2. Paths shall be a maximum of six feet in width; 
  3. Path design shall include a landscape plan, a maintenance plan and details necessary to illustrate 
proposed construction. Sod and regular intervals of mowing will not be considered an acceptable path; 
  4. Paths located within the C-18 right of way shall be open to the public; the District will consider 
alternative designs for paths which would allow access to the handicapped; and 
  5. The District recognizes that adjacent property owners may erect signs or other barriers on their own 
property in order to limit public access to private property from the C-18 right of way. 
 (6) Limestone Creek Shallow Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of the portions of Limestone Creek that are specified and designed to be one 
to two feet deep. This zone includes the portions of Limestone Creek depicted in Figure 1 and further described as 
follows: 
  1. Adjacent to River Oaks: Lots 17-21. 
  2. Adjacent to Jupiter Landings: 10' east of the westerly line of the boat storage area extending 56' east of 
the Central Blvd. bridge. 
  3. Adjacent to Riverwalk: 75' east of the Central Blvd. bridge extending to 500' east of the Central Blvd. 
bridge. 
  4. Adjacent to the remaining single family uses along the South of the Canal: 3000' east of the Central 
Blvd. bridge to 1100' west of the Loxahatchee River Road bridge. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
  1. Fishing; 
  2. Boating by low speed, low noise watercraft; 
  3. Environmental appreciation; and 
  4. Permitted maintenance activities. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
  1. Recreational or other activities that damage or remove plant or bank material. 
 (7) Limestone Creek Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of the portions of Limestone Creek that are designed to be greater than two 
feet in depth and are not a part of the Limestone Creek Shallow Zone. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
  1. Fishing; 
  2. Environmental appreciation; 
  3. Sightseeing by water; and 
 4. Limited subdivision access, subject to zone requirements. 
 (c) Zone requirements for the Limestone Creek Zone include the following: 
  1. The adjacent residents have indicated interest in access to the water by subdivision. During the period 
that revegetation is proceeding, the District will allow limited subdivision access consisting of one access area per 
subdivision for the purpose of canoe access and pedestrian access. Conditions will be specified per subdivision and 
will include, but not be limited to: 
 a. The revegetation is proceeding without delay and with success; 
 b. Subdivisions shall agree to design, construct and maintain access areas according to the provisions of Section 
40E-62.651(7)(c)2., F.A.C. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



28 
 

 2. Limited subdivision access areas shall meet the following requirements: 
 a. Design of all facilities which connect with the C-18 canal right of way or Limestone Creek shall be approved 
by the District through the permit process established by this Part; 
 b. The C-18 canal right of way shall remain open to the public; 
 c. Water access facilities placed upon the C-18 right of way shall be open to the general public and shall contain 
a permanent sign so stating; the sign shall be visible and legible from the center of the adjacent water area; 
 d. Access areas shall be available to the District for inspection, maintenance and other activities associated with 
District functions; 
 e. Access areas shall be kept in good repair, free of litter and provide minimum interruption to the view from the 
C-18 canal right of way; access areas will be landscaped to maximize the use of plant materials to blend the access 
area into the river character; uses related to the access point, such as parking, picnic, fish cleaning and similar uses 
will be screened from view; the design of access areas shall include a swale or other suitable system extending the 
entire length of the lot, including the access ramp, intended to divert overland water flows from paved areas into 
vegetated areas; such systems and vegetated areas are to provide detention of runoff to encourage percolation of 
water through earth and vegetation; and 
 f. Electrical and water facilities may be included on subdivision access facilities; facilities shall be designed to 
meet applicable county and city safety and building requirements; lighting fixtures shall be shielded downward 
and/or designed so as to minimize light pollution and glare to the surrounding areas; water facilities shall be 
designed and maintained to function with no erosion or discharge of waste into the C-18 canal or Limestone Creek; 
said facilities shall not be for the purpose of providing service to live aboard boats or boat repair facilities. 
 (8) Fire Control Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone is intended to provide a buffer safety area to help prevent the spread of wildfire from 
the C-18 canal right of way onto private property. This zone shall consist of a fifteen foot wide area containing low 
native ground covers or grasses and mature native trees. 
 (b) Shrubs and trees that invade this zone may be removed to maintain the low character and protection; 
provided however, that mature trees must not be removed without a permit from the District. 
 (9) Intertidal Wet Area Overlay Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone includes lands that are inundated during periods of high tide, during parts or all of the 
year, and generally exposed during periods of low tide. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
  1. Maintenance and monitoring activities; and 
  2. Permitted utility uses, provided disturbed vegetation is replaced. 
 (c) Zone requirements for the Intertidal Wet Area Overlay Zone include the following: 
  1. Plants in this zone, especially mangroves, are not to be removed or pruned unless there is a current 
permit approved by Palm Beach County; a District permit issued pursuant to this Part, and any other permits 
required by law; pruning must be performed in strict accordance with the terms of all applicable permits. 
 (10) Canal Flood Overlay Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of an overlay of the Canal Flood Zone including both sides of the canal from 
elevation - 1.5, as measured from the edge of the water at low tide, to the top of the canal bank, as measured from 
the edge of the canal. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
  1. Fishing; 
  2. Environmental study and appreciation; 
  3. Temporary, not to exceed approximately four hours, stopping and anchoring of watercraft for permitted 
public recreational purposes; 
  4. Permitted maintenance activities; and 
  5. Swimming. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
  1. Recreational or other activities which damage or remove plant material or soil; 

39.a

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



29 
 

  2. Camping; and 
  3. Mooring watercraft to mangroves. 
 (11) View Corridor Overlay Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone is intended to provide for a view of the canal from adjacent residential buildings. The 
District’s intent is to allow vegetation on these areas with ground cover plant materials that remain low enough to 
allow view over the top, and trees that, when mature, allow view under the canopy. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
  1. Uses allowed in the underlying zones; and 
  2. Scenic viewing of the canal from residences. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
  1. Uses that substantially obstruct the intended view, unless the obstruction is caused by immature 
vegetation; and 
  2. Uses that are not consistent with underlying zones. 
 (d) Zone regulations for the View Corridor Overlay Zone: 
  1. Maintenance will be limited to minimal care of plant materials; 
  2. Ground covers will be left at their natural height with no mowing or clearing; 
  3. Pathways shall conform to regulations in the General Wildlife Zone; 
  4. Tree pruning shall require a current District permit issued pursuant to this Part, prior written notification, 
and District approval each time a Permittee proposes to prune. Said notification shall include photographs of the 
trees(s) to be pruned; 
  5. Permit applications shall include photographs of the tree prior to work being accomplished. 
 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 F.S. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 F.S. History– Formerly 40E-
62.651, New __________. 

39.a

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
 F

A
C

  (
12

41
 :

 R
O

W
 -

 R
u

le
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

)



1 

 

40E-62.011 Policy and Purpose. (REPEALED) 
The rules in this chapter establish additional conditions and criteria to ensure that uses of District lands and works 
are consistent with District management policies which have been developed on a site-specific basis for designated 
lands and works of the District. The conditions and criteria delineated in this chapter are in addition to those 
specified in Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90.  Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.020 Scope of Part I. (REPEALED) 
The rules in this Part shall apply to the occupancy and use of District lands and works located on the C-18 canal 
right of way downstream of the District's S-46 structure. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.021 Policy and Purpose. (REPEALED) 
 (1) In addition to the policies and purposes enumerated in Rule 40E-6.011, F.A.C., the rules in Part I implement 
a policy of revegetation for the C-18 canal right of way through the use of a small scale land use plan. The 
revegetation plan is intended to restore the natural river values of the northwest fork of the Loxahatchee River and 
Limestone Creek for the benefit of all canal right of way users. The purposes of the revegetation plan include 
maintenance of flood control protection, increasing diversity and desirability of wildlife habitat, providing filtering 
and water quality benefits, and considering the goals of adjacent landowners. 
 (2) The rules in Part I identify those uses of the C-18 right of way which are consistent and inconsistent with the 
revegetation plan. Part I sets forth the requirements for qualifying for a right of way occupancy permit for the C-18 
canal right of way and the conditions under which it may be exercised. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.023 C-18 Canal Right of Way Boundary. (REPEALED) 
The boundary of the C-18 canal right of way which is the subject of this rule lies east of District Structure S-46 to 
the easterly limit of the Canal right of way. The boundary is generally depicted on the map in Figure 62-1. The map 
is for illustrative purposes only and should not be relied upon for conveyances of title to real property. The C-18 
boundary which is the subject of this rule is more specifically described to include the area within the boundaries in 
Palm Beach County, Florida, as follows: 
A parcel of land situate in Section 3, Township 41 South, Range 42 East, and Sections 34 and 35, Townshop 40 
South, Range 42 East, Palm Beach County, Florida, more particularly described as follows: 
Commence at the Southwest corner of the Northwest quarter (NW1/4) of said Section 3; thence, South 89°  24' 55" 
East, along the South line of said Northwest quarter (NW1/4), a distance of 25.00 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING; thence, North 00° 36' 20" East, a distance of 291.64 feet; thence, North 32° 06' 07" East, a distance of 
101.20 feet to the beginning of a curve from which the radius point bears South 57° 53' 53" East, a distance of 
1893.47 feet; thence, Northeasterly, along the arc of said curve, a distance of 1372.64 feet through a central angle of 
41° 32' 08"; thence, North 73° 38' 15" East, a distance of 451.14 feet; thence, South 89° 20' 07" East, along the 
South line of the North half (N1/2) of the Northwest quarter (NW1/4) of said Section 3, a distance of 409.75 feet; 
thence, North 01° 36' 14" East, a distance of 81.38 feet; thence, North 61° 32' 34" East, a distance of 1621.45 feet to 
the beginning of a curve from which the radius point bears North 28° 27' 26" West, a distance of 440.50 feet; thence, 
Northeasterly along the arc of said curve, a distance of 318.53 feet through a central angle of 41° 25' 50"; thence, 
North 20° 06' 44" East, a distance of 58.36 feet to the beginning of a curve from which the radius point bears South 
69° 53' 16" East, a distance of 1425.00 feet; thence, Northeasterly, along the arc of said curve, a distance of 1517.13 
feet, through a central angle of 61° 00' 00"; thence, North 81° 06' 44" East, a distance of 567.41 feet to the East line 
of said Section 34; thence, South 00° 01' 39" East, along said East line of Section 34, a distance of 25.30 feet; 
thence, North 84° 06' 33" East, a distance of 1355.34 feet to a point on the East right of way line of Loxahatchee 
River Road; thence, North 85° 44' 25" East, a distance of 991.00 feet; thence, South 06° 53' 27" East, a distance of 
503.49 feet; thence, South 83° 08' 23" West, a distance of 1086.65 feet to a point on the center line of Loxahatchee 

39.b

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



2 

 

River Road; thence, South 84° 06' 33" West, a distance of 1324.72 feet to the East line of said Section 34; thence, 
South 00° 01' 39" East, along said East line of Section 34, a distance of 29.05 feet; thence, South 81° 06' 44" West, a 
distance of 473.87 feet to the beginning of a curve from which the radius point bears South 08° 53' 16" East, a 
distance of 825.00 feet; thence, Southwesterly along the arc of said curve, a distance of 878.34 feet through a central 
angle of 61° 00' 00"; thence, South 20° 06' 44" West, a distance of 58.36 feet to the beginning of a curve from which 
the radius point bears North 69° 53' 16" West, a distance of 1040.50 feet; thence, Southwesterly, along the arc of 
said curve, a distance of 752.39 feet through a central angle of 41° 25' 50"; thence, South 61° 32' 34" West, a 
distance of 1201.30 feet to a point on the East line of said Northwest quarter (NW1/4) of Section 3 and the West 
right of way line of Central Boulevard Extension; thence, South 01° 54' 07" West a distance of 57.94 feet along said 
West right of way line and said East line of the Northwest quarter (NW1/4) of said Section 3; thence, South 61° 32' 
34" West, a distance of 495.21 feet; thence, South 73° 38' 15" West, a distance of 15.11 feet; thence, North 88° 15' 
37" West, a distance of 307.41 feet; thence, South 01° 44' 23" West, a distance of 50.00 feet; thence, North 88° 15' 
37" West, a distance of 300.00 feet; thence, South 01° 44' 23" West, a distance of 95.95 feet; thence, South 73° 38' 
15" West, a distance of 264.78 feet to the beginning of a curve from which the radius point bears South 16° 21' 45" 
East, a distance of 1243.47 feet; thence, Southwesterly, along the arc of said curve, a distance of 345.17 feet through 
a central angle of 15° 54' 16"; thence, South 01° 37' 49" East, non-tangent to the preceding curve, a distance of 
58.69 feet to a point on a non-tangent curve from which the radius point bears South 33° 43' 14" East, a distance of 
1193.47 feet; thence, Southwesterly, along the arc of said curve, a distance of 503.62 feet through a central angle of 
24° 10' 39"; thence, South 32° 06' 07" West, a distance of 14.05 feet to the South line of the Northwest quarter 
(NW1/4) of said Section 3; thence, North 89° 24' 55" West, a distance of 642.39 feet along said South line of the 
Northwest quarter (NW1/4) of said Section 3 to the POINT OF BEGINNING. The above described parcel of land 
contains 117.84 acres, more or less. The bearings recited herein are based on the Florida State Plane Coordinate 
System, East Zone. 
Together with: 
That part of the following described lands lying South of the South right of way for Canal-18; Commencing at the 
Northeast corner of the West half of the Southwest quarter of Section 35, Township 40 South, Range 42 East, and 
proceed Southerly along the Eastern boundary of said West half of the Southwest quarter of said Section a distance 
of 1006 feet to a point on said line, said point beginning the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence, proceed at right 
angles to said Eastern boundary line in a Westerly direction a distance of 817 feet to a point; thence at right angles in 
a Southerly direction and parallel to said Eastern boundary line a distance of 234 feet to a point; thence at right 
angles to said Eastern boundary line in a Westerly direction a distance of 492 feet to a point on the Western 
boundary line of said West half of the Southwest quarter of said Section; thence in a Southerly direction along said 
West line of Section 35, a distance of 972.00 feet more or less to a point on said line where the center line of 
Limestone Creek intersects said line; thence following the meandering center line of said Limestone Creek in an 
Easterly direction to a point on the Eastern boundary line of said West half of the Southwest quarter of Section 35 
where the center line of said Creek intersects; thence in a Northerly direction along said Eastern boundary of said 
West half of the Southwest quarter of Section 35 to the POINT OF BEGINNING; LESS the right of way of the C-18 
Canal, as described in Official Record Book 152, page 569, Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida, and 
LESS the right of way of the Loxahatchee River Road. Area = 2.62 acres ± 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.041 Permits Required. (REPEALED) 
 (1) In addition to the requirements of Section 40E-6.041(1), F.A.C., an occupancy permit must be obtained prior 
to constructing, planting, maintaining, pruning, mooring boats, and placing other items on, across, under, or upon 
District lands and works along the C-18 canal right of way. 
 (2) The provisions of Rule 40E-6.041, F.A.C., are incorporated by reference into this Part. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.042 General Permit for Occupancy or Use of the C-18 Right of Way. (REPEALED) 
 (1) The rules in this Part grant general permits for occupancy or uses of the C-18 right of way which are 
consistent with the use zones provided for in Rule 40E-62.651, F.A.C. 

39.b

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



3 

 

 (a) General permits authorized by this Part shall be processed in accordance with the time frames, application 
forms, and application fees established pursuant to Chapters 40E-1 and 40E-6, F.A.C. 
 (b) The District shall require an individual permit pursuant to Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C., for any occupancy or use 
of the C-18 right of way which does not comply with this Part, is harmful to the water and related land resources of 
the District, is inconsistent with the C-18 use zones contained in Rule 40E-62.651, F.A.C., is inconsistent with the 
overall objectives of the District, or is otherwise contrary to the public interest. 
 (2) Occupancy or uses of the C-18 right of way which are inconsistent with the use zones provided for in Rule 
40E-62.651, F.A.C., will not be eligible for a general permit under this Part. 
 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.043 Application of Part. (REPEALED) 
All projects located within the C-18 canal right of way which require permits pursuant to Rules 40E-6.041 and 40E-
62.041, F.A.C., shall be constructed, altered, operated, and maintained in accordance with the standards and criteria 
specified in Rules 40E-6.091, 40E-6.301, and 40E-62.651, F.A.C. The most restrictive criteria will apply unless the 
applicant can demonstrate to the District's satisfaction through accepted methodology that the policy and purpose of 
this Part will be fulfilled using alternate criteria. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.051 Exemptions. (REPEALED) 
 (1) No permit is required under this Part for the improved boat docks in existence as of September 3, 1981, 
which include, but may not be limited to the following existing uses of the C-18 right of way: 
 (a) The existing boat dock located on lot 25.4, Figure 62-1, on the south side of the C-18 canal approximately 
1800 feet west of Loxahatchee River Road (the Olsen dock). 
 (b) The existing boat dock located on lot 25.2, Figure 62-1, on the south side of the C-18 canal approximately 
1900 feet west of Loxahatchee River Road (the Moore dock). 
 (2) The exemptions provided in section (1) above shall be in effect for as long as the property owner on the 
effective date of this rule owns and occupies the premises. A change in ownership or occupancy of the designated 
lots shall subject the boat docks to the requirements of this Part. 
 
Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.101 Content of Application. (REPEALED) 
Applications for permits under this Part shall be filed with the District in accordance with the provisions of Rule 
40E-6.101, F.A.C. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.301 Conditions for Issuance of Permits. (REPEALED) 
In determining whether an occupancy permit should be issued the District shall consider whether the proposed 
activity: 
 (1) Is consistent with the use zones established pursuant to Rule 40E-62.651, F.A.C. 
 (2) Meets the conditions of Rule 40E-6.301, F.A.C. 
 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

 
 

39.b

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



4 

 

40E-62.321 Duration of Permits. (REPEALED) 
The duration of occupancy permits issued in accordance with this Part shall be as specified in Rule 40E-6.321, 
F.A.C. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.331 Modification of Permits. (REPEALED) 
Applications for modification to permitted uses shall be made in the same manner and reviewed using the same 
criteria and standards as new uses pursuant to Rules 40E-62.101, 40E-62.301, and 40E-62.321, F.A.C. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.341 Revocation of Permits. (REPEALED) 
(1) An occupancy permit issued pursuant to this Part may be revoked if the permitted use or maintenance practices 
are no longer consistent with the use zones specified in Rule 40E-62.651, F.A.C. 
(2) Permits issued pursuant to this Part may be revoked pursuant to Rule 40E-6.341, F.A.C. 
 
Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 
 
40E-62.351 Transfer of Permits. (REPEALED) 
Permits issued pursuant to this Part may be transferred in accordance with the provisions of Rule 40E-6.351, F.A.C. 

Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

40E-62.381 Limiting Conditions. (REPEALED) 
All projects which have been permitted pursuant to this Part shall be subject to the following limiting conditions: 
 (1) Maintenance practices or other activities not authorized by an occupancy permit which result in clearing or 
destruction of plant materials or modification of ground slopes or elevations shall be corrected by the permittee. 
Should the correction not be performed in a timely manner, the District may pursue corrective action against the 
permittee. In the event the permittee does not pursue the necessary corrective action, District forces may perform the 
work. In the event District forces perform the restorative work, the permittee shall be liable for the restoration costs. 
 (2) The District may install access control fences on District property on the C-18 right of way at locations to be 
determined by the District. Access control fences may obstruct or eliminate the view corridor overlay zones 
associated with said fence. 
 (3) The District may modify the vegetation on District property on the C-18 right of way at locations to be 
determined by the District. 
 (4) The permittee shall not engage in any activity in the area associated with the permit which interferes with 
the District’s construction, alteration, maintenance or operation of the C-18 canal right of way, and shall be 
responsible for any costs incurred by the District resulting from any such interference including, but not limited to: 
 (a) Discharging debris or aquatic weeds into the C-18 canal, including the renovated portions of Limestone 
Creek; 
 (b) Causing erosion or shoaling within the C-18 canal right of way; 
 (c) Mooring watercraft or other floating objects; 
 (d) Planting plants which are not included in the District’s authorized plant list, Figure 62-4, or which are not 
authorized by the permit; 
 (e) Placing plants in undesirable locations or locations not authorized by the permit. 
 (5) The permittee shall not engage in any activity which interferes with the environmental preservation and 
enhancement of the C-18 canal right of way, including, but not limited to: 
 (a) Trimming or removing existing natural mangroves unless in strict accordance with current permits; 
 (b) Trimming or removing vegetation along the C-18 canal right of way. 
 (6) The limiting conditions provided by Rule 40E-6.381, F.A.C. 

39.b

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



5 

 

 
Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.083, 373.085, 373.086, 373.103, 373.129 FS. 
History–New 1-23-90. Repealed _____________. 

40E-62.651 C-18 Use Zones. (REPEALED) 
 (1) The following sections identify and describe the eight use zones that have been established within the C-18 
canal right of way. Three of the use zones are identified as overlay zones. The overlay zones occupy lands in 
common with the other use zones and further define the use regulations in the underlying zone area. The eight use 
zones are: 
 (a) Canal Flood Zone; 
 (b) General Wildlife Area Zone; 
 (c) Limestone Creek Shallow Zone; 
 (d) Limestone Creek Zone; 
 (e) Fire Control Zone; 
 (f) Intertidal Wet Area Overlay Zone; 
 (g) Canal Flood Overlay Zone; and 
 (h) View Corridor Overlay Zone. The use zones are generally depicted in Figure 62-2. The overlay zones are 
generally depicted in Figure 62-3. The following provisions identify uses which are consistent and inconsistent with 
each use zone. 
 (2) The District has identified water skiing, jet skiing, and any other boating activity that produces boat wakes 
as inconsistent with the Canal Flood Zone, the Limestone Creek Shallow Zone, and the Limestone Creek Zone. 
Although the District does not have jurisdiction to regulate such activities, the District encourages users of the C-18 
canal to observe no wake speeds. The district will also cooperate with the appropriate regulatory authorities to 
establish and maintain no wake zones in the above specified zones. 
 (3) There may be locations in the Limestone Creek Shallow Zone and the Limestone Creek Zone where boat 
docks and access platforms are proposed for installation on private property. The District views such boat docks and 
access platforms as inconsistent with the initial phases of the revegetation plan and discourages, but cannot and does 
not prohibit, construction of such boat docks and access platforms until the revegetation plan succeeds and until no 
wake speeds are established. 
 (4) Canal Flood Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of the primary canal cross section designed for flood control. Said zone is 
defined as the area consisting of the canal, including 105' bottom width, 1 on 2 side slopes from elevation -6.0 to -
3.0, 1 on 5 side slopes from elevation – 3.0 to 3.0, or the channel as it currently exists. This zone shall be free of 
floating or submerged obstructions. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
 1. Fishing; 
 2. Public watercraft sightseeing and cruising; 
 3. Environmental study and appreciation; 
 4. Swimming; 
 5. Maintenance activities conducted by the District and the permittee; and 
 6. Navigation signs. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
 1. Mooring boats or other floating items; 
 2. Docks of any kind; and 
 3. Any activity which blocks, impedes or creates turbulence in the flow of water from flood control discharges. 
 (5) General Wildlife Area Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of lands from above elevation 3.0 to the edge of the C-18 canal right of way. 
The area within this zone is intended for the primary use of wildlife and therefore is designed to provide food, cover 
and resting places for wildlife. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
 1. Typical and normal activities of wildlife residing in or visiting the area; 
 2. Environmental study and appreciation; 
 3. Public passage from upland, off-site areas to the C-18 canal right of way, including Limestone Creek; 
 4. Maintenance activities conducted by the District and the permittee; 
 5. Paths which meet the requirements of subsection 40E-62.651(5)(e), F.A.C.; 

39.b

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



6 

 

 6. Permitted utility uses; and 
 7. Small group picnicking. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
 1. Clearing or substantial thinning of vegetation; 
 2. Capturing, trapping, hunting or otherwise taking, harassing or destroying wildlife, not including fishing and 
shellfishing activities or removing dangerous wildlife, such as poisonous snakes and rats; 
 3. Camping; and 
 4. Large group picnicking. 
 (d) Public passage areas shall not interfere with areas designed for food, cover, resting and passageways for 
wildlife. Users of the C-18 canal right of way are advised to dress properly for passage through native vegetation 
and are further advised that wildlife may be encountered. 
 (e) A general permit is in effect pursuant to this Part for paths which are designed and maintained for access by 
residents adjacent to the C-18 canal right of way subject to the following requirements: 
 1. Paths shall meet District design standards, generally following an irregular alignment in order to minimize 
interruption to wildlife areas, to minimize opening direct viewing corridors from the C-18 canal, and to discourage 
passage of the general public from the right of way onto private property; 
 2. Paths shall be a maximum of six feet in width; 
 3. Path design shall include a landscape plan, a maintenance plan and details necessary to illustrate proposed 
construction. Sod and regular intervals of mowing will not be considered an acceptable path; 
 4. Paths located within the C-18 right of way shall be open to the public; the District will consider alternative 
designs for paths which would allow access to the handicapped; and 
 5. The District recognizes that adjacent property owners may erect signs or other barriers on their own property 
in order to limit public access to private property from the C-18 right of way. 
 (6) Limestone Creek Shallow Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of the portions of Limestone Creek that are specified and designed to be one 
to two feet deep. This zone includes the portions of Limestone Creek depicted in Figure 62-1 and further described 
as follows: 
 1. Adjacent to River Oaks: Lots 17-21. 
 2. Adjacent to Jupiter Landings: 10' east of the westerly line of the boat storage area extending 56' east of the 
Central Blvd. bridge. 
 3. Adjacent to Riverwalk: 75' east of the Central Blvd. bridge extending to 500' east of the Central Blvd. bridge. 
 4. Adjacent to the remaining single family uses along the South of the Canal: 3000' east of the Central Blvd. 
bridge to 1100' west of the Loxahatchee River Road bridge. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
 1. Fishing; 
 2. Boating by low speed, low noise watercraft; 
 3. Environmental appreciation; and 
 4. Permitted maintenance activities. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
 1. Recreational or other activities that damage or remove plant or bank material. 
 (7) Limestone Creek Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of the portions of Limestone Creek that are designed to be greater than two 
feet in depth and are not a part of the Limestone Creek Shallow Zone. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
 1. Fishing; 
 2. Environmental appreciation; 
 3. Sightseeing by water; and 
 4. Limited subdivision access, subject to zone requirements. 
 (c) Zone requirements for the Limestone Creek Zone include the following: 
 1. The adjacent residents have indicated interest in access to the water by subdivision. During the period that 
revegetation is proceeding, the District will allow limited subdivision access consisting of one access area per 
subdivision for the purpose of canoe access and pedestrian access. Conditions will be specified per subdivision and 
will include, but not be limited to: 
 a. The revegetation is proceeding without delay and with success; 

39.b

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



7 

 

 b. Subdivisions shall agree to design, construct and maintain access areas according to the provisions of Section 
40E-62.651(7)(c)2., F.A.C. 
 2. Limited subdivision access areas shall meet the following requirements: 
 a. Design of all facilities which connect with the C-18 canal right of way or Limestone Creek shall be approved 
by the District through the permit process established by this Part; 
 b. The C-18 canal right of way shall remain open to the public; 
 c. Water access facilities placed upon the C-18 right of way shall be open to the general public and shall contain 
a permanent sign so stating; the sign shall be visible and legible from the center of the adjacent water area; 
 d. Access areas shall be available to the District for inspection, maintenance and other activities associated with 
District functions; 
 e. Access areas shall be kept in good repair, free of litter and provide minimum interruption to the view from the 
C-18 canal right of way; access areas will be landscaped to maximize the use of plant materials to blend the access 
area into the river character; uses related to the access point, such as parking, picnic, fish cleaning and similar uses 
will be screened from view; the design of access areas shall include a swale or other suitable system extending the 
entire length of the lot, including the access ramp, intended to divert overland water flows from paved areas into 
vegetated areas; such systems and vegetated areas are to provide detention of runoff to encourage percolation of 
water through earth and vegetation; and 
 f. Electrical and water facilities may be included on subdivision access facilities; facilities shall be designed to 
meet applicable county and city safety and building requirements; lighting equipment should be designed so as to 
minimize glare on the surface of or across the C-18 canal; water facilities shall be designed and maintained to 
function with no erosion or discharge of waste into the C-18 canal or Limestone Creek; said facilities shall not be for 
the purpose of providing service to live aboard boats or boat repair facilities. 
 (8) Fire Control Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone is intended to provide a buffer safety area to help prevent the spread of wildfire from 
the C-18 canal right of way onto private property. This zone shall consist of a fifteen foot wide area containing low 
native ground covers or grasses and mature native trees. 
 (b) Shrubs and trees that invade this zone may be removed to maintain the low character and protection; 
provided however, that mature trees must not be removed without a permit from the District. 
 (9) Intertidal Wet Area Overlay Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone includes lands that are inundated during periods of high tide, during parts or all of the 
year, and generally exposed during periods of low tide. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
 1. Maintenance and monitoring activities; and 
 2. Permitted utility uses, provided disturbed vegetation is replaced. 
 (c) Zone requirements for the Intertidal Wet Area Overlay Zone include the following: 
 1. Plants in this zone, especially mangroves, are not to be removed or pruned unless there is a current permit 
approved by Palm Beach County; a District permit issued pursuant to this Part, and any other permits required by 
law; pruning must be performed in strict accordance with the terms of all applicable permits. 
 (10) Canal Flood Overlay Zone 
 (a) Description: This zone consists of an overlay of the Canal Flood Zone including both sides of the canal from 
elevation - 1.5, as measured from the edge of the water at low tide, to the top of the canal bank, as measured from 
the edge of the canal. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
 1. Fishing; 
 2. Environmental study and appreciation; 
 3. Temporary, not to exceed approximately four hours, stopping and anchoring of watercraft for permitted 
public recreational purposes; 
 4. Permitted maintenance activities; and 
 5. Swimming. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
 1. Recreational or other activities which damage or remove plant material or soil; 
 2. Camping; and 
 3. Mooring watercraft to mangroves. 
 (11) View Corridor Overlay Zone 

39.b

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



8 

 

 (a) Description: This zone is intended to provide for a view of the canal from adjacent residential buildings. The 
District’s intent is to allow vegetation on these areas with ground cover plant materials that remain low enough to 
allow view over the top, and trees that, when mature, allow view under the canopy. 
 (b) Consistent uses include the following: 
 1. Uses allowed in the underlying zones; and 
 2. Scenic viewing of the canal from residences. 
 (c) Inconsistent uses include the following: 
 1. Uses that substantially obstruct the intended view, unless the obstruction is caused by immature vegetation; 
and 
 2. Uses that are not consistent with underlying zones. 
 (d) Zone regulations for the View Corridor Overlay Zone: 
 1. Maintenance will be limited to minimal care of plant materials; 
 2. Ground covers will be left at their natural height with no mowing or clearing; 
 3. Pathways shall conform to regulations in the General Wildlife Zone; 
 4. Tree pruning shall require a current District permit issued pursuant to this Part, prior written notification, and 
District approval each time a permittee proposes to prune. Said notification shall include photographs of the trees(s) 
to be pruned; 
 5. Permit applications shall include photographs of the tree prior to work being accomplished. 
 
Specific Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 373.086 FS. History–New 1-23-90. Repealed 
_____________. 

39.b

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
3-

04
-2

6 
C

h
ap

te
r 

40
E

-6
2 

F
A

C
  (

12
41

 :
 R

O
W

 -
 R

u
le

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
)



Proposed 2013 
 

 
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT 
APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II 
 
 

FOR USE WITHIN THE GEOGRAPHIC LIMITS OF THE SOUTH 
FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 

 
 

EFFECTIVE (insert date) 
 

Volume II (including Appendices A, B, C and D)  
is incorporated by reference in  

Rule 40E-4.091(1)(a) and Chapter 62-330, F.A.C.  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 
  

40.a

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

2 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE 
PERMIT APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK VOLUME II FOR USE APPLICATIONS WITHIN 

THE GEOGRAPHIC LIMITS OF THE  
SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 

             date 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PART 1 – INTRODUCTION, ORGANIZATION, APPLICABILITY.............................................  

1.0  Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................  

1.1  Criteria Objectives ............................................................................................................................................  

1.2  District-Specific Thresholds ............................................................................................................................  

1.3  District-Specific Exemptions ...........................................................................................................................  

PART II – GENERAL CRITERIA ...............................................................................................  

2.0  General Criteria for all Stormwater Management Systems ..........................................................................  

2.1  Definitions .........................................................................................................................................................  

2.2  Professional Certification ................................................................................................................................  

2.3  Water and Wastewater Service and Concurrent Processing .......................................................................  

2.4  Retrofits of Existing Stormwater Management Systems ..............................................................................  

2.5  Flexibility for State Transportation Projects and Facilities ..........................................................................  

PART III – STORMWATER QUANTITY/FLOOD CONTROL ....................................................  

3.1  General ...............................................................................................................................................................  

3.2  Discharge Rate ..................................................................................................................................................  

3.3  Design Storm .....................................................................................................................................................  
3.3.1  Methodologies ..............................................................................................................................................  
3.3.2  Aggregate Discharge ...................................................................................................................................  
3.3.3  Upper Soil Zone Storage and Surface Storage ...........................................................................................  

3.4  Flood Protection of Building Floors ................................................................................................................  

3.5  Flood Protection of Roads and Parking Lots .................................................................................................  

3.6  Flood Plain Encroachment ...............................................................................................................................  

40.a

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

3 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

3.7  Historic Basin Storage......................................................................................................................................  

3.8  Offsite Lands .....................................................................................................................................................  

3.9  Minimum Drainage ............................................................................................................................................  

3.10  Overdrainage and Water Conservation ........................................................................................................  

3.11  Detention and Control Elevations .................................................................................................................  

3.12  Lake-Wetland Separation ...............................................................................................................................  

3.13  Water Supply Sources ....................................................................................................................................  

PART IV – STORMWATER QUALITY ......................................................................................  

4.1  State Standards .................................................................................................................................................  
4.1.1  How Standards are Applied .........................................................................................................................  
4.1.2  Erosion and Sediment Control Criteria for Stormwater Management Systems ..........................................  
4.1.3  Direct Discharges to Outstanding Florida Waters .......................................................................................  

4.2  Retention / Detention Criteria ..........................................................................................................................  
4.2.1  Volumetric Requirements .............................................................................................................................  
4.2.2  Land Use and Coverage Criteria .................................................................................................................  

4.3  Incorporation of Natural Areas and Existing Waterbodies ...........................................................................  

4.4  Underground Exfiltration Systems ..................................................................................................................  

4.5  Sewage Treatment Percolation Ponds ............................................................................................................  

4.6  Criteria for Creation of Waterbodies ...............................................................................................................  

4.7  Impervious Areas ..............................................................................................................................................  

4.8  Stagnant Water Conditions ..............................................................................................................................  

4.9  Water Quality Monitoring .................................................................................................................................  
4.9.1 .......................................................................................................................................................................  
4.9.2 .......................................................................................................................................................................  
4.9.3 .......................................................................................................................................................................  
4.9.4 .......................................................................................................................................................................  
4.9.5 .......................................................................................................................................................................  
4.9.6 .......................................................................................................................................................................  

4.10  Solid Waste Facilities .....................................................................................................................................  

PART V – WATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION  
CRITERIA ..................................................................................................................................  

5.1  Discharge Structures ........................................................................................................................................  

40.a

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

4 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

5.2  Control Devices/Bleed-down Mechanisms for Detention Systems .............................................................  

5.3  Retention systems ............................................................................................................................................  
5.3.1  Description ...................................................................................................................................................  
5.3.2  Retention Basin Construction ......................................................................................................................  
5.3.3  Dry Retention/Detention Areas (Not Applicable to Natural or Mitigation Wetland Areas) ...........................  

5.4  Wet Detention Design and Performance Criteria ..........................................................................................  
5.4.1  Pond Configuration ......................................................................................................................................  
5.4.2  Wet Retention/Detention Area Dimensional Criteria (As Measured at or from the Control  
Elevation)  ..............................................................................................................................................................  

5.5  Maintenance Access and Easements .............................................................................................................  

5.6  Exfiltration Systems ..........................................................................................................................................  
5.6.1  Description ...................................................................................................................................................  
5.6.2  Construction .................................................................................................................................................  

5.7  REQUIRED DESIGN INFORMATION AND ASSUMPTIONS ...........................................................................  
5.7.1  Antecedent Conditions  ................................................................................................................................  
5.7.2  Rainfall  ........................................................................................................................................................  
5.7.3  Evapotranspiration  ......................................................................................................................................  
5.7.4  Storage  ........................................................................................................................................................  

5.7.4.1  Open Surface ......................................................................................................................................  
5.7.4.2  Ground ................................................................................................................................................  

5.7.5  Infiltration and Percolation  ..........................................................................................................................  
5.7.5.1  Ground Surface ...................................................................................................................................  
5.7.5.2  Subsurface ..........................................................................................................................................  

5.7.6  Runoff  ..........................................................................................................................................................  
5.7.7  Receiving Water Stage 5.7.8  Runoff Coefficient and Curve Number for Stormwater Management Ponds  
 

5.8  INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE ..................................................................................................................  

APPENDIX A – SFWMD - ALLOWABLE DISCHARGE FORMULAS .................................. A-  

APPENDIX B – ABOVE GROUND IMPOUNDMENTS ......................................................... A-  

APPENDIX C – ISOHYETAL MAPS FROM SFWMD TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM, 
FREQUENCY ANALYSIS OF ONE AND THREE DAY RAINFALL MAXIMA FOR 
CENTRAL AND SOUTHERN FLORIDA, PAUL TRIMBLE, OCTOBER 1990 ...................... A-  

APPENDIX D – SFWMD BASINS FOR CUMULATIVE IMPACT ASSESSMENT & 
MITIGATION BANK SERVICE AREAS ................................................................................. A- 

 
1.0 Introduction 
2.0 Definitions 
3.0 General Review Requirements 
4.0 Environmental Criteria  

40.a

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

5 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

5.0 Water Quality Criteria 
6.0 Water Quantity Criteria  
7.0 Water Management System Design and Construction Criteria 
8.0 Required Design Information and Assumptions 
9.0 Operating Entity Requirements 
10.0 Surface Water Management System Certification and Operation 
 

PART 1 – INTRODUCTION, ORGANIZATION, APPLICABILITY 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
This Applicant’s Handbook Volume II accompanies Chapter 62-330, Fla. Admin. 
Code (F.A.C.), and the “Environmental Resource Permit Applicant’s Handbook 
Volume I (General and Environmental)” (Applicant’s Handbook Volume I).  
Applicant’s Handbook Volume I is applicable to all environmental resource permit 
applications, and provides background information on the environmental resource 
permit (ERP) program, including: 
• Points of contact; 
• A summary of the statutes and rules that are used to authorize and implement the 

ERP program; 
• A summary of the types of permits, permit thresholds, and exemptions; 
• Procedures used to review exemptions and permits; 
• Conditions for issuance of an ERP, including the environmental criteria used for 

activities located in wetlands and other surface waters; 
• Erosion and sediment control practices to prevent water quality violations; and 
• Operation and maintenance requirements. 
 
This Volume is designed to be applicable only to those ERP applications that involve 
the design of a stormwater management system that requires a permit as provided in 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., or Section 403.814(12) F.S. This volume also contains South 
Florida Water Management District (District) specific appendices for regionally-specific 
criteria such as basin maps for cumulative impact assessments (see Applicant’s 
Handbook Volume I, Section 10.2.8), mitigation bank service area determination (refer 
to Chapter 62-342, F.A.C), and above ground impoundments. 
 
Projects that qualify for a general permit in Section 403.814(12), F.S., are not regulated 
under Chapter 62-330, F.A.C. However, Applicant’s Handbook Volume II contains 
design and performance standards that are relevant to the design of projects that qualify 
for that general permit.  
 
This Volume provides specific, detailed water quality and quantity design and 
performance criteria for stormwater management systems regulated by the District 
through the ERP program authorized under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S. This Volume 
explains, and provides more detail on, the rule criteria for stormwater quality and 
quantity contained in Chapter 62-330, F.A.C.  In cases where conflicting or ambiguous 

40.a

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

6 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

interpretations of the information in this Volume results in uncertainty, the final 
determination of appropriate procedures to be followed will be made using Chapters 
120 and 373, F.S., applicable F.A.C. rule chapters, and best professional judgment of 
Agency staff. 
 
Both Applicant’s Handbook Volumes I and II are adopted by reference in Chapter 62-
330, F.A.C. Applicant’s Handbook Volume II is also incorporated in Rule 40E-4.091, 
F.A.C. Both Applicant’s Handbook Volumes I and II are rules of the Department and the 
District. The term “Agency,” where used in this Volume, shall apply to the Department, 
the District, or a delegated local government, as applicable, in accordance with the 
division of responsibilities specified in the Operating Agreements incorporated by 
reference in subsection 62-330.010(5) and Rule 40E-4.091, F.A.C., except where a 
specific Agency is otherwise identified. Volume II applies whether an ERP application is 
processed and acted on by the Department, a District, or a delegated local government. 
The Handbooks are written to provide more detail and clarity to the public in 
understanding the statutory and rule provisions that implement the ERP program.  
 
1.1 Objectives - 
 
Under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., and Chapters 40E-4, 40E-40, and 40E-400, F.A.C., 
the District is responsible for the permitting of construction, alteration, operation, 
maintenance, removal and abandonment of surface water management systems within 
its jurisdictional boundaries. The objective of this document is to identify the permit 
review criteria and information used by District staff when reviewing permit applications. 
The objective of the permit application review process is to insure that the permit 
authorizes activities which are not harmful to the water resources of the District and are 
not inconsistent with water resource objectives of the District. This document has been 
adopted by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 
 
1.2 Application Review Process - 
 
The District issues four types of environmental resource permits: conceptual approvals 
and individual permits pursuant to Chapter 40E-4, F.A.C., standard permits pursuant to 
Chapter 40E-40, F.A.C., and general permits (no notice or noticed) pursuant to Chapter 
40E-400, F.A.C. Conceptual and individual mitigation bank permits are also types of 
environmental resource permit. Although the processes for these three permits differ 
administratively, District staff review submitted information in the same manner, using 
the same basic technical procedures. 
 
1.2.1 Application Form  
 
An applicant for an environmental resource individual, standard, or general permit for 
the construction, alteration, operation, maintenance, removal and abandonment of a 
surface water management system, including dredging and filling, shall supply all 
information identified in Rules 40E-4.101, 40E-40.112, or 40E-400.211, F.A.C., as 

40.a

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

7 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

applicable to the specific project. The District welcomes the submittal of any additional 
information which the applicant feels will assist the District with its review. Since review 
time is dependent on information sufficiency, it is to the applicant's benefit to timely 
submit information to allow application review to proceed without delay. District staff is 
available on request for non-binding, pre-application meetings to offer assistance in 
application preparation. 
 
1.1 1.3 Criteria Objectives 
 
The criteria contained herein were established with the primary goal of meeting District 
water resource objectives as set forth in Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S. Performance 
criteria are used where possible. Other methods of meeting overall objectives of the 
District and which meet the conditions for issuance set forth in Rules 62-330.301 40E-
4.301 and 62-330.302 40E-4.302, F.A.C., will be considered by staff or presented to the 
District Governing Board, or its designee, for consideration. Compliance with the criteria 
herein constitutes a presumption that the project proposal is in conformance with the 
conditions for issuance set forth in Rules 62-330.301 40E-4.301 and 62-330.302 40E-
4.302, F.A.C.  Pursuant to Section 373.4131, F.S., if a stormwater management system 
is designed in accordance with the criteria in this Handbook or if a system is 
constructed, operated, and maintained for stormwater treatment in accordance with a 
valid Environmental Resource Permit or exemption under Part IV of Chapter 373, the 
discharges from the system are presumed not to violate applicable state water quality 
standards. 
 
An applicant may propose alternative designs to those provided in this Volume for 
consideration by the Agency.  However, reasonable assurance in the form of plans, test 
results, or other information must be provided by the applicant to demonstrate that the 
alternative design meets the conditions for issuance (Rules 62-330.301 and 62-
330.302, F.A.C.). 
 
1.2 District-Specific Thresholds 
 
Within Miami-Dade County, an ERP is not required for the construction, alteration or 
operation of a stormwater water management system in uplands provided that system 
meets all of the conditions below: 

1. The project area is less than 40 acres with positive stormwater outfall or the 
project area is less than 320 acres with less than 160 acres of impervious area, 
and no positive stormwater outfall; 

2. The design plans and calculations are signed and sealed by a registered 
professional; 

3. The system meets the criteria specified in Rules 62-330.301 and 62-330.302, 
F.A.C.; and 

4. The system is not located in natural water bodies, wetlands, waters of the state, or 
an Outstanding Florida Water as listed in Rule 62-302.700, F.A.C. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

8 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

1.3 District-Specific Exemptions 
 
There are no exemptions specific to the South Florida Water Management District 
geographical area.  All applicable exemptions can be found in Rules 62-330.051-.0511, 
F.A.C. 
 
1.4 Simultaneous Reviews - 
 
It is recommended that the applicant seek simultaneous reviews from all federal, state, 
regional or local governmental agencies with jurisdiction over the proposed project. It is 
also in the best interest of the applicant to contact all interested and affected persons 
prior to submitting a formal environmental resource permit application. Advance 
communication facilitates the permitting process. The applicant is encouraged to submit 
summaries of meetings and copies of responses from interested persons with the 
application. 
  

40.a

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

9 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

PART II – GENERAL CRITERIA 
 

2.0  General Criteria for all Stormwater Management Systems 
 

This Volume applies to the design of stormwater management systems that require a 
permit under Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., or a general permit as provided under Section 
403.814(12), F.S. Additional special basin criteria within SFWMD can be found in 
Chapter 40E-41, F.A.C (for Western C-9 Basin, Kissimmee River Basin, C-51 Basin, 
and the Water Preserve Area Basins of Palm Beach and Broward Counties), Chapter 
40E-61 F.A.C ( for the Lake Okeechobee Basin), and Chapter 40E-63, F.A.C (for the 
Everglades Agricultural Area). 
 
2.1  Definitions 2.0  DEFINITIONS 
 
The definitions set forth in Applicant’s Handbook Volume I, Section 2.0(a) are applicable 
to Volume II. 
 
2.1.1  “Agency” - The Department of Environmental Protection or South Florida Water 
Management District or a delegated local government, as applicable, in accordance with 
division of responsibilities specified in the Operating Agreements incorporated by 
reference in subsection 62-330.010(5), F.A.C. and Rule 40E-4.091, F.A.C. 
 
2.1 "Banker" - An entity that creates, operates, manages, or maintains a Mitigation 
Bank pursuant to a Mitigation Bank Permit 
 
2.1.2 2.2 "Control device" - Element of a discharge structure which allows the gradual 
release of water under controlled conditions. It is sSometimes referred to as the bleed-
down mechanism, or "bleeder". 
 
2.1.3 2.3 "Control elevation" - The lowest elevation at which water can be released 
through the control device. 
 
2.4 "Creation" - The establishment of new wetlands or surface waters by conversion of 
other land forms. 
 
2.1.4 2.5 "Department" - The Department of Environmental Protection. 
 
2.1.5 2.6 "Detention" - The delay of stormwater runoff prior to discharge into receiving 
waters. 
 
2.1.6 2.7 "Detention volume" - The volume of open surface storage behind the 
discharge structure between the overflow elevation and control elevation. 
 
2.1.7 “District” - The South Florida Water Management District. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

10 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

2.8 "Ecological Value" - The value of functions performed by wetlands and other 
environmentally sensitive areas. These functions include providing habitat for wildlife, 
corridors for wildlife movement, food chain support, groundwater recharge, water 
storage and flow attenuation, and water quality enhancement. 
 
2.1.8 2.9 "Elevation" - Height in feet above mean sea level according to National 
Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) or North American Vertical Datum 88 (NAVD). 
 
2.1.9  Exfiltration trench - A subsurface retention system consisting of a conduit such as 
perforated pipe surrounded by natural or artificial aggregate which temporarily stores and 
infiltrates stormwater runoff. 
 
2.10 "Endangered species" - Those animal species which are listed in Rule 68A-
27.003, F.A.C. (as amended December 16, 2003), and those plant species which are 
listed as endangered in 50 C.F.R. 17.12 (as amended April 8, 2004), when such plants 
are found to be located in a wetland or other surface water. 
 
2.11 "Enhancement" - Improving the ecological value of wetlands, other surface 
waters, or uplands that have been degraded in comparison to their historic condition. 
 
2.12 "Estuary" - A semienclosed, naturally existing coastal body of water which has a 
free connection with the open sea and within which seawater is measurably diluted with 
fresh water derived from riverine systems. 
 
2.13 "Existing nesting or denning" - As used in Section 4.2.7, means an upland site 
is currently being used for nesting or denning, or is expected, based on reasonable 
scientific judgement, to be used for such purposes based upon past nesting or denning 
at the site. 
 
2.1.10 2.14 "Historic discharge" - The peak rate at which runoff leaves a parcel of 
land by gravity in an undisturbed/natural state, or the legally allowable discharge in 
effect at the time of permit application. 
 
2.1.11 2.15 "Impervious" - Land surfaces which do not allow, or minimally allow, the 
penetration of water. Examples include building roofs, normal concrete and asphalt 
pavements, and some fine grained soils such as clays. 
 
2.1.12  “Mean annual higher high tide” - The arithmetic mean of the higher high water 
elevations observed at a location or tidal station over the National Tidal Datum Epoch.  
Only the higher high water of each pair of high waters of the tidal day is included in the 
mean. 
 
2.16 "Isolated Wetland" - Any wetland without a direct hydrologic connection to a lake, 
stream, estuary, or marine water. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

11 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

2.17 "Lagoon" - A naturally existing coastal zone depression which is below mean high 
water and which has permanent or ephemeral communications with the sea, but which 
is protected from the sea by some type of naturally existing barrier. 
 
2.18 "Listed Species" - Those animal species which are endangered, threatened or of 
special concern and are listed in Rules 68A-27.003 (as amended December 16, 2003), 
68A-27.004 (as amended May 15, 2008), and 68A-27.005, F.A.C. (as amended 
November 8, 2007), and those plant species listed in 50 Code of Federal Regulation 
17.12 (as amended April 8, 2004), also incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-
4.091(1)(b), F.A.C., when such plants are found to be located in a wetland or other 
surface water. 
 
2.19 "Mitigation" - An action or series of actions to offset the adverse impacts that 
would otherwise cause a regulated activity to fail to meet the criteria set forth in sections 
4.2 and 4.2.8.2.  Mitigation usually consists of restoration, enhancement, creation, 
preservation, or a combination thereof. 
 
2.20 "Mitigation Bank" - A project undertaken to provide for the withdrawal of 
mitigation credits to offset adverse impacts. 
 
2.21 "Mitigation Bank Permit" - A permit issued to a banker to construct, operate, 
manage and maintain a Mitigation Bank. 
 
2.22 "Mitigation Credit" - A unit of measure which represents the increase in 
ecological value resulting from restoration, enhancement, preservation, or creation 
activities.  
 
2.23 "Mitigation Service Area" - The geographic area within which Mitigation Credits 
from a Mitigation Bank may be used to offset adverse impacts of activities regulated 
under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S. 
 
2.24 "Other Surface Waters" - Means surface waters as described and delineated 
pursuant to Section 62-340.600, F.A.C., as ratified by Section 373.4211, F.S., other 
than wetlands.  
 
2.1.13 2.25 "Overflow elevation" - Design elevation of a discharge structure at which, 
or below which, water is contained behind the structure, except for that which leaks out, 
or bleeds out, through a control device down to the control elevation. 
 
2.26 "Preservation" - The protection of wetlands, other surface waters or uplands from 
adverse impacts by placing a conservation easement or other comparable land use 
restriction over the property or by donation of fee simple interest in the property. 
 
2.27 "Regional Watershed" - As used in subsection 4.4, a regional watershed means 
a watershed as delineated in Figure 4.4-1. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

12 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
2.1.14 2.28 "Regulated activity" - The construction, alteration, operation, 
maintenance, abandonment or removal of a surface water management system, 
including dredging and filling, regulated pursuant to Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S. 
 
2.29 "Restoration" - Converting back to a historic condition those wetlands, surface 
waters, or uplands which currently exist as a land form which differs from the historic 
condition. 
 
2.1.15 2.30 "Retention" - The prevention of stormwater runoff from direct discharge 
into receiving waters.; included as Eexamples include are systems which discharge 
through percolation, exfiltration, filtered bleed-down and evapotranspiration processes. 
 
2.1.16 2.31 "Retention/detention area (dry)" - Water storage area with bottom 
elevation at least one foot above the control elevation of the area. Sumps, mosquito 
control swales and other minor features may be at a lower elevation. 
 
2.1.17 2.32 "Retention/detention area (wet)" - A water storage area with bottom 
elevation lower than one foot above the control elevation of the area. 
 
2.33 "Seawall" - A manmade wall or encroachment, except riprap, which is made to 
break the force of waves and to protect the shore from erosion. 
 
2.34 "Species of Special Concern" - Those animal species listed in Rule 68A-27.005, 
F.A.C. 
 
2.1.18 2.35 "Staff Report" - A written report prepared by Agency District sStaff advising 
the Governing Board, or its designee, of setting forth staff’s its conclusions and 
recommendations based on review of an application. The description of the project in 
the Sstaff Rreport shall take precedence over application data contained in Agency 
District permit files, since numerous project changes are often made by applicants 
during application processing, the results of which may only be reflected in the Sstaff 
Rreport. Staff reports may be prepared for general permits. In addition, Sstaff Rreports 
serve as notice of proposed agency action. 
 
2.1.19 2.36 "Surface Water Management System" or "System" - A stormwater 
management system, dam, impoundment, reservoir, appurtenant work or works, or any 
combination thereof.  The terms "surface water management system" or of "system" 
include areas of dredging or filling as defined by Section 373.403(13) and (14), F.S., 
respectively. 
 
2.1.20  “Tailwater” - The receiving water elevation (or pressure) at the final discharge 
point of the stormwater management system. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

13 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

2.37 "Threatened species" - Those animal species listed in Rule 68A-27.004 (as 
amended May 15, 2008), F.A.C., and those plant species which are listed as threatened 
in 50 Code of Federal Regulations 17.12 (as amended April 8, 2004), when such plants 
are found to be located in a wetland or other surface water. 
 
2.1.21  2.38 "Water management areas" - Areas to be utilized for the conveyance, 
treatment or storage of stormwater storm water. 
 
2.1.22  “Wet detention systems” - Permanently wet ponds which are designed to slowly 
release collected stormwater runoff through an outlet structure. 
 
2.39 "Wetlands" - Those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water or 
ground water at a frequency and a duration sufficient to support, and under normal 
circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in 
saturated soils. Soils present in wetlands generally are classified as hydric or alluvial, or 
possess characteristics that are associated with reducing soil conditions. The prevalent 
vegetation in wetlands generally consists of facultative or obligate hydrophytic 
macrophytes that are typically adapted to areas having soil conditions described above. 
These species, due to morphological, physiological, or reproductive adaptation, have 
the ability to grow, reproduce, or persist in aquatic environments or anaerobic soil 
conditions. Florida wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bayheads, bogs, 
cypress domes and strands, sloughs, wet prairies, riverine swamps and marshes, hydric 
seepage slopes, tidal marshes, mangrove swamps and other similar areas. Florida 
wetlands generally do not include longleaf or slash pine flatwoods with an understory 
dominated by saw palmetto. The landward extent of wetlands shall be delineated 
pursuant to Sections 62-340.100 through 62-340.550, F.A.C., as ratified by Section 
373.4211, F.S. 
 
2.2  Professional Certification 
 
All construction plans and supporting calculations submitted to the Agency for surface 
water management systems that require the services of a registered professional must 
be signed, sealed, and dated by a registered professional.   

 
3.0 GENERAL REVIEW REQUIREMENTS 
 
3.1 Development of Regional Impact - 
 
Projects which are or presumptively may be a Development of Regional Impact (DRI) 
pursuant to Section 380.0651, F.S., may not in all cases meet local government DRI 
requirements.  Therefore, it is strongly recommended that the applicant procure a final 
approved Development Order (DO) issued by the affected local government prior to 
initiating permitting proceedings with the District. Exceptions to this recommendation 
occur in the following situations: 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

14 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(a)  When the applicant has a signed Preliminary Development Agreement 
with the Florida Department of Community Affairs which allows a specified 
portion of the proposed development to proceed prior to the issuance of a 
DO, pursuant to Section 380.06(8), F.S., or 

 
(b)  When the applicant has received a Binding Letter of Interpretation 

Determination from the Florida Department of Community Affairs which 
finds that the project is not required to comply with the DRI review 
requirements of Section 380.06, F.S., or 

 
(c)  When the applicant has applied for conceptual agency review pursuant to 

Section 380.06(9), F.S., concurrently with the filing of a DRI Application for 
Development Approval (ADA) and any applicable Local Government 
Comprehensive Plan amendments pursuant to Section 380.06(9), F.S. 

 
2.3 3.2 Water and Wastewater Service and Concurrent Processing  
 

(a)  Potable water, irrigation and wastewater facilities must be identified. An 
applicant for an environmental resource permit must provide 
documentation information on how these services are to be provided. If 
wastewater disposal is accomplished on-site, additional information shall 
be requested regarding separation of waste and stormwater surface water 
management systems. 

 
(b)  For environmental resource permits, if on-site consumptive water use 

withdrawals are also proposed for which a District water use permit is 
required, the environmental resource and water use permits must be 
processed simultaneously.  These requirements are dependent upon site 
specific water resource limitations. It is recommended that the applicant 
contact Agency District staff prior to filing an application to determine 
whether the proposed project necessitates simultaneous environmental 
resource and water use permitting. 

 
2.4  Retrofits of Existing Stormwater Management Systems 
 

(a) A stormwater retrofit project is typically proposed by a county, 
municipality, state agency, or water management district to provide new or 
additional treatment or attenuation capacity, or improved flood control to 
an existing stormwater management system or systems.  Stormwater 
retrofit projects shall not be proposed or implemented for the purpose of 
providing the water quality treatment or flood control needed to serve new 
development or redevelopment. 

 
Example components of stormwater retrofit projects are: 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

15 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

1. Construction or alteration that will add additional treatment or 
attenuation capacity and capability to an existing stormwater 
management system; 

 
2. Modification, reconstruction, or relocation of an existing stormwater 

management system or stormwater discharge facility; 
 
3. Stabilization of eroding banks through measures such as adding 

attenuation capacity to reduce flow velocities, planting of sod or 
other vegetation, and installation of rip rap boulders ; 

 
4. Excavation or dredging of sediments or other pollutants that have 

accumulated as a result of stormwater runoff and stormwater 
discharges. 

 
(b) Stormwater Quality Retrofits 
 

1. The applicant for a stormwater quality retrofit project must provide 
reasonable assurance that the retrofit project itself will, at a 
minimum provide additional water quality treatment such that there 
is a net reduction of the stormwater pollutant loading into receiving 
waters.  Examples are: 
 
a. Addition of treatment capacity to an existing stormwater 

management system such that it reduces stormwater 
pollutant loadings to receiving waters; 

 
b. Adding treatment or attenuation capability to an existing 

developed area when either the existing stormwater 
management system or the developed area has substandard 
stormwater treatment and attenuation capabilities, compared 
to what would be required for a new system requiring a 
permit under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S.; or 

 
c. Removing pollutants generated by, or resulting from, 

previous stormwater discharges. 
 

2. If the applicant has conducted, and the Agency has approved, an 
analysis that provides reasonable assurance that the proposed 
stormwater quality retrofit will provide the intended pollutant load 
reduction from the existing system or systems, the project will be 
presumed to comply with the requirements in Part IV of this 
Volume. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

16 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

3. The pollutants of concern will be determined on a case-by-case 
basis during the permit application review based upon factors such 
as the type and intensity of land use, existing water quality data 
within the area subject to the retrofit, and the degree of impairment 
or water quality violations in the receiving waters. 

 
(c) Stormwater Quantity (Flood Control) Retrofits 
 

The applicant for a stormwater quantity retrofit project must provide 
reasonable assurance that the retrofit project will reduce existing flooding 
problems in such a way that it does not cause any of the following: 
 
1. A net reduction in water quality treatment provided by the existing 

stormwater management system or systems; 
 
2. Increased discharges of untreated stormwater entering adjacent or 

receiving waters; 
 
If the applicant has conducted, and the Agency has approved, an analysis 
that provides reasonable assurance that the stormwater quantity retrofit 
project will comply with the above, the project will be presumed to comply 
with the requirements in Part III of this Volume. 
 

(d) The applicant for any stormwater retrofit project must design, implement, 
and operate the project so that it: 

 
1. Will not cause or contribute to a water quality violation; 

 
2. Does not reduce stormwater treatment capacity or increase 

discharges of untreated stormwater.  Where existing ambient water 
quality does not meet water quality standards the applicant must 
demonstrate that the proposed activities will not cause or contribute 
to a water quality violation.  If the proposed activities will contribute 
to the existing violation, measures shall be proposed that will 
provide a net improvement of the water quality in the receiving 
waters for those parameters that do not meet standards. 

 
3. Does not cause any adverse water quality impacts in receiving 

waters; or 
 
4. Will not cause or contribute to increased flooding of adjacent lands 

or cause new adverse water quantity impacts to receiving waters. 
 
2.5  Flexibility for State Transportation Projects and Facilities 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

17 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

With regard to state linear transportation projects and facilities the Agencies shall be 
governed by subsection 373.413(6), F.S. (2012). 
 
3.3 Phased Projects – 
 
Projects which are to be developed in phases will require the submission of a master 
plan of the applicant's contiguous land holdings. The primary interest of the District is to 
insure continuity between phases, satisfactory completeness of individual phases 
should the project be incomplete as planned, and preservation of adjacent property 
owners' rights. This includes adjacent property owners created by the sale of incomplete 
phases. See Rule 40E-4.305, F.A.C., for further information regarding conceptual 
approval permits. 
  
3.4 Pre-Application Meetings – 
 
Pre-application meetings are encouraged, as are submissions of explanatory 
information such as site plans, topographic information, vegetation maps and soils 
information, which may be useful to the Staff in their preliminary review. Staff 
representations made at pre-application meetings are not binding on the District. 
 
4.0  ENVIRONMENTAL CRITERIA 
 
It is the intent of the Governing Board that the criteria in subsections 4.2 through 4.3.8 
be implemented in a manner which achieves a programmatic goal, and a project 
permitting goal, of no net loss in wetland and other surface water functions. This goal 
shall not include projects that are exempt by statute or rule, or which are authorized by 
a noticed general permit. Unless exempt by statute or rule, permits are required for the 
construction, alteration, operation, maintenance, abandonment and removal of systems 
so that the District can conserve the beneficial functions of these wetlands or other 
surface waters. 
 
4.1 Wetlands and other Surface Waters - 
 
Wetlands are important components of the water resource because they often serve as 
spawning, nursery and feeding habitats for many species of fish and wildlife, and 
because they often provide important flood storage, nutrient cycling, detrital production, 
recreational and water quality functions. Other surface waters such as lakes, ponds, 
reservoirs, other impoundments, streams, rivers and estuaries also often provide such 
functions, and in addition may provide flood conveyance, navigation and water supply 
functions to the public. Not all wetlands or other surface waters provide all of these 
functions, nor do they provide them to the same extent. A wide array of biological, 
physical and chemical factors affect the functioning of any wetland or other surface 
water community. Maintenance of water quality standards in applicable wetlands and 
other surface waters is critical to their ability to provide many of these functions.  
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

18 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Unless exempted by statute or rule, permits are required for the construction, alteration, 
operation, maintenance, abandonment and removal of systems so that the District can 
conserve the beneficial functions of these communities. The term "systems" includes 
dredged or filled areas.  When used in section 4.0 of the Basis of Review, "wetlands and 
other surface waters" means those areas as delineated pursuant to the methodology in 
Chapter 62-340, F.A.C. as ratified in section 373.4211, F.S., and incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(g), F.A.C. 
 
4.1.1 Environmental Conditions for Issuance  
 
The District addresses the conservation of these beneficial functions in the permitting 
process by requiring applicants to provide reasonable assurances that the following 
conditions for issuance of permits, set forth in Rules 40E-4.301 and 40E-4.302, F.A.C., 
are met. Applicants must provide reasonable assurance that: 
 

(a) A regulated activity will not adversely impact the value of functions 
provided to fish and wildlife and listed species by wetlands and other 
surface waters (paragraph 40E-4.301(1)(d), F.A.C.)(see subsection 4.2.2); 

 
(b) A regulated activity located in, on, or over wetlands or other surface 

waters, will not be contrary to the public interest, or if such an activity 
significantly degrades or is located within an Outstanding Florida Water, 
that the regulated activity will be clearly in the public interest (paragraph 
40E-4.302(1)(a), F.A.C.) (see subsections 4.2.3 through 4.2.3.7); 

 
(c)  A regulated activity will not adversely affect the quality of receiving waters 

such that the water quality standards set forth in chapters 62-4, 62-302, 
62-520, 62-522, and 62-550, F.A.C., including any anti-degradation 
provisions of paragraphs 62-4.242(1)(a) and (b), subsections 62-4.242(2) 
and (3), and Rule 62-302.300, F.A.C., and any special standards for 
Outstanding Florida Waters and Outstanding National Resource Waters 
set forth in subsections 62-4.242(2) and (3), F.A.C., will be violated 
(paragraph 40E-4.301(1)(e), F.A.C.). 

 
(d)  A regulated activity located in, adjacent to or in close proximity to Class II 

waters or located in waters classified by the Department as approved, 
restricted, or conditionally restricted for shellfish harvesting as set forth in 
Chapter 5L-1, F.A.C., will comply with the additional criteria in subsection 
4.2.5 of the Basis of Review (paragraph 40E-4.302(1)(c), F.A.C.; 

 
(e)   The construction of vertical seawalls in estuaries and lagoons will comply 

with the additional criteria in subsection 4.2.6 of the Basis of Review; 
(paragraph 40E-4.302(1)(d), F.A.C.) 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

19 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(f)   A regulated activity will not cause adverse secondary impacts to the water 
resources (paragraph 40E-4.301(1)(f), F.A.C.) (see subsection 4.2.7); 

 
(g)  A regulated activity will not cause unacceptable cumulative impacts upon 

wetlands and other surface waters (paragraph 40E-4.302(1)(b), F.A.C.) 
(see subsections 4.2.8 through 4.2.8.2); 

 
4.2 Environmental Review Criteria – 
 
Compliance with the conditions for issuance in subsection 4.1.1 will be determined 
through compliance with the criteria explained in subsections 4.2 - 4.3.8 of this Basis of 
Review. 
 
4.2.1 Elimination or Reduction of Impacts   
 
The degree of impact to wetland and other surface water functions caused by a 
proposed system, whether the impact to these functions can be mitigated and the 
practicability of design modifications for the site, as well as alignment alternatives for a 
proposed linear system, which could eliminate or reduce impacts to these functions, are 
all factors in determining whether an application will be approved by the District. Design 
modifications to reduce or eliminate adverse impacts must be explored, as described in 
subsection 4.2.1.1.  Any adverse impacts remaining after practicable design 
modifications have been implemented may be offset by mitigation as described in 
subsections 4.3 – 4.3.8. An applicant may propose mitigation, or the District may 
suggest mitigation, to offset the adverse impacts caused by regulated activities as 
identified in sections 4.2 - 4.2.8.2. To receive District approval, a system cannot cause a 
net adverse impact on wetland functions and other surface water functions which is not 
offset by mitigation. 
 
4.2.1.1 Except as provided in subsection 4.2.1.2, if the proposed system will result in 
adverse impacts to wetland functions and other surface water functions such that it 
does not meet the requirements of sections 4.2.2 through 4.2.3.7, then the District in 
determining whether to grant or deny a permit shall consider whether the applicant has 
implemented practicable design modifications to reduce or eliminate such adverse 
impacts. 
 
The term "modification" shall not be construed as including the alternative of not 
implementing the system in some form, nor shall it be construed as requiring a project 
that is significantly different in type or function. A proposed modification which is not 
technically capable of being done, is not economically viable, or which adversely affects 
public safety through the endangerment of lives or property is not considered 
"practicable". A proposed modification need not remove all economic value of the 
property in order to be considered not "practicable". Conversely, a modification need not 
provide the highest and best use of the property to be "practicable". In determining 

40.a

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

20 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

whether a proposed modification is practicable, consideration shall also be given to the 
cost of the modification compared to the environmental benefit it achieves.  
 
4.2.1.2 The District will not require the applicant to implement practicable design 
modifications to reduce or eliminate impacts when: 
 

(a)   The ecological value of the function provided by the area of wetland or 
other surface water to be adversely affected is low based on site specific 
analysis using the factors in subsection 4.2.2.3, and the proposed 
mitigation will provide greater long term ecological value than the area of 
wetland or other surface water to be adversely affected, or 

 
(b)   The applicant proposes mitigation that implements all or part of a plan that 

provides regional ecological value and that provides greater long term 
ecological value than the area of wetland or other surface water to be 
adversely affected. 

 
4.2.1.3 Should such mutual consideration of modification and mitigation not result in a 
permittable system, the District must deny the application. Nothing herein shall imply 
that the District may not deny an application for a permit as submitted or modified, if it 
fails to meet the conditions for issuance, or that mitigation must be accepted by the 
District. 
 
4.2.2 Fish, Wildlife, Listed Species and their Habitats  
 
Pursuant to paragraph 4.1.1(a), an applicant must provide reasonable assurances that 
a regulated activity will not impact the values of wetland and other surface water 
functions so as to cause adverse impacts to: 
 

(a)  The abundance and diversity of fish, wildlife and listed species; and 
 
(b)  The habitat of fish, wildlife and listed species. 

 
In evaluating whether an applicant provided reasonable assurances under subsection 
4.2.2, deminimis effects shall not be considered adverse impacts for the purposes of 
this subsection. 
 
As part of the assessment of the impacts of regulated activities upon fish and wildlife 
and their habitats, the District will provide a copy of all notices of applications for 
standard, general, individual, and conceptual approval permits which propose regulated 
activities in, on or over wetlands or other surface waters to the Florida Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission for review and comment. In addition, the District staff may 
solicit comments from the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission regarding 
other applications to assist in the assessment of potential impacts to wildlife and their 
habitats, particularly with regard to listed wildlife species.  Where proposed activities 

40.a

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

21 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

have a potential to impact listed marine species, the District will provide a copy of the 
above-referenced types of applications to the Department of Environmental Protection, 
Office of Protected Species. 
 
The need for a wildlife survey will depend upon the likelihood that the site is used by 
listed species, considering site characteristics and the range and habitat needs of such 
species, and whether the proposed system will impact that use such that the criteria in 
subsection 4.2.2 -4.2.2.3 and subsection 4.2.7 will not be met. As part of assessing the 
likelihood of use of a site by listed species, the District will consult scientific literature. 
Survey methodologies employed to inventory the site must provide reasonable 
assurances regarding the presence or absence of the subject listed species. 
 
4.2.2.1 Compliance with subsections 4.2.2 - 4.2.3.7, 4.2.5 - 4.3.8 will not be required for 
regulated activities in isolated wetlands less than one half acre in size, unless: 
 

(a) The wetland is used by threatened or endangered species. 
 

(b)  The wetland is located in an area of critical state concern designated 
pursuant to Chapter 380, F.S., or 

 
(c)   The wetland is connected by standing or flowing surface water at seasonal 

high water level to one or more wetlands, and the combined wetland 
acreage so connected is greater than one half acre. 

 
(d)   The District establishes that the wetland to be impacted is, or several such 

wetlands to be impacted are, cumulatively, of more than minimal value to 
fish and wildlife based on the factors in subsection 4.2.2.3. 

 
4.2.2.2  Alterations in wholly owned ponds that were completely constructed in uplands 
and which are less than one acre in area and alterations in drainage ditches that were 
constructed in uplands will not be required to comply with the provisions of subsections 
4.2.2 -4.2.2.3, 4.2.3 - 4.2.3.7, 4.2.5 - 4.3.8 unless those ponds or ditches provide 
significant habitat for threatened or endangered species. This means that, except in 
cases where those ponds or ditches provide significant habitat for threatened or 
endangered species, the only environmental criteria that will apply to those ponds or 
ditches are those included in subsections 4.2.4 - 4.2.4.5 and 4.2.2.4. This provision 
shall only apply to those ponds and ditches which were constructed before a permit was 
required under Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S. or were constructed pursuant to a permit 
under Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S. This provision does not apply to ditches constructed to 
divert natural stream flow. 

 
4.2.2.3 The assessment of impacts expected as a result of proposed activities on the 
values of functions that any wetland or other surface water provides to fish, wildlife, and 
listed species will be based on a review of pertinent scientific literature, ecologic and 

40.a

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

22 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

hydrologic information, and field inspection. When assessing the value of such 
functions, the factors which the District will consider are:  
 

(a)  Condition - this factor addresses whether the wetland or other surface 
water is in a high quality state or has been the subject of past alterations 
in hydrology, water quality, or vegetative composition. However, areas 
impacted by activities in violation of a District or Department rule, order, or 
permit adopted or issued pursuant to Chapter 373, F.S. or Part VIII, 
Chapter 403, F.S. (1984, as amended), will be evaluated as if the activity 
had not occurred. 

 
(b) Hydrologic connection - this factor addresses the nature and degree of off-

site connection which may provide benefits to off-site water resources 
through detrital export, base flow maintenance, water quality 
enhancement or the provision of nursery habitat. 

 
(c) Uniqueness - this factor addresses the relative rarity of the wetland or 

other surface water and its floral and faunal components in relation to the 
surrounding regional landscape. 

 
(d)  Location - this factor addresses the location of the wetland or other 

surface water in relation to its surroundings. In making this assessment, 
the District will consult reference materials such as the Florida Natural 
Areas Inventory, Local Government Comprehensive Plans, and maps 
created by governmental agencies identifying lands with high ecological 
value. 

 
(e)   Fish and wildlife utilization - this factor addresses use of the wetland or 

other surface water for resting, feeding, breeding, nesting or denning by 
fish and wildlife, particularly those which are listed species. 

 
4.2.2.4 Pursuant to paragraph 4.1.1(a), an applicant must provide reasonable assurance 
that the regulated activity will not change the hydroperiod of a wetland or other surface 
water, so as to adversely affect wetland functions or other surface water functions as 
follows: 
 

(a)  Whenever portions of a system, such as constructed basins, structures, 
stormwater ponds, canals, and ditches, are reasonably expected to have 
the effect of reducing the depth, duration or frequency of inundation or 
saturation in a wetland or other surface water, the applicant must perform 
an analysis of the drawdown in water levels or diversion of water flows 
resulting from such activities and provide reasonable assurance that these 
drawdowns or diversions will not adversely impact the functions that 
wetlands and other surface waters provide to fish and wildlife and listed 
species. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

23 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
(b)   Increasing the depth, duration, or frequency of inundation through 

changing the rate or method of discharge of water to wetlands or other 
surface waters or by impounding water in wetlands or other surface waters 
must also be addressed to prevent adverse effects to functions that 
wetlands and other surface waters provide to fish and wildlife and listed 
species.  Different types of wetlands respond differently to increased 
depth, duration, or frequency of inundation. Therefore, the applicant must 
provide reasonable assurance that activities that have the potential to 
increase discharge or water levels will not adversely affect the functioning 
of the specific wetland or other surface water subject to the increased 
discharge or water level. 

 
(c)   Whenever portions of a system could have the effect of altering water 

levels in wetlands or other surface waters, applicants shall be required to: 
monitor the wetland or other surface waters to demonstrate that such 
alteration has not resulted in adverse impacts; or calibrate the system to 
prevent adverse impacts. Monitoring parameters, methods, schedules, 
and reporting requirements shall be specified in permit conditions. 

 
4.2.3 Public Interest Test  
 
In determining whether a regulated activity located in, on, or over surface waters or 
wetlands is not contrary to the public interest, or if such an activity significantly degrades 
or is within an Outstanding Florida Water, that the regulated activity is clearly in the 
public interest, the District shall consider and balance, and an applicant must address, 
the following criteria: 

 
(a)   Whether the regulated activity will adversely affect the public health, 

safety, or welfare or the property of others (subparagraph 40E-
4.302(1)(a)1., F.A.C.); 

 
(b) Whether the regulated activity will adversely affect the conservation of fish 

and wildlife, including endangered or threatened species, or their habitats 
(subparagraph 40E-4.302(1)(a)2., F.A.C.); 

 
(c) Whether the regulated activity will adversely affect navigation or the flow 

of water or cause harmful erosion or shoaling (subparagraph 40E-
4.302(1)(a)3., F.A.C.); 

 
(d)   Whether the regulated activity will adversely affect the fishing or 

recreational values or marine productivity in the vicinity of the activity 
(subparagraph 40E-4.302(1)(a)4., F.A.C.); 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

24 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(e)  Whether the regulated activity will be of a temporary or permanent nature 
(subparagraph 40E-4.302(1)(a)5., F.A.C.); 

 
(f)   Whether the regulated activity will adversely affect or will enhance 

significant historical and archaeological resources under the provisions of 
section 267.061, F.S. (subparagraph 40E-4.302(1)(a)6., F.A.C.); and 

 
(g)  The current condition and relative value of functions being performed by 

areas affected by the proposed regulated activity (subparagraph 40E-
4.302(1)(a)7., F.A.C.). 

 
4.2.3.1 Public Health, Safety, or Welfare or the Property of Others.  In reviewing and 
balancing the criterion regarding public health, safety, welfare and the property of others 
in paragraph 4.2.3(a), the District will evaluate whether the regulated activity located in, 
on, or over wetlands or other surface waters will cause: 

 
(a)   An environmental hazard to public health or safety or improvement to 

public health or safety with respect to environmental issues. Each 
applicant must identify potential environmental public health or safety 
issues resulting from their project. Examples of these type of issues 
include: mosquito control; proper disposal of solid, hazardous, domestic or 
industrial waste; aids to navigation; hurricane preparedness or cleanup; 
environmental remediation, enhancement or restoration; and similar 
environmentally related issues. For example, the installation of 
navigational aids may improve public safety and may reduce impacts to 
public resources. 

 
(b) Impacts to areas classified by the Department as approved, conditionally 

approved, restricted or conditionally restricted for shellfish harvesting.  
Activities which would cause closure or a more restrictive classification or 
management plan for a shellfish harvesting area would result in a negative 
factor in the public interest balance with respect to this criterion.   

 
(c)   Flooding or alleviate existing flooding on the property of others. There is at 

least a neutral factor in the public interest balance with respect to the 
potential for causing or alleviating flooding problems if the applicant meets 
the water quantity criteria in section six of this Basis of Review. 

 
(d)   Environmental impacts to the property of others. For example, the 

construction of a ditch that results in drawdown impacts to a wetland on an 
adjacent property would be an environmental impact to the property of 
others. The District will not consider impacts to property values or taxes. 

 
4.2.3.2 Fish and Wildlife and their Habitats 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

25 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

The District's public interest review of that portion of a proposed system in, on, or over 
wetlands and other surface waters for impacts to "the conservation of fish and wildlife, 
including endangered or threatened species, or their habitats" is encompassed within 
the required review of the entire system under subsection 4.2.2. An applicant must 
always provide the reasonable assurances required under subsection 4.2.2.  
 
4.2.3.3 Navigation, Water Flow, Erosion and Shoaling 
 
In reviewing and balancing the criterion on navigation, erosion and shoaling in 
paragraph 4.2.3(c), the District will evaluate whether the regulated activity located in, on 
or over wetlands or other surface waters will: 
 

(a)  Significantly impede navigability or enhance navigability. The District will 
consider the current navigational uses of the surface waters and will not 
speculate on uses which may occur in the future. Applicants proposing to 
construct bridges or other traversing works must address adequate 
horizontal and vertical clearance for the type of watercraft currently 
navigating the surface waters. Applicants proposing to construct docks, 
piers and other works which extend into surface waters must address the 
continued navigability of these waters. An encroachment into a marked or 
customarily used navigation channel is an example of a significant 
impediment to navigability. Applicants proposing temporary activities in 
navigable surface waters, such as the mooring of construction barges, 
must address measures for clearly marking the work as a hazard to 
navigation, including nighttime lighting. The addition of navigational aids 
may be beneficial to navigation. If an applicant has a U.S. Coast Guard 
permit issued pursuant to 14 U.S.C. Section 81 (1993), 33 C.F.R. Section 
62 (1993) for a regulated activity in, on or over wetlands or other surface 
waters, submittal of this permit with the application may assist the 
applicant in addressing this criterion. 

 
(b)   Cause or alleviate harmful erosion or shoaling. Applicants proposing 

activities such as channel relocation, artificial reefs, construction of jetties, 
breakwaters, groins, bulkheads and beach renourishment must address 
existing and expected erosion or shoaling in the proposed design.  Each 
permit will have a general condition which requires applicants to utilize 
appropriate erosion control practices and to correct any adverse erosion 
or shoaling resulting from the regulated activities. 

 
(c)  Significantly impact or enhance water flow. Applicants must address 

obstructions to sheet flow by assessing the need for structures which 
minimize the obstruction such as culverts or spreader swales in fill areas.  
Compliance with the water quantity criteria found in subsection 4.2.2.4 
shall be an important consideration in addressing this criterion. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

26 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.2.3.4 Fisheries, Recreation, Marine Productivity 
 
In reviewing and balancing the criterion regarding fishing or recreational values and 
marine productivity in paragraph 4.2.3(d), the District will evaluate whether the regulated 
activity in, on, or over wetlands or other surface waters will cause: 
 

(a)  Adverse effects to sport or commercial fisheries or marine productivity.  
Examples of activities which may adversely affect fisheries or marine 
productivity are the elimination or degradation of fish nursery habitat, and 
change in ambient water temperature, change in normal salinity regime, 
reduction in detrital export, change in nutrient levels or other adverse 
affects on populations of native aquatic organisms. 

 
(b)   Adverse effects or improvements to existing recreational uses of a wetland 

or other surface water. Wetlands and other surface waters may provide 
recreational uses such as boating, fishing, swimming, skiing, hunting and 
birdwatching. An example of potential adverse effects to recreational uses 
is the construction of a traversing work, such as a road crossing a 
waterway, which could impact the current use of the waterway for 
waterskiing and boating. 

 
4.2.3.5 Temporary or Permanent Nature  
 
When evaluating the other criteria in subsection 4.2.3, the District will consider the 
frequency and duration of the impacts caused by the proposed activity. Temporary 
impacts will be considered less harmful than permanent impacts of the same nature and 
extent. 
 
4.2.3.6 Historical and Archaeological Resources 
 
In reviewing and balancing the criterion regarding historical and archaeological 
resources in paragraph 4.2.3(f), the District will evaluate whether the regulated activity 
located in, on, or over wetlands or other surface waters will impact significant historical 
or archaeological resources. The District will provide copies of all conceptual, individual, 
standard and general permit applications to the Division of Historical Resources of the 
Department of State and solicit their comments regarding whether the regulated activity 
may adversely affect significant historical or archaeological resources. The applicant will 
be required to perform an archaeological survey and to develop and implement a plan 
as necessary to demarcate and protect the significant historical and archaeological 
resources, if such resources are reasonably expected to be impacted by the regulated 
activity. 
 
4.2.3.7 Current Condition and Relative Value of Functions 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

27 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

When evaluating other criteria in subsection 4.2.3, the District will consider the current 
condition and relative value of the functions performed by wetlands and other surface 
waters affected by the proposed regulated activity. Wetlands and other surface waters 
which have had their hydrology, water quality or vegetative composition permanently 
impacted due to past legal alterations or occurrences, such as infestation with exotic 
species, usually provide lower habitat value to fish and wildlife. However, if the wetland 
or other surface water is currently degraded, but is still providing some beneficial 
functions, consideration will be given to whether the regulated activity will further reduce 
or eliminate those functions. The District will also evaluate the predicted ability of the 
wetlands or other surface waters to maintain their current functions as part of the 
proposed system once it is developed. Where previous impacts to a wetland or other 
surface water are temporary in nature, consideration will be given to the inherent 
functions of these areas, relative to seasonal hydrologic changes, and expected 
vegetative regeneration and projected habitat functions if the use of the subject property 
were to remain unchanged. When evaluating impacts to mitigation sites which have not 
reached success pursuant to subsection 4.3.6, the District shall consider the functions 
that the mitigation site was intended to offset, and any additional delay or reduction in 
offsetting those functions that may be caused by impacting the mitigation site. Previous 
construction or alteration undertaken in violation of Chapter 373, F.S., or District rule, 
order or permit will not be considered as having diminished the condition and relative 
value of a wetland or other surface water. 
 
4.2.4 Water quality 
 
Pursuant to paragraph 4.1.1(c), an applicant must provide reasonable assurance that 
the regulated activity will not violate water quality standards in areas where water quality 
standards apply. 
 
Reasonable assurances regarding water quality must be provided both for the short 
term and the long term, addressing the proposed construction, alteration, operation, 
maintenance, removal and abandonment of the system. The following requirements are 
in addition to the water quality requirements found in section five of this Basis of 
Review. 
 
4.2.4.1 Short Term Water Quality Considerations 
 
The applicant must address the short term water quality impacts of a proposed system, 
including: 
 

(a) Providing turbidity barriers or similar devices for the duration of dewatering 
and other construction activities in or adjacent to wetlands or other surface 
waters. 

 
(b)     Stabilizing newly created slopes or surfaces in or adjacent to wetlands and 

other surface waters to prevent erosion and turbidity. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 163

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

28 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
(c)    Providing proper construction access for barges, boats and equipment to 

ensure that propeller dredging and rutting from vehicular traffic does not 
occur. 

 
(d)     Maintaining construction equipment to ensure that oils, greases, gasoline, 

or other pollutants are not released into wetlands or other surface waters. 
 
(e) Controlling the discharge from spoil disposal sites. 
 
(f)      Preventing any other discharge or release of pollutants during construction 

or alteration that will cause water quality standards to be violated. 
 
4.2.4.2 Long Term Water Quality Considerations 
 
The applicant must address the long term water quality impacts of a proposed system, 
including: 
 

(a)   The potential of a constructed or altered water body to violate water 
quality standards due to its depth or configuration. For example, the depth 
of water bodies must be designed to insure proper mixing so that the 
water quality standard for dissolved oxygen will not be violated in the 
lower levels of the water body, but the depth should not be so shallow that 
the bottom sediments are frequently resuspended by boat activity. Water 
bodies must be configured to prevent the creation of debris traps or 
stagnant areas which could result in violations of state water quality 
standards. 

 
(b)  Long term erosion, siltation or propeller dredging that will cause turbidity 

violations. 
 
(c)   Prevention of any discharge or release of pollutants from the system that 

will cause water quality standards to be violated. 
 
4.2.4.3 Additional Water Quality Considerations for Docking Facilities 
 
Docking facilities are potential sources of pollutants to wetlands and other surface 
waters. To provide the required reasonable assurance that water quality standards will 
not be violated, the following factors must be addressed by an applicant proposing the 
construction of a new docking facility, or the expansion of or other alteration of an 
existing docking facility that has the potential to adversely affect water quality:  
 

(a)   Hydrographic information or studies shall be required for docking facilities 
of greater than ten boat slips. Hydrographic information or studies also 
may be required for docking facilities of less than ten slips, dependent 

40.a

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

29 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

upon the site-features described in paragraph 4.2.4.3(b) below. In all 
cases, the need for a hydrographic study, and the complexity of the study, 
will be dependent upon the specific project design and the specific 
features of the project site. 

 
(b)  The purpose of the hydrographic information or studies is to document the 

flushing time (the time required to reduce the concentration of a 
conservative pollutant to ten percent of its original concentration) of the 
water at the docking facility. This information is used to determine the 
likelihood that the facility will accumulate pollutants to the extent that water 
quality violations will occur. Generally, a flushing time of less than or equal 
to four days is the maximum that is desirable for docking facilities. 
However, the evaluation of the maximum desirable flushing time also 
takes into consideration the size (number of slips) and configuration of the 
proposed docking facility; the amplitude and periodicity of the tide; the 
geometry of the subject waterbody; the circulation and flushing of the 
waterbody; the quality of the waters at the project site; the type and nature 
of the docking facility; the services provided at the docking facility; and the 
number and type of other sources of water pollution in the area.  

 
(c)   The level and type of hydrographic information or studies that will be 

required for the proposed docking facility will be determined based upon 
an analysis of site-specific characteristics. As compared to sites that flush 
in less than four days, sites where the flushing time is greater than four 
days generally will require additional, more complex levels of hydrographic 
studies or information to determine whether water quality standards can 
be expected to be violated by the facility. The degree and complexity of 
the hydrographic study will be dependent upon the types of considerations 
listed in paragraph 4.2.4.3.(b), including the potential for the facility, based 
on its design and location, to add pollutants to the receiving waters. Types 
of information that can be required include site-specific measurements of:  
waterway geometry, tidal amplitude, the periodicity of forces that drive 
water movement at the site, and water tracer studies that document 
specific circulation patterns. 

 
(d)  The applicant shall document, through hydrographic information or 

studies, that pollutants leaving the site of the docking facility will be 
adequately dispersed in the receiving water body so as to not cause 
violations of water quality standards based on circulation patterns and 
flushing characteristics of the receiving water body. 

 
(e)  In all cases, the hydrographic studies shall be designed to document the 

hydrographic characteristics of the project site and surrounding waters. All 
hydrographic studies must be based on the factors described in 

40.a

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

30 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

paragraphs (a)-(d) above. An applicant should consult with the District 
prior to conducting such a study. 

 
(f)    Fueling facilities shall be located and operated so that the potential for 

spills or discharges to surface waters and wetlands is minimized. 
Containment equipment and emergency response plans must be provided 
to ensure that the effects of spills are minimized. 

 
(g)  The disposal of domestic wastes from boat heads, particularly from 

liveaboard vessels, must be addressed to prevent improper disposal into 
wetlands or other surface waters. A liveaboard vessel shall be defined as 
a vessel docked at the facility that is inhabited by a person or persons for 
any five consecutive days or a total of ten days within a 30 day period.  

 
(h)   The disposal of solid waste, such as garbage and fish cleaning debris, 

must be addressed to prevent disposal into wetlands or other surface 
waters. 

 
(i)    Pollutant leaching characteristics of materials such as pilings and anti-

fouling paints used on the hulls of vessels must be addressed to ensure 
that any pollutants that leach from the structures and vessels will not 
cause violations of water quality standards given the flushing at the site 
and the type, number and concentration of the likely sources of pollutants. 

 
4.2.4.4 Temporary Mixing Zones 
 
A temporary mixing zone for water quality during construction or alteration may be 
requested by the applicant. The District shall review such request pursuant to Rules 62-
4.242 and 62-4.244(5), F.A.C., in accordance with the Operating Agreement 
Concerning Regulation Under Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S. adopted by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(c), F.A.C. 
 
4.2.4.5 Where Ambient Water Quality does not Meet State Water Quality 
Standards  
 
If the site of the proposed activity currently does not meet state water quality standards, 
the applicant must demonstrate compliance with the water quality standards by meeting 
the provisions in 4.2.4.1, 4.2.4.2, and 4.2.4.3, as applicable, and for the parameters 
which do not meet water quality standards, the applicant must demonstrate that the 
proposed activity will not contribute to the existing violation. If the proposed activity will 
contribute to the existing violation, mitigation may be proposed as described in 
subsection 4.3.1.4. 
 
4.2.5 Class II Waters; Waters Approved for Shellfish Harvesting 

40.a

Packet Pg. 166

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

31 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

The special value and importance of shellfish harvesting waters to Florida's economy as 
existing or potential sites of commercial and recreational shellfish harvesting and as a 
nursery area for fish and shellfish is recognized by the District. In accordance with 
paragraph 4.1.1(d), the District shall: 
 

(a)  Deny a permit for a regulated activity in Class II waters which are not 
approved for shellfish harvesting unless the applicant submits a plan or 
proposes a procedure to protect those waters and waters in the vicinity. 
The plan or procedure shall detail the measures to be taken to prevent 
significant damage to the immediate project area and the adjacent area 
and shall provide reasonable assurance that the standards for Class II 
waters will not be violated; 

 
(b)  Deny a permit for a regulated activity in any class of waters where the 

location of the system is adjacent or in close proximity to Class II waters, 
unless the applicant submits a plan or proposes a procedure which 
demonstrates that the regulated activity will not have a negative effect on 
the Class II waters and will not result in violations of water quality 
standards in the Class II waters; and 

 
(c)  Deny a permit for a regulated activity that is located directly in Class II or 

Class III waters which are classified as approved, restricted, conditionally 
approved or conditionally restricted for shellfish harvesting. This provision 
shall not apply to maintenance dredging of navigational channels, the 
construction of shoreline protection structures, the installation of 
transmission and distribution lines for carrying potable water, electricity or 
communication cables in rights-of-way previously used for such lines, for 
clam and oyster culture, and for private, single family boat docks that meet 
the following criteria for installation in such waters: 

 
1. There shall be no more than two boats moored at the dock; 
 
2.  No overboard discharges of trash, human or animal waste, or fuel 

shall occur at the dock; 
 
3.  Any non-water dependent structures, such as gazebos or fish 

cleaning stations, shall be located on the uplands; 
 
4.  Prior to the mooring of any boat at the dock, there shall be existing 

structures with toilet facilities located on the uplands; 
 
5.  Any proposed shelter shall not have enclosed sides; 
 
6.  The mooring area shall be located in waters sufficiently deep to 

prevent bottom scour by boat propellers; and 

40.a

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

32 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
7.  Any structures located over grassbeds shall be designed so as to 

allow for the maximum light penetration practicable. 
 
4.2.6 Vertical seawalls 
 

(a) The construction of vertical seawalls in estuaries or lagoons is prohibited 
unless one of the following conditions exists: 

 
1.    The proposed construction is located within a port as defined in 

Section 315.02, F.S., or Section 403.021, F.S.; 
 
2.    The proposed construction is necessary for the creation of a 

marina, the vertical seawalls are necessary to provide access to 
watercraft, or the proposed construction is necessary for public 
facilities; 

 
3.    The proposed construction is to be located within an existing 

manmade canal and the shoreline of such canal is currently 
occupied in whole or in part by vertical seawalls; or 

 
4.    The proposed construction is to be conducted by a public utility 

when such utility is acting in the performance of its obligation to 
provide service to the public. 

 
(b)   When considering an application for a permit to repair or replace an 

existing vertical seawall, the District shall generally require such seawall to 
be faced with riprap material, or to be replaced entirely with riprap material 
unless a condition specified in subparagraphs 1.-4. above exists. Nothing 
in this subsection shall be construed to hinder any activity previously 
exempt or permitted, or those activities permitted pursuant to Chapter 161, 
F.S. 

 
4.2.7 Secondary Impacts  
 
Pursuant to paragraph 4.1.1(f), an applicant must provide reasonable assurances that a 
regulated activity will not cause adverse secondary impacts to the water resource, as 
described in paragraphs (a) through (d), below. Aquatic or wetland dependent fish and 
wildlife are an integral part of the water resources which the District is authorized to 
protect under Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S. Those aquatic or wetland dependent species 
which are listed as threatened, endangered or of special concern and the Bald Eagle 
(Haliaeetus leucocephalus), which is protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act (16 U.S.C. 668-668d), are particularly in need of protection. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 168

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

33 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

A proposed system shall be reviewed under this criterion by evaluating the impacts to: 
wetland and surface water functions identified in subsection 4.2.2.3, water quality, 
upland habitat for Bald Eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus), aquatic or wetland dependent 
listed species, and historical and archaeological resources. De minimis or remotely 
related secondary impacts will not be considered. Applicants may propose measures 
such as preservation to prevent secondary impacts. Such preservation shall comply 
with the land preservation provisions of subsection 4.3.8. If such secondary impacts can 
not be prevented, the applicant may propose mitigation measures as provided for in 
subsections 4.3 through 4.3.8. This secondary impact criterion consists of the following 
four parts: 
 

(a)    An applicant shall provide reasonable assurance that the secondary 
impacts from construction, alteration, and intended or reasonably 
expected uses of a proposed system will not cause violations of water 
quality standards or adverse impacts to the functions of wetlands or other 
surface waters, as described in subsection 4.2.2.  Impacts such as boat 
traffic generated by a proposed dock, boat ramp or dry dock facility, which 
causes an increased threat of collision with manatees; impacts to wildlife 
from vehicles using proposed roads in wetlands or surface waters; 
impacts to water quality associated with the use of septic tanks or 
propeller dredging by boats and wakes from boats; and impacts 
associated with docking facilities as described in paragraphs 4.2.4.3(f) and 
(h), will be considered relative to the specific activities proposed and the 
potential for such impacts. Impacts of groundwater withdrawals upon 
wetlands and other surface waters that result from the use of wells 
permitted pursuant to Chapters 40E-2 and 40E-3, F.A.C., shall not be 
considered under rules adopted pursuant to Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S., 
since these impacts are considered in the consumptive use permit 
application process. 

 
Secondary impacts to the habitat functions of wetlands associated with 
adjacent upland activities will not be considered adverse if buffers, with a 
minimum width of 15' and an average width of 25', are provided abutting 
those wetlands that will remain under the permitted design, unless 
additional measures are needed for protection of wetlands used by Bald 
Eagles (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) for nesting or listed species for 
nesting, denning, or critically important feeding habitat. The mere fact that 
a species is listed does not imply that all of its feeding habitat is critically 
important. Buffers shall remain in an undisturbed condition, except for 
drainage features such as spreader swales and discharge structures, 
provided the construction or use of these features does not adversely 
impact wetlands. Where an applicant elects not to utilize buffers of the 
above described dimensions, buffers of different dimensions, measures 
other than buffers or information may be proposed to provide the required 
reasonable assurance. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

34 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
De minimis or remotely related secondary impacts such as changes in air 
quality due to increased vehicular traffic associated with road construction 
will not be considered unacceptable. 

 
(b)    An applicant shall provide reasonable assurance that the construction, 

alteration, and intended or reasonably expected uses of a system will not 
adversely impact the ecological value of uplands to Bald Eagles 
(Haliaeetus leucocephalus) and aquatic or wetland dependent listed 
animal species for enabling existing nesting or denning by these species, 
but not including: 

 
1.    Areas needed for foraging; or 
 
2.   Wildlife corridors, except for those limited areas of uplands 

necessary for ingress and egress to the nest or den site from the 
wetlands or other surface water; 

 
Table 4.2.7-1 identifies those aquatic or wetland dependent listed species 
that use upland habitats for nesting or denning. 
 
For those aquatic or wetland dependent listed animal species for which 
habitat management guidelines have been developed by the U.S. Fish 
and Wildlife Service (USFWS) or the Florida Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission (FWC), compliance with these guidelines will 
provide reasonable assurance that the proposed system will not adversely 
impact upland habitat functions described in paragraph (b). For those 
aquatic or wetland dependent listed animal species for which habitat 
management guidelines have not been developed or in cases where an 
applicant does not propose to use USFWS or FWC habitat management 
guidelines, the applicant may propose measures to mitigate adverse 
impacts to upland habitat functions described in paragraph (b), provided to 
aquatic or wetland dependent listed animal species. Secondary impacts to 
the functions of wetlands or uplands for nesting of Bald Eagles (Haliaeetus 
leucocephalus) will not be considered adverse if the applicant holds a 
valid permit pursuant to paragraph 68A-16.002(1)(a), F.A.C. (May 15, 
2008), or a valid authorization as described in paragraph 68A-
16.002(1)(c), F.A.C. (May 15, 2008) for the same activities proposed by 
the applicant under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., or if the applicant 
demonstrates compliance with the FWC Eagle Management Guidelines 
incorporated by reference in Rule 68A-16.002, F.A.C. (May 15, 2008). 

 
(c)    In addition to evaluating the impacts in the area of any dredging and filling 

in, on, or over wetlands or other surface waters, and as part of the 
balancing review under subsection 4.2.3, the District will consider any 

40.a

Packet Pg. 170

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

35 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

other relevant activities that are very closely linked and causally related to 
any proposed dredging or filling which will cause impacts to significant 
historical and archaeological resources. 

 
(d)   An applicant shall provide reasonable assurance that the following future 

activities will not result in water quality violations or adverse impacts to the 
functions of wetlands and other surface waters as described in subsection 
4.2.2.: 

 
1.    Additional phases or expansion of the proposed system for which 

plans have been submitted to the District or other governmental 
agencies; and  

 
2.     On-site and off-site activities regulated under Part IV, Chapter 373, 

F.S., or activities described in section 403.813(2), F.S., that are 
very closely linked and causally related to the proposed system. 

 
As part of this review, the District will also consider the impacts of the intended or 
reasonably expected uses of the future activities on water quality and wetland and other 
surface water functions. 
 
In conducting the analysis under paragraph (d)2., above, the District will consider those 
future projects or activities which would not occur but for the proposed system, including 
where the proposed system would be considered a waste of resources should the future 
project or activities not be permitted. 
 
Where practicable, proposed systems shall be designed in a fashion which does not 
necessitate future impacts to wetland and other surface water functions. If future phases 
or project expansion have the potential to cause adverse secondary impacts, applicants 
must provide sufficient conceptual design information to provide reasonable assurance 
that these impacts can be successfully eliminated or offset.  
 
System expansions and future system phases will be considered in the secondary 
impact analysis, and if the District determines that future phases of a system involve 
impacts that appear not to meet permitting criteria, the current application shall be 
denied unless the applicant can provide reasonable assurance that those future phases 
can comply with permitting criteria. One way for applicants to establish that future 
phases or system expansions do not have adverse secondary impacts is for the 
applicant to obtain a conceptual approval permit for the entire project. 
 

TABLE 4.2.7-1 
LISTED WILDLIFE SPECIES THAT ARE AQUATIC OR WETLAND DEPENDENT 

AND THAT USE UPLAND HABITATS FOR NESTING OR DENNING 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

36 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Fishes 
Species of Special Concern 
Rivulus marmoratus (mangrove rivulus; rivulus) 
 

Reptiles 
Endangered 
Chelonia mydas mydas (Atlantic green turtle) 
Crocodylus acutus (American crocodile) 
Dermochelys coriacea (leatherback turtle; leathery turtle) 
Eretmochelys imbricata imbricata (Atlantic hawksbill turtle) 
Kinosternon bauri (striped mud turtle) LISTED ONLY IN LOWER KEYS 
Lepidochelys kempi (Atlantic ridley turtle) 
 
Threatened 
Caretta caretta caretta (Atlantic loggerhead turtle) 
Thamnophis sauritus sackeni (Florida (Keys) ribbon snake) LISTED ONLY IN LOWER 
KEYS 
 
Species of special concern 
Alligator mississippiensis (American alligator) 
Graptemys barbouri (Barbour's map turtle; Barbour's sawback turtle) 
Macroclemys temminickii (alligator snapping turtle) 
Pseudemys concinna suwanniensis (Suwannee cooter) 
 

Birds 
Endangered 
Ammodramus maritimus mirabilis (Cape Sable seaside sparrow) 
Mycteria americana (wood stork) 
Rostrhamus sociabilis (snail kite) 
 
Threatened 
Charadrius alexandrinus tenuirostris (southeastern snowy plover) 
Charadrius melodus (piping plover) 
Columba leucocephalus (white-crowned pigeon) 
Grus canadensis pratensis (Florida sandhill crane) 
Picoides borealis (red-cockaded woodpecker) THIS SPECIES IS WETLAND 
DEPENDENT ONLY IN LEE, COLLIER, AND CHARLOTTE COUNTIES 
Polyborus plancus audubonii (Audubon's crested caracara) 
Sterna antillarum (least tern) 
Sterna dougallii (roseate tern) 
 
Species of special concern 
Ajaia ajaia (reseate spoonbill) 
Ammodramus maritumus juncicolus (Wakulla seaside sparrow) 
Ammodramus maritimus peninsulae (Scott's seaside sparrow) 

40.a

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

37 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Aramus guarauna (limpkin) 
Cistothorus palustais griseus (Worthington's marsh wren) 
Cistothorus palustris marianae (Marian's marsh wren) 
Egretta caerulea (little blue heron) 
Egretta rufescens (reddish egret) 
Egretta thula (snowy egret) 
Egretta tricolor (tricolored heron; Louisiana heron) 
Eudocimus albus (white ibis) 
Haematopus palliatus (American oystercatcher) 
Pandion haliaetus (osprey) LISTED ONLY IN MONROE COUNTY 
Pelecanus occidentalis (brown pelican) 
Rhynchops niger (black skimmer) 
 

Mammals 
 
Endangered 
Felis concolor coryi (Florida panther) 
Microtus pennsylvanicus dukecambelli (Duke's saltmarsh vole; Florida saltmarsh vole) 
Myotis grisescens (gray bat) 
Myotis sodalis (Indiana bat) 
Odocoileus virginianus clavium (Key deer; toy deer) 
Oryzomys argentatus (silver rice rat) 
Sylvilagus palustris hefneri (Lower Keys marsh rabbit) 
 
Threatened 
Mustela vison evergladensis (Everglades mink) 
Sciurus niger avicennia (Big Cypress fox squirrel; mangrove fox squirrel) 
Ursus americanus floridanus (Florida black bear) 
 
Species of special concern 
Orytzomys palustris sanibeli (Sanibel Island rice rat) 
Sorex longirostris eionis (Homosassa shrew) 
 
4.2.8 Cumulative Impacts  
 
Pursuant to paragraph 4.1.1(g), an applicant must provide reasonable assurances that 
a regulated activity will not cause unacceptable cumulative impacts upon wetlands and 
other surface waters within the same drainage basin as the regulated activity for which 
a permit is sought. The impact on wetlands and other surface waters shall be reviewed 
by evaluating the impacts to water quality as set forth in subsection 4.1.1(c) and by 
evaluating the impacts to functions identified in subsection 4.2.2. If an applicant 
proposes to mitigate these adverse impacts within the same drainage basin as the 
impacts, and if the mitigation fully offsets these impacts, the District will consider the 
regulated activity to have no unacceptable cumulative impacts upon wetlands and other 
surface water, and consequently the condition for issuance in section 4.1.1(g), will be 

40.a

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

38 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

satisfied.  For purposes of performing a cumulative impact analysis, drainage basins 
shall be those depicted on Figure 4.4-1.   
 
When adverse impacts to water quality or adverse impacts to the functions of wetlands 
and other surface water, as referenced in the paragraph above, are not fully offset 
within the same drainage basin as the impacts, then an applicant must provide 
reasonable assurance that the proposed system, when considered with the following 
activities, will not result in unacceptable cumulative impacts to water quality or the 
functions of wetlands and other surface waters, within the same drainage basin: 
 

(a) Projects which are existing or activities regulated under Part IV, Chapter 
373, F.S., which are under construction, or projects for which permits or 
determinations pursuant to Sections 373.421, F.S., have been sought. 

 
(b) Activities which are under review, approved, or vested pursuant to Section 

380.06, F.S., or other activities regulated under Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S., 
which may reasonably be expected to be located within wetlands or other 
surface waters, in the same drainage basin, based upon the 
comprehensive plans, adopted pursuant to Chapter 163, F.S., of the local 
governments having jurisdiction over the activities, or applicable land use 
restrictions and regulations. 

 
Those activities listed in paragraphs (a) and (b) which have similar types of adverse 
impacts to those which will be caused by the proposed system will be considered. (All 
citations in paragraphs (a) and (b) refer to provisions of Florida Statutes.) Whenever 
mitigation located within the same drainage basin fully offsets the proposed impacts to 
wetland functions as described in section 4.2.2 and to water quality, then the regulated 
activity does not result in unacceptable cumulative impacts within the same drainage 
basin.  
 
The cumulative impact evaluation is conducted using an assumption that reasonably 
expected future applications with like impacts will be sought, thus necessitating 
equitable distribution of acceptable impacts among future applications. 
 
4.2.8.1 Cumulative impacts are considered unacceptable when the proposed system, 
considered in conjunction with the past, present, and future activities as described in 
4.2.8, as set forth in subsection 4.1.1(c), would result in a violation of state water quality 
standards or significant adverse impacts to functions of wetlands or other surface 
waters, identified in subsection 4.2.2, within the same drainage basin when considering 
the basin as a whole. 
 
4.2.8.2  Applicants may propose measures such as preservation to prevent cumulative 
impacts. Such preservation shall comply with the land preservation provisions in 
subsection 4.3.8. If unacceptable cumulative impacts are expected to occur, the 

40.a

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

39 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

applicant may propose mitigation measures as provided for in sections 4.3 through 
4.3.8. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 175

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

40 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.3 Mitigation – 
 
Protection of wetlands and other surface waters is preferred to destruction and 
mitigation due to the temporal loss of ecological value and uncertainty regarding the 
ability to recreate certain functions associated with these features. Mitigation will be 
approved only after the applicant has complied with the requirements of subsection 
4.2.1 regarding practicable modifications to eliminate or reduce adverse impacts. 
However, any mitigation proposal submitted by an applicant shall be reviewed 
concurrently with the analysis of any modifications pursuant to subsection 4.2.1.  This 
section establishes criteria to be followed in evaluating mitigation proposals. 
 
Mitigation as described in sections 4.3 – 4.3.8 is required only to offset the adverse 
impacts to the functions as identified in sections 4.2 - 4.2.9. caused by regulated 
activities. In certain cases, mitigation cannot offset impacts sufficiently to yield a 
permittable project. Such cases often include activities which significantly degrade 
Outstanding Florida Waters, adversely impact habitat for listed species, or adversely 
impact those wetlands or other surface waters not likely to be successfully recreated.  
 
Applicants are encouraged to consult with District staff in pre-application conferences or 
during the application process to identify appropriate mitigation options. 
 
4.3.1 Types of Mitigation 
 
Mitigation usually consists of restoration, enhancement, creation, or preservation of 
wetlands, other surface waters or uplands. In some cases, a combination of mitigation 
types is the best approach to offset adverse impacts resulting from the regulated 
activity.  
 
4.3.1.1 In general, mitigation is best accomplished through creation, restoration, 
enhancement, or preservation of ecological communities similar to those being 
impacted. However, when the area proposed to be impacted is degraded, compared to 
its historic condition, mitigation is best accomplished through creation, restoration, 
enhancement or preservation of the ecological community which was historically 
present. Mitigation involving other ecological communities is acceptable if impacts are 
offset and the applicant demonstrates that greater improvement in ecological value will 
result. 
 
4.3.1.2 In general, mitigation is best accomplished when located on-site or in close 
proximity to the area being impacted. Off-site mitigation will only be accepted if adverse 
impacts are offset and the applicant demonstrates that: 
 

(a)  On-site mitigation opportunities are not expected to have comparable 
long-term viability due to such factors as unsuitable hydrologic conditions 
or ecologically incompatible existing adjacent land uses or future land 

40.a

Packet Pg. 176

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

41 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

uses identified in a local comprehensive plan adopted according to 
Chapter 163, F.S.; or 

(b)  Off-site mitigation would provide greater improvement in ecological value 
than on-site mitigation.  

 
One example of a project that would be expected to meet the criteria of paragraphs (a) 
or (b) above is a linear project which cannot effectively implement on-site mitigation due 
to documented right-of-way constraints. 
 
4.3.1.3  Mitigation through participation in a mitigation bank shall be in accordance with 
subsection 4.4. 
 
4.3.1.4 In instances where an applicant is unable to meet water quality standards 
because existing ambient water quality does not meet standards and the system will 
contribute to this existing condition, mitigation for water quality impacts can consist of 
water quality enhancement. In these cases, the applicant must implement mitigation 
measures that will cause net improvement of the water quality in the receiving waters 
for those parameters which do not meet standards. 
 
4.3.1.5 To offset adverse secondary impacts from regulated activities to habitat 
functions that uplands provide to Bald Eagles (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) for nesting 
and to listed species evaluated as provided in paragraph 4.2.7(b), mitigation can include 
the implementation of management plans, participation in a wildlife mitigation park 
established by the FWC, or other measures. Measures to offset adverse secondary 
impacts on wetlands and other surface waters resulting from use of a system can 
include the incorporation of culverts or bridged crossings designed to facilitate wildlife 
movement, fencing to limit access, reduced speed zones, or other measures designed 
to offset the secondary impact.  
 
4.3.1.6 Except as provided in subsection 373.414(6), F.S., mitigation for certain mining 
activities shall be in accordance with subsection 373.414(6), F.S. 
 
4.3.1.7  Mitigation or reclamation required or approved by other agencies for a specific 
project will be acceptable to the District to the extent that such mitigation or reclamation 
fulfills the requirements of sections 4.3-4.3.8 and offsets adverse impacts of the same 
project in accordance with the criteria in sections 4.2-4.2.8.2 
 
4.3.1.8 Innovative mitigation proposals which deviate from the standard practices 
described in sections 4.3-4.3.6 may be proposed by an applicant; however, to receive 
District approval they must offset the adverse impacts to the functions identified in 
sections 4.2-4.2.8.2 caused by the regulated activities. The donation of money is not 
considered to be an acceptable method of mitigation, unless cash payments are 
specified for use in a District or Department of Environmental Protection endorsed 
environmental preservation, enhancement or restoration project and the payments 

40.a

Packet Pg. 177

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

42 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

initiate a project or supplement an ongoing project. The project or portion of the project 
funded by the donation of money must offset the impacts of the proposed system. 
 
4.3.2 Mitigation Ratio Guidelines 
 a. For applications received on or after February 2, 2004, except as provided 
in Rule 62-345, F.A.C., Sections 4.3.2 - 4.3.2.4 are superseded by Chapter 62-345, 
F.A.C. 
 b. Subsections 4.3.2 - 4.3.2.4 establish ratios for the acreage of mitigation 
required compared to the acreage which is adversely impacted by regulated activities. 
Ranges of ratios are provided below for certain specific types of mitigation, including 
creation, restoration, enhancement and preservation. Mitigation ratios for wetlands 
which have a 50% or greater coverage of melaleuca (Melaleuca quinquenervia), will be 
determined pursuant to subsection 4.3.2.4. and other provisions of this section. The 
difference between the ranges of ratios provided for mitigation types is based on the 
degree of improvement in ecological value expected from each type.  Creation and 
restoration are assigned the lowest range of ratios as these activities, when successfully 
conducted, add new wetlands or other surface waters which provide the same or similar 
functions as the area being adversely impacted. The range of ratios established for 
enhancement is higher than that for creation and restoration, as the area being 
enhanced currently provides a degree of the desired functions, and this type of 
mitigation serves to increase, rather than create, those functions. Preservation differs 
from the other types of mitigation in that it does not serve to improve the existing 
ecological value of an area in the short term. However, preservation does provide 
benefits as it can ensure that the values of the preserved area are protected and 
maintained in the long term, particularly when these values are not fully protected under 
existing regulatory programs. Therefore, the range of ratios established for preservation 
is higher than those for other types of mitigation. These ratios are provided as 
guidelines for preliminary planning purposes only. The actual ratio needed to offset 
adverse impacts may be higher or lower based on a consideration of the factors listed in 
subsections 4.3.2.1 through 4.3.2.4. For example, in instances where the proposed 
system results in only a small loss of ecological value in the impacted area, such as 
cases involving impacts to areas of low ecological value or cases where the proposed 
system results in a small reduction of ecological value of the impacted area, then the 
actual mitigation ratio would normally be in the lower end of or below the range. For 
other types of mitigation, ratios will be determined based upon the reduction in quality 
and relative value of the functions of the areas adversely impacted as compared to the 
expected improvement in quality and value of the functions of the mitigation area. 
 
4.3.2.1 Creation, Restoration and Enhancement 
 
When considering creation, restoration and enhancement as mitigation, the following 
factors will be considered to determine whether the mitigation proposal will offset the 
proposed impacts and to determine the appropriate mitigation ratio: 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 178

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

43 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(a)  The reduction in quality and relative value of the function of the areas 
adversely impacted, including the factors listed in subsection 4.2.2.3, as 
compared to the proposed improvement in quality and value of the 
functions of the area to be created, restored or enhanced. 

 
(b)   Any special designation or classification of the affected area. 
(c)   The presence and abundance of nuisance and exotic plants within the 

area to be adversely impacted. 
 
(d)  The hydrologic condition of the area to be adversely impacted and the 

degree to which it has been altered relative to the historic condition. 
 
(e)  The length of time expected to elapse before the functions of the area 

adversely impacted will be offset. 
 
(f)    The likelihood of mitigation success. 
 
(g)   For mine reclamation activities subject to Chapter 211, F.S., Part II, 

whether the ratio is consistent with the mine reclamation plan submitted 
pursuant to Chapter 378, F.S. 

 
4.3.2.1.1 Creation and restoration have the potential to result in similar benefits, if they 
can be successfully accomplished. Therefore, the ratio ranges given below for these 
two types of mitigation are the same. Restoration is usually preferred over creation as it 
often has a greater chance of success due to soil characteristic, hydrologic regime, 
landscape position or other factors that favor re-establishment of wetland or other 
surface water communities. Restoration ratios will generally be at the lower end of the 
ratio ranges within the guidelines below. The following ratio guidelines will be used to 
estimate the acreage of wetland restoration or creation required: 
 

(a)   Mangrove swamps, cypress swamps, and hardwood swamps - 2:1 to 5:1 
(acres created or restored: acres impacted). 

 
(b) Saltwater marshes and freshwater marshes - 1.5:1 to 4:1 (acres created 

or restored: acres impacted. 
 
4.3.2.1.2  The ratio guidelines for use in the estimation of the acreage of wetland 
enhancement will range from 4:1 to 20:1 (acres enhanced: acres impacted). 
 
4.3.2.2 Preservation 
 

(a)  Preservation of important ecosystems can provide an improved level of 
protection over current regulatory programs. The District will consider as 
mitigation the preservation, by donation or conservation easement or other 
comparable land use restriction, of wetlands, other surface waters, or 

40.a

Packet Pg. 179

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

44 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

uplands. Conservation easements or restrictions must be consistent with 
the requirements of subsection 4.3.8. In many cases it is not expected that 
preservation alone will be sufficient to offset adverse impacts. 
Preservation will most frequently be approved in combination with other 
mitigation measures. 

 
(b)  When considering preservation as mitigation, the following factors will be 

considered to determine whether the preservation parcel would offset the 
proposed impacts and to determine the appropriate mitigation ratio. 

 
1.    The reduction in quality and relative value of the functions of the 

areas adversely impacted, including those factors listed in 
subsection 4.2.2.3, as compared to the quality and value of the 
functions of the area to be preserved and the additional protection 
provided to these functions by the proposed preservation. Factors 
used in determining this additional level of protection include the 
extent and likelihood that the land to be preserved would be 
adversely impacted if it were not preserved, considering the 
protection provided by existing regulations and land use 
restrictions.  

 
2.  Any special designation or classification of the affected area. 
 
3.    The presence and abundance of nuisance and exotic plants within 

the area to be adversely impacted. 
 
4.   The ecological and hydrological relationship between wetlands, 

other surface waters, and uplands to be preserved. 
 
5.    The extent to which proposed management activities on the area to 

be preserved promote natural ecological conditions, such as natural 
fire patterns. 

 
6.    The proximity of the area to be preserved to areas of national, 

state, or regional ecological significance, such as national or state 
parks, Outstanding Florida Waters, and other regionally significant 
ecological resources or habitats, such as lands acquired or to be 
acquired through governmental or non-profit land acquisition 
programs for environmental conservation, and whether the areas to 
be preserved include corridors between these habitats. 

 
7.   The extent to which the preserved area provides habitat for fish and 

wildlife, especially listed species. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

45 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

8.     Any special designation or classification of the area to be 
preserved. 

 
9.     The extent of invasion of nuisance and exotic species within the 

area to be preserved. 
 

(c)  Wetland and other surface water preservation ratios. Since wetlands and 
other surface waters are, to a large extent, protected by existing 
regulations, the ratio guideline for preservation of wetlands and other 
surface waters is substantially higher than for restoration and creation. 
The ratio guideline for wetland and other surface water preservation will 
be 10:1 to 60:1, (acreage wetlands and other surface waters preserved to 
acreage impacted). 

 
(d)  Upland preservation ratios. Many wildlife species that are aquatic or 

wetland dependent spend critical portions of their life cycles in uplands.  
Uplands function as the contributing watershed to wetlands and are 
necessary to maintain the ecological value of those wetlands. Because of 
these values, the preservation of certain uplands may be appropriate for 
full or partial mitigation of wetland impacts, and impacts to uplands that 
are used by listed aquatic or wetland dependent species as described in 
subsection 4.2.7(b). The ratio guideline for upland preservation will be 3:1 
to 20:1 (acreage of uplands preserved to acreage impacted). 

 
4.3.2.3 To the extent that the area to be preserved offsets the adverse impact and 
otherwise meets the requirements of this section, wetland, other surface water, or 
upland habitat which is proposed to be preserved in order to prevent secondary or 
cumulative impacts can be considered as part of the mitigation plan to offset other 
adverse impacts of the system. 
 
4.3.2.4 
 

(a)  When District staff evaluate mitigation proposals for melaleuca-dominated 
wetlands, the following factors, in addition to those in subsections 4.3.2.1 
and 4.3.2.2, will be considered to determine whether the mitigation will 
offset the proposed impacts and to determine the appropriate mitigation 
ratio: 

 
1.   Location and proximity of the property to native habitat including the 

ecological condition of the adjacent lands; and 
 
2.   Degree of melaleuca infestation; 

 
(b)   Mitigation ratio guidelines for wetlands which have a 50% or greater 

coverage of melaleuca shall be as follows: 

40.a

Packet Pg. 181

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

46 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
1. Creation/Restoration 0.25:1 to 0.75:1 
 
2. Enhancement 0.7:1 to 3.0:1 
 
3. Wetland Preservation 1.7:1 to 9.0:1 
 
4.  Upland Preservation 0.5:1 to 3.0:1 

 
(c)  Melaleuca within the wetland to be impacted shall be mapped in units not 

larger than 1/2 acre which differentiate coverages of 50%-75% and 76%-
100%.  The landowner may elect to measure coverage in more detail. The 
District shall allow the use of larger mapping units when the landowner 
can demonstrate that: 

 
1.   1/2 acre mapping units will impose an economic hardship due to 

the large size of the wetland impact areas; and 
 
2.   Mapping in larger units will not result in additional acreage 

qualifying for the ratios in this subsection.  The coverage of 
melaleuca shall be defined as the absolute percentage of the area 
in question that lies under the crown of a melaleuca tree with a one 
inch or greater trunk diameter at breast height. The crown of each 
melaleuca tree shall be considered a solid shape without regard for 
holes or openings among the leaves and branches. Any valid 
vegetative sampling method shall be acceptable for estimating 
melaleuca coverage, including visual observation, use of random 
sample points, a grid of points, or line or belt transects. (See 
Bonham, C.D. 1989, Measurements for Terrestrial Vegetation for 
guidance in estimating coverage.) Aerial photography may be used 
to complement on-the-ground estimates of melaleuca coverage for 
large tracts. 

 
(d)  Mitigation ratios for wetlands which have less than a 50% coverage of 

melaleuca shall be determined pursuant to the guidelines set forth in 
sections 4.3.2.1.1, 4.3.2.1.2 and 4.3.2.2.  

 
4.3.3 Mitigation Proposals 
 
4.3.3.1  Applicants shall provide reasonable assurance that proposed mitigation will: 
 

(a) Offset adverse impacts due to regulated activities; and  
 
(b)  Achieve mitigation success by providing viable and sustainable 

ecological and hydrological functions. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 182

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

47 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
4.3.3.2 Applicants shall submit detailed plans describing proposed construction, 
establishment, and management of mitigation areas. These plans shall include the 
following information, as appropriate for the type of mitigation proposed: 
 

(a) A soils map of the mitigation area and other soils information pertinent to 
the specific mitigation actions proposed. 

 
(b) A topographic map of the mitigation area and adjacent hydrologic 

contributing and receiving areas. 
 
(c) A hydrologic features map of the mitigation area and adjacent hydrologic 

contributing and receiving areas. 
 
(d) A description of current hydrologic conditions affecting the mitigation area. 
 
(e) A map of vegetation communities in and around the mitigation area. 
 
(f) Construction drawings detailing proposed topographic alterations and all 

structural components associated with proposed activities. 
 
(g) Proposed construction activities, including a detailed schedule for 

implementation. 
 
(h) A vegetation planting scheme if planting is proposed, and schedule for 

implementation. 
 
(i) Sources of plants and soils used in wetland creation. 
 
(j) Measures to be implemented during and after construction to avoid 

adverse impacts related to proposed activities. 
 
(k) A management plan comprising all aspects of operation and maintenance, 

including water management practices, vegetation establishment, exotic 
and nuisance species control, fire management, and control of access. 

 
(l) A proposed monitoring plan to demonstrate mitigation success. 
 
(m) A description of the activities proposed to control exotic and nuisance 

species should these become established in the mitigation area. The 
mitigation proposal must include reasonable measures to assure that 
these species do not invade the mitigation area in such numbers as to 
affect the likelihood of success of the project. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 183

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

48 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(n) A description of anticipated site conditions in and around the mitigation 
area after the mitigation plan is successfully implemented. 

 
(o) A comparison of current fish and wildlife habitat to expected habitat after 

the mitigation plan is successfully implemented. 
 
(p) For mitigation plans with projected implementation costs in excess of 

$25,000.00, an itemized estimate of the cost of implementing mitigation as 
set forth in subsection 4.3.7.7. 

 
4.3.4 Monitoring Requirements for Mitigation Areas 
 
Applicants shall monitor the progress of mitigation areas until success can be 
demonstrated as provided in subsection 4.3.6. Monitoring parameters, methods, 
schedules, and reporting requirements will be specified in permit conditions. 
 
4.3.5 Protection of Mitigation Areas 
 
Applicants shall propose and be responsible for implementing methods that assure that 
mitigation areas will not be adversely impacted by incidental encroachment or 
secondary activities which might compromise mitigation success. 
 
4.3.6 Mitigation Success 
 
Due to the wide range of types of projects which may be proposed for mitigation, 
specific success criteria will be determined on a case-by-case basis. Mitigation success 
will be measured in terms of whether the objectives of the mitigation can be realized. 
The success criteria to be included in the permit conditions will specify the minimum 
requirements necessary to attain a determination of success. The mitigation shall be 
deemed successful by the District when all applicable water quality standards are met, 
the mitigation area has achieved viable and sustainable ecological and hydrological 
functions and the specific success criteria contained in the permit are met. If success is 
not achieved within the timeframe specified within the permit, remedial measures shall 
be required. Monitoring and maintenance requirements shall remain in effect until 
success is achieved. 
 
4.3.7 Financial Responsibility for Mitigation 
 
As part of compliance with paragraph 40E-4.301(1)(j), F.A.C., where an applicant 
proposes mitigation, the applicant shall provide proof of financial responsibility to: 
 

(a)   Conduct the mitigation activities; 
 
(b)  Conduct any necessary management of the mitigation site; 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 184

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

49 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(c)   Conduct monitoring of the mitigation; and 
 
(d)   Conduct any necessary corrective action indicated by the monitoring. 

 
4.3.7.1 Applicants Not Subject to Financial Responsibility Requirements 
 
The following applicants shall not be subject to the financial responsibility requirements 
in subsections 4.3.7-4.3.7.9: 
 

(a)  Applicants whose mitigation is deemed successful pursuant to subsection 
4.3.6 of this Basis of Review prior to undertaking the construction activities 
authorized under the permit issued pursuant to Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S. 

 
(b)  Applicants whose mitigation is estimated to cost less than $25,000.00. 
 
(c)  Federal, state, county and municipal governments, state political 

subdivisions, investor-owned utilities regulated by the Public Service 
Commission, and rural electric cooperatives. 

 
(d)  Mitigation banks which comply with the financial responsibility provisions 

of section 4.4.10 of this Basis of Review. 
 
4.3.7.2 Amount of financial responsibility 
 
The amount of financial responsibility provided by the applicant shall be in an amount 
equal to 110 percent of the cost estimate determined pursuant to subsection 4.3.7.8 
below, for each phase of the mitigation plan submitted under the requirements of 
sections 4.3 - 4.3.8. 

 
 
 
 
 
4.3.7.3 Documentation 
 
The permit applicant shall provide draft documentation of the required financial 
responsibility mechanism described below, and shall submit to the District the executed 
or finalized documentation within the time frames specified in the permit. 
 
4.3.7.4 General Terms for Financial Responsibility Mechanisms  
 
In addition to the specific provisions regarding financial responsibility mechanisms set 
forth in subsection 4.3.7.6 below, the following, as they relate to the specific mechanism 
proposed, shall be complied with: 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 185

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

50 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(a)  The form and content of all financial responsibility mechanisms shall be 
approved by the District. 

 
(b)  The mechanisms shall name the District as sole beneficiary or shall be 

payable solely to the District. However, any local pollution control program 
acting pursuant to Section 403.182, F.S., may be a co-beneficiary of the 
financial assurance mechanism.  The original financial responsibility 
mechanism shall be retained by the District. 

 
(c)   The financial responsibility mechanisms shall be established with a state 

or national bank, savings and loan association, or other financial institution 
licensed in this state. In the case of letters of credit, the letter of credit 
must be issued by an entity which has authority to issue letters of credit 
and whose letter of credit operations are regulated and examined by a 
federal or state agency. In the case of a surety bond, the surety bond must 
be issued by a surety company registered with the state of Florida. 

 
(d)  The financial responsibility mechanisms shall be effective on or prior to the 

date that the activity authorized by the permit commences and shall 
continue to be effective through the date of notification of final release by 
the District in accordance with subsection 4.3.7.7.2 below of this Basis of 
Review. 

 
(e)    A co-beneficiary as provided in subsection (b) shall provide written notice 

to the District prior to withdrawing or transferring any portion of the funds 
therein. 

 
(f)    The financial responsibility mechanisms shall provide that it cannot be 

revoked, terminated or cancelled without first providing an alternative 
financial responsibility mechanism which meets the requirements of 
subsections 4.3.7-4.3.7.9. Within 90 days of receipt by the permittee of 
actual or constructive notice of revocation, termination or cancellation of a 
financial responsibility mechanism or other actual or constructive notice of 
cancellation, the permittee shall provide an alternate financial 
responsibility mechanism which meets the requirements of subsections 
4.3.7 - 4.3.7.9. 

 
4.3.7.5 If the permittee fails to comply with the terms and conditions of the permit, 
subsection 4.3.7 or fails to complete the mitigation and monitoring within the timeframes 
specified in the permit conditions or any extension thereof, such failure shall be deemed 
a violation of chapter 40E-4, F.A.C., and the permit issued thereunder. In addition to any 
other remedies for such violation as the District may have, the District, upon notice as 
provided in the mechanism or if none, upon reasonable notice, may draw upon the 
financial mechanism. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 186

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

51 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.3.7.6 Financial Responsibility Mechanisms 
 
Financial responsibility for the mitigation, monitoring and corrective action for the project 
may be established by any of the following methods, at the discretion of the applicant: 

 
(a) Performance bond (Form No. 1105), December 2011, incorporated by reference 

in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C.; 
(b) Irrevocable letter of credit (Form No. 1106), December 2011, incorporated by 

reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a); 
 (c) Trust fund agreement;  

(d)  Deposit of cash or cash equivalent into an escrow account; 
(e) An audited annual financial statement submitted by a Certified Public Accountant 

representing that the applicant has a tangible net worth equal to or in excess of 
the cost of the mitigation plan.  For purposes of this subparagraph, “tangible net 
worth” means total assets, not including intangibles such as goodwill and right to 
patents or royalties, minus total liabilities, computed in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;. 

(f)  A demonstration that the applicant meets the financial test and corporate 
guarantee requirements set forth in 40 C.F.R. Section 264.143(f) incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(f), F.A.C.  Where the referenced test is 
used to provide evidence of financial resources necessary to conduct 
 mitigation activities the term "closure and post-closure cost estimates" as 
set forth therein, shall be construed to mean "mitigation cost estimates."  

 (g) Guarantee bond; 
 (h) Insurance certificate; or  

(i)   A demonstration that the applicant meets the self-bonding provisions set forth at 
 30 C.F.R. Section 800.23 incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-
4.091(1)(i), F.A.C.  Where the referenced provisions are used to provide 
evidence of financial responsibility to conduct mitigation activities, the term 
"surface coal mining and reclamation operations," as set forth therein, shall be 
construed to mean "mitigation activities." 

 
4.3.7.7 Cost Estimates 
 
For the purposes of determining the amount of financial responsibility that is required by 
this subsection, the applicant shall submit a detailed written estimate, in current dollars, 
of the total cost of conducting the mitigation, including any maintenance and monitoring 
activities and the applicant shall comply with the following: 
 

(a)   The cost estimate for conducting the mitigation and monitoring shall 
include all associated costs for each phase thereof, including earthmoving, 
planting, structure installation, maintaining and operating any structures, 
controlling nuisance or exotic species, fire management, consultant fees, 
monitoring activities and reports. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 187

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

52 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(b)  The applicant shall submit the estimates, together with verifiable 
documentation, to the District along with the draft of the financial 
responsibility mechanism. 
 

(c)   The costs shall be estimated based on a third party performing the work 
and supplying materials at the fair market value of the services and 
materials. The source of any cost estimates shall be indicated. 

 
4.3.7.7.1 Partial Releases 
 
The permittee may request the District to release portions of the financial responsibility 
mechanism as phases of the mitigation plan, such as earth moving or other construction 
or activities for which cost estimates were submitted in accordance with subsection 
4.3.7.7 are successfully completed. The request shall be in writing and include 
documentation that the phase or phases have been completed and have been paid for 
or will be paid for upon release of the applicable portion of the financial responsibility 
mechanism. The District shall authorize the release of the portion requested upon 
verification that the construction or activities have been completed in accordance with 
the mitigation plans. 
 
4.3.7.7.2 Final Release 
 
Within thirty (30) days of the District determining that the mitigation is successful in 
accordance with subsection 4.3.6, the District shall so notify the permittee and shall 
authorize the return and release of all funds held or give written authorization to the 
appropriate third party for the cancellation or termination of the financial responsibility 
mechanism. 
 
4.3.7.8 Financial Responsibility Conditions 
 
For applicants subject to the financial responsibility of subsections 4.3.7 - 4.3.7.9, the 
District will include the following conditions on the permit. 

 
(a)  A permittee must notify the District by certified mail of the commencement 

of a voluntary or involuntary proceeding under Title XI (Bankruptcy), U.S. 
Code naming the permittee as debtor within 10 business days after the 
commencement of the proceeding. 
 

(b)  A permittee who fulfills the requirements of subsections 4.3.7 - 4.3.7.9 by 
obtaining a letter of credit, performance bond or other form of surety 
providing the same level of financial responsibility will be deemed to be 
without the required financial assurance in the event of bankruptcy, 
insolvency or suspension or revocation of the license or charter of the 
issuing institution. The permittee must reestablish in accordance with 

40.a

Packet Pg. 188

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

53 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

subsections 4.3.7 - 4.3.7.9 a financial responsibility mechanism within 60 
days after such event. 
 

(c)  When transferring a permit in accordance with Rule 40E-4.351, F.A.C., the 
new owner or person with legal control shall submit documentation to 
satisfy the financial responsibility requirements of subsections 4.3.7 - 
4.3.7.9.  The prior owner or person with legal control of the project shall 
continue the financial responsibility mechanism until the District has 
approved the permit transfer and substitute financial responsibility 
mechanism. 

 
4.3.7.9 Financial Responsibility Mechanisms For Multiple Projects 
 
A applicant may use a mechanism specified in subsection 4.3.7.6 above to meet the 
financial responsibility requirement for multiple projects. The financial responsibility 
mechanism must include a list of projects and the amount of funds assured for each 
project. The mechanism must be no less than the sum of the funds that would be 
necessary in accordance with subsection 4.3.7.2 above, as if separate mechanisms had 
been established for each project. As additional permits are issued which require 
mitigation, the amount of the financial responsibility mechanism may be increased in 
accordance with subsection 4.3.7.2, above and the project added to the list.  
 
4.3.8 Real Property Conveyances 
 

(a)  All conservation easements and restrictive covenants pursuant to Section 
704.06, F.S., shall be granted in perpetuity without encumbrances, unless 
such encumbrances do not have the potential to adversely affect the 
ecological viability of the mitigation. All liens against the area preserved 
pursuant to Section 704.06, F.S., shall be released, subordinated to, or 
joined with the conservation easement or restrictive covenant. 
Conservation easements and restrictive covenants shall be consistent with 
Section 704.06, F.S.; and shall contain restrictions that ensure the 
ecological viability of the site. 

 
(b) Plat restrictions proposed to meet the requirements of Section 704.06, 

F.S., and Section 4.3.2.2 must contain the language contained in Section 
704.06(1)(a)-(h), F.S.  In order to provide reasonable assurance of the 
preservation of the protected area in accordance with the permit in 
perpetuity, plat language shall provide the District a third-party right to 
 enforce the restrictions of Section 704.06, F.S., and shall further 
provide that the Section 704.06, F.S., plat restrictions cannot be altered, 
released or revoked without the prior written consent of the District. 

 
(c) The following conservation easement forms are incorporated by reference 

in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C.:  

40.a

Packet Pg. 189

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

54 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
 Form No. 1190, Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard), December 

2011; 
 
Form No. 1191, Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard Passive 
Recreational), December 2011; 
 
Form No. 1192, Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard Riparian), 
December 2011; 
 
Form No. 1194, Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Standard), 
December 2011;  

 
Form No. 1195, Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Passive 
Recreational), December 2011; 

 
Form No. 1196, Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Riparian), 
December 2011; 

 
Form No. 1197, Restrictive Covenant (Standard), December 2011; 

 
Form No. 1318, Deed of Conservation Easement (Local Governments), 
December 2011. 

 
(d)  All real property conveyances shall be in fee simple and by statutory 

warranty deed, special warranty deed, or other deed, without 
encumbrances that adversely affect the integrity of the preservation 
objectives. The District shall also accept a quit claim deed if necessary to 
aid in clearing minor title defects or otherwise resolving boundary 
questions. 

 
4.4 Mitigation Banking - 
 
4.4.1 Intent 
 
4.4.1.1 The Environmental Reorganization Act of 1993 directed the District to adopt 
rules governing the creation and use of mitigation banks to offset adverse impacts 
caused by activities regulated under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S. This section, in 
addition to other rules promulgated under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., is intended to 
meet this requirement. 
 
4.4.1.2 The District recognizes that, in certain instances, adverse impacts of activities 
regulated under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., can be offset through participation in a 
Mitigation Bank. This rule provides criteria for this mitigation alternative to complement 

40.a

Packet Pg. 190

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

55 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

existing mitigation criteria and requirements. This section does not supersede any other 
criteria and requirements in rules promulgated under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S. 
 
4.4.1.3 The District intends that Mitigation Banks be used to minimize mitigation 
uncertainty associated with traditional mitigation practices, provide greater assurance of 
mitigation success, and optimize opportunities to restore any degraded habitats which 
may be incorporated into the bank. It is anticipated that the consolidation of multiple 
mitigation projects into larger contiguous areas will provide greater assurance that the 
mitigation will yield long-term, sustainable, regional ecological benefits. Mitigation Banks 
should emphasize restoration and enhancement of degraded ecosystems and the 
preservation of uplands and wetlands as intact ecosystems rather than alteration of 
landscapes to create wetlands. The establishment and use of mitigation banks in or 
adjacent to areas of national, state, or regional ecological significance is encouraged, 
provided the area in which the mitigation bank is proposed to be located is determined 
appropriate for mitigation banking and the bank meets all applicable permit criteria. 
 
4.4.1.4  Nothing in this section shall affect the mitigation requirements set forth in any 
mitigation bank agreement or any permit issued pursuant to Chapter 84-79, Laws of 
Florida, or Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., prior to the effective date of this section. If a 
permittee wishes to substantially modify a mitigation bank previously established by 
agreement or permit, the permittee must comply with this section. This section does not 
prohibit an applicant from proposing project-specific pre-construction mitigation, or off-
site mitigation, without establishing a Mitigation Bank pursuant to this section. 
 
4.4.2 Use of a Mitigation Bank 
 
4.4.2.1 Use of a Mitigation Bank is appropriate, desirable, and a permittable mitigation 
option when the Mitigation Bank will offset the adverse impacts of the project; and  
 

(a) Oon-site mitigation opportunities are not expected to have comparable 
long-term viability due to such factors as unsuitable hydrologic conditions 
or ecologically incompatible existing adjacent land uses or future land 
uses identified in a local comprehensive plan adopted according to 
Chapter 163, F.S.; or  

 
(b) Use of the Mitigation Bank would provide greater improvement in 

ecological value than on-site mitigation. 
 
4.4.2.2 In some cases, a combination of on-site mitigation and participation in a 
Mitigation Bank will be appropriate to offset adverse impacts of a project. 
 
4.4.3 Criteria for Establishing a Mitigation Bank 
 
The following criteria shall be met to establish a Mitigation Bank: 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 191

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

56 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.4.3.1 The banker shall provide reasonable assurance that the proposed Mitigation 
Bank will: 
 

(a) Improve ecological conditions of the regional watershed; 
 
(b) Provide viable and sustainable ecological and hydrological functions for 

the proposed mitigation service area; 
 
(c) Be effectively managed in perpetuity; 
 
(d) Not destroy areas with high ecological value; 
 
(e) Achieve mitigation success; and 
 
(f) Be adjacent to lands which will not adversely affect the long-term viability 

of the Mitigation Bank due to unsuitable land uses or conditions. 
 
4.4.3.1.2 The banker shall also provide reasonable assurance that any surface water 
management system constructed within the mitigation bank area will meet the 
conditions of issuance of Chapters 40E-4, 40E-40, 40E-41 or 40E-400, F.A.C. as 
applicable. 
 
4.4.3.2   A Mitigation Bank may be implemented in phases if each phase independently 
meets the requirements of subsections 4.4.3.1 and 4.4.3.1.2 above. 
 
4.4.3.3 The banker shall: 
 

(a) Have sufficient legal or equitable interest in the property to meet the 
requirements of section 4.4.9; and 

 
(b) Meet the financial responsibility requirements of section 4.4.10. 

 
4.4.4 Permit Applications for an Individual or Conceptual Approval Environmental 
Resource Permits for a Mitigation Bank 
 
Any person or entity proposing to establish a Mitigation Bank must apply for an 
Environmental Resource Permit. An application for an Individual or Conceptual 
Approval Environmental Resource Permit for a mitigation bank shall constitute an 
application for any related activity which would require a permit authorized under 
Chapters 40E-4, 40E-40, 40E-41 and 40E-400, F.A.C.  Therefore, a separate 
application for a permit to construct a surface water management system proposed as 
part of the mitigation bank is not required. Environmental Resource Permit applications 
to establish or conceptually approve a Mitigation Bank shall be processed according to 
Chapter 120, F.S. To provide the District with reasonable assurances that the proposed 
Mitigation Bank will meet the criteria in this section, each permit application submitted to 

40.a

Packet Pg. 192

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

57 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

the District shall include the information needed to review any permit required under 
Chapters 40E-4, 40E-40, 40E-41 and 40E-400, F.A.C. and the information specified 
below as appropriate for the project: 
 
4.4.4.1 A description of the location of the proposed Mitigation Bank which shall include: 
 

(a) A map at regional scale showing the project area in relation to the regional 
watershed and proposed mitigation service area; 

 
(b) A vicinity map showing the project area in relation to adjacent lands and 

offsite areas of ecologic or hydrologic significance which could affect the 
long term viability or ecological value of the bank; 

 
(c) An aerial photograph identifying boundaries of the project area; 
 
(d) A highway map showing points of access to the Mitigation Bank for site 

inspection; and 
 
(e) A legal description of the proposed Mitigation Bank. 

 
4.4.4.2 A description of the ecological significance of the proposed Mitigation Bank to 
the regional watershed in which it is located. 
 
4.4.4.3 A description and assessment of current site conditions which shall include: 
 

(a) A soils map of the project area; 
 
(b)  A topographic map of the project area and adjacent hydrologic 

contributing and receiving areas; 
 
(c)  A hydrologic features map of the project area and adjacent hydrologic 

contributing and receiving areas; 
 
(d)  Current hydrologic conditions in the project area; 
 
(e)  A vegetation map of the project area; 
 
(f)  Ecological benefits currently provided to the regional watershed by the 

project area; 
 
(g)  Adjacent lands, including existing land uses and conditions, projected land 

uses according to comprehensive plans adopted pursuant to Chapter 163, 
F.S., by local governments having jurisdiction, and any special 
designations or classifications associated with adjacent lands or waters; 
and 

40.a

Packet Pg. 193

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

58 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
(h)  A disclosure statement of any material fact which may effect the 

contemplated use of the property. 
 

4.4.4.4 A mitigation plan describing the actions proposed to establish, construct, 
operate, manage and maintain the Mitigation Bank which shall include: 
 

(a)   Construction-level drawings detailing proposed topographic 
alterations and all structural components associated with proposed 
activities; 

 
(b)   Proposed construction activities, including a detailed schedule for 

implementation; 
 
(c)   The proposed vegetation planting scheme and detailed schedule for 

implementation; 
 
(d)   Measures to be implemented during and after construction to avoid 

adverse impacts related to proposed activities; 
 
(e)   A detailed long term management plan comprising all aspects of 

operation and maintenance, including water management practices, 
vegetation establishment, exotic and nuisance species control, fire 
management, and control of access; and  

 
(f) A proposed monitoring plan to demonstrate mitigation success. 

 
4.4.4.5 An assessment of improvement or changes in ecological value anticipated as a 
result of proposed mitigation actions which shall include: 
 

(a)  A description of anticipated site conditions in the Mitigation Bank after the 
mitigation plan is successfully implemented; 

 
(b)  A comparison of current fish and wildlife habitat to expected habitat after 

the mitigation plan is successfully implemented; and 
 
(c)  A description of the expected ecological benefits to the regional 

watershed. 
 
4.4.4.6 Evidence of sufficient legal or equitable interest in the property which is to 
become the Mitigation Bank to meet the requirements of section 4.4.9. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 194

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

59 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.4.4.7 Draft documentation of financial responsibility meeting the requirements of 
section 4.4.10, and utilization of the following Mitigation Bank Financial Assurance 
forms, which are incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C.,: 

 
Form No. 1019, December 2011, Mitigation Bank Performance Bond to 
Demonstrate Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance; 
 
Form No. 1020, December 2011, Mitigation Bank Irrevocable Letter of Credit 
to Demonstrate Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance; 
 
Form No. 1021, December 2011, Mitigation Bank Standby Trust Fund 
Agreement to Demonstrate Construction/Implementation Financial 
Assurance; 
 
Form No. 1022, December 2011, Mitigation Bank Trust Fund Agreement to 
Demonstrate Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance; 
 
Form No. 1023, December 2011, Mitigation Bank Trust Fund Agreement to 
Demonstrate Perpetual Management Financial Assurance; 
 
Form No. 1024, December 2011, Mitigation Bank Standby Trust Fund 
Agreement to Demonstrate Perpetual Management Financial Assurance. 

 
4.4.4.8  A person or entity who wishes to obtain an estimation of the legal and financial 
requirements necessary for a mitigation bank, information necessary for evaluation of 
an application for an individual permit for a mitigation bank, and potential credits to be 
awarded pursuant to a mitigation bank individual permit may apply for a mitigation bank 
conceptual approval. An application for a mitigation bank conceptual approval must 
contain the information listed in 4.4.4.1-8 above. 
 
4.4.5 Establishment of Mitigation Credits 
 
4.4.5.1 Based upon the information submitted by the applicant, and an assessment of 
the proposed Mitigation Bank pursuant to the criteria in this section, the District will 
assign a number of Mitigation Credits to the proposed Mitigation Bank, or phases 
thereof. 
 
4.4.5.2 A Mitigation Credit is a unit of measure which represents the increase in 
ecological value resulting from restoration, enhancement, preservation, or creation 
activities. For purposes of establishing a standard unit of measure, one Mitigation Credit 
is equivalent to the ecological value gained by the successful creation of one acre of 
wetland. Mitigation Credits assigned for enhancement, restoration or preservation of 
wetlands or uplands will be based on the extent of improvement in ecological value 
resulting from these activities relative to that obtained by successfully creating one acre 

40.a

Packet Pg. 195

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

60 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

of wetland. In determining the degree of improvement in ecological value, the following 
factors will be considered: 
 

(a)  The extent to which target hydrologic regimes can be achieved and 
maintained. 

 
(b)  The extent to which management activities promote natural ecological 

conditions, including natural fire patterns. 
 
(c) The proximity to areas of national, state, or regional ecological 

significance, such as national or state parks, Outstanding National 
Resource Waters, Outstanding Florida Waters, and other regionally 
significant ecological resources or habitats, such as lands acquired or to 
be acquired through governmental or non-profit land acquisition programs 
for environmental conservation, and the establishment of corridors to 
those resources or habitats. 

 
(d) The quality and quantity of wetland or upland restoration, enhancement, 

preservation, or creation. 
 
(e)  The ecological and hydrological relationship between wetlands and 

uplands in the Mitigation Bank. 
 
(f)   The extent to which the Mitigation Bank provides habitat for fish and 

wildlife, especially habitat for species listed as threatened, endangered or 
of special concern, or provides habitats which are unique for that 
mitigation service area. 

 
(g)  The extent to which the lands that are to be preserved are already 

protected by existing state, local or federal regulations or land use 
restrictions. 

 
(h)  The extent that lands to be preserved would be adversely affected if they 

were not preserved. 
 
(i)  Any special designation or classification of the affected waters and lands. 

 
4.4.5.3 No credit shall be available for freshwater wetland creation until the 
success of the created wetlands is demonstrated. 
 
4.4.5.4 Some Mitigation Credits may be withdrawn prior to meeting all of the 
performance criteria specified in the individual permit. The number of credits and 
schedule for release shall be determined based upon the performance criteria for the 
Mitigation Bank, and the success criteria for each mitigation activity. A Mitigation Bank 
will be credited with its maximum number of Mitigation Credits only after meeting the 

40.a

Packet Pg. 196

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

61 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

mitigation success criteria specified in the permit. However, no credits shall be released 
prior to meeting the requirements of Section 4.4.9. 
 
4.4.5.5 Mitigation Credits available for withdrawal may be transferred, sold or 
used subject to the provisions of this section. 
 
4.4.5.6 If at any time the banker is not in material compliance with the terms of the 
individual permit, no Mitigation Credits may be withdrawn. Mitigation Credits shall again 
be available for withdrawal if the banker comes back into compliance. 
 
4.4.5.7  The individual permit shall contain a ledger listing the number and type of 
Mitigation Credits in the Mitigation Bank. The ledger will provide the maximum number 
and type of Mitigation Credits which would be available for withdrawal when the 
Mitigation Bank meets all of the performance criteria in the permit. 
 
4.4.5.8  Mitigation Credits may be sold whole or in part at the banker's discretion. 
Mitigation Credits may be sold or resold until they are used to offset adverse impacts. 
 
4.4.5.9  The District shall maintain a ledger of the Mitigation Credits available in 
each Mitigation Bank. Mitigation Credits shall be withdrawn as a non-substantial 
modification of the individual permit. To withdraw Mitigation Credits, the permit 
applicant must document that Mitigation Credits have been reserved, sold or 
transferred to the permit applicant, and that the Mitigation Credits have been withdrawn 
from the Mitigation Bank. If the agency permitting the impact determines that use of the 
Mitigation Credits proposed by the applicant is appropriate to offset the adverse 
impacts, it shall notify the District. Upon receipt of this notice, the District shall 
determine if a sufficient number and type of Mitigation Credits are available, withdraw 
the Mitigation Credits, and notify the agency permitting the impact and the banker in 
writing of the withdrawal of the Mitigation Credits and the remaining balance of 
Mitigation Credits. 

 
4.4.5.10  When the Department is the banker, the Department shall maintain its own 
ledger. The Department shall annually submit a report of the Mitigation Credits sold, 
transferred, or used from its Mitigation Bank to the District. 
 
4.4.6 Contribution of Lands 
 
A permit applicant may contribute land to a Mitigation Bank if: 
 

(a)  The adverse impacts to be offset by the land donation are within the 
mitigation service area of the Mitigation Bank, except as provided in 
Section 4.4.8.4; 

 
(b)  The land will offset adverse impacts of the proposed project; 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 197

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

62 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(c)  The land is adjacent to or will become a District approved Mitigation Bank; 
 
(d)  The land will improve or enhance the ecological value of a District 

approved Mitigation Bank; 
 
(e)  The land will be encumbered pursuant to the requirements of section 

4.4.9; and  
 
(f)  The grantee of the conservation easement or fee simple interest agrees to 

accept such conveyance. 
 
4.4.7 Contribution of Funds 
 
Funds may be contributed to a Mitigation Bank by purchasing Mitigation Credits from 
the banker. 
 
4.4.8 Mitigation Service Area 
 
4.4.8.1 A Mitigation Service Area will be established for each Mitigation Bank in the 
individual permit. Except as provided herein, Mitigation Credits may only be withdrawn 
to offset adverse impacts in the Mitigation Service Area. The extent of the Mitigation 
Service Area will depend upon whether adverse impacts within the Mitigation Service 
Area can be adequately offset by the Mitigation Bank. 
 
4.4.8.2 A Mitigation Service Area may be larger than the regional watershed if adverse 
impacts to wetlands outside the regional watershed could be adequately offset by the 
Mitigation Bank because of local ecological or hydrological conditions. A Mitigation 
Service Area may be smaller than a regional watershed, such as in an aquatic preserve, 
Outstanding Florida Water, or Area of Critical State Concern, if adverse impacts 
throughout the regional watershed could not be offset by the Mitigation Bank because of 
local ecological or hydrological conditions. 
 
4.4.8.3 Mitigation Service Areas may overlap and multiple Mitigation Service Areas may 
be approved for a regional watershed. 
 
4.4.8.4 In addition to projects located wholly within the Mitigation Service Area of a 
Mitigation Bank, the following projects are eligible to use a Mitigation Bank if the 
requirements in section 4.4.2 are met: 
 

(a) Projects with adverse impacts partially located within the Mitigation 
Service Area. 

 
(b)  Linear projects, such as roadways, transmission lines, distribution lines, 

pipelines, or railways. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 198

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

63 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(c)  Projects with total adverse impacts of less than one-half acre in size. 
 
4.4.8.5  When Mitigation Credits are applied to offset adverse impacts within the 
regional watershed, the mitigation credit requirement shall be the same as that specified 
for mitigation on the project site. 
 
4.4.8.6  When Mitigation Credits are applied to offset adverse impacts outside the 
regional watershed, the mitigation credit requirement may be higher than that specified 
for mitigation on the project site, if necessary to adequately offset the adverse impacts 
of the project. 
 
4.4.9   Land Use Restrictions on Mitigation Banks 
 
4.4.9.1 Before Mitigation Credits may be used from a Mitigation Bank or any phase of a 
Mitigation Bank, the banker shall either (1) cause a fee interest to be conveyed to the 
District, or (2) cause a conservation easement to be conveyed to both the Department 
of Environmental Protection and the District. The grantor may convey a conservation 
easement to additional grantees provided that such conveyance is consistent with the 
preservation requirements of the permit. Mitigation Banks on Federally owned land shall 
be encumbered in perpetuity by conservation easements or other mechanisms ensuring 
preservation in accordance with the individual permit. 
 
4.4.9.2 All conservation easements shall be granted in perpetuity without 
encumbrances, unless such encumbrances do not adversely affect the ecological 
viability of the Mitigation Bank. All conservation easements shall be of a form and 
content sufficient to ensure preservation of the Mitigation Bank according to the permit, 
and shall, at a minimum, meet the requirements and restrictions of Section 704.06, F.S., 
except as provided in the individual permit, and meet the requirements of subsection 
4.4.9.9. 
 
4.4.9.3 All real property conveyances shall be in fee simple and by statutory warranty 
deed, special warranty deed, or other deed, without encumbrances that adversely affect 
the District's title to the Mitigation Bank property or preservation of the Mitigation Bank 
according to the permit. The District shall accept a quit claim deed if necessary to aid in 
clearing minor title defects or otherwise resolve a boundary question in the Mitigation 
Bank. 
 
4.4.9.4  The grantor of the property or conservation easement shall provide the 
following unless the District determines such items are not necessary to ensure 
preservation of the Mitigation Bank according to the permit: 
 

(a)  A survey of the property or the area within the conservation easement. 
The survey must be certified by a land surveyor registered in the State of 
Florida as meeting the requirements of the District, and the minimum 

40.a

Packet Pg. 199

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

64 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

technical standards set forth by the Florida Board of Professional Land 
Surveyors in Chapter 21 HH-6, F.A.C., pursuant to Section 472.027, F.S.  

 
(b)  A certified appraisal of the market value of the property or interest to be 

conveyed to determine the appropriate amount of title insurance. 
 
(c)  Assurance of the marketability of the interest in real property being 

acquired in the form of a marketable title commitment and owner's title 
policy (ALTA Form B) in an amount at least equal to the fair market value, 
as established in subsection 4.4.9.4(b), of the real property. The coverage, 
form and exceptions of the title insurance policy shall ensure that the 
Mitigation Bank will be preserved according to the individual permit.  

 
(d)  If a fee simple interest is being conveyed, a Phase I environmental audit 

identifying any environmental problems which may affect the liability of the 
District and any additional audits as are necessary to disclose the 
presence of any substance or condition that could subject the District to 
liability. 

 
4.4.9.5 The grantor shall pay the documentary revenue stamp tax and all other taxes or 
costs associated with the conveyance, including the cost of recording the deed or 
easement and any other recordable instruments required by the District, unless 
prohibited or exempt by law, as a condition of the receipt of the conveyance. 
 
4.4.9.6 All real estate taxes and assessments which are or which may become a lien 
against the property shall be satisfied of record by the grantor before or at closing. If 
required by Section 196.295, F.S., the grantor shall place funds in escrow with the 
county tax collector. 
 
4.4.9.7 The grantor shall remove all abandoned personal property and solid waste from 
the property that reduces the proposed ecological value of the property, will adversely 
affect the construction, implementation or management of the bank, or poses a liability 
risk to the District, as a condition of receipt of the conveyance. 
 
4.4.9.8 The grantor shall provide in the conservation easement that the banker and the 
District shall have access to the property to perform all acts necessary to ensure 
compliance with the individual permit and any permits issued under this Part. 
 
4.4.9.9 The banker shall record the conservation easement or property deed within 30 
days of issuance of the individual permit, or as otherwise required in the individual 
permit. The banker shall submit to the District a certified copy of the recorded 
conservation easement or property deed within 30 days of recording. 
 
4.4.10 Financial Responsibility 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 200

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

65 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.4.10.1 To provide reasonable assurances that the proposed Mitigation Bank will meet 
the requirements of this section and the associated permit conditions, non-
governmental bankers shall provide proof of financial responsibility for: (1) the 
construction and implementation phase of the bank, and (2) the long term management 
of the bank, as required in this section. Governmental entities shall provide proof of 
financial responsibility pursuant to Section 4.4.10.8. The amount of financial 
responsibility provided in the mechanisms required in this section shall be based on the 
cost estimates determined pursuant to Section 4.4.10.6. 
 
4.4.10.2 Financial Responsibility Documentation. 
 
The applicant shall provide draft documentation of the required financial responsibility 
mechanisms described below with the permit application, and shall submit to the District 
the executed or finalized documentation within the time frames specified in the permit. 
The provisions of this section shall also apply for any modifications to the individual 
permit. 

 
4.4.10.3 General Terms for Financial Responsibility Mechanisms 
 
In addition to the specific provisions regarding financial responsibility mechanisms for 
construction and implementation in subsection 4.4.10.4 and long term management in 
subsection 4.4.10.5, the following terms shall be complied with: 
 

(a)  The financial mechanisms shall name the District as sole beneficiary or 
shall be payable to the District. If the financial responsibility mechanism is 
of a type which is retained by the beneficiary according to industry 
standards, it shall be retained by the District.  

 
(b)  The financial institution issuing or maintaining the financial responsibility 

mechanism must have the legal authority to conduct such operations and 
must be regulated and examined by a Federal agency or the State of 
Florida. If insurance is provided to the financial institution by a Federal 
agency, the amount of insurance shall not be less than the amount of 
financial responsibility required by this section. Surety or guarantee bonds 
must be issued by a surety company registered with the State of Florida.  

 
(c)  No person shall withdraw or transfer any portion of the monies provided 

for financial responsibility without first obtaining prior written approval from 
the District, which shall be granted provided that such withdrawal or 
transfer does not reduce the amount of financial responsibility below the 
cost requirements in Sections 4.4.10.4(c) and 4.4.10.5(b), as applicable. 

 
(d)  The financial responsibility mechanisms shall not expire or terminate prior 

to completion of the applicable permit conditions. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 201

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

66 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(e)  The financial responsibility mechanisms shall not be terminated or 
cancelled by the banker. Within 90 days of receipt of a notice of 
cancellation of a financial responsibility mechanism or other actual or 
constructive notice of cancellation, the banker shall provide an alternate 
financial responsibility mechanism which meets the requirements of this 
section. 

 
(f)  If the Mitigation Bank has failed to comply with the terms and conditions of 

the permit, the District upon reasonable notice may draw upon the 
financial mechanism. 

 
4.4.10.4 Financial Responsibility for Construction and Implementation 
 

(a)  No financial responsibility shall be required where the construction and 
implementation of the Mitigation Bank, or a phase thereof, is completed 
and successful prior to the withdrawal of any credits. 

 
(b)  Financial responsibility for the construction and implementation of each 

phase of the Mitigation Bank may be established by guarantee bonds, 
performance bonds, insurance certificates, irrevocable letters of credit, 
trust fund agreements, or securities. If bonds or an irrevocable letter of 
credit are used as the financial mechanism, a standby trust fund shall be 
established, in a form meeting standard industry practices, in which all 
payments under the bonds or letter of credit shall be directly deposited.  

 
(c)  The amount of financial responsibility established shall equal the cost of 

construction and implementation of each phase of the Mitigation Bank 
which is being implemented, pursuant to Section 4.4.10.6. When a current 
phase has been completely constructed, implemented and is trending 
towards success according to the terms of the permit, the respective 
amount of financial responsibility shall be released. 

 
(d)  The financial responsibility mechanism shall become effective at least 60 

days prior to initiation of construction of the next phase of the Mitigation 
Bank, or as otherwise required by the individual permit prior to initiation of 
implementation and construction of the subject phase. 

 
4.4.10.5 Financial Responsibility for the Long Term Management 
 

(a) A banker shall establish a trust fund agreement to provide financial 
responsibility for the long term management of the Mitigation Bank, or 
phase thereof. Trust fund agreements shall be submitted in a format which 
meets standard industry practices. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 202

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

67 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(b)  The amount of financial responsibility shall equal the cost of long term 
management, pursuant to Section 4.4.10.6, for all previously constructed 
phases and the current phase for which credits have been approved for 
withdrawal. 

 
(c)  The trust fund agreement shall be effective and fully funded at least 60 

days prior to the withdrawal of credits from the Mitigation Bank, or phase 
thereof, or as otherwise provided in the individual permit prior to the 
withdrawal of credits. 

 
 
4.4.10.6 Cost Estimates 
 

(a)  For the purposes of determining the amount of financial responsibility that 
is required in this section, the banker shall submit a detailed written 
estimate, in current dollars, of the total cost of construction and 
implementation and long term management of the Mitigation Bank. 

 
(b)  The cost estimate for construction and implementation shall include all 

costs associated with completing construction and implementation of the 
Mitigation Bank, or phase thereof, including earthmoving, planting, 
structure installation, consultant fees, monitoring activities and reports. 

 
(c)  The cost estimate for the long term management of the Mitigation Bank 

shall be based on the costs of maintaining and operating any structures, 
controlling nuisance or exotic species, fire management, consultant fees, 
monitoring activities and reports, and any other costs associated with long 
term management. The amount of financial responsibility shall equal the 
cost of long term management for all previously constructed phases and 
the current phase for which the withdrawal of credits is imminent. 

 
(d)  The banker shall submit the estimates, together with verifiable 

documentation, to the District along with the proof of financial 
responsibility. 

 
(e)  The costs shall be estimated based on a third party performing the work at 

the fair market value of services. The source of any cost estimates shall 
be indicated. 

 
4.4.10.7 Cost Adjustments 
 

(a)  The banker shall, every two years, adjust the amount of financial 
responsibility provided for construction, implementation, and long term 
management. Every two years the banker shall submit to the District a 
cost adjustment statement accompanied by supporting documentation. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 203

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

68 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Construction, implementation, and long term management costs shall be 
listed separately. The District shall review the cost adjustment statement 
and supporting documentation to determine if it reflects all construction, 
implementation, and long term management costs. The District shall 
approve the cost adjustment statement if all such costs are reflected. 

 
(b)   At each cost adjustment, the banker shall revise the construction 

and implementation cost estimate for inflation and changes in the costs to 
complete the current phase of the Mitigation Bank.  

 
(c)   At each cost adjustment, the banker shall revise the long term 

management cost estimate for inflation and changes in the costs to carry 
out the long term management conditions of the permit. 

 
(d)   Revised cost estimates shall be used as the basis for modifying the 

financial mechanism. If the value of the financial mechanism is less than 
the total amount of the current construction and implementation and long 
term management cost estimates, the banker shall, upon District approval 
of the cost adjustment statement, increase the value of the financial 
mechanism to reflect the new estimate within 60 days. If the value of the 
funding mechanism is greater than the total amount of the current cost 
estimate, the banker may reduce the value of the funding mechanism to 
reflect the new estimate upon receiving District approval of the cost 
adjustment statement. 

 
(e)   The District shall require adjustment of the amount of financial 

responsibility provided for construction, implementation or long term 
management at times other than the cost adjustment period when the 
costs associated with compliance with the permit conditions exceed the 
current amount of financial responsibility and such financial assurances 
are deemed necessary to ensure compliance with the permit conditions. 

 
4.4.10.8 Financial Responsibility for Governmental, Non-Department, Mitigation 
Banks 
 

(a)  Governmental entities other than the Department shall demonstrate that 
they can meet the financial responsibility requirements for construction 
and implementation in Section 4.4.10.4 by any of the mechanisms in 
Section 4.4.10.4 above, or by other financial mechanisms which meet the 
requirements of this section. 

 
(b)  Governmental entities other than the Department shall establish a trust 

fund for the long term management of the Mitigation Bank in accordance 
with Section 4.4.10.5 above. The trust fund agreement for long term 
management may be funded as Mitigation Credits are withdrawn, provided 

40.a

Packet Pg. 204

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

69 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

that the trust fund agreement is fully funded when all Mitigation Credits are 
withdrawn. Governmental entities shall comply with the cost adjustment 
provisions in Section 4.4.10.7. 

 
4.4.11 Individual or Conceptual Approval Environmental Resource Permit for a 
Mitigation Bank 
 
If the Mitigation Bank proposal meets the criteria in this section, the District shall issue 
either an individual permit or a Conceptual Approval to the banker. 
 
4.4.11.1 The individual permit authorizes the implementation and operation of the 
Mitigation Bank and sets forth the rights and responsibilities of the banker for the 
implementation, management, maintenance and operation of the Mitigation Bank. The 
individual permit shall include the following: 
 

(a)  A description of the Mitigation Service Area. 
 

(b)  The maximum number of Mitigation Credits available for use when the 
Mitigation Bank, or phase thereof, is deemed successful, the type of 
Mitigation Credits awarded, and the number and schedule of Mitigation 
Credits available for use prior to success. 

 
(c)  The success criteria by which the Mitigation Bank will be evaluated. 

 
(d)  The financial responsibility mechanism(s) which must be employed by the 

banker including the procedure for drawing on the financial mechanisms 
by the District, and provisions for adjustment of the financial responsibility 
mechanism. 

 
(e)  Requirements for the execution and recording of the conservation 

easement or conveyance of the fee interest as provided in section 4.4.9. 
 

(f)  A ledger listing Mitigation Credits available in the Mitigation Bank. 
 

(g)  A schedule for implementation of the Mitigation Bank, and any phases 
therein. 

 
(h)  The long term management requirements for the Mitigation Bank. 

 
(i)  The conditions required pursuant to Chapters 40E-4, 40E-40, 40E-41 or 

40E-400, F.A.C., as applicable, for construction and operation of any 
surface water management system proposed within the Mitigation Bank. 

 
4.4.11.2  An individual permit issued in accordance with 4.4.11 shall automatically 
expire five years from the date of issuance if the banker has not recorded a 

40.a

Packet Pg. 205

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

70 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

conservation easement or conveyed fee simple interest, as appropriate, over the real 
property within the Mitigation Bank, or phase thereof, in accordance with the individual 
permit, or, when no property interest is required to be recorded, the individual permit 
shall automatically expire if no construction has been commenced pursuant thereto. 
Except as provided above, an individual permit shall be perpetual unless revoked or 
modified. 

 
4.4.11.3  A Mitigation Bank Conceptual Approval estimates the legal and financial 
requirements necessary for the Mitigation Bank, information necessary for evaluation of 
the application for an individual permit for the mitigation bank, and potential Mitigation 
Credits to be awarded pursuant to the individual permit. The Mitigation Bank Conceptual 
Approval does not authorize the use or withdrawal of Mitigation Credits, or any 
construction within the Mitigation Bank. The level of detail provided in the Mitigation 
Bank Conceptual Approval will depend on the level of detail submitted with the 
application. A Mitigation Bank Conceptual Approval shall be valid for a term of five years 
from the date of issuance. 
 
4.4.12 Surrender, Transfer, or Modification of an Individual or Conceptual 
Approval Environmental Resource Permits for a Mitigation Bank 
 
4.4.12.1  A banker may apply to surrender an individual permit, or permitted phase 
thereof, by submitting a written request to the District. The written request must identify 
which phase of the Mitigation Bank will be surrendered, indicate the extent of mitigation 
work performed in that phase, and describe the conservation property interest 
encumbering that phase. The District shall authorize release from an individual permit 
when no credits have been sold and relinquishment of the phase would not compromise 
the ecological value of the remaining portions of the Mitigation Bank.  
 
4.4.12.2  If a property interest has been conveyed as provided in Section 4.4.9 for an 
individual permit which is surrendered as provided in Section 4.4.12.1 above, the 
District shall convey the property interest back to the grantor of that interest. 
 
4.4.12.3   If a surface water management system has been constructed or altered within 
the Mitigation Bank, the banker shall obtain any permits required pursuant to Chapters 
40E-4, 40E-40, 40E-41 and 40E-400, F. A. C., to abandon the surface water 
management system. 
 
4.4.12.4  To transfer an individual permit, the banker shall meet the requirements of 
Rule 40E-1.6107, F.A.C., and the entity to which the permit will be transferred must 
provide reasonable assurances that it can meet the requirements of sections 4.4.9 and 
4.4.10. 
 
4.4.12.5  An Individual Environmental Resource Permit for a Mitigation Bank can be 
issued as a modification to a Mitigation Bank Conceptual Approval. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 206

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

71 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.4.13 Department of Environmental Protection Mitigation Banks 
 
The Department may construct, operate, manage, and maintain a Mitigation Bank 
pursuant to this section after obtaining an individual permit from the District. 
 
4.4.13.1 The Department may apply to establish a Mitigation Bank by submitting a 
Mitigation Bank plan which meets the applicable permitting criteria of this section, in one 
of the following formats: 
 

(a)  A Mitigation Bank plan identifying one or more parcels of lands to be 
acquired for mitigation site(s). 

 
(b)  A Mitigation Bank plan identifying one or more parcels of land in which the 

Department has a legal or equitable interest.  
 
4.4.13.2 The Department shall maintain the land within the Regional Mitigation Bank 
pursuant to the terms of the individual permit. Any change in the land use shall require a 
modification of the Mitigation Bank Permit. 
 
4.4.13.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, the Department may sell, 
transfer, or use Mitigation Credits prior to acquiring the proposed mitigation site as set 
forth in its individual permit. 
 
 
 
4.4.13.4 Department Financial Responsibility 
 
A portion of the funds contributed to a Department Mitigation Bank from the sale of 
credits shall be dedicated for the construction and implementation of the Mitigation 
Bank, and a portion of the funds shall be dedicated for the long-term management of 
the bank as set forth in the individual permit. Funds derived from the sale of Mitigation 
Credits which are not necessary for the construction, implementation, and long-term 
management of a Department Regional Mitigation Bank shall be dedicated for the 
initiation of other Department Mitigation Banks, or expansion of other Department land 
acquisition or restoration projects which improve regional ecological conditions. 
 
4.4.13.5 Procedures for Establishment of Mitigation Banks 
 
Mitigation Banks established by the Department shall be permitted pursuant to the 
procedures encompassed in the Operating Agreement Concerning Regulation Under 
Part IV, Chapter 373, F.S. adopted by reference in Rule 40E-4.091, F.A.C.  

40.a

Packet Pg. 207

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

72 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 

 
DELETED 

40.a

Packet Pg. 208

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

73 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.5 Formal Determination of Landward Extent of Wetlands and other Surface 
Waters - 
 
Pursuant to subsection 373.421(2), F.S., the Governing Board has established a 
procedure by which a real property owner, an entity that has the power of eminent 
domain, or any person who has a legal or equitable interest in real property may petition 
the District for a formal determination for that property. A formal wetland determination 
means the District will determine the locations on the property of the landward extent 
(boundaries) of the wetlands and other surface waters defined by Chapter 62-340, 
F.A.C., as ratified in Section 373.4211, F.S., and incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(g), F.A.C.  
 
4.5.1 Procedure 
 
To petition for a formal determination, the petitioner must submit to the District the 
following:  
 

(a) One copy of completed Form No. 0972, Petition for a Formal Wetland and 
Surface Water Determination, April 2012, incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C., including one copy of all items required by 
the form; and 

   
(b) The appropriate non-refundable formal determination fee pursuant to section 

40E-1.607, F.A.C. 
 
Within 30 days of receipt of a petition for a formal determination, the District shall notify 
the petitioner of any missing or insufficient information in the petition documentation 
submitted which may be necessary to complete review of the petition.  
 
The District shall complete the determination and shall issue a notice of intended 
agency action within 60 days after the petition is deemed complete. The District shall 
publish the notice of intended agency action on the petition in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the county or counties where the property is located. 
 
Sections 120.57 and 120.569, F.S., apply to formal determinations made pursuant to 
this section.  Any person whose substantial interests will be affected by the District's 
proposed action on the petition may request an administrative hearing on the proposed 
action pursuant to section 40E-1.511, F.A.C. If no request for an administrative hearing 
is filed, the Executive Director will then take final action on the petition for the formal 
determination.  
 
The Executive Director will only issue a formal determination if the petitioner has 
satisfied all the requirements of section 4.5. A person requesting a formal determination 
may withdraw the petition without prejudice at any point before final agency action. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 209

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

74 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

4.5.2 Types of Formal Determinations 
 
A petitioner can request a formal determination consisting of a certified survey, an 
approximate delineation, or combinations thereof, as described below. 
 

(a)  The survey of the extent of wetlands and other surface waters shall be 
certified pursuant to chapter 472, F.S., to meet the minimum technical 
standards in chapter 61G17-6, F.A.C. A petitioner seeking a certified 
surveyed delineation shall have a land surveyor registered in the State of 
Florida survey the verified boundaries of wetlands and other surface 
waters, and shall have the surveyor or surveyor's representative 
accompany the District representative on the delineation verification 
described in subsection 4.5.3. The certified survey shall also contain a 
legal description of, and acreage contained within, the boundaries of the 
property for which the determination is sought. The boundaries of 
wetlands and other surface waters shall be witnessed to the property 
boundaries, and shall be capable of being mathematically reproduced 
from the survey. The petitioner shall submit one copy of the survey, along 
with one copy of the survey depicted on aerial photographs, to the District 
to complete the petition. 

 
(b)  An approximate delineation shall consist of a boundary produced by using 

global positioning system (GPS), a boundary drawn on rectified aerial 
photographs, a geo-reference image produced from a boundary drawn on 
a non-rectified aerial photograph, or any combination thereof. 

 
1.  A range of variability shall be determined for all approximate 

delineations by comparing a number of specific boundary points 
indicated on the aerial photograph, or located by GPS, to field 
located boundary points. The District shall determine the number 
and location of comparison sites using the total linear feet of 
delineated boundary such that the total number of sites reflects at 
least one site for every 1000 feet of delineated boundary. No fewer 
than three boundary point comparisons shall be performed for each 
approximate delineation. For GPS approximate delineations, the 
petitioner shall conduct a specific purpose survey, as defined in 
chapter 61G17-6, F.A.C., to show the relationship of field located 
boundary points to the GPS located boundary points. The range of 
variability shall be the greatest deviation measured at the 
comparison boundary points. An approximate delineation method 
cannot be used if the range of variability is equal to or greater than 
plus or minus 25 feet. 

 
2.  An aerial photograph shall serve as the basis for an approximate 

delineation only when the aerial photograph accurately depicts the 

40.a

Packet Pg. 210

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

75 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

boundaries of the wetlands and other surface waters by a clear 
expression of vegetative or physical signatures as verified by 
groundtruthing. If a submitted aerial photograph does not provide 
an accurate depiction, then the landward extent of wetlands and 
other surface waters shall be delineated by flagging the boundary, 
and the formal determination shall be produced using GPS or a 
certified survey.  

 
3.  Following any verification and adjustment as required in subsection 

4.5.3, the petitioner shall submit one copy of the following to 
complete the petition: a hand drawn delineation on a rectified aerial 
photograph; the geo-referenced image of the delineation and aerial 
photograph with the delineation; or the GPS depiction of the 
delineation on an aerial photograph. 

 
4.  When a subsequent permit application includes regulated activities 

within 200 feet of the landward extent of the range of variability of 
an approximate delineation at a given location, the applicant shall 
establish in the field the exact boundary of the wetlands and other 
surface waters at that location. 

 
4.5.3 Locating the Surface Waters and Wetlands Boundary Line 
 
If the property is 10 acres or greater in size, the petitioner or petitioner's agent shall 
initially delineate the boundaries of wetlands and other surface waters by either flagging 
the boundary for a certified survey or GPS, or estimating the extent of wetlands and 
other surface waters on aerial photographs, prior to the District's inspection of the site. A 
District representative will then verify the location of the boundary line and indicate to 
the petitioner any necessary adjustments in the initial delineation needed to reflect an 
accurate boundary. For properties less than 10 acres in size, the petitioner is not 
required to approximate the delineation. 
 
4.5.4 Duration 
 
The formal determination shall be binding for five years provided physical conditions on 
the property do not change so as to alter the boundaries of wetlands and other surface 
waters during that period.  
 
4.5.5 Formal Determinations for Properties with an Existing Formal Determination 
 
Within sixty days prior to the expiration of a formal determination, the property owner, 
an entity that has the power of eminent domain, or any other person who has a legal or 
equitable interest in the property may petition for a new formal determination for the 
same parcel of property and such determination shall be issued, approving the same 
extent of surface waters and wetlands in the previous formal determination, as long as 

40.a

Packet Pg. 211

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

76 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

physical conditions on the property have not changed, other than changes which have 
been authorized by a permit pursuant to this part, so as to alter the boundaries of 
surface waters or wetlands and the methodology for determining the extent of surface 
waters and wetlands ratified by Section 373.421, F.S., has not been amended since the 
previous formal determination.  
 
4.5.6 Nonbinding Determinations 
 
The District may issue informal nonbinding pre-application determinations or otherwise 
initiate nonbinding determinations on its own initiative.  
  

40.a

Packet Pg. 212

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

77 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

PART III – STORMWATER QUANTITY/FLOOD CONTROL 
 

6.0 WATER QUANTITY CRITERIA 
 
3.1 6.1 General  
 
This document refers, in common engineering language, to flood and drought frequency 
impacts interchangeably with rainfall frequency. The Applicant is cautioned however 
that water resource impacts are of interest in the permit process, and that Aadditional 
calculations may be required to identify other combinations of site conditions and rainfall 
frequencies which might result in impacts of the specified frequency. Examples include 
designs affected by spring tides, fluctuating tides and fluctuating receiving water stages. 
 
3.2 6.2 Discharge Rate  
 
Off-site discharge rate is limited to rates not causing adverse impacts to existing off-site 
properties, and: 
 

(a)   Historic discharge rates; or 
 

(b)   Rates determined in previous Agency District permit actions; or 
 
(c)  Rates specified in District criteria (see Appendix A 2 to this Volume). 

 
3.3 6.3 Design Storm 
 
Unless otherwise specified by previous Agency District permits or District criteria, a 
storm event of 3 day duration and 25 year return frequency shall be used in computing 
off-site discharge rates.  Applicants are advised that local drainage districts or local 
governments may require more stringent design storm criteria. An applicant who 
demonstrates feels its project is subject to unusual site specific conditions may, as a 
part of the permit application process, request an alternate discharge rate. 
 
3.3.1  Methodologies 

 
An acceptable peak discharge analysis typically consists of generating pre-development 
and post-development runoff hydrographs, routing the post-development hydrograph 
through a detention basin, and sizing an overflow structure to control post-development 
discharges at or below pre-development rates.  Acceptable design techniques also 
include the use of grassed waterways, and any other storage capability that the 
particular system may have. 
 
Peak discharge computations shall consider the duration, frequency, and intensity of 
rainfall, the antecedent moisture conditions, upper soil zone and surface storage, time 
of concentration, tailwater conditions, changes in land use or land cover, and any other 

40.a

Packet Pg. 213

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

78 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

changes in topographic and hydrologic characteristics.  Large systems shall be divided 
into sub-basins according to artificial or natural drainage divides to allow for more 
accurate hydrologic simulations.  Examples of accepted methodologies for computing 
runoff are: 

 
(a) Soil Conservation Service Method [see U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil 
Conservation Service “National Engineering Handbook, Section 4, Hydrology,” TR-
55 ("Urban Hydrology for Small Watershed") or TR-20 User’s Manuals]; 
 
(b) Santa Barbara Urban Hydrograph Method; 
 
(c) U.S. Army Corps of Engineers HEC-HMS Computer Programs; 
 
(d) Storm Water Management Model (SWMM) 5 or higher; 
 
(e) Interconnected Channel and Pond Routing Model (ICPR); or 
 
(f) PONDS. 
 

Other hydrograph and routing methods may be proposed and will be approved by the 
Agency if the applicant provides reasonable assurance that the alternative method has 
comparable accuracy and reliability as the above methods. 

 
Peak discharge calculations must make proper use of the SCS Peak Rate Factor or K’ 
Factor.  The Peak Rate Factor reflects the effect of watershed storage on the hydrograph 
shape and directly and significantly impacts the peak discharge value.  As such, K’ must 
be based on the true watershed storage of runoff, and not on the slope of the landscape 
which is more accurately accounted for in the time of concentration.  However, the 
average slope of natural watersheds is highly interrelated with the surface storage 
potential.  Land development will generally result in a reduction of natural storage.  As a 
result, the K’ value should either increase or remain constant, but never decrease.  In most 
cases, post-development conditions will include detention storage areas; this storage 
should be accounted for by routing the hydrograph based on a defined stage-storage-
discharge relationship and should therefore not be considered in determining K’.    
However, in some cases where surface storage is maintained, K’ may be reduced to same 
value used in the pre-development condition. 
 
3.3.2  Aggregate Discharge 

 
Where multiple off-site discharges are designed to occur, if the combined discharges meet 
all other requirements of Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., and discharge to the same receiving 
waterbody, the Agency will allow the total post-development peak discharge not to exceed 
the pre-development peak discharge for the combined discharges rather than for each 
individual discharge. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 214

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

79 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

3.3.3  Upper Soil Zone Storage and Surface Storage 
 
In most instances, the upper soil zone storage and surface storage capacities will have 
an effect on the pre-development and post-development peak discharges and shall be 
considered in these computations.  Any generally accepted and well-documented 
method may be used to develop the upper soil zone storage and surface storage 
values. 
 

(a) The soil zone storage at the beginning of a storm shall be estimated by 
using reasonable and appropriate parameters consistent with generally 
accepted engineering and scientific principles to reflect drainage practices, 
average wet season water table elevation, the antecedent moisture 
condition (generally AMC II) and any underlying soil characteristics that 
would limit or prevent percolation of storm water into the entire soil column.  
The soil storage used in the computation shall not exceed the difference 
between the maximum soil water capacity and the field capacity (for 
example, gravitational water) for the soil columns above any impervious 
layer or seasonal groundwater table. Refer to Section 5.7.4.2 for additional 
soil storage criteria. 

 
(b) Surface storage, including that available in wetlands and low-lying areas, 

shall be considered as depression storage.  Depression storage shall be 
analyzed for its effect on peak discharge and the time of concentration.  
Depression storage can also be considered in post-development storage 
routing which requires development of stage-storage relationships. If 
depression storage is considered, then both pre-development and post-
development storage routing must be considered. 

 
3.4 6.4 Flood Protection of Building Floors  
 
Building floors shall be at or above the 100 year flood elevations, as determined from 
the most appropriate information, including Federal Flood Insurance Rate Maps. Both 
tidal flooding and the 100 year, 3 day storm event shall be considered in determining 
elevations. 
 
Lower floor elevations will be considered for agricultural buildings which are non-
residential and are not routinely accessed by the public. For example, agricultural 
structures such as barns or equipment sheds would normally qualify for a lower finished 
floor elevation. Applicants are cautioned that potential water quality impacts caused by 
flooding of contents housed in a structure will be considered in allowing a reduced 
finished floor elevation. 
 
3.5 6.5 Flood Protection of Roads and Parking Lots 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 215

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

80 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Many local governments have criteria for the protection of roads and parking lots from 
flooding. 
 

(a) In cases where criteria are not specified by the local government with 
jurisdiction, the following design criteria for drainage and flood protection 
shall be used:  

 
frequency - 5 years 
duration -  1 day (road centerlines) 

1 hour (parking lots served by exfiltration systems) 
 

(b)  If the local government with jurisdiction has set flood protection criteria for 
roads and parking lots within commercial projects, the Agency District will 
not require the applicant to meet Agency District road and parking lot flood 
protection criteria. This shall only be allowed for commercial projects 
which are to remain single owner projects.  Such criteria may provide 
lesser degrees of flood protection than required under Agency District 
criteria. Projects which are not permitted pursuant to Agency District 
criteria will be special conditioned, as notice to the pPermittee and local 
government, that a substandard design has been permitted. The applicant 
shall, however, meet Agency District criteria for water quality, off-site 
discharge and building floor elevations. 

 
(c)  In each basin, the minimum roadway crown elevation shall be at least 2 

feet higher than the control elevation, in order to protect the road 
subgrade. 

 
3.6 6.6 Flood Plain Encroachment 
 
No net encroachment into the floodplain, between the average wet season water table 
and that encompassed by the 100 year event, which will adversely affect the existing 
rights of others, will be allowed. 
 
3.7 6.7 Historic Basin Storage 
 
Provision must be made to replace or otherwise mitigate the loss of historic basin 
storage provided by the project site. 
 
3.8 6.8 Offsite Lands 
 
Onsite works such as swales and dikes shall be used to allow the passage of drainage 
from offsite areas to downstream areas. Diking of project development areas or other 
equivalent methods shall be used to contain water at or above stages identified in the 
project discharge computations. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 216

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

81 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

3.9 6.9 Minimum Drainage 
 

(a)  Residential projects shall have systems with the calculated ability to 
discharge by surface flow or subsurface percolation at least 3/8 inch per 
day during or subsequent to the storm of the allowable discharge 
frequency and duration, so that lowering of the water surface elevations 
within the water management system to the maximum depth compatible 
with the environmental protection or other constraints as described in 3.10 
6.10, will occur in 12 days or less. 

 
 (b) 1.  Commercial and industrial projects to be subdivided for sale, where  

 the initial permittee will not build the entire system, are required to 
have installed by the initial permittee, as a minimum, 

 
a.  The required water quality system for one inch of runoff 

detention or one half inch of runoff retention in the master 
system for the total developed site. The individual sites must 
provide the remainder (2.5" x % impervious - one inch) which 
may be in exfiltration trench. The master system must be in 
a legally defined common area. The master system cannot 
utilize exfiltration trench. 

 
b.  A stormwater collection and conveyance system to 

interconnect the retention/detention system with the outfall, 
with access points to the system available to each individual 
lot or tract. The system shall be sized to limit discharge 
under design conditions to the allowable discharge. 

 
2.  Projects permitted in such manner will require deed restrictions 

which identify to lot or tract purchasers: 
 

a.  The amount of additional on-site storm water management 
system necessary to provide flood protection for specific 
design events, 

b.  Any additional retention/detention required for water quality 
purposes, and 

c.  The assumed percent impervious, or impervious area used 
in design calculations. 

 
3.10 6.10 Overdrainage and Water Conservation 
 
Systems shall be designed to: 
 

(a)  mMaintain existing water table elevations in existing wellfield cones of  
depression; and 

40.a

Packet Pg. 217

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

82 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
(b)  pPreserve site environmental values (see Section 10.0 4.0 of Applicant’s 

Handbook Volume I); and 
 
(c)  nNot waste freshwater; and 
 
(d)  nNot lower water tables which would adversely affect the existing rights of  

others;, and 
 
(e)  pPreserve site ground water recharge characteristics. 

 
3.11 6.11 Detention and Control Elevations 
 
Detention and control elevations shall be set to accomplish 3.10 6.10 and are subject to 
the following criteria: 
 

(a)  Wetland protection elevations;, 
 
(b)  Consistency with surrounding land and project control elevations and 

water tables;, 
 
(c)  Possible restrictions by other agencies to include tree protection and 

landscape ordinances;, 
 
(d)  Consistency with water use permits;, and 
 
(e)  A maximum depth of six feet below natural ground. 

 
3.12 6.12 Lake-Wetland Separation 
 
Lakes which potentially may adversely affect wetland areas shall be separated from the 
wetland preservation, creation, or restoration areas by a minimum distance as 
determined by the following criteria: 
 

(a)  A separation distance (shortest distance between the wetland 
jurisdictional line and the edge of water in the proposed waterbody water 
body at the proposed control elevation) producing a gradient less than or 
equal to 0.005 using the difference in the elevation of the jurisdictional 
boundary of the wetland and the basin control elevation to calculate the 
driving head. Staff will consider elevations differing from the jurisdictional 
boundary of the wetland to calculate the driving head. The applicant will 
be required to submit monitoring data or other relevant hydrologic data 
from the site to substantiate the reason for using a different starting 
elevation.  Existing conditions alone will not be considered sufficient 
reason to use a different elevation if there is evidence that activities on or 

40.a

Packet Pg. 218

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

83 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

adjacent to the project site may be responsible for lowering water tables 
which may be currently having an adverse impact on the subject wetlands. 
In these cases, preservation of the wetlands cannot be assured by simply 
maintaining the existing conditions. 

 
(b)  If the gradient resulting from any separation distance and the driving head 

as defined above is between 0.005 and 0.015, then calculations will be 
required which demonstrate that the drawdown in the adjacent wetland(s) 
will be of a magnitude which will not result in adverse impacts on the 
wetland. A drawdown of more than 12 vertical inches in a 90-day period 
with no recharge shall be presumed to be an adverse impact. 

 
(c)  If the gradient is equal to or greater than 0.015, then construction of an 

impermeable barrier or other equivalent action must be taken to mitigate 
for the impact of the proposed excavation between the wetland and the 
excavation. 

 
(d)  The Agency District will review modeling results which demonstrate that a 

gradient equal to or greater than 0.015 will not have an adverse impact on 
the adjacent wetland.  Model input data shall be derived from a detailed 
soil profile constructed from a minimum of three separate sampling 
locations with permeability testing results on selected samples. Two-
dimensional modeling may be necessary to represent the site geometry. 

 
3.13 6.13 Water Supply Sources 

 
An evaluation of the impact of the proposed surface water management system on 
sources of water supply must be submitted with the surface water management 
application. Cumulative impacts which may result from the construction and operation of 
the proposed surface water management system must be evaluated in conjunction with 
the cumulative withdrawals of existing legal uses of water. 
  

40.a

Packet Pg. 219

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

84 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

PART IV – STORMWATER QUALITY 
 
5.0 WATER QUALITY CRITERIA 
 
4.1 5.1 State Standards 
 
Projects shall be designed and operated so that off-site discharges will meet State 
water quality standards, as set forth in Chapter 62-302, F.A.C.  
 
4.1.1  How Standards are Applied 

 
The quality of stormwater discharged to receiving waters is presumed to meet the surface 
water standards in Chapters 62-4, and 62-302, F.A.C., and the groundwater standards in 
Chapters 62-520 and 62-550, F.A.C., if the system is permitted, constructed, operated and 
maintained in accordance with Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., and Part III, Part IV, and Part V of  
this Volume.  However, this presumption is rebuttable.  The volume of runoff to be treated 
from a site shall be determined by the type of treatment system.  If off-site runoff is not 
prevented from combining with on-site runoff prior to treatment, then treatment must be 
provided for the combined off-site and project runoff. 
 
4.1.2  Erosion and Sediment Control Criteria for Stormwater Management 
Systems 

 
Land clearing activities, including the construction of stormwater management systems, 
shall be designed, constructed, and maintained at all times so that erosion and 
sedimentation from the system, including the areas served by the system, do not cause 
violations of applicable state water quality standards in receiving waters.  Further, because 
sedimentation of offsite lands can lead to public safety concerns, erosion and sediment 
controls shall be designed and implemented to retain sediment on-site as required by 
subsection 62-40.432(2), F.A.C.  In particular, the erosion and sediment control 
requirements described in Part IV of Applicant’s Handbook Volume I shall be followed 
during construction of the system. 
 
4.1.3  Direct Discharges to Outstanding Florida Waters 

 
Systems which have a direct discharge to an OFW, must provide an additional fifty percent 
of the required treatment.  

 
4.2 5.2 Retention / Detention Criteria 
 
4.2.1 5.2.1 Volumetric Requirements 
 

(a)  Retention, detention, or both retention and detention in the overall system, 
including swales, lakes, canals, greenways, etc., shall be provided for one 
of the three following criteria or equivalent combinations thereof: 

40.a

Packet Pg. 220

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

85 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
1. Wet detention volume shall be provided for the first inch of runoff 

from the developed project, or the total runoff of 2.5 inches times 
the percentage of imperviousness, whichever is greater. 

 
2.  Dry detention volume shall be provided equal to 75 percent of the 

above amounts computed for wet detention. 
 
3.  Retention volume shall be provided equal to 50 percent of the 

above amounts computed for wet detention. Retention volume 
included in flood protection calculations requires a guarantee of 
long term operation and maintenance of system bleed-down ability. 
Examples of such guarantee include evidence of excellent soil 
percolation rates, such as coastal ridge sands, or an operations 
entity which specifically reserves funds for operation, maintenance 
and replacement (example: Orange County MSTU). (NOTE: 
Orange County subdivision regulation criteria for retention - 
published by Orange County in Orange County Subdivision 
Regulations - may be utilized for Orange County MSTU projects in 
lieu of Agency District retention criteria where retention volumes 
exceed one half inch. This information is hereby published by 
reference and incorporated into this rule.) 

 
(b)  Systems with inlets in grassed areas will be credited with up to 0.2 inches 

of the required wet detention amount for the contributing areas. Full credit 
will be based on a ratio of 10:1 impervious area (paved or building area) to 
pervious area (i.e. the grassed area) with proportionately less credit 
granted for greater ratios. 

 
4.2.2 5.2.2 Land Use and Coverage Criteria 
 

(a)  Commercial or industrial zoned projects shall provide at least one-half one 
half inch of dry detention or retention pretreatment as part of the required 
retention / detention, unless reasonable assurances can be offered that 
hazardous materials will not enter the project's surface water management 
system. Such assurances include, for example, deed restrictions on 
property planned for re-sale, type of occupancy, recorded lease 
agreements, local government restrictive codes, ordinances, licenses, and 
separate engineered containment systems designed to prevent discharge. 

 
(b)  Projects having greater than 40% impervious area and which discharge 

directly to the following receiving waters shall provide at least one half inch 
of dry detention or retention pretreatment as part of the required 
retention/detention. Receiving waters being addressed are: 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 221

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

86 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

1. Lake Okeechobee and the Kissimmee River. 
 
2.  Waterbodies Water bodies designated as Class I or Class II waters 

by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection; 
 
3.  Canals back-pumped to Lake Okeechobee or to the Conservation 

areas, or proposed for back-pumping; 
 
4.  Other areas, such as the Savannas in St. Lucie and Martin 

Counties; the Six Mile Cypress Strand; the Big Cypress area of 
Collier County; and lands acquired by the District pursuant to 
Section 373.59, F.S. Water Management Lands Trust Fund (Save 
Our Rivers); and mitigation bank lands;, as set forth in Section 4.4. 

 
5.  Outstanding Florida Waters as defined in Chapter 62-302, F.A.C.; 

and Aquatic Preserves as created and provided for in Chapter 258, 
F.S.; and 

 
6.  Waterbodies Water bodies within a District permitted public water 

supply wellfield cone-of-depression which are not separated from 
the aquifer by strata at least ten feet thick and having an average 
saturated hydraulic conductivity of less than 0.1 foot per day; where 
the cone-of-depression is defined by one of the following: 

 
a.  in those areas of the District where no local wellfield 

protection ordinance has been adopted by the local 
governing body, the one foot drawdown line as expressed in 
the water table aquifer under conditions of no rainfall and 
100 days of pumpage at the permitted average daily 
pumpage rate (where significant canal recharge is indicated, 
canal recharge representative of a 1 in 100 year drought will 
be considered); 

 
b.  Chapter 27, Article XIII, Wellfield Protection Ordinance, 

Broward County Code of Ordinances, last amended 
September 28, 1999. This information is incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

 
c.  Dade County Wellfield Protection Ordinance contour 

showing maximum limits (Section 24-43 Protection of Public 
Potable Water Supply Wells; Chapter 24 Environmental 
Protection; Code of Metropolitan Dade County, Florida). This 
information is incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-
4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 222

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

87 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(c)  Water surface and roofed areas can be deducted from site areas only for 
water quality pervious/impervious calculations. The water surface area 
meeting dimensional criteria may also be subtracted from the total site 
area when making final water quality treatment volume calculations. 

 
(d)  In cases of widening existing urban public highway projects, the District 

shall reduce the water quality requirements, if the applicant provides 
documentation which demonstrates that all reasonable design alternatives 
have been considered, and which provides evidence that the alternatives 
are all cost-prohibitive. 

 
(e)  Pursuant to subsection 62-555.312(3), F.A.C., stormwater retention and 

detention systems are classified as moderate sanitary hazards with respect 
to public and private drinking water wells.  Stormwater treatment facilities 
shall not be constructed within 100 feet of a public drinking water well, and 
shall not be constructed within 75 feet of a private drinking water well. 
Projects located within cones of depression - Retention/detention area 
locations shall not reduce hydraulic recharge distances to public water 
supply wells in excess of 2 percent, nor shall wet retention/detention areas 
be closer to public water supply wells than 300 feet. 

 
4.3 5.3 Incorporation of Natural Areas and Existing Waterbodies Water Bodies 
 
5.3.1 Natural Water Bodies and Existing Water Bodies 
 
Natural areas and existing waterbodies water bodies may be used for 
retention/detention purposes when not in conflict with environmental (see subsection 
10.2.2.4 4.2.2.4 of Applicant’s Handbook Volume I), water quality, (see Sections 10.2.4 
4.2.4 – through 10.2.4.5 4.2.4.5 herein of Applicant’s Handbook Volume I) or public use 
considerations. Candidate areas for such purposes include: 
 

(a)  Previously degraded areas; 
 
(b)  Man-made Man made areas such as borrow pits, for example; 
 
(c)  Extensive areas which have the ability to absorb impacts easily; and 
 
(d)  Areas incorporated into a system with mitigation features. 

 
4.4 5.4 Underground Exfiltration Systems 
 

(a)  Systems shall be designed for the retention volumes specified in Section  
4.2.1 5.2.1 for retention systems, exfiltrated over one hour for retention 
purposes, prior to overflow, and based on test data for the site. (Note: 
such systems will not be acceptable on projects to be operated by entities 

40.a

Packet Pg. 223

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

88 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

other than single owners or entities with full-time full time maintenance 
staff.) 

 
(b)  A safety factor of two or more shall be applied to the design to allow for 

geological uncertainties. 
 
(c)  A dry system is one with the pipe invert at or above the average wet 

season water table. 
 
4.5 5.5 Sewage Treatment Percolation Ponds 
 
Above-ground Above ground percolation pond dikes shall not be within 200 feet of 
water management lakes or 100 feet of dry retention/detention areas, or the applicant 
must provide reasonable assurance that effluent will not migrate into the water 
management lakes or detention areas.  Reasonable assurance may be provided by: 
 
 (a) Documentation of volume and rate of application of effluent to the 
percolation ponds, and 
 
 (b) Submittal of net flow analyses. 
 
4.6 5.6 Criteria for Creation of Waterbodies Water Bodies 
 
The creation of waterbodies water bodies shall meet both of the following criteria: 
 

(a)  Entrapped salt water, resulting from inland migration of salt water or 
penetration of the freshwater/salt water interface, will not adversely impact 
existing legal water users. 

 
(b)  Excavation of the water body shall not penetrate a water-bearing 

formation exhibiting poorer water quality for example, in terms of chloride 
concentrations. 

 
4.7 5.7 Impervious Areas 
 
Runoff shall be discharged from impervious surfaces through retention areas, detention 
devices, filtering and cleansing devices, or subjected to some other type of Best 
Management Practice (BMP) prior to discharge from the project site. For projects which 
include substantial paved areas, such as shopping centers, large highway intersections 
with frequent stopped traffic, and high density developments, provisions shall be made 
for the removal of oil, grease and sediment from storm water discharges. 
 
4.8 5.8 Stagnant Water Conditions 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 224

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

89 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Configurations which create stagnant water conditions such as hydraulically dead end 
canals are to be avoided, regardless of the type of development. 
 
4.9 5.9 Water Quality Monitoring 
 
All new drainage projects will be evaluated based on the ability of the system to prevent 
degradation of receiving waters and the ability to conform to State water quality 
standards (see Chapters 62-4, and 62-302, F.A.C.). 
 
4.9.1 5.9.1  
 

(a)  There are areas within the District where water quality considerations are 
extremely important, because of the sensitivity of the area. These areas 
include: 

 
1.  Lake Okeechobee and the Kissimmee River. 
 
2.  Waterbodies Water bodies designated as Class I or Class II waters 

by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection. 
 
3.  Canals back-pumped to Lake Okeechobee or to the Conservation 

areas, or proposed for back-pumping. 
 
4.  Sensitive areas, such as the Savannas in St. Lucie and Martin 

Counties, the Six Mile Cypress Strand and Estero Bay Aquatic 
Preserve in Lee County and the Big Cypress area of Collier County. 

 
5.  Outstanding Florida Waters as defined in Chapter 62-302, F.A.C. 

 
(b)  New developments which plan to utilize sensitive areas for disposal of 

stormwater will be given more detailed evaluation by the Agency District 
Staff. In addition, new projects entailing a more intensified land use, such 
as industrial parks, and planning to discharge to a sensitive receiving 
water, directly or indirectly, shall be required to institute a water quality 
monitoring program if the applicant is unable to provide adequate 
assurances (by such means as routing drainage of areas where polluting 
materials would be located away from the stormwater surface water 
management system; developing restrictive covenants, or similar 
documents, which would have the effect of prohibiting polluting materials 
on the project site; or proposing other methods of assurance) that 
degradation of the receiving body water quality will not occur. The 
following listing of land use intensity is in ascending order.  

 
1. Wetlands (including transition zones adjacent thereto) 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 225

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

90 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

2. Forested lands 
 
3.  Rangeland 
 
4.  Agricultural 
 
5.  Urban and built-up land 

 
4.9.2 5.9.2  Monitoring is required for sites with high pollutant generating potential, such 
as industrial sites, and Class I and II solid waste disposal sites. 
 
4.9.3 5.9.3  There are two reasons for requiring water quality monitoring by permittees, 
as follows: 
 

(a)   Such data can be used to determine if the pollution abatement practices 
incorporated into the design for the drainage system are functioning 
properly. 

 
(b)  In some cases there may be a real and immediate concern regarding 

degradation of quality in the receiving waters, regardless of the apparent 
pollutant removal efficiency of the drainage system. 

 
4.9.4 5.9.4  The reason for the monitoring requirement will be stated in the Staff Report 
for each pPermit. Also included in the permit will be the monitoring and reporting 
schedules and the parameters of interest. Each monitoring program will be designed 
specifically for the land use or individual project in question and will include applicable 
surface and ground water sampling. Staff shall specify applicable project specific 
parameters such as those listed in Chapter 62-302, F.A.C. The applicant shall use a 
Florida Department of Health certified laboratory for all water quality analysis. The 
District It is recommended recommends that the applicant submit final results from the 
laboratory. Examples of records to be supplied are as follows: sample date, sample 
location with D for discharge or N for no discharge, water discharge rates (cfs) and 
concentration values of indicated elements or compounds, date and time of analysis.   
 
4.9.5 5.9.5  As a general rule, monitoring required of permittees will be confined to 
points within their boundaries. If additional sampling is needed in order to assess off-site 
impacts of the projects, the responsible party (the permittee or District) will be named in 
the permit. The determination of the responsible party will be based upon the 
accessibility of the monitoring site to the permittee. 
 
4.9.6 5.9.6  Applicants are advised that Staff Reports written and Permits issued for 
projects not requiring monitoring at this time will normally include a statement to the 
effect that water quality monitoring may be required in the future. This should not be 
construed as an indication that the Agency District is contemplating the implementation 
of a program of intensive water quality monitoring by all permittees. If water quality 

40.a

Packet Pg. 226

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

91 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

problems develop in specific areas, however, permittees will be put on notice in this 
manner that they may have to determine the quality of the water which they are 
discharging. 
 
 4.10 5.10 Solid Waste Facilities 
 

(a)  Stormwater Surface water management systems for Class I and II solid 
waste facilities, as defined by Chapter 62-701, F.A.C., shall be so 
designed, constructed, and operated as to maintain the integrity of the 
landfill at all times (during construction, operation, closure and post 
closure). Applicant must provide assurances that: 

 
1. All flows will be conveyed at non-erosive velocities;, 

 
2.  The project is designed to minimize erosion. 

 
(b)  Design features in support of this requirement include features such as: 

 
1. Slopes adequate to promote runoff but not affect slope stability;, 

 
2.  Intermediate benches or swales which reduce runoff velocities and 

limit erosion;, 
 
3.  Vegetation of closed portion of landfill. 

 
(c)  Class I and II landfill projects shall provide adequate assurance that 

leachate will not enter the stormwater surface water management system. 
This assurance may be provided through affirmative demonstration that 
the requirement of Chapter 62-701, F.A.C. for design and emplacement of 
liners, leachate collection systems, and treatment and disposal of leachate 
will be met. 

 
(d)  Borrow pits shall not be included in the stormwater surface water 

management system unless the applicant can affirmatively demonstrate 
that leachate will not enter the borrow pit, and that the water quality 
standards in Chapters 62-4 and 62-302, F.A.C. will be met. 

 
(e)  Dewatering operations at active, unlined landfills will not be permitted. 
 
(f)  For Class I and II landfills the Agency District shall require additional Best 

Management Practices, such as: 
 

1. Detention in excess of the quantities stated in Section 4.2 5.2; 
 

2.  Dry detention areas; 

40.a

Packet Pg. 227

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

92 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
3.  Dry conveyance swales with adequate dimensions to permit 

maintenance; 
 
4.  Filter mechanisms for additional water quality enhancement prior to 

discharge; 
 
5.  Skimmers in front of discharge structures to restrict discharge of 

floatable materials; 
 
6.  Screw gates on water control structures capable of restricting 

discharge of poor quality surface water; or. 
 
7.  Vegetation of appropriate portions of the water management 

system, such as conveyance swales. 
 

(g)  To provide information for assessing the need for Best Management 
Practices at a specific site, Agency District staff will require a 
hydrogeologic investigation that shall, at a minimum, provide information 
on: 

 
1. The hydrogeologic properties of the formations underlying the 

landfill, including aquifer and characteristics, groundwater 
elevations and direction and rate of groundwater flow;, 

 
2. Location of existing wells within one-half mile of the site perimeter;, 

 
3. Locations and specifications of existing or proposed monitor wells;, 

 
4.  The location and chemical composition of any known leachate 

plumes. 
 

(h)  Applicants should consult with Agency District staff prior to or at pre-
application Technical Advisory Committee meetings to determine the 
specific requirements which will apply for a particular project. 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 228

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

93 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

PART V – WATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 
CRITERIA 

 
7.0 WATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION CRITERIA 

 
5.1 7.1 Discharge Structures 

 
(a)  All design discharges shall be made through structural discharge facilities. 

Earth berms shall be used only to disperse or collect sheet flows from or 
to ditches, swales, or other flow conveyance mechanisms etc., served by 
discharge structures. 

 
(b)  Discharge structures shall be fixed so that discharge cannot be made 

below the control elevation, except that emergency devices may be 
installed with secure locking devices. Use of emergency devices must be 
coordinated with Agency District personnel prior to opening or as soon as 
possible thereafter. The Agency’s District's Executive Director or secretary 
is authorized to specify the use of emergency devices pursuant to Rrule 
40E-1.611, F.A.C. 

 
(c)  Discharge structures must be non-operable unless approved otherwise. 
 
(d)  The District It is recommended recommends that discharge structures 

include gratings for safety and maintenance purposes. The use of trash 
collection screens is desirable. 

 
(e)  Discharge structures shall include a baffle system to encourage discharge 

from the center of the water column rather than the top or bottom. 
Discharge structures from areas with greater than 50 percent impervious 
area or from systems with inlets in paved areas shall include a baffle, 
skimmer, or other mechanism suitable for preventing oil and grease from 
discharging to or from retention/detention areas. Designs must assure 
sufficient clearance between the skimmer and concrete structure or pond 
bottom to ensure that the hydraulic capacity of the structure is not 
affected. 

 
(f)  Direct discharges, such as through culverts, stormdrain, and weir 

structures, will be allowed to receiving waters which by virtue of their large 
capacity, or configuration are easily able to absorb concentrated 
discharges. Such receiving waters include existing storm sewer systems 
and man-made ditches, canals and lakes. 

 
(g)  Indirect discharges, such as overflow and spreader swales, are required 

where the receiving water or its adjacent supporting ecosystem might be 
degraded by a direct discharge. The discharge structure would therefore 

40.a

Packet Pg. 229

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

94 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

discharge, for example, into the overflow or spreader swale, which in turn 
would release the water to the actual receiving water. Such receiving 
waters include, for example, natural streams, lakes, wetlands and land 
naturally receiving overland sheetflow. Spreader swales shall be of a 
length sufficient to reduce discharge velocities to the receiving waters to 
historic rates or rates less than two feet per second. 

 
(h)  Pumped systems will only be allowed for single owner or governmental 

agency operation entities, unless perpetual operation ability can be 
assured. 

 
 
5.2 7.2 Control Devices/Bleed-down Mechanisms for Detention Systems 
 

(a)  Agency District criteria require that gravity control devices shall be sized 
based upon a maximum design discharge of one half inch of the detention 
volume in 24 hours.  The devices shall incorporate dimensions no smaller 
than 6 square inches of cross sectional area, two inches minimum 
dimension, and 20 degrees for "V" notches.  Systems which are limited by 
a discharge structure with an orifice no larger than the minimum 
dimensions described herein shall be presumed to meet the discharge 
quantity criteria except for projects which are required to have zero 
discharge. Applicants are advised that local drainage districts or local 
governments may have more stringent gravity control device criteria. 

 
(b)  Gravity control devices shall be of a "V" or circular shaped configuration 

whenever possible, to increase detention time during minor events. 
 
(c)  Pumped control devices, if pump discharge is permitted, shall be sized 

based on a design discharge of 20 percent of the detention volume in one 
day. 

 
5.3  Retention systems 
 
5.3.1  Description 
 
Stormwater retention works best using a variety of retention systems throughout the 
project site.  Examples of retention systems include: 

 
• Man-made or natural depressional areas where the basin bottom is graded flat and turf 

is established to promote infiltration and stabilize the basin slopes; 
• Shallow landscaped areas designed to store stormwater; and 
• Vegetated swales with swale blocks or raised inlets. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 230

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

95 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Soil permeability and water table conditions must be such that the retention system can 
percolate the desired runoff volume within a specified time following a storm event.  After 
drawdown has been completed, the basin shall not hold any water, thus the system is 
normally “dry.”  Unlike detention basins, the treatment volume for retention systems is not 
discharged to surface waters. 
 
Besides pollution control, retention systems can be utilized to promote the recharge of 
ground water to prevent saltwater intrusion in coastal areas or to maintain groundwater 
levels in aquifer recharge areas.   
 
5.3.2  Retention Basin Construction 
 
Since stormwater management systems are often exposed to poor quality surface runoff 
during construction and fine particles of clay, silt, and organics at the bottom of a retention 
basin create a poor infiltrating surface, retention basin construction methods and the overall 
sequence of site construction must retain the effectiveness of retention basins and assure that the 
basin is not rendered inoperable prior to completion of site development. 
 
5.3.3 7.3 Dry Retention/Detention Areas (Not Applicable to Natural or Mitigation 
Wetland Areas) 
 

(a)  Dry retention/detention areas shall have mechanisms for returning the 
groundwater level in the area to the control elevation. The bleed-down rate 
for these systems is the same as in section 5.2.(a) 7.2.(a), herein. 

 
(b)  Mosquito control ditches or other appropriate features for such purpose, 

shall be incorporated into the design of dry retention/detention areas. 
 
(c)  The design of dry retention/detention areas shall incorporate 

considerations for regular maintenance and vegetation harvesting 
procedures. 

 
5.4  Wet Detention Design and Performance Criteria  
 
5.4.1  Pond Configuration 

 
The flow path of water from the inlets to the outlet of the pond must be maximized to 
promote good mixing with no dead spots, minimize short circuiting, and maximize pollutant 
removal efficiency and mixing. 
 
If short flow paths are unavoidable, the effective flow path can be increased by adding 
diversion barriers such as islands, peninsulas, or baffles to the pond.  Inlet structures shall 
be designed to dissipate the energy of water entering the pond.   
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 231

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

96 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

5.4.2 7.4 Wet Retention/Detention Area Dimensional Criteria (As Measured at or 
from the Control Elevation) 
 

(a)  Area - 0.5 acre minimum 
 
(b)  Width - 100 feet minimum for linear areas in excess of 200 feet length.  

Irregular shaped areas may have narrower reaches but shall average at 
least 100 feet.  

 
(c)  Depth - Shallow, littoral areas are desirable for water quality enhancement 

purposes. Such areas are defined for purposes of this criteria as the 
portion of wet retention/detention bodies shallower than 6 feet as 
measured from below the control elevation. The minimum shallow, littoral 
area shall be the lesser of 20 percent of the wet retention/detention area 
or 2.5 percent of the total of the retention/detention area (including side 
slopes) plus the basin contributing area. It is recommended that 25 to 50 
percent of the wet retention/detention area be deeper than 12 feet. 

 
(d)  Side slopes for wet retention/detention and attenuation areas - for 

purposes of public safety, water quality enhancement and maintenance, 
all wet retention /detention areas shall be designed with side slopes no 
steeper than 4:l (horizontal:vertical) from top of bank out to a minimum 
depth of two feet below the control elevation, or an equivalent substitute. 
Constructed side slopes steeper than 3.5:1 (horizontal:vertical) shall be 
considered a substantial deviation during the consideration of operation 
permit issuance. Side slopes shall be topsoiled, and stabilized through 
seeding or planting from 2 feet below to 1 foot above the control elevation 
to promote vegetative growth. Side slope vegetation growth survival shall 
be a consideration of operation permit issuance. Side slope dimensional 
criteria for above ground impoundments are set forth in Appendix B 6. 

 
(e)  Alternative Side Slope Criteria for Golf Course Wet Retention/Detention 

Areas Adjacent to Tee Areas, Bunkers, and Greens - The design and final 
constructed side slopes adjacent to tee areas, bunkers, and greens 
contiguous to golf course wet retention/detention areas shall be no 
steeper than 2:1 (horizontal:vertical) for the area above the permitted 
control elevation. For purposes of this rule, the tee area is limited to an 
area specifically constructed and designated as the location from which a 
golfer makes his/her first shot toward a designated hole. The green is the 
area of shortest grass around the hole. Bunkers (sand traps) consist of a 
prepared area of ground, often a hollow, from which turf or soil has been 
removed and replaced with sand-like material. 

 
For those portions of the wet retention/detention areas adjacent to tee 
areas, bunkers, and greens with final constructed side slopes steeper than 

40.a

Packet Pg. 232

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

97 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

3.5:1 (horizontal:vertical), the final constructed side slopes below the 
control elevation shall not be steeper than 8:1 (horizontal:vertical) to a 
depth of two feet below the control elevation or equivalent substitute. Side 
slopes shall be topsoiled and stabilized through seeding or planting from 2 
feet below to 1 foot above the control elevation. Side slope vegetation 
growth survival shall be a consideration of operation permit issuance. 

 
(f)  Bulkheads - Bulkheads shall be allowed for no more than 40 percent of 

the shoreline length, but compensating littoral zone must be provided 
based on appropriate maximum allowable side slope including local 
government requirements. 

 
5.5 7.5 Maintenance Access and Easements 
 
Minimum perimeter maintenance and operation easements of 20 feet width at slopes no 
steeper than 4:l (horizontal:vertical) shall be provided beyond the control elevation water 
line. These easements shall be legally reserved to the operation entity and for that 
purpose by dedication on the plat, deed restrictions, easements, or other equivalent 
documents, so that subsequent owners or others may not remove such areas from their 
intended use. Water management areas, including 20 foot wide maintenance 
easements at a minimum, shall be connected to a public road or other location from 
which operation and maintenance access is legally and physically available. 
 
5.6 7.6 Exfiltration Systems 
 
5.6.1  Description 
 
In an exfiltration system, stormwater shall pass through a perforated pipe and infiltrate 
through the trench walls and bottom into the shallow groundwater aquifer thereby 
increasing the storage available in the trench and promoting infiltration by making delivery 
of the runoff more effective and evenly distributed over the length of the system.   
 
When an exfiltration trench is utilized, soil permeability and water table conditions must be 
such that the trench system can percolate the required stormwater runoff treatment 
volume within a specified time following a storm event.  The trench system shall be 
returned to a normally “dry” condition when drawdown of the treatment volume is 
completed.  Like retention basins, the treatment volume in exfiltration trench systems shall 
not be discharged to surface waters.   
 
Besides pollution control, exfiltration trench systems can be utilized to promote the 
recharge of ground water and to prevent saltwater intrusion in coastal areas, or to maintain 
groundwater levels in aquifer recharge areas.   
 
5.6.2  Construction 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 233

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

98 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

During construction, measures must be taken to limit the parent soil and debris entering 
the trench.  The use of an aggregate with minimal fines is recommended. 
 
Exfiltration systems must conform with the following requirements: 
 

(a)  Pipe diameter - 12" minimum; 

(b)  Trench width - 3' minimum; 

(c)  Rock in trench must be enclosed in filter material, at least on the top and 
sides; and. 

(d)  Maintenance sumps in inlets. 

 
5.7 8.0 REQUIRED DESIGN INFORMATION AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
5.7.1 8.1 Antecedent Conditions 
 
Antecedent conditions shall be average wet season elevations for water table or other 
water surfaces. 
 
5.7.2 8.2 Rainfall 
 
Distributions and intensities should be consistent with one or more of these Reference 
Sources: 
 

(a)  SFWMD Technical Memorandum, Frequency Analysis of One and Three 
Day Rainfall Maxima for central and southern Florida, Paul Trimble, 
October 1990 (see Appendix C for rainfall maps from this document) and 
the following distribution table: 

 
Time 

(hours) 
 

Cumulative 
Percentage of 

Peak One Day Rainfall 

  

0  0   

24 14.6   

48 35.9 

58 57.2   

100% One Day 
Rainfall 

59 62.8   

59.5 67.8   
59.75 82.8   

60 101.5   

60.5 108.8   

40.a

Packet Pg. 234

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

99 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

61 112.6   

62 117.7   

72 135.9   

(b)  Actual gage data analyzed by accepted statistical methods, 
 
(c)  U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, "Rainfall 

Frequency Atlas of Alabama, Florida, Georgia and South Carolina for 
Durations from 30 Minutes to 24 Hours and Return Periods from 1 to 100 
years" (1973). 

 
(d)  Florida Department of Transportation "Drainage Manual" (Second Edition,  

revised 1978) Revised Rainfall Intensity Curves per Directive No. 0736-
01-79. 

 
5.7.3 8.3 Evapotranspiration 
 
Amounts can be estimated as follows: 
 

(a)  Groundwater depth 0 to 1' - 0.3" ET/day 
 
(b)  Groundwater depth 1' to 2.5' - 0.2" ET/day 
 
(c)  Groundwater depth 2.5' to 4' - 0.1" ET/day 
 
(d)  Groundwater depth below 4' - 0" ET/day 

 
5.7.4 8.4 Storage 
 
5.7.4.1 8.4.1 Open Surface 
 
If open surface storage is to be considered in the review, the Applicant shall submit 
stage-storage computations. If open surface storage plus discharge is to be considered, 
the stage- discharge computations shall also be submitted. Actual rather than allowable 
discharges shall be used in routing. For the more extreme events, such as 100 year 
frequency, discharge should be ignored because the high tail water stage in the 
receiving water effectively prevents any but a negligible discharge. In such cases a 
mass accounting of on-site water will suffice, if the applicant can demonstrate that no 
adverse impacts will occur to adjacent areas. 
 
5.7.4.2 8.4.2 Ground 
The Soil Conservation Service has made the following estimate of soil storage capability 
for the normal sandy soils found within the District in their average natural state:  
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 235

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

100 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Depth to Water Table Cumulative Water Storage 
1' 0.6" 
2' 2.5" 
3' 6.6" 
4' 10.9" 

 
(a)  For the same sandy soils which have been compacted intentionally or 

incidental to earthwork operations, the cumulative storage shall be reduced 
25 percent. An applicant may submit site-specific soil storage capability 
data. 

 
(b)  Groundwater storage beneath impervious surfaces generally appears  

impractical to any great degree because of the trapped air which water 
cannot displace. It further appears impractical below four feet depths, 
except in high sandy coastal ridge areas, because of the relationship 
between infiltration rates and runoff rates in most parts of south Florida. 

 
5.7.5 8.5 Infiltration and Percolation 
 
5.7.5.1 8.5.1 Ground Surface 
 
Ground surface infiltration will be reviewed on the basis of commonly accepted 
procedures such as those of Soil Conservation Service (see U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service Technical Paper No. 149, "A Method for 
Estimating Volume and Rate of Runoff in Small Watersheds" (1973), and U.S. 
Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service Technical Release No. 55, "Urban 
Hydrology for Small Watersheds" (1975); or Rational Method (see Florida State 
Department of Transportation, "Drainage Manual" (2nd Edition, rev. 1978)); or standard 
Civil Engineering textbooks), unless test data are submitted to justify other procedures. 
 
5.7.5.2 8.5.2 Subsurface 
 
Subsurface exfiltration will be reviewed only on the basis of representative or actual test 
data submitted by the Applicant. Test parameters such as elevation, location, and soils, 
shall be consistent with those of the designed system. The Dade County Department of 
Environmental Resource Management and Florida Department of Transportation are 
suggested as reference sources to Applicants for test procedures and design and 
maintenance performance of subsurface exfiltration systems. 
 
5.7.6 8.6 Runoff 
 
The usual methods of computation are as follows: 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 236

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

101 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(a)  Rainfall minus losses and storage. 
 
(b)  Soil Conservation Service (see U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil  

Conservation Service, "National Engineering Handbook, Section 4, 
Hydrology" -1972), with extra attention to hydrologic accounting of water 
table conditions. Peak factors used for natural systems shall not exceed 
"257" unless project specific site conditions warrant use of a larger peak 
factor. 

 
(c)  Rational method, for water quality retention/detention purposes. 

 
5.7.7 8.7 Receiving Water Stage 
 

(a) Tailwater for Water Quantity Design 
 

Stormwater management systems must consider tailwater conditions.  
Receiving water stage can affect the amount of flow that will discharge from 
the project to the receiving water.  This stage may be such that tailwater 
exists in portions of the project system, reducing the effective flow or storage 
area.   
 
The stage in the receiving water shall be considered to be the maximum 
stage which would exist in the receiving water from a storm equal to the 
project design storm.  Lower stages may be used if the applicant can show 
that the flow from his project will reach the receiving water prior to the time of 
maximum stage in the receiving water. 

 
(b) 8.7.1 Regulated Systems 

 
Applicants are advised that design and maintained stage elevations are 
available either from the respective local jurisdiction or the Agency District. 
Stages for the Agency’s District's system for frequencies other than the 
design will be estimated by the Agency District upon request from the 
Applicant. 

 
(c) 8.7.2 Non-regulated Systems 

 
It is recommended that the Applicant compute receiving water stages for 
such systems from the best available data and submit the results to the 
Agency District for review and concurrence before utilizing such results in 
further computations. 

 
(d) 8.7.3 Any System 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 237

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

102 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

Variable tailwater stages shall be considered if they have a significant 
influence on the design.  

 
5.7.8  Runoff Coefficient and Curve Number for Stormwater Management Ponds 
 
Stormwater management ponds, including dry retention ponds, detention ponds with 
filtration, dry detention ponds with underdrains, and wet detention ponds, shall be 
considered as impervious area for calculating composite runoff coefficients (C), and 
composite curve numbers. 
 
5.8  Inspection and Maintenance 
Inspection and maintenance standards are described in section 12.4 of Volume I and 
Rule 62-330.311, F.A.C.  See Appendix B for inspection and reporting requirements for 
above-ground impoundments. 
 
8.8 Discharge  
 
8.8.1 Allowable Discharges 
 
For the purpose of meeting maximum allowable discharges, peak discharges shall be 
computed as the maximum average discharge over a time period equal to the time of 
concentration of the contributory area, unless project specific conditions warrant an 
alternate methodology. 
 
8.8.2 Non-urban Gravity Systems 
 
Rural gravity systems which are to be connected to District facilities are reviewed on the 
basis of the discharge culvert operating at a fixed head loss to meet the allowable 
discharge rate. This basis is justified by the estimate that the upstream headwater 
generated by rural runoff will be unable to collect at the upstream culvert end 
appreciably faster than the rate at which the receiving water rises. The fixed head loss 
amounts are 0.5' except in south Dade County (south of Canal C-2) where the value is 
0.2'. 
 
9.0 OPERATING ENTITY REQUIREMENTS 
 
9.1 General Requirements – 
 

(a)  The District considers the following entities acceptable to satisfy permit 
limiting condition 40E-4.381(1)(h): 

 
1.  Local governmental units including counties or municipalities, or 

Municipal Service Taxing Units. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 238

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

103 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

2.  Active Chapter 298, F.S. water control districts or drainage districts, 
or Chapter 190, F.S. Community Development Districts or Chapter 
170, F.S. Special Assessment Districts. 

 
3.  Non-profit corporations including homeowners associations, 

property owners associations, condominium owners associations or 
master associations. 

 
4.  The property owner or developer as Permittee is normally not 

acceptable as a responsible entity if the property is to be sold to 
various third parties. However, the property owner or developer will 
be acceptable under one of the following circumstances: 

 
a.  The property is wholly owned by said Permittee and is 

intended to be so retained. This would apply to a farm, 
corporate office or single industrial facility for example. 

 
b.  The ownership of the property is retained by the Permittee 

and is either leased or rented to third parties such as in the 
case of most shopping centers, apartments or mobile home 
park lots. 

 
(b)  To satisfy permit limiting condition paragraph 40E-4.381(1)(h), F.A.C., the 

Permittee must supply appropriate written proof, such as either by letter or 
resolution from the governmental entity that the governmental entity will 
accept the operation and maintenance of all the surface water 
management system components; or draft corporation/association 
documents prior to staff report approval. For Class I and II solid waste 
sites the entity will be responsible for perpetual maintenance of the 
surface water management system after closure of the facility. 

 
9.2 Association Requirements – 
 
9.2.1 If a Homeowners or Property Owners Association or Master Association is 
proposed, the Permittee must submit the draft Articles of Incorporation and the 
Declaration of Protective Covenants or Deed Restrictions, as well as a reference map if 
referred to in the documents, for review and staff approval of the provisions meeting the 
requirements of this section. The Permittee must submit a recorded copy of the Deed 
Restrictions and associated exhibits, a filed copy of the Articles of Incorporation and a 
copy of the Certificate of Incorporation prior to or simultaneous with the submittal of the 
Construction Completion/Construction Certification statement.  
 
9.2.2  
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 239

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

104 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

(a)   If a Condominium Association is proposed, the Permittee must submit the 
draft Articles of Incorporation and the Declaration of Condominium, as well 
as a reference map if referred to in the documents, for review and staff 
approval of the provisions meeting the requirements of this section. The 
Permittee must submit a recorded copy of the Declaration of 
Condominium and associated exhibits, a filed copy of the Articles of 
Incorporation and a copy of the Certificate of Incorporation prior to or 
simultaneous with the submittal of the Construction 
Completion/Construction Certification statement. 

 
(b)  Compliance with the requirements of this section does not relieve the  

permittee of its duty to comply with the applicable provisions of Florida 
laws, specifically Chapters 617 or 718, F.S. 

 
9.2.3 The Association must have the following general powers and attributes, which 
shall be reflected in the Articles of Incorporation or other documents of record: 
 

(a)  Own and convey property. 
 
(b)  Operate and maintain common property, specifically the surface water 

management system as permitted by the South Florida Water 
Management District including all lakes, retention areas, culverts and 
related appurtenances. 

 
(c)  Establish rules and regulations. 
 
(d)  Assess members and enforce said assessments. 
 
(e)  Sue and be sued. 
 
(f)  Contract for services (if the Association contemplates employing a 

maintenance company) to provide the services for operation and 
maintenance. 

 
(g)  The Association must have as members all the homeowners, lot owners, 

property owners or unit owners. 
 
(h)  The Association shall exist in perpetuity; however, if the Association is 

dissolved, the Articles of Incorporation must provide that the property 
consisting of the surface water management system and the right of 
access to the property containing the surface water management system 
shall be conveyed to an appropriate agency of local government. If it is not 
accepted, then the surface water management system must be dedicated 
to a similar non-profit corporation. 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 240

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

105 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

9.2.4 The Association must have the following covenants and restrictions, which shall 
be set forth in the Declaration of Protective Covenants, Deed Restrictions, Declaration 
of Condominium, or other recorded document which sets forth the Association's rules 
and regulations: 
 

(a)  That it is the responsibility of the Association to operate and maintain the 
surface water management system. 

 
(b)  The surface water management system is owned by the Association or 

described therein as common property. 
 
(c)  That there be a method of assessing and collecting the assessment for 

operation and maintenance of the surface water management system. 
 
(d)  That any proposed amendment to the association's documents, which 

would affect the surface water management system (including 
environmental conservation areas and the water management portions of 
the common areas) must be submitted to the District for a determination of 
whether the amendment necessitates a modification of the environmental 
resource or surface water management permit. If a modification is 
necessary, the District will so advise the permittee. The amendment 
affecting the surface water management system may not be finalized until 
any necessary permit modification is approved. 

 
(e)  That the rules and regulations be in effect for at least 25 years with 

automatic renewal periods thereafter. 
 
(f)  If wetland mitigation monitoring will be required and the operational entity 

will be responsible to carry out this obligation, the rules and regulations 
shall state that it will be the association's responsibility to complete the 
task successfully, including meeting all conditions associated with 
mitigation maintenance and monitoring. 

 
(g)  A Notice of Environmental Resource Permit or Surface Water 

Management Permit Form No. 1189, incorporated by reference in 
subsection 40E-4.101(2), F.A.C., shall be recorded in the public records of 
the County(s) where the property is located.  The Registered Agent for the 
Association shall maintain copies of all permitting actions for the benefit of 
the association. 

 
(h)  The District has the right to take enforcement action, including a civil 

action for an injunction and penalties, against the association to compel it 
to correct any outstanding problems with the surface water management 
system facilities or in mitigation or conservation areas under the 
responsibility or control of the association. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 241

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

106 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

 
9.2.5 Deviation from or modification to, the association requirements can only be based 
upon: 
 

(a)  Intervening local government requirements of a more stringent nature 
such as the requirement of a maintenance agreement and posting of bond 
by the developer. 

 
(b)  The uniqueness of the project requiring an alternative entity. Such 

alternative entity must be evaluated upon an individual basis with any and 
all necessary agreements or easements in effect before approval will be 
given. 

 
9.2.6 Phased projects shall be subject to the following additional requirements: 
 

(a)  If a master property owner's association is proposed for a project which 
will be constructed in phases, and subsequent phases will utilize the 
surface water management system for the initial phase or phases, the 
association must be created with the ability to accept future phases into 
the association. 

 
(b)  If the development scheme contemplates independent associations for 

different phases, but proposes an interdependent water management 
system for the different phases, one of the following alternatives must be 
chosen by the applicant for setting up the operating entities: 

 
1.  A master association must be formed which includes all of the 

various associations within the project, with the master association 
having the responsibility and legal ability to operate and maintain 
the surface water management system for the entire project. 

 
2.  If no master association is proposed, each entity which will operate 

and maintain a portion of an integrated surface water management 
system must have cross easements for drainage, ingress and 
egress capabilities, and the ability to enter and maintain the various 
portions, should any sub association fail to operate and maintain 
the portion of the surface water management system within their 
boundaries. A definition of operation and maintenance 
responsibilities between the entities shall be included in any such 
document. 

 
(c)  If the master association delegates primary responsibility for operating the 

portion of the surface water management system to a sub association, all 
association documents shall clearly define that the master association has 
ultimate authority and responsibility to enter, maintain and operate the 

40.a

Packet Pg. 242

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

107 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

surface water management system should any sub association fail to do 
so. 

 
(d)  If the project contains a golf course, the owner/operator must be a 

member of the association. Association documents must reflect this 
relationship. 

 
10.0  SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM CERTIFICATION AND 

OPERATION 
 
10.1     Construction Completion Certification  
 

(a) Within 30 days of completion of the surface water management system 
construction, a Florida licensed professional engineer shall certify that the 
construction was completed and that the system was constructed in 
substantial conformance with the plans and specifications approved by the 
District.  The above requirement shall be met by submittal of a completed and 
executed Environmental Resource/Surface Water Management Permit 
Construction Completion Certification Form No. 0881A, December 2011, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.361(1)(b), F.A.C., or 
equivalent.   
 

(b) The District recognizes that Form No. 0881A does not apply to all water 
management systems.  If Form No. 0881A does not apply to a particular 
system, then a certification confirming the constructed dimensions of that 
system, such as lengths, diameters and elevations must be provided.  The 
following certification statement must also appear on the certification report:  

 
I HEREBY NOTIFY THE DISTRICT OF THE COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION OF 
ALL THE COMPONENTS OF THE SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
FOR THE ABOVE REFERENCED PROJECT AND CERTIFY THAT THEY HAVE 
BEEN CONSTRUCTED IN SUBSTANTIAL CONFORMANCE WITH THE PLANS AND 
SPECIFICATIONS PERMITTED BY THE DISTRICT.  [A COPY OF THE APPROVED 
PERMIT DRAWINGS IS ATTACHED WITH DEVIATIONS NOTED, IF APPLICABLE.]  I 
HEREBY AFFIX MY SEAL THIS _____ DAY OF ________, ______. (REFERENCE 
373.117, 373.419 F.S.) 
 

(c) If no deviations are detected by the certifying engineer, copies of the 
approved permit drawings need not be submitted. 

 
(d) The District will accept Environmental Resource/Surface Water Management 

Permit Construction Completion Certification Form No. 0881B, December 
2011, incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.361(1)(b), F.A.C., or 
equivalent, for surface water management systems with wet 

40.a

Packet Pg. 243

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

108 
AH VOL. II (              date) 

retention/detention areas for projects permitted prior to October 3, 1995 
provided that: 

1. Existing side slopes are no steeper than 2:1 (horizontal:vertical) from top 
of bank out to a minimum depth of two feet below the control elevation, 
except at headwalls, and/or other structural connections; 

2. The surface water management system currently functions as intended, 
consistent with the permitted surface water management system, 
including level of water quality treatment, level of flood protection, and 
storm attenuation; 

3. The wet retention/detention area side slopes have been adequately 
maintained and stabilized to support the operation of the surface water 
management system; 

4. All other components and facilities associated with the permitted surface 
water management system are certified as being constructed in 
substantial conformance with the plans and specifications permitted by the 
District; 

5. Form 0881B is signed and sealed by a Florida licensed Professional 
Engineer. 

 
10.2 Construction Completion Certification for Phased Projects – 
 
In addition to the above, certification of phases within a project will be acceptable if: 
 

(a)  The backbone drainage facilities have been constructed and certified; or 
 
(b)  The professional engineer or other individual authorized by law has 

provided documentary evidence that the certified phase can function 
satisfactorily and permanently independent of the backbone system. 

 
10.3 Operation Phase Becoming Effective – 
 
The operation phase of a project shall not become effective until the construction or 
provision of the required mitigation/compensation is complete. 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 244

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S 

HANDBOOK VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A- 2  SFWMD - Allowable Discharges Formulas for South Florida 

Water Management District Canals 
 
Appendix 3 Urban Retention/Detention 
 
Appendix B- 6 Above Ground Impoundments 
 
Appendix C- Isohyetal Maps from SFWMD Technical Memorandum, Frequency 

Analysis of One and Three Day Rainfall Maxima for central and 
southern Florida, Paul Trimble, October 1990. 

 
Appendix D- SFWMD Basins for Cumulative Impact Assessments & Mitigation 

Bank Service Areas 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTE: Appendices 2, 3, and 6, above, were previously adopted and  
incorporated into the document entitled "Basis of Review for Surface Water 
Management Permit Applications Within the South Florida Water Management 
District - March, 1994". Appendices 1, 4, 5, 7 and 8 of that document have been 
repealed. 

40.a

Packet Pg. 245

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S 

HANDBOOK VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-1 
 

Appendix A- 2 SFWMD - ALLOWABLE DISCHARGE FORMULAS 
 

Canal Allowable Runoff Design 
Frequency 

C-1 Q = (112  + 31) A 
        √A 10 year 

C-2 Essentially unlimited inflow by gravity connections 
southeast of Sunset Drive:  

54 CSM northwest of Sunset Drive 
200 year + 

C-4 Essentially unlimited inflow by gravity connections 
east 

of S.W. 87th Avenue 
200 year + 

C-6 Essentially unlimited inflow by gravity connections 
east 

of FEC Railroad 
200 year + 

C-7 Essentially unlimited inflow by gravity connection 100 year + 
C-8 Essentially unlimited inflow by gravity connection 200 year + 
C-9 Essentially unlimited inflow by gravity connection 

east 
of Red Road; 20 CSM pumped, unlimited gravity 
with development limitations west of Red Road or 
Flamingo Blvd. 

100 year + 

C-10 --------------------------------------------- 200 year + 
C-11 20 CSM west of 13A;40 CSM east of 13A ------------ 
C-12 90.6 CSM 25 year 
C-13 75.9 CSM 25 year 
C-14 69.2 CSM 25 year 
C-15 70.0 CSM 25 year 
C-16 62.6 CSM 25 year 
C-17 62.7 CSM 25 year 
C-18 41.6 CSM 25 year  
C-19 57.8 CSM ------------ 
C-23 31.5 CSM 10 year 
C-24 30.25 CSM 10 year 
C-25 Q = (47  + 28) A (Under Review) 

        √A 
10 year 

C-38 31.1 CSM (subject to restrictions of Basin Rule) 10 year 
C-40, 41, 41A 35.4 CSM 10 year 
Hillsboro Canal (east of S-
39) 

35 CSM 25 year 

North New River (east of 
S-34) 

70.8 CSM 25 year 

Everglades Ag. Area (all 
canals) 

20 CSM 5 year 

L-28 11.8 CSM ----------- 
C-51 35 CSM east of Turnpike; 27 CSM west of Turnpike 

(subject to restrictions of Basin Rule) 10 year 

C-100, 100A, 100B, 100C, 
100D: 

Q = (104  + 43) A 
         √A 10 year 

C-102 Q = (119  + 25) A 
         √A 10 year 

C-103N, C103-S Q = (107  + 39) A 
         √A 10 year 

40.a

Packet Pg. 246

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S 

HANDBOOK VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-2 
 

C-110 Q = (137 + 9) A 
         √A 10 year 

C-111 Q = (117  + 29) A 
         √A 10 year 

C-113 Q = (104  + 3) A 
         √A 10 year 

Definitions: 
Q =  Allowable runoff in cfs (cubic feet per second)      CSM = cfs per square mile 
A =  Drainage area in square miles 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 247

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S 

HANDBOOK VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-3 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 248

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-4 
 

deleted 
 

APPENDIX B- 6 ABOVE GROUND IMPOUNDMENTS 
 
1.0  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  Purpose 
 
This Appendix to the Applicant’s Handbook Volume II for use within the geographic 
limits of the South Florida Water Management District's Basis of Review for Surface 
Water Management Permit Applications has been prepared to elaborate on the criteria 
and standards applicable to above ground impoundments in accordance with the 
definition and requirements for "dams" in Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S.  The content 
herein is not intended to be all inclusive of all possible situations, but is intended to 
provide guidelines and basic performance criteria wherever possible on design criteria 
for the situations commonly encountered for most typical south Florida situations. 
Because dam performance is a function of construction, operation and maintenance as 
well as design, information on those subjects is included. The basic responsibility for 
dam performance remains vested in the owner or permittee through appropriate 
representation by his registered professional engineer in accordance with State laws. 
 
1.2  Classification 
 
Upon request or application receipt District staff will classify impoundments or dams as 
"Major" or "Minor" for application review purposes in accordance with the following 
provisions: 
 
1.2.1 Major - Impoundments located where failure would cause significant damage to 
the property of other than the permittee, could involve loss of human life, would create a 
public health hazard, or would cause irreversible environmental or water quality 
damage; maximum water depths above surrounding ground levels would generally 
exceed four feet. 
 
1.2.2 Minor - Impoundments generally located in rural areas where failure would 
generally limit significant damage to the property of the permittee, would not involve loss 
of human life, would not create a public health hazard, and would not cause irreversible 
environmental or water quality damage; maximum water depths above surrounding 
ground levels would generally be limited to four feet, except where dam break analysis 
influence lines (six inch depth and two feet per second velocity) are limited to the land of 
the permittee and others, including the public, are not involved. It may be necessary that 
the permittee's land be legally restricted by such means as a unity of title to insure 
perpetual single ownership. 
 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 249

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-5 
 

 
1.3 Certification responsibility 
 
1.3.1 Major impoundments are considered to be individually engineered structures 
involving the disciplines of geotechnical, soils, foundation, and/or structural engineering 
and are therefore required to be certified in accordance with State law by registered 
professionals individuals or firms expert in such disciplines. 
 
1.3.2 Minor impoundments are considered to be general site improvements and may 
therefore be certified in accordance with State law as part of the overall surface water 
management system by registered professionals individuals or firms with expertise in 
disciplines such as general civil and/or agricultural engineering. 
 
1.4 Information submittals 
 
1.4.1 Major impoundments require the submittal of all design, construction, operation 
and maintenance information necessary for complete review of the impoundment. 
Information to be submitted in addition to design calculations includes: 
 
a. Proposed construction schedule 
b. Safe filling and draining schedules 
c. Design of seepage and water level monitoring programs 
d. Operation and maintenance manual 
e. Influence lines for dam break analysis (6 inch depth and 2 feet per second velocity) 
f. Emergency response and evacuation plan (if appropriate) 
 
Review by the District will be done for purposes of confirming that reasonable 
assurances are offered that the intent of District policies and general engineering 
principles will be met. The review is not intended to supplant the registered 
professional’s certifying engineer's initiative, judgment judgement, expertise, experience 
and/or responsibility. When necessary the District may retain outside expertise to 
participate in the review. 
 
1.4.2 Minor impoundments require only the submittal of the usual surface water 
management permit information as enumerated in Appendix 1 (according to any specific 
standards herein) unless unusual circumstances exist. It is understood that the 
registered professional certifying engineer may perform calculations, tests, etc. for 
his/her own purposes or to meet State law and which may not be submitted. 
 
2.0 DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 
2.1 Major impoundments 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 250

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-6 
 

2.1.1 Structural stability - All elements and appurtenant works for impoundments shall 
be designed for all possible conditions up to and including maximum water depths and 
in accordance with generally accepted engineering principles for such works, which 

40.a

Packet Pg. 251

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-7 
 

include consideration of site preparation, construction materials, geological conditions, 
storm conditions, settlement, erosion, operation and maintenance and vandalism. More 
specific guidelines are as follows: 
 
2.1.1.1  Dikes - shall be designed based on field test data of subsurface conditions and 
actual procedures and materials to be used in construction. Seepage and piping shall 
be considered and cutoff walls and toe drains included where necessary. Dimensions 
shall be such as to allow maintenance by normal equipment.  Recommended side 
slopes for vegetated earth should be no steeper than 2 1/2:1 (horizontal to vertical) for 
external slopes and 3:1 (horizontal to vertical) for internal slopes. Top widths should be 
of sufficient width to allow safe vehicular access and no less than twelve feet. Dike toes 
should be continually accessible by vehicle by relatively level to berms of at least ten 
feet width. Dikes and toe berms should be widened at strategic points for vehicular 
turnaround or where necessary to load stockpiled material to be used for dike repair. 
 
2.1.1.2   Structures - Discharge and other structures should be located to be accessible 
from the top of the dike during storm conditions for emergency operation and 
maintenance if necessary. They should be of permanent low maintenance materials, 
preferably reinforced concrete. The location and design should be such that dike 
integrity is maintained. Trash racks, seepage rings and vandalism protection should be 
included. A preferable design would consist of an inlet box which does not interfere with 
normal dike sideslopes and a conduit under the dike to an outfall endwall. Erosion 
protection, energy dissipators, etc. would be necessary at strategic points including the 
outfall. 
 
2.1.2 Hydraulics - Unless more stringent criteria should apply because of other 
jurisdictional standards or unusual risks, the minimum District standards are as follows: 
 
2.1.2.1 Maximum water depth as determined by routing a three day precipitation 
(distributed according to the Applicant’s Handbook Volume II Basis of Review, Section 
5.7.2 4.2) through the inflow and outflow structures with rainfall on the reservoir. Three 
day precipitation amounts may vary between thirty six and fifty six inches depending on 
site specific conditions and risk management considerations. District staff will advise on 
request. 
 
2.1.2.2  Design water depth - As determined by routing the project allowable discharge 
design event through the inflow and outflow structures with rainfall on the reservoir. The 
three day 25 year event should typically be used as a minimum. 
 
2.1.2.3  Minimum freeboard above maximum water depth - Three feet minimum or that 
required to prevent overtopping or failure due to hurricane force winds as derived from 
the South Florida Building Code. 
 
2.1.2.4  Discharge structure – Applicant’s Handbook Volume II Basis of Review 
allowable discharge for reservoir at maximum water depth with 100 year tailwater flood 

40.a

Packet Pg. 252

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-8 
 

elevation, or Applicant’s Handbook Basis of Review allowable discharge for reservoir at 
design water depth and non-limiting tailwater, unless more accurate site specific 
tailwater elevations are applicable and substantiated by the applicant. 
 
2.1.2.5  Return overflow - Impoundments must contain an outflow discharge structure 
which returns water to the area from which inflow occurs. Therefore a separate structure 
will be necessary for pump filled impoundments to allow return flow under the conditions 
of maximum or design water depths in the reservoir with pumps continuing to operate. 
For gravity filled impoundments this structure will actually be the inflow structure since 
reservoir and project stages will be the same. 
 
2.1.2.6  Emergency discharge gates - Discharge structures should include emergency 
gates which can only be opened with District permission. Return overflow structures 
must include emergency gates to be operated at the discretion of the permittee or at the 
direction of the District. 
 
2.1.2.7  Pumps-The pumps used to fill impoundment serving multiple owners, when 
allowed, should be multiple pumps of the same sizes to allow interchange of parts. 
Electric pumps should have standby fuel operated power systems. 
 
2.1.2.8  Seepage collection systems - A safety factor of three shall be utilized for 
hydraulic conveyance design purposes. 
 
2.1.3.4  Floodplain encroachment and setbacks - Impoundments shall not be located 
within floodplains or shall otherwise provide compensation and setbacks as provided in 
Section 3.6 3.2.1.5 in the Applicant’s Handbook Volume II Basis of Review.  
Impoundments located in flat areas of diffused flow shall have the toe of dikes set back 
at least fifty feet from property lines to allow historic sheet flow to move around the 
impoundments. Greater dimensions or swale construction may be required if steep 
slopes, very large contributing areas, etc. would cause that dimension to be inadequate. 
Smaller dimensions may be allowed if the applicant can demonstrate smaller 
dimensions will suffice. 
 
2.1.4   Environmental and water quality - The provisions of the Applicant’s Handbook 
Volume I and Volume II Basis of Review apply. Since many impoundments are utilized 
for wetland management and/or mitigation, it may be necessary to set control elevations 
and emergency gate bottoms above natural ground levels in order to prevent wetland 
overdrainage. 
 
2.1.5   Emergency repair material - Appropriate amounts of type, quantity and location 
of emergency repair materials shall be included in design plans. 
 
2.2    Minor impoundments 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 253

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-9 
 

2.2.1 Structural stability - The same general comments apply as for Major 
impoundments with specific guidelines as follows follow: 

40.a

Packet Pg. 254

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-10 
 

 
2.2.1.1  Dikes - Designs shall be in accordance with commonly accepted engineering 
principles and State laws. Dikes external to the permittee's property shall meet the 
dimensional and access criteria for Major impoundments to the degree necessary to 
meet the intent of Section 1.2.1. Internal dikes may be of lesser standards, but 
sideslopes should be no steeper than 2:1 (horizontal to vertical) and top widths no less 
than five feet. 
 
2.2.1.2 Structures - Discharge and other structures should be as for Major 
impoundments. 
 
2.2.2   Hydraulics - The same general comments apply as for Major impoundments with 
specific standards as follows follow: 
 
2.2.2.1  Maximum water depth - The maximum water depth equals the design water 
depth as described for Major impoundments. 
 
2.2.2.2   Minimum freeboard above maximum water depth - Equal to the maximum 
water depth dimensions but not less than two feet, no more than three feet. 
 
2.2.2.3  Discharge structure – Applicant’s Handbook Volume II Basis of Review 
allowable discharge for reservoirs at design water depth and non-limiting tailwater, 
unless more accurate site specific tailwater elevations are applicable and substantiated 
by the applicant. 
 
2.2.2.4   Return overflow - Same as for Major impoundments. 
 
2.2.2.5  Emergency discharge gates - Same as for Major impoundments except 
installation is optional. 
 
2.2.2.6  Pumps - Same as for Major impoundments. 
 
2.2.2.7  Seepage collection systems - Optional. 
 
2.2.3  Floodplain encroachment and setbacks - Same as for Major impoundments. 
 
2.2.4  Environmental and water quality - Same as for Major impoundments. 
 
2.2.5  Emergency repair material - Optional. 
 
3.0  CONSTRUCTION 
 
Construction certification is a requirement of all permits for both Major and Minor 
impoundments, and it is therefore the responsibility of the registered professional 
certifying engineer to satisfy himself/herself and the State laws as to construction 

40.a

Packet Pg. 255

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-11 
 

compliance with design. Changes to permitted design would require the need for As-
Built plans to satisfy certification. Major changes, including changes to permit 
authorization or special or limiting conditions would require a permit modification prior to 
implementation. The District expects continual construction observation to be the 
minimum requirement necessary to evidence ability to perform certification on Major 
impoundments.  Certification must indicate that construction has been satisfactorily 
completed so that routine operation and maintenance may commence. 
 
4.0  OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE 
 
4.1  Reporting 
 
Inspection of impoundment conditions, repairs, etc. will be a continuing process 
required by permit special condition. Inspection reports are to be retained by the 
permittee and copies made available to the District upon request. It is the basic 
responsibility of the permittee to initiate interim reporting and/or more detailed reporting 
to the District as conditions change, emergencies or problems arise, etc. It is expected 
that Major impoundments will be reported in accordance with the operation and 
maintenance manual and emergency response and evacuation plan adopted at the time 
of permit issuance, with updates as necessary. 
 
4.2  Primary subjects of interest 
 
4.2.1  Major impoundments 
 
4.2.1.l  Dikes and seepage collection system 
 
a.  Vegetation conditions 
b.  Erosion 
c.  Evidence of boils, piping, unusual seepage 
d.  Slope stability, surface cracking 
e.  Settlement 
f.  Travelway conditions 
9.  High and low water marks 
h.  Presence of aquatic vegetation in supposed dry areas 
i.  Monitoring system condition and monitoring data 
j.  Adequacy and condition of emergency repair material 
k.  Short and long term repair and modification recommendations 
 
4.2.1.2 Structures and pumps 
 
a.  Materials conditions 
b.  Operational conditions 
c.  Evidence of vandalism 
d.  Settlement and erosion 

40.a

Packet Pg. 256

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-12 
 

e.  Freedom from trash problems 
f.  Short and long term repair and modification recommendations  
 
 
4.2.1.3 Impoundment area 
 
a.  Vegetation changes 
b.  Evidence of encroachment and misuse of land 
 
4.2.1.4 Emergency response plan 
 
a.  Land use changes in area of influence 
b.  Topographic changes causing change in area of influence 
c.  Changes in participants, addresses, phone numbers, etc. involved in 

emergency response plan 
d.  Evidence of contact update with involved emergency management 

officials 
 
4.2.2 Minor impoundments 
 
4.2.2.1 Dikes 
 
a.  Vegetation conditions 
b.  Erosion, settlement, cracking, stability 
c.  Short term repair and modification recommendations 
 
4.2.2.2 Structures and pumps 
 
a.  Structural conditions 
b.  Operational conditions 
c.  Short term repair and modification recommendations 
 
4.2.2.3 Impoundment area 
 
a.  Vegetation changes 
b.  Evidence of encroachment and misuse of land 
 
4.3 Typical special condition 
 
4.3.1   Upon completion of construction, and on an annual basis (in March of each 
year), the permittee shall have an inspection performed to assess the structural 
adequacy of all above-ground dikes, control structures, levees and berms behind which 
water is to be contained and where failure could impact off-site areas.  A registered 
professional engineer registered in the State of Florida shall perform each inspection 
and prepare each report.  These reports shall be signed and sealed by the registered 

40.a

Packet Pg. 257

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-13 
 

professional engineer performing the inspection, kept on file by the permittee and made 
available to the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) personnel upon 
request.  If deficiencies are found that will affect the performance of the impoundment, a 
report which is signed and sealed by the registered professonal engineer performing the 
inspection shall be submitted to the District which includes, but is not limited to, the 
proposed technique and schedule for repair of any deficiencies noted. 
 
5.0 REFERENCES 
 
Agencies with impoundment experience and publications: 
a.  U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
b.  U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Reclamation 
c.  U S Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service 
  

40.a

Packet Pg. 258

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-14 
 

Appendix C: Isohyetal Maps from SFWMD Technical Memorandum, Frequency 
Analysis of One and Three Day Rainfall Maxima for central and 

southern Florida, Paul Trimble, October 1990. 
 
 
 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 259

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-15 
 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 260

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-16 
 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 261

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-17 
 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 262

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-18 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 263

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-19 
 

 
  

40.a

Packet Pg. 264

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-20 
 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 265

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-21 
 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 266

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-22 
 

  

40.a

Packet Pg. 267

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-23 
 

 
APPENDIX D- SFWMD Basins for Cumulative Impact Assessments & Mitigation 

Bank Service Areas 
 

40.a

Packet Pg. 268

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Proposed 2013 
BASIS OF REVIEW FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT PERMITS APPLICANT’S HANDBOOK 

VOLUME II    Effective: _______________ 
 

A-24 
 

 

40.a

Packet Pg. 269

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 A

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-0.113 Variances from Specified Review Criteria for Environmental 
Resource Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171, 373.414(17) FS. Law Implemented 
403.201 FS. History–New 9-2-98, Amended 6-12-00, 6-26-02, Repealed  . 

40E-1.602 Permits Required. 
Unless expressly exempt by statute or District rule, permits must be obtained from the 
District prior to commencement of the following activities: 

(1) through (3) No change. 
(4) An individual or general environmental resource permit pursuant to Chapters 62-

330 or 40E-4, 40E-40, or 40E-400, F.A.C., or, an individual or general surface water 
management or wetland resource permit grandfathered pursuant to Sections 
373.414(11)-(16), F.S., must be obtained prior to: 

(a) Construction, alteration, operation, maintenance, repair or abandonment of any 
stormwater surface water management system, dam, impoundment, reservoir, 
appurtenant work or works including dredging or filling as prescribed by District rule, 

(b) Establishment and operation of a mitigation bank. 
(5) A conceptual environmental resource permit may be obtained for proposed 

surface water management systems or mitigation banks. However, a conceptual permit 
does not authorize construction or operation. A conceptual mitigation bank permit can 
be utilized to estimate the legal and financial requirements for the mitigation bank, 
information required for evaluation of the mitigation bank permit application, and 
potential mitigation credits that would be awarded to the specific project proposal. 

(6) A proprietary authorization pursuant to Chapters 253 and 258, F.S., is required 
and shall be reviewed by the District for all activities which require a permit under 
Chapters 62-330 or 40E-4, 40E-40, or 40E-400, F.A.C., or a permit under subsections 
373.414(11)-(16), F.S., and which are located on submerged lands owned by the Board 
of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund pursuant to Section 373.427, F.S., 
Chapter 18-21, F.A.C., and Rules 18-18.014 and 62-343.075, F.A.C. 

(7) An artificial recharge permit pursuant to Chapter 40E-5, F.A.C., must be obtained 
prior to construction of any project involving artificial recharge or the intentional 
introduction of water into any underground formation; 

(8) A Works or Lands of the District permit pursuant to Chapter 40E-6, F.A.C., must 
be obtained prior to connecting with, placing structures in or across, discharging into or 
making use of works of the District and any additional lands or real property interests 
owned by the District. 

(9) A Use of Works of the District within the Lake Okeechobee Basin General or 
Individual Permit must be obtained pursuant to Chapter 40E-61, F.A.C., by any owner of 
a parcel of land within the Lake Okeechobee Basin. 

(10) An Occupancy or Use of the C-18 Right of Way general or individual permit 
pursuant to Chapter 40E-62, F.A.C., must be obtained prior to constructing, planting, 

40.b

Packet Pg. 270

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



maintaining, pruning, mooring boats, and placing other items on, across, under, or upon 
District lands and works along the C-18 canal right of way. 

(11) A Use of Works of the District within the Everglades general, individual or 
master permit pursuant to Chapter 40E-63, F.A.C., must be obtained by any owner of a 
parcel of land in the Everglades Agricultural Area. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131, 373.4135 FS. Law Implemented 
120.53(1), 120.57, 120.60, 373.085, 373.106, Chapter 373 Parts II and IV FS. History–
New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-1.06, Amended 7-26-87, 5-11-93, 10-3-95, 4-1-96, 
 . 

40E-1.603 Application Procedures for Processing Permit Applications or 
Notices of Intent. 

(1) Application procedures for environmental resource permits are set forth in 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C. The following procedures for processing permit applications or 
notices of intent apply in addition to the requirements of Section 120.60, F.S., and 
Chapter 28-106, F.A.C. 

(a) No change.  
(b) If the District determines that the application is incomplete, the District shall 

request the information needed to complete the application within 30 days of its receipt.  
For individual environmental resource permits, standard environmental resource 
permits, individual water use permits, and standard general water use permits, the 
applicant shall have 90 days from receipt of a timely request for additional information to 
submit that information to the District. 

(c) through (e) No change.  
(2) No change. 
(3)(a) Agency action on individual permits and conceptual approvals for 

environmental resource permits shall occur within 90 days of receipt of a complete 
application, including receipt of all requested information and correction of any error or 
omission of which the applicant was timely notified. 

(b) No change. 
(c) Agency action on a standard environmental resource permit application in 

Chapter 40E-40, F.A.C., shall occur within 60 days of receipt of a complete application, 
including receipt of all requested information and correction of any error or omission of 
which the applicant was timely notified. 

(d) Noticed general environmental resource permits under Chapter 40E-400, F.A.C., 
may be utilized by the applicant 30 days after the District receives the notice of intent, 
unless a notice that the project does not qualify for the noticed general permit is sent by 
regular United States mail or electronic mail by the District within 30 days, in 
accordance with Rule 40E-400.211, F.A.C. If notice that the proposed project does not 
qualify for the noticed general permit is sent by regular United States mail or electronic 
mail by the District to the applicant, the review process under subsection (1) shall be 

40.b

Packet Pg. 271

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



initiated or the applicant shall be required to apply for the appropriate permit if the 
requested activity is not covered by the noticed general permit rule. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 
120.60, 373.107, 373.109, 373.116, 373.229, 373.4131, 373.417, 373.421, 373.422, 
668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-1.08(1)-(8), Amended 
7-1-86, 7-26-87, 11-21-89, 5-11-93, 10-3-95, 4-1-96, 7-2-98, 6-12-00, 10-1-06, 
Amended 12-1-11, 10-23-12,  . 

40E-1.6065 Consideration of Intended Agency Decision on Permit 
Applications. 

(1) After the application for a permit is declared by staff to be complete, the District 
shall prepare a Staff  Review Summary, which shall contain its recommendations 
regarding the subject application and which shall constitute intended agency decision. A 
notice of intended agency decision together with the Staff Review Summary shall be 
furnished to the applicant and any persons requesting the same pursuant to Rule 40E-
1.6058, F.A.C., as applicable. The notice shall state the District Staff's recommendation 
that the District approve, deny, or approve with conditions the permit application and the 
reasons therefore. 

(2) If staff’s recommendation is for denial, tThe District shall consider the application 
for a conceptual approval, individual environmental resource, individual surface water 
management, or individual water use permit application at its next available regularly 
scheduled regulatory meeting following the mailing or electronic mailing of notice of 
intended agency decision, unless an administrative hearing is requested and granted 
pursuant to Section 120.569, F.S. 

(3) In no case shall agency action be taken later than 60 90 days after the 
application for a conceptual approval, or individual environmental resource permit, or 
later than 90 days for an individual water use permit is declared complete unless waived 
by the applicant or stayed by the filing of a petition for an administrative hearing. The 
permit applicant may voluntarily waive the timeline for governing action on the permit 
application in Section 120.60, F.S., in order to resolve any outstanding issues, including 
third party objections, regarding the project. 

(4) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 120.60, 
373.079, 373.083, 373.107, 373.109, 373.116, 373.4141, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. 
History–New 7-2-98, Amended 6-12-00, 10-1-06, 10-23-12,  . 

40E-1.607 Permit Application Processing Fees. 
A permit application processing fee is required and shall be paid to the District when 
certain applications are filed pursuant to District rules. An application shall not be 
considered complete until the appropriate application fee is submitted. These fees are 
assessed in order to defray the cost of evaluating, processing, monitoring, and 

40.b

Packet Pg. 272

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



inspecting for compliance required in connection with consideration of such 
applications. Fees are non-refundable in whole or part unless the activity for which an 
application is filed is determined by the District to be exempt or the fee submitted is 
determined by the District to be incorrect. Failure of any person to pay the applicable 
fees established herein will result in denial of an application. Activities that do not 
require a permit and are exempt pursuant to Rule 40E-2.051 or 40E-3.051, F.A.C., are 
not subject to the following permit application fees. The District’s permit application 
processing fees are as follows: 

(1) through (2) No change.  
(3)(a) Environmental Resource Permit Application processing fees are in the 

following table: 
TABLE 40E-1.607(3)(a) 

PERMIT APPLICATION PROCESSING FEES FOR 
ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT APPLICATIONS 

REVIEWED PURSUANT TO CHAPTERS 62-330 40E-4, 40E-40, AND 40E-400, F.A.C. 
For the purposes of determining the applicable processing fee, “project area” means the 
total area wherein works occur as part of an activity requiring a permit under Part IV of 
Chapter 373, F.S., including all portions of the stormwater management system serving 
the project area. Fee amounts shall apply to applications for conceptual and 
construction, or conceptual, or construction, except as noted. 

1. Use of the reviewing agency’s electronic self-certification system $0 
2. Verification of exemption under Section 373.406 or 403.813(1), 

F.S., or under Rules 62-330.050 through 62-330.051, F.A.C. 
$100 

3. Verification of qualification to use a Noticed General Permit $250 
4. Individual or Conceptual Approval Permits, excluding Permits for a 

Mitigation Bank 
 

a. New applications – the processing fee for a new permit application 
shall be as determined from the categories below: 

 

(I) Total project area of less than 10 acres and no activities in, on or 
over wetlands or other surface waters, except where exempt under Rule 
62-330.051(9)(a) through (c), F.A.C. 

$2000 

(II) Project exceeds any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(I), above but 
involves a total project area of less than 10 acres, less than 1 acre of 
works (i.e. dredging, filling, construction, or alteration) in, on or over 
wetlands and other surface waters, AND less than 10 new boat slips 

$3500 

(III) Project exceeds any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(II), above, but 
involves a total project area of less than 40 acres, less than 3 acres of 
works in, on or over wetlands and other surface waters, AND less than 
30 new boat slips  

$5500 

(IV) Project exceeds any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(III), above, but 
involves a total project area of less than 100 acres, less than 10 acres of 

$7500 

40.b

Packet Pg. 273

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



works in, on or over wetlands and other surface waters, AND less than 
50 new boat slips 

(V) Project exceeds any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(IV), above, but 
involves a total project area of less than 640 acres, AND less than 50 
acres of works in, on or over wetlands and other surface waters 

$13,125 

(VI) Project exceeds any of the thresholds (3)(a)4.a.(V), above $25,000 
(VII) Projects that are exclusively for agriculture or silviculture, and 

that involve a total project area of less than 10 acres AND less than 1 
acre of works (i.e. dredging, filling, construction, or alteration) in, on or 
over wetlands and other surface waters 

$859 

(VIII) Projects that are exclusively for agriculture or silviculture, and 
that exceed any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(VII), above, but involves a 
total project area of less than 40 acres AND less than 3 acres of works in, 
on or over wetlands and other surface waters 

$2,444 

(IX) Projects that are exclusively for agriculture or silviculture, and that 
exceed any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(VIII), above, but involve a total 
project area of less than 100 acres AND less than 10 acres of works in, 
on or over wetlands and other surface waters 

$4,029 

(X) Projects that are exclusively for agriculture or silviculture, and that 
exceed any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(IX), above, but involve a total 
project area of less than 640 acres AND less than 50 acres of works in, 
on or over wetlands and other surface waters 

$5,284 

(XI) Projects that are exclusively for agriculture or silviculture, and that 
exceed any of the thresholds in (3)(a)4.a.(X), above  

$6,605 

(XII) Individual or Conceptual Permits solely for environmental 
restoration or enhancement activities, provided such activities are not 
associated with a mitigation bank and are not being implemented as 
mitigation for other activities that require a permit under Part IV of 
Chapter 373, F.S.  For the purposes of this provision, the term 
“environmental restoration or enhancement” means an action or actions 
designed and implemented solely to convert degraded or altered 
uplands, wetlands, or other surface waters to intact communities typical 
of those historically present, or to improve the quality and condition of 
currently degraded wetlands or other surface waters to a more healthy, 
functional, and sustaining condition for fish, wildlife, and listed species 

$250 

(XIII) Individual or Conceptual Permit solely to retrofit an existing 
stormwater management system or systems to add treatment to and 
reduce stormwater pollutant loadings from the system or systems 

$250 

b. Major Modifications that exceed any of the thresholds in Rule 62-
330.315(3), F.A.C.:  

 

(I) An Individual Permit or modification for a phase of construction that $1500 

40.b

Packet Pg. 274

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



is consistent with an existing Conceptual Approval Permit 
(II) Major Modifications to an Individual or Conceptual Approval Permit 

that increase the project area 
60% of fee 
for new 
permit for 
the same 
activity 

(III) All other Major Modifications 60% of fee 
for new 
permit for 
the same 
activity 

c. Minor Modifications that do not exceed any of the thresholds in 
Rule 62-330.315(2), F.A.C.: 

 

(I) Time Extensions of Permits, where not exempt from fees under 
Florida Statutes 

$500 

(II) Minor Modifications to correct minor errors that do not involve 
technical review,  to transfer ownership of a permit, or to transfer a permit 
from the construction to the operation phase  

$0 

(III) All other Minor Modifications $250 
5. Individual or Conceptual Permits for a Mitigation Bank   
a.New applications 
(I) for a Mitigation Bank with a permit area less than 100 acres  

 
$7,500 

(II) for a Mitigation Bank with a permit area greater than 100 acres but 
less than 640 acres 

(III) for a Mitigation Bank with a permit area of 640 acres or more 
b. Major Modifications involving changes to one or more of the 

following components: service area; credit assessment; success or 
release criteria; hydrologic structures or alterations; constructions or 
mitigation design that does not increase the project area; elimination of 
lands; or monitoring or management plans: 

$13,125 
 

$25,000 

(I) Affecting one of the above components 20% of the 
fee under 

5.a.  
 

(II) Affecting two of the above components 40% of the 
fee under 

5.a. 
 

(III) Affecting three of the above components 60% of the 
fee under 

5.a. 

40.b

Packet Pg. 275

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



 
 

(IV) Major modifications affecting four or more of the above 
components or that increase the project area 

100% of 
the fee 

under 5.a.  
c. Major Modifications that do not involve changes to the components 

listed in (3)(a)5.b. above, but that exceed any of the thresholds in Rule 
62-330.315(2), F.A.C.: 

100% of 
the fee 

under 5.a. 
 

d. Minor Modifications that do not exceed any of the thresholds in 
Rule 62-330.315(2), F.A.C.: 

 

(I) Time Extensions of Permits, where not exempt from fees under 
Florida Statutes 

$500 

(II) To correct minor errors that do not involve technical review, to 
transfer ownership of a permit, or to transfer a permit from the 
construction to the operation phase  

$0 

(III) All other Minor Modifications $250 
e. Mitigation Bank Credit Release $0 
f. Mitigation Bank Credit Withdrawal $0 
6. Informal Wetland Determination  
a. Where total area included is less than 1 acre $250 
b. Where total area included is greater than 1 acre $500 
7. Variance or Waiver:  
a. Under Section 120.542, F.S. $0 
b. Under Section 373.414(17), F.S. $1,125 
8. Fee reductions:  
a. Applications by an entity qualifying under Section 218.075, F.S., 

when the fee exceeds $100.00 
$100.00 

b. Applications submitted by the U.S. Department of Defense $0 
c. For resubmittal, within 365 days, of an application for the same 

project that was previously withdrawn, under Rule 62-330.071(3), F.A.C., 
any fee paid as part of the previous application will be applied toward the 
fee required for the application under this rule 

Previously 
paid fee 
shall be 
applied 

 
 
Category Amoun

t 
New Individual Permit  
Project area less than 100 acres  
Agriculture $4,029 
All others, including Mitigation Banks $7,500 

40.b

Packet Pg. 276

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Project area 100 acres to less than 640 acres  
Agriculture $5,284  
All others, including Mitigation Banks $13,12

5 
Project area 640 acres or more  
Agriculture $6,605  
All others, including Mitigation Banks $25,00

0 
Individual Permit Modification   
Project area less than 100 acres  
Agriculture $2,708  
All others, including Mitigation Banks $5,000 
Project area 100 acres to less than 640 acres  
Agriculture $3,303 
All others, including Mitigation Banks $10,00

0 
Project area 640 acres or more  
Agriculture $4,624  
All others, including Mitigation Banks $15,00

0 
New Standard Permit (excluding incidental site activities pursuant to Rule 40E-
40.042, F.A.C.) 

 

Agriculture $859 
All others $3,500 
Standard Permit Modification including   
Application for phase construction under a  
Conceptual Approval  
Application for individual permit modification  
for a system which does not exceed the criteria  
in Rule 40E-40.041, F.A.C. and which is not  
required to obtain an individual environmental  
resource permit for the reasons in subsection   
40E-40.011(2), F.A.C.   
Agriculture $661 
All others $1,500 
Noticed General Permit pursuant to Chapter 40E-400, F.A.C., including 
aquaculture 

$250 

Single family residential homesite consisting of 10 acres or less in total land 
area 

$100 

Standard Permit for incidental site activities pursuant   
to Rule 40E-40.042, F.A.C. (Early Work) $1,000 

40.b

Packet Pg. 277

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Transfer of permit (including Mitigation Bank) to another entity   
pursuant to Rules 40E-1.6107 and 40E-4.351, F.A.C. $675 
Variance associated with an environmental resource permit application  
From paragraph 40E-4.301(1)(e), F.A.C. $750 
From other permitting standards, permit conditions, or water quality standards $1,500 
New Individual Operation Permit $5,250 
Letter Modification $250 
New Individual or Standard Permits, or Individual or Standard Permit  
Modifications, solely for environmental restoration or enhancement activities  
provided such activities are not associated with a mitigation bank and are not 
being implemented as mitigation for other activities that require a permit 
under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S. Such activities may include incidental 
passive recreation and facilities to provide public access to the environmental 
restoration or enhancement site 

 
 
 
 
$250 
 

No Notice General Permits pursuant to Rules 40E-400.315 and 40E-400.316, 
F.A.C. 
Verification that an activity is exempt from regulation under Part IV, Chapter 373 
or 403.813, F.S. 
Informal wetland boundary determinations under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., 
for property less than  
or equal to 1 acre  
Permit Extensions 

$100 
$100 
 
$500 
$500 

9 1. When used in Table paragraph 40E-1.607(3)(a), F.A.C., “Agriculture” shall be 
defined as set forth in Section 570.02, F.S. 

10 2. For permit applications which involve a combination of fee categories, the 
highest fee that applies shall be charged. 

11 3. Any individual permit application submitted concurrently with a conceptual 
approval application – where the individual permit application represents a phase of the 
conceptual approval application – is exempt from the above environmental resource 
permit fees. 

12 4. For projects grandfathered pursuant to Section 373.414, F.S., the letter 
modification, conceptual approval, individual or general surface water management 
permit application fee shall be the same as listed in Table paragraph 40E-1.607(3)(a), 
F.A.C. 

13 5. The District shall use the Consumer Price Index (CPI) adopted by the United 
States Department of Labor since the most recently revised fee increase for revising 
fees under Part IV of Chapter 373, F.S., pursuant to Section 373.109, F.S. The inflation 
index used is the price paid by all urban consumers for a market basket of consumer 
goods and services; specifically, the CPI figures for the “CPI-U, U.S. City Average. All 
Items” established for the previous five years by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) 
(www.bls.gov/cpi), computed as provided in the BLS publication Bureau of Labor 

40.b

Packet Pg. 278

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)

http://www.bls.gov/cpi


Staticstics Handbook of Methods, Chapter 17 
(www.bls.gov/opub/hom/pdf/homch17.pdf).  

(b) No change.  
(4) No change.  
(5) Petition for Formal Determination of Wetlands and Other Surface Waters 

processing fees are in the following table: 
TABLE 40E-1.607(5) 

DETERMINATION PETITION PROCESSING FEES FOR 
FORMAL DETERMINATION OF WETLANDS AND 

OTHER SURFACE WATERS 
For the validation of informal, non-binding wetland determinations pursuant to Section 
373.421(6), F.S., the fees shall be the same as formal determinations listed in Table 
subsection 40E-1.607(5), F.A.C. 
Category Amount 
Property less than or equal to 10 acres $500 
Property greater than 10 acres but less than or equal to 40 100 acres $1,000 

1,500 
Property greater than 40 acres but less than or equal to  100 acres $1500 
Additional fee per 100 acres (or portion thereof) beyond the first 100 acres $350 
Property greater than 100 acres but less than or equal to 320 acres $3,500 
Property greater than 320 acres  $5,000 
Reissuance of a Formal Determination Renewal  $350 

(6) No change. 
(7) PERMIT APPLICATION PROCESSING FEES FOR MODIFICATION OR 

TRANSFER OF ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE, SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT 
OR WORKS OF THE DISTRICT PERMITS FOR PROPERTIES ACQUIRED BY THE 
DISTRICT PURSUANT TO THE FLORIDA FOREVER WORK PLAN OR SAVE OUR 
RIVERS LAND ACQUISITION AND MANAGEMENT PLAN: 
(a) Modification of existing permits to reflect property ownership changes 
where no new works or modifications to an existing stormwater surface water 
management system is requested. 

$0 

(b) Permit transfer pursuant to Rules 40E-1.6107 and 62-330.340 40E-4.351, 
F.A.C. 

$0 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.109, 373.113, 373.421(2), 373.421(6)(b), 373.4131 
FS. Law Implemented 218.075, 373.109, 373.4131, 373.421(2), 373.421(6)(b), 403.201 
FS. History–New 1-8-89, Amended 1-2-91, 11-15-92, 6-1-93, 1-23-94, 10-3-95, 4-1-96, 
11-8-99, 5-24-00, 6-26-02, 7-11-02, 8-10-03, 8-14-03, 11-18-07, 11-1-09, 12-15-11, 10-
23-12,  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 279

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)

http://www.bls.gov/opub/hom/pdf/homch17.pdf


40E-1.6107 Transfer of Environmental Resource, Surface Water Management, 
Water Use Permit or Wetland Resource Permit. 

(1) The procedures for the transfer of environmental resource permits are set forth in 
Rule 62-330.310, F.A.C.  To transfer a an environmental resource, surface water 
management, water use, or wetland resource permit, the permittee, in addition to 
satisfying the applicable provisions in Rules 40E-2.351, 40E-4.351, and 40E-20.351, 
and 40E-40.351, F.A.C., must submit Form No. 0483, (date), (hyperlink), October 2012, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01531, Request for 
Environmental Resource, Surface Water Management, Water Use, or Weltand 
Resource Permit Transfer, incorporated by reference herein.  Form 0483 is also 
available at no cost by contacting the South Florida Water Management District Clerk’s 
Office, 3301 Gun Club Road, West Palm Beach, FL 33406, 1(800)432-2045, ext. 6436, 
or (561)682-6436. 

(2) through (5) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.083, 
373.171, 373.309, 373.416, 373.426, 373.429, 373.436, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. 
History–New 5-11-93, Amended 10-3-95, 10-1-06, 10-23-12,  . 

40E-1.615 Coordinated Agency Review Procedures for the Florida Keys Area 
of Critical State Concern. 

(1) No change. 
(2) No change. 
(a) No change. 
(b) No permit and no coordinated agency review participation by the District is 

required for surface water management activities which are exempted by Rule 62-
330.051 40E-4.051 (Exempt Activities Exemptions), F.A.C. 

(3) The following coordinated agency review procedures apply to projects which 
require permits pursuant to Chapters 40E-2 or 40E-20 (Consumptive Use), 62-330,  and 
40E-4 or 40E-40, (Environmental Resource), F.A.C.: 

(a) The Coordinated Review Application shall consist of the application information 
required by Rules 40E-1.603 (Application Procedures for Processing Permit 
Applications or Notices of Intent), 40E-2.101 (Content of Application) or 62-330.060 
40E-4.101 (Content of Application), F.A.C. 

(b) through (f) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131, 380.051 FS. Law Implemented 
373.4131, 380.051, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. History– New 9-22-87, Amended 10-
3-95, 10-1-06, 12-1-11, 10-23-12,  . 

40E-1.659 Forms and Instructions. 
The following forms and instructions are incorporated by reference throughout the 
District’s rules as specified below and are listed herein for convenience. Hyperlinks are 

40.b

Packet Pg. 280

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)

http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01531


provided in the rules in which the forms and instructions are referenced and can be 
obtained without cost by contacting the South Florida Water Management District 
Clerk’s Office, 3301 Gun Club Road, West Palm Beach, FL 33406, (800) 432-2045, ext. 
6436, or (561) 682-6436. 
Form No. Date Title 
0186 No 

change. 
No change. 

0188-QMQ No 
change. 

No change. 

0188-QASR No 
change. 

No change. 

0188-QMON  No 
change. 

No change. 

0188-QMQF No 
change. 

No change. 

0188-QCROP No 
change. 

No change. 

0188-
QBWDR 

No 
change. 

No change. 

0444 12-11  Application for a Standard Permit for Incidental Site Activities, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-40.042(5), F.A.C.  

0445 No 
change. 

No change. 

0483   
9-04  

Request for Environmental Resource, Surface Water Management, Water 
Use or Wetland Resource Permit Transfer, incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-1.6107(1), F.A.C. 

0645-W01 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G60 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G61-1 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G61-2 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G65 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G74 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G69 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G70 No No change. 

40.b

Packet Pg. 281

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



change. 
0645-G71 No 

change. 
No change. 

0645-G72 No 
change. 

No change. 

0645-G73 No 
change. 

No change. 

0779 No 
change. 

No change. 

0881A 12-11  Environmental Resource/Surface Water Management Permit Construction 
Completion Certification, incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-
4.361(1)(b), F.A.C.  

0881B 12-11 Environmental Resource/Surface Water Management Permit Construction 
Completion Certification-For Projects Permitted Prior to October 3, 1995, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.361(1)(b), F.A.C. 

0889 No 
change. 

No change. 

0920 12-11  Request for Conversion of District Environmental Resource/Surface Water 
Management Permit from Construction Phase to Operation Phase and 
Transfer of Permit to the Operating Entity, incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.361(1)(a), F.A.C.   

0960 12-11 Environmental Resource/Surface Water Management Permit Construction 
Commencement Notice, incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-
4.381(1)(d), F.A.C. 

0961 12-11 Environmental Resource/Surface Water Management Permit Annual 
Status Report for Surface Water Management System Construction, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.361(1)(e), F.A.C. 

0971 5-12 Joint Application for Environmental Resource Permit/Authorization to Use 
State Owned Submerged Lands/Federal Dredge and Fill Permit, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.101(1)(b), F.A.C. 

0972 5-12 Petition for a Formal Wetland and Surface Water Determination, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

0974 12-11 Notice of Intent to Construct a Minor Silvicultural System, incorporated by 
reference in subsection 40E-400.500(2), F.A.C. 

0980 5-12 Notice of Intent to Use a Noticed General Environmental Resource 
Permit, incorporated by reference in subsection 40E-400.400(2), F.A.C. 

1019 12-11 Mitigation Bank Performance Bond to Demonstrate 
Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1020 12-11 Mitigation Bank Irrevocable Letter of Credit to Demonstrate 
Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, incorporated by 

40.b

Packet Pg. 282

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 
1021 12-11 Mitigation Bank Standby Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate 

Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1022 12-11 Mitigation Bank Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate 
Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1023 12-11 Mitigation Bank Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate Perpetual 
Management Financial Assurance, incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1024 12-11 Mitigation Bank Standby Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate Perpetual 
Management Financial Assurance, incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1045 No 
change. 

No change. 

1105 12-11 Performance Bond to Demonstrate Financial Assurance, incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1106 12-11 Irrevocable Letter of Credit to Demonstrate Financial Assurance, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1189 12-11 Notice of Environmental Resource or Surface Water Management Permit, 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1190 12-11 Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard), incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1191 12-11 Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard Passive Recreational), 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1192 12-11 Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard Riparian), incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1194 12-11 Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Standard), incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1195 12-11 Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Passive Recreational), 
incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1196 12-11 Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Riparian), incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1197 12-11 Restrictive Covenant (Standard), incorporated by reference in paragraph 
40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

1318 12-11 Deed of Conservation Easement (Local Governments), incorporated by 
reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C. 

62-
532.900(1) 

No 
change. 

No change. 

62-
532.900(2) 

No 
change. 

No change. 

40.b

Packet Pg. 283

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Rulemaking Authority 218.075, 373.044, 373.113, 373.4136, 373.416, 695.03, 704.06 
FS. Law Implemented 218.075, 373.113, 373.4135, 373.4136, 373.416, 704.06 FS. 
History–New 9-3-81, Amended 12-1-82, 3-9-83, Formerly 16K-1.90, Amended 7-26-87, 
11-21-89, 1-4-93, Formerly 40E-1.901, Amended 5-11-93, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 6-26-02, 8-
14-02, 8-31-03, 9-16-03, 9-20-04, 2-12-06, 1-23-07, 8-7-07, 7-4-10, 12-15-11, 5-20-12, 
10-23-12,  . 

40E-1.715 Civil Penalty Calculation. 
(1) Consistency and equitable treatment are essential elements of the District’s 

enforcement guidelines. Therefore, the District has developed two civil penalty matrices 
(CPM) for use in calculating appropriate civil penalties in enforcement actions. The 
Consumptive Use CPM, October 2012, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01532, is incorporated by 
reference herein and utilized for violations of Chapters 40E-2, 40E-3, 40E-5, 40E-20, 
40E-21, F.A.C. The Environmental Resource CPM, October 2012  
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01533, is incorporated by 
reference herein and utilized for violations of Chapters 62-330, 40E-4, 40E-40, 40E-41, 
40E-61, and 40E-63 and 40E-400, F.A.C. Copies of the CPMs are also available at no 
cost by contacting the South Florida Water Management District Clerk’s Office, 3301 
Gun Club Road, West Palm Beach, FL 33405, 1(800)432-2045, ext. 6436, or (561)682-
6436. 

(2) through (5) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113, 373.333(1) FS. Law Implemented 
120.69, 373.129, 373.209(3), 373.430, 373.603 FS. History– New 10-3-95, Amended 
10-23-12,  . 

40E-4.010 Review of Environmental Resource Permit Applications. 
Environmental Resource permit applications are processed pursuant to the provisions 
of Section 120.60, F.S., Part VI of Chapters 40E-1, 62-330 and 28-106, F.A.C. 
Rulemaking Authority 120.54(5), 120.60, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 120.54(5), 
120.60, 373.4131 FS. History–New 7-2-98, Amended . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 
 

40E-4.011 Policy and Purpose. 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.086(1), 373.103(1), 
373.103(4), 373.403-.443 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-4.01, Amended 4-20-
94, 10-3-95, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 284

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.021 Definitions. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.019, 373.403-.443, 
403.031, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50, 704.06 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 1-31-82, 
12-1-82, Formerly 16K-1.05(1), Amended 7-1-86, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 4-1-96, 10-1-06, 3-
22-09, 11-11-09, 12-1-11, 5-20-12, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.041 Permits Required. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.406(5) FS. Law Implemented 373.103, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 12-1-82, Formerly 16K-
4.03(1), 16K-4.07(1), 16K-4.09(1), Amended 1-23-94, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 4-1-96, 1-7-97, 
7-22-07, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.0415 Permit Thresholds. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.406(5) FS. Law Implemented 373.118(1), 
373.413(1) FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 5-28-00, 6-26-02, 4-14-03, 12-1-11, 
Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.042 Formal Determination of Wetlands and Other Surface Waters. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.043, 373.113, 373.421(2) FS. Law Implemented 373.421(2) 
FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 7-22-07, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

40.b

Packet Pg. 285

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-4.051 Exemptions From Permitting. 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 373.406, 
373.413, 373.416, 403.813(1), (2) FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 1-31-82, 3-9-83, 
Formerly 16K-4.02, Amended 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 5-28-00, 9-2-01, 4-14-03, 9-9-07, 12-1-
11, 5-20-12, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.0515 Exemptions From Specified Review Criteria. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 373.406, 
373.413, 373.416, 403.813(2) FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 5-28-00, Repealed 
 . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.054 Modification of Exempt Projects. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.406, 373.413, 
373.416 FS. History–New 3-9-83, Amended 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 5-28-00, Repealed 
 . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.091 Publications, Rules and Interagency Agreements Incorporated by 

Reference. 
(1) The following publications, rules and interagency agreements are incorporated 

by reference herein: 
(a) “Basis of Review for Environmental Resource Permit Applicant’s Handbook 

Volume II for Use Within the Geographic Limits of Applications within the South Florida 
Water Management District, May 20, 2012 _______(date), 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01045 __________(hyperlink), 
which incorporates the following forms or materials by reference: 

1. Form No. 0972, Petition for a Formal Wetland and Surface Water Determination, 
May 20, 2012, http://www.flrules.org/gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01047, 
(referenced in Section 4.5.1); 

40.b

Packet Pg. 286

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)

http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01045
http://www.flrules.org/gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-01047


2. Form No. 1019, Mitigation Bank Performance Bond to Demonstrate 
Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00069, (referenced in Section 
4.4.4.7); 

3. Form No. 1020, Mitigation Bank Irrevocable Letter of Credit to Demonstrate 
Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00070, (referenced in Section 
4.4.4.7); 

4. Form No. 1021, Mitigation Bank Standby Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate 
Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00071, (referenced in Section 
4.4.4.7); 

5. Form No. 1022, Mitigation Bank Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate 
Construction/Implementation Financial Assurance, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00072, (referenced in Section 
4.4.4.7); 

6. Form No. 1023, Mitigation Bank Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate Perpetual 
Management Financial Assurance, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00073, (referenced in Section 
4.4.4.7); 

7. Form No. 1024, Mitigation Bank Standby Trust Fund Agreement to Demonstrate 
Perpetual Management Financial Assurance, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00074, (referenced in Section 
4.4.4.7); 

8. Form No. 1105, Performance Bond, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00075, (referenced in Section 
4.3.7.6); 

9. Form No. 1106, Irrevocable Letter of Credit, December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00076, (referenced in Section 
4.3.7.6); 

10. Form No. 1190, Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard), December 2011 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00078, (referenced in Section 
4.3.8); 

11. Form No. 1191, Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard Passive 
Recreational), December 2011, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-
00079, (referenced in Section 4.3.8); 

12. Form No. 1192, Deed of Conservation Easement (Standard Riparian), 
December 2011, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00080, 
(referenced in Section 4.3.8); 

13. Form No. 1194, Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Standard), 
December 2011, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00081 

40.b

Packet Pg. 287

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)

http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00069
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00070
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00071
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00072
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00073
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00074
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00075
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00076
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00078
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00079
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00079
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00080
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00081


(referenced in Section 4.3.8); 
14. Form No. 1195, Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Passive 

Recreational), December 2011, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-
00082, (referenced in Section 4.3.8); 

15. Form No. 1196, Deed of Conservation Easement (Third Party Riparian), 
December 2011, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00083, 
(referenced in Section 4.3.8); 

16. Form No. 1197, Restrictive Covenant (Standard), December 2011, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00084, (referenced in Section 
4.3.8); 

17. Form No. 1318, Deed of Conservation Easement (Local Governments), 
December 2011, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00085, 
(referenced in Section 4.3.8); 

1.18. Chapter 27, Article XIII, Wellfield Protection Ordinance, Broward County Code 
of Ordinances, last amended September 28, 1999, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00052;  

2.19. Dade County Wellfield Protection Ordinance contour showing maximum limits 
(Section 24-43 Protection of Public Potable Water Supply Wells; Chapter 24 
Environmental Protection; Code of Metropolitan Dade County, Florida; Codified through 
Ordinance No. 11-01, enacted January 20, 2011 (Supp. No. 68)), 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00053. 

(b) 50 C.F.R., section 17.12, April 8, 2004, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00044; and Rules 68A-27.003, 
December 16, 2003, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00092, 
68A-27.004, May 15, 2008, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-
00444, and 68A-27.005, F.A.C., November 8, 2007, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00093. 

(b)(c) Operating Agreement Concerning Regulation Under Part IV, Chapter 373, 
F.S., between South Florida Water Management District and Department of 
Environmental Protection, July 1, 2007, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00055. 

(c)(d) State water quality standards set forth in Chapters 62-4 April 21, 2009, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00034, 62-302, August 5, 2010,  
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00035, 62-520, July 12, 2009, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00036, 62-522, July 12, 2009, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00037, and 62-550, F.A.C., 
September 18, 2007, http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00038. 

(d)(e) Chapter 62-312, Part IV, F.A.C., “Additional Criteria for Dredging and Filling 
Within Outstanding Florida Waters in Monroe County,” March 15, 2007, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00039. 

(f) 40 C.F.R., section 264.143(f), for the purpose of providing financial responsibility 

40.b

Packet Pg. 288

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)

http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00082
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00082
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00083
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00084
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00085
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00052
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00053
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00044
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00092
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00444
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00444
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00093
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00055
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00034
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00035
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00036
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00037
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00038
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00039


and corporate guarantee requirements, July 14, 2006, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00057. 

(g) Chapter 62-340, F.A.C., as ratified by Section 373.4211, F.S., for the purpose of 
delineating wetlands and other surface waters, July 1, 1994, 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00040. 

(h) 30 C.F.R., section 800.23 self-bonding provisions, January 14, 1988 
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00056. 

(e)(i) Delegation Agreement among the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection, the South Florida Water Management District, and Broward County, (dated 
May 22, 2001), http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00054. 

(2) No change. 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.103(8), 373.113, 373.171, 373.413, 373.4131, 
373.441, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50, 704.06 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.4131, 
373.4135, 373.4137, 373.414, 373.4142, 373.416, 373.418, 373.421, 373.426, 373.441, 
668.003, 668.004, 668.50, 695.26, 704.06 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 1-31-82, 
12-1-82, Formerly 16K-4.035(1), Amended 5-1-86, 7-1-86, 3-24-87, 4-14-87, 4-21-88, 
11-21-89, 11-15-92, 1-23-94, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 1-7-97, 12-3-98, 5-28-00, 8-16-00, 1-17-
01, 7-19-01, 6-26-02, 6-26-02, 4-6-03, 4-14-03, 9-16-03, 12-7-04, 2-12-06, 10-1-06, 11-
20-06, 1-23-07, 7-1-07, 7-22-07, 11-11-09, 7-1-10, 7-4-10, 12-15-11, 5-20-12, 
 . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.101 Content of Permit Applications. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.016, 373.044, 373.113, 373.171, 668.003, 373.416, 668.004, 
668.50 FS. Law Implemented 373.016, 373.117, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426, 668.003, 
668.004, 668.50 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 1-31-82, 12-1-82, Formerly 16K-
4.03(2), 16K-4.07(2), 16K-4.09(2), Amended 7-1-86, 11-21-89, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 5-28-
00, 4-14-03, 8-14-03, 2-12-06, 10-1-06, 12-1-11, 5-20-12, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.201 Forms and Instructions. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 
120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113, 373.116, 373.118, 373.229, 373.413, 373.421 FS. 
History–New 10-3-95, Amended 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 289

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)

http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00057
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00040
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00056
http://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-00054


This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.205 Permit Application Processing Fees. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.109, 373.113, 373.171, 373.421 FS. Law 
Implemented 373.109, 373.421 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 
 

40E-4.301 Conditions for Issuance of Permits. 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.416, 
373.426 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 1-31-82, 12-1-82, Formerly 16K-4.035(2), 
16K-4.30, Amended 7-1-86, 3-24-87, 4-14-87, 7-9-87, 4-21-88, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 4-1-
96, 1-7-97, 7-22-07, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.302 Additional Conditions for Issuance of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171, 373.414(9) FS. Law Implemented 
373.042, 373.409, 373.413, 373.414, 373.416, 373.426, 380.23 FS. History–New 10-3-
95, Amended 1-7-97, 12-3-98, 5-28-00, 7-1-07, 7-22-07, 12-1-11, Repealed 
 . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.303 Environmental Resource Permit Authorization. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.416, 
373.421 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 12-1-11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

40.b

Packet Pg. 290

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-4.305 Conceptual Approvals. 
Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171, 380.06(9) FS. Law Implemented 
373.413, 373.416, 373.421(2), 380.06(9) FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 4-14-03, 
12-1-11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.321 Duration of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. Law 
Implemented 373.413, 373.416, 373.419, 373.426, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. 
History–New 9-3-81, Amended 1-31-82, 12-1-82, Formerly 16K-4.07(4), Amended 7-1-
86, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 5-28-00, 10-1-06, 12-1-11, 5-20-12, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.331 Modification of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.416(1) FS. 
History–New 12-1-82, Formerly 16K-2.031(1), 16K-2.032(1)(a), Amended 7-1-86, 11-
21-89, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.341 District Revocation or Modification of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.429 FS. History–
New 12-1-82, Amended 7-1-86, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 7-2-98, 5-28-00, Repealed 
 . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.351 Transfer of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.416(2) FS. 
History–New 9-3-81, Amended 12-1-82, Formerly 16K-4.07(4), Amended 4-20-94, 10-3-
95, Repealed  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 291

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.361 Conversion from Construction Phase to Operation Phase. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.416 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 1-7-97, 4-14-03, 9-16-03, 7-22-07, 12-1-
11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.381 General Conditions. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. Law 
Implemented 373.116, 373.229, 373.413, 373.416, 373.421, 373.422, 373.426, 
668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 1-31-82, 12-1-82, 
Formerly 16K-4.07(3), 16K-4.38, Amended 7-1-86, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 1-7-97, 4-14-03, 
9-16-03, 10-1-06, 7-22-07, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

 
40E-4.451 Emergency Authorization. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.119(2), 373.413 FS. 
History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-4.13, Amended 10-3-95, 7-2-98, Repealed 
 . 
This rule will become effective on July 1, 2013, or upon the date that amendments to 
Chapter 62-330, F.A.C., proposed by the Department of Environmental Protection to 
implement the statutory mandate in section 373.4131, F.S. (2012), take effect, 
whichever is later. 

40E-40.010 Review of Environmental Resource Standard Permit Applications. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.54(5), 120.60 FS. Law Implemented 120.54(5), 120.60 FS. 
History–New 7-2-98, Amended 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-40.011 Policy and Purpose. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 373.413(1) FS. Law Implemented 
373.118, 373.413(1), 373.416 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-4.021(1)(d), 16K-

40.b

Packet Pg. 292

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



4.022(1)(e), Amended 7-26-87, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-40.021 Definitions. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.019, 373.403, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.419, 403.031(16), 704.06 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 
12-1-82, 7-26-87, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-40.031 Implementation. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118(1) FS. Law Implemented 373.103(1), 
Part IV, Ch. 373 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 12-1-82, 7-26-87, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 
12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-40.041 Permit Thresholds. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.406(5), 373.413(1), 
373.416 FS. History–New 4-20-94, Amended 10-3-95, 5-28-00, 6-26-02, 12-1-11, 
Repealed  . 

40E-40.042 Standard Permit for Incidental Site Activities. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 120.60(2), 373.103(4), 
373.118, 373.413, 373.416 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-4.021(1), 16K-
4.022(1), Amended 12-1-82, 7-26-87, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 5-28-00, 12-15-11, Repealed 
 . 

40E-40.051 Standard Permit Authorization. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.103(2), (6), 373.427 
FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 4-1-96, 5-28-00, 7-19-07, 12-1-11, Repealed 
 . 

40E-40.061 Delegation of Authority Pertaining to General Environmental 
Resource Permits, General Surface Water Management Permits and Associated 
Sovereign Submerged Lands Authorizations. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 
120.53, 373.016, 373.118 FS. History–New 4-1-96, Formerly 40E-1.6015, Amended 5-
28-00, 7-19-07, Repealed  . 

40E-40.091 Publications, Rules and Interagency Agreements Incorporated by 
Reference. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.54(8), 373.044, 373.046, 373.113, 373.171, 373.414, 
403.812 FS. Law Implemented 120.54(8), 373.046, 373.403, 373.413, 373.414, 
373.416, 373.429 FS. History–New 11-15-92, Amended 1-23-94, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 

40.b

Packet Pg. 293

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Repealed  . 

40E-40.101 Content of Permit Application. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.117, 373.413, 
373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-40.141 Request for Additional Information. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 373.416, 
373.419 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 4-14-03, 12-1-11, 
Repealed  . 

40E-40.302 Conditions for Issuance of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.149, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 
373.046, 373.413, 373.416 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-4.021(1)(a), (2), 
16K-4.022(1)(a), (b), Amended 12-1-82, 7-26-87, 11-15-92, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 12-1-11, 
Repealed  . 

40E-40.321 Duration of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.416, 
373.419, 373.426 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Amended 12-1-82, 7-26-87, 4-20-94, 10-3-
95, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-40.331 Modification of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.416(1) FS. 
History–New 12-1-82, Amended 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-40.341 District Revocation or Modification of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 120.60(6), 373.429 FS. 
History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-4.021(1)(e), 16K-4.022(1)(f), Amended 12-1-82, 10-
3-95, 7-2-98, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-40.351 Transfer of Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 373.416(2) FS. 
History–New 12-1-82, Repealed  . 

40E-40.381 General Conditions. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 
373.117, 373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.419 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-
4.021(1)(b), 16K-4.022(1)(c), Amended 7-26-87, 4-20-94, 10-3-95, 4-14-03, 12-1-11, 
Repealed  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 294

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-40.391 Forms and Instructions. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.53(1), 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 
120.52(16), 120.53(1), 373.085, 373.116, 373.118, 373.103, 373.106, 373.229, 373.413 
FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-40.407 Permit Application Processing Fees. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113 FS. Law Implemented 373.109 FS. History–
New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-41.011 Policy and Purpose. 
The rules in this part establish supplemental Environmental Resource Permit criteria for 
specified basins which insure that development within named basins incorporates the 
appropriate environmental, water quantity and water quality control measures 
necessary to protect the integrity of the public investments in the basin and minimize 
adverse impacts to the water resources of the District. Criteria delineated in this chapter 
are in addition to criteria specified in Chapters 40E-4 or 62-330, 40E-40 or 40E-400, 
F.A.C. The criteria, exemptions and additional requirements specified in this part are not 
intended to supersede or rescind the terms and conditions of any valid Environmental 
Resource Conceptual Approval, Construction or Operation Permit or Surface Water 
Management Conceptual Approval, Construction or Operation Permit, or certification 
order issued pursuant to Sections 403.501-.518 and 403.52-.5365, F.S., prior to the 
effective date of this part. In addition, the rules establish additional criteria for the named 
basins which insure that the use of the District’s works or land is consistent with the 
policies of the District. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-34.01, Amended 4-11-85, 4-
20-94, 10-21-01,  . 

40E-41.043 Application of Part I. 
All projects located within the Western Canal 9 Basin requiring permits pursuant to 
Chapter 62-330 Rule 40E-4.041, F.A.C., shall be constructed, altered, operated, 
maintained and abandoned in accordance with the criteria specified in Rules 62-
330.301 40E-4.301, 62-330.302 40E-40.302 and 40E-41.063, F.A.C., unless specifically 
exempted in Rule 62-330.051 40E-4.051 or 40E-41.053, F.A.C. The most restrictive 
criteria will be applicable unless the applicant can demonstrate to the District’s 
satisfaction through accepted methodology that the purpose and intent of this part will 
be fulfilled using alternate criteria. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-34.04, Amended 4-
20-94,  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 295

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-41.053 Exemptions. 
Projects which have received final approval of construction plans, or equivalent 
approval, from local government prior to the effective date of this part are hereby 
exempt from the fill encroachment criteria specified in subsection 40E-41.063(4), F.A.C. 
All other criteria specified in Rules 62-330.301 40E-4.301, 62-330.302 40E-40.302 and 
40E-41.063, F.A.C., must be strictly met. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131  FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-34.05, Amended 4-20-94, 
 . 

40E-41.063 Conditions for Issuance of Permits in the Western Canal 9 Basin. 
(1) No change. 
(2) For systems designed to be pumped from fully diked areas, discharge shall be 

limited to three-fourths of an inch per twenty-four hours, or the criteria in Rules 62-
330.301 40E-4.301 and 62-330.302 40E-40.302, F.A.C., whichever is more restrictive. 
In addition, no pumping shall be permitted when Canal 9 stages at pump tailwater 
exceed the 25-year peak elevation of 6.8 feet mean sea level. 

(3) through (4) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131  FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 9-3-81, Formerly 16K-34.06, Amended 4-20-94, 
 . 

40E-41.143 Application of Part II. 
(1) All projects located within the Kissimmee River Basin requiring permits pursuant 

to Chapter 62-330 Rule 40E-4.041, F.A.C., shall be constructed, altered, operated, 
maintained and abandoned in accordance with the criteria specified in Rules 62-
330.301 40E-4.301, 62-330.302 40E-40.302 and 40E-41.163, F.A.C., unless specifically 
exempted by Section 373.406, F.S.. 

(2) The criteria set forth in Rule 40E-41.163, F.A.C., shall be considered more 
restrictive than that set forth in Rule 62-330.301 40E-4.301 and 62-330.302 40E-40.302, 
F.A.C. The most restrictive criteria will be applicable unless the applicant can 
demonstrate through accepted scientific and technical methodology that the purpose 
and intent of this part will be fulfilled by the use of alternate criteria. 

(3) through (4) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 
373.086, 373.413, 373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 5-1-85, Amended 4-20-94, 
 . 

40E-41.160 Content of Application. 
All projects located within the Kissimmee River Basin requiring permits pursuant to 
Chapter 62-330 Rule 40E-4.041, F.A.C., shall submit the information specified by Rule 

40.b

Packet Pg. 296

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



62-330.060 40E-4.101 or 40E-40.112, F.A.C., as appropriate, and the following 
information: 

(1) through (2) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 5-1-85, Amended 4-20-94,  . 

40E-41.243 Application of Part III. 
(1) All projects located within the C-51 Basin which propose to discharge directly or 

indirectly into C-51 Canal or which are connected directly or indirectly in the C-51 Basin 
and which require permits pursuant to Rule 62-330.020 40E-4.041, F.A.C., or this part 
shall be constructed, altered, operated, maintained and abandoned in accordance with 
the criteria specified in Rules 62-330.301 40E-4.301, 62-330.302 40E-4.302, F.A.C., 
and 40E-41.263, F.A.C., unless specifically exempted by Rule 40E-4.051, F.A.C. 

(2) through (4) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 
373.086, 373.413, 373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 5-15-87, Amended 4-20-94, 12-
1-11,  . 

40E-41.260 Content of Application. 
(1) No change. 
(2) In addition all projects in the C-51 Basin which require permits pursuant to 

Chapter 62-330 Rule 40E-4.041, F.A.C., shall submit the information specified by Rule 
62-330.060 40E-4.101 or 40E-40.112, F.A.C., and all projects located in the C-51 Basin 
which require a permit pursuant to Rule 40E-6.041, F.A.C., shall submit the information 
required under Rule 40E-6.101, F.A.C. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 
373.413, 373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 5-15-87, Amended 4-20-94, 12-1-11, 
 . 

40E-41.263 Conditions for Issuance of Permits in the C-51 Basin. 
The following criteria shall apply: 

(1)(a) No change. 
(b) This criteria is not intended to limit inflows to the C-51 Canal to the rates 

specified in subsection (a) above during non-flood conditions. Discharge capacity up to 
27 cfs during non-flood conditions shall be considered on a case-by-case basis 
pursuant to the criteria in the “Basis of Review for Environmental Resource Permit 
Applicant’s Handbook Volume II for Use Within the Geographic Limits of Applications 
within the South Florida Water Management District,” incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C., and 62-330.010(4)(b)5. Rule 40E-4.301, F.A.C. 

(2) through (3) No change.  
(4) All criteria in the “Basis of Review for Environmental Resource Permit Applicant’s 

40.b

Packet Pg. 297

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Handbook Volume II for Use Within the Geographic Limits of Applications within the 
South Florida Water Management District,” which is incorporated by reference in 
paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C., and 62-330.010(4)(b)5., F.A.C. 

(5) No change. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.085, 
373.413, 373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 5-15-87, Amended 12-1-11,  . 

40E-41.333 Implementation. 
(1) through (2) No change. 
(3) Permit applications submitted pursuant to a valid conceptual approval shall be 

evaluated in accordance with Rules 62-330.055 or 62-330.056 40E-4.305, F.A.C., 
(Conceptual Approvals). 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 10-21-01, Amended  . 

40E-41.343 Application of Part IV. 
All projects located within the WPA, WPAB, or adjacent to the Protective Levees which 
require permits pursuant to Chapter 62-330 Rule 40E-4.041, F.A.C., shall be 
constructed, altered, operated, maintained and abandoned in accordance with the 
criteria specified in Rules 62-330.301 40E-4.301 and 62-330.302 40E-4.302, or Rule 
40E-40.302, F.A.C., as applicable, (Environmental Resource Permits Conditions for 
Issuance) and Rule 40E-41.363, F.A.C., (Conditions for Issuance of Environmental 
Resource Permits and Surface Water Management Permits in the Water Preserve Area, 
Water Preserve Area Basin, or Adjacent to the Protective Levees). 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 10-21-01, Amended  . 

40E-41.363 Conditions for Issuance of Permits in the Water Preserve Area, 
Water Preserve Area Basin, or Adjacent to the Protective Levees.  

(1) through (4) No change. 
(5) In addition to the water quality treatment volumes required in section 4.2.1 5.2.1. 

of the Applicant’s Handbook Volume II Basis of Review, projects within the WPA or 
WPAB shall provide an additional fifty (50) percent retention/detention water quality 
treatment. 

(6) No change.  
(7) Reduced mitigation ratios set forth in section 4.3.2.4 of the “Basis of Review for 

Environmental Resource Permit Applications within the South Florida Water 
Management District,” incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-4.091(1)(a), F.A.C, 
shall not apply in the WPA. 

(8) In order to qualify for the reduced mitigation ratios set forth in section 4.3.2.4 of 
the “Basis of Review for Environmental Reource Permit Applications within the South 

40.b

Packet Pg. 298

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Florida Water Management District,” incorporated by reference in paragraph 40E-
4.091(1)(a), F.A.C., projects located within the WPAB shall: 

(a) Provide a management plan for the control of exotic and nuisance species;  
(b) Maximize the spatial extent and connectivity of wetlands, wetland mitigation 

areas and open space; and 
(c) Incorporate a minimum of 50% native trees, shrubs and ground cover in the 

project landscape plan. 
(9) The exotic and nuisance species management plan referenced in (8)(a) shall 

include as a minimum the following. All invasive exotic plants defined by the Florida 
Exotic Pest Plant Council (EPPC) as Category I plants will be removed or killed in-place 
during the initial wetland construction, restoration and enhancement phase of the 
mitigation project or onsite natural area clearing. Subsequent regrowth of the invasive 
exotic and undesirable vegetation will be maintained at or below five (5) percent of 
coverage of the wetland mitigation area. During the construction, restoration and 
enhancement phases of the mitigation project and as part of the perpetual maintenance 
of the mitigation areas, every effort will be taken to attain zero percent coverage of 
exotic/nuisance plant species immediately following maintenance activities.  

(7)(10) Mitigation for proposed impacts incurred in the WPA or WPAB must be 
provided within the WPAB, or at a mitigation bank or Regional Offsite Mitigation Area 
with an approved mitigation service area that includes the impact site, provided all other 
applicable criteria are met.  

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.4131 FS. Law Implemented 373.413, 
373.4131, 373.416 FS. History–New 10-21-01, Amended 12-1-11,  . 

40E-400.010 Review of No Notice and Noticed General Environmental 
Resource Permit Applications. 

Rulemaking Authority 120.54(5), 120.60 FS. Law Implemented 120.54(5), 120.60 FS. 
History–New 7-2-98, Repealed  . 

40E-400.021 Definitions. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 
373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 4-14-03, 5-
20-12, Repealed  . 

40E-400.201 Policy and Purpose. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.211 Processing Procedures for Noticed General Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. Law 

40.b

Packet Pg. 299

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



Implemented 373.109, 373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 
FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 7-2-98, 10-1-06, 12-1-11, 5-20-12, Repealed 
 . 

40E-400.215 General Conditions for All No Notice and Noticed General 
Permits. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.109, 
373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 7-2-98, 
Repealed  . 

40E-400.315 No Notice General Permit for Activities in Uplands. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 373.171, 373.4131, 403.813, 403.814 
FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 373.413, 373.4131, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 
10-3-95, Amended 4-14-03, 10-18-09, Repealed . 

40E-400.316 No Notice General Permit for Road Grading and Pavement 
Resurfacing. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.417 General Permit for Construction, Alteration or Maintenance of 
Boat Ramps and Associated Accessory Docks. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 373.171, 373.406 FS. Law 
Implemented 373.118, 373.406, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, 
Amended 4-14-03, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-400.427 General Permit for Certain Piers and Associated Structures. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.431 General Permit for Installation of Riprap. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.437 General Permit for the Installation of Fences. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 300

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-400.439 General Permit for the Construction or Maintenance of Culverted 
Driveways or Roadway Crossings and Bridges of Artificial Waterways. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.443 General Permit for Minor Bridge Alteration, Replacement, 
Maintenance and Operation. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.414, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 9-9-07, 12-1-
11, Repealed  . 

40E-400.447 General Permit for Minor Activities Within Existing Rights-of-Way 
or Easements. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.414, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 6-26-02, 9-9-
07, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-400.453 General Permit for the Installation, Maintenance, Repair or 
Removal of Underground Cables, Conduits, or Pipelines. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.455 General Permit for the Construction of Aerial Pipeline, Cable, or 
Conduit Crossings of Certain Waters. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.457 General Permit for Subaqueous Utility Crossings of Artificial 
Waterways. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40E-400.463 General Permit for the Construction and Operation of Culverts 
and Associated Water Control Structures in Mosquito Control Impoundments by 
Governmental Mosquito Control Agencies. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 301

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-400.467 General Permit for Breaching Mosquito Control Impoundments by 
Governmental Mosquito Control Agencies. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 
373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 4-14-03, 
Repealed  . 

40E-400.470 Noticed General Permit for Temporary Agricultural Activities. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 120.60, 
373.118, 373.119, 373.413, 373.416, 373.418, 373.423 FS. History–New 9-6-01, 
Amended 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-400.475 General Permit for Minor Activities. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. Law 
Implemented 373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426, 668.003, 668.004, 668.50 FS. 
History–New 10-3-95, Amended 10-1-06, 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-400.483 General Permit to the Department to Conduct Minor Activities. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 4-14-03, Repealed 
 . 

40E-400.485 General Permit to the Department for Environmental Restoration 
or Enhancement Activities. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 373.171 FS. Law Implemented 
373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 4-14-03, 
Repealed  . 

40E-400.487 General Permit to the Department to Change Operating Schedules 
for Department or District Water Control Structures. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.416 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Amended 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-400.495 General Permit to U.S. Forest Service for Minor Works within 
National Forests. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

40.b

Packet Pg. 302

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



40E-400.500 General Permit for Construction, Operation, Maintenance, 
Alteration, Removal or Abandonment of Minor Silvicultural Surface Water 
Management Systems. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118, 403.067(7)(d) FS. Law Implemented 
373.118, 373.413, 373.416, 373.426, 403.067(7)(d) FS. History–New 10-3-95, 
Amended 12-1-11, Repealed  . 

40E-400.900 Forms and Instructions. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.044, 373.113, 373.118 FS. Law Implemented 373.118, 
373.413, 373.416, 373.426 FS. History–New 10-3-95, Repealed  . 

 

40.b

Packet Pg. 303

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 p

h
_r

eg
_1

02
_E

xh
ib

it
 B

  (
12

19
 :

 S
ta

te
w

id
e 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l R
es

o
u

rc
e 

P
er

m
it

ti
n

g
)



 

 

 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO: Governing Board Members 
 
FROM: Doug Bergstrom, Director, Administrative Services Division 
  
DATE: May 9, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: Monthly Financial Statement – March 2013 
 
 
The attached financial status report is provided for your review.  This report provides a high 
level snapshot of District financial activity and includes revenue collections by source and 
expenditures by program.  Also attached is a summary in the State Program format in 
compliance with 2012 SB 1986 revising 373.536(4)(e) F.S., requiring each District to provide a 
monthly financial statement in the form and manner prescribed by the Department of Financial 
Services to the District’s Governing Board and make such monthly financial statement available 
for public access on its website.  This unaudited financial statement is provided as of March 31, 
2013, with 50% of the fiscal year completed.   
 
Schedule of Sources and Uses – This financial statement compares revenues received and 
encumbrances / expenditures made against the District’s FY2013 $622.0 million consumable 
budget.  Encumbrances represent orders for goods and services which have not yet been 
received.   
 

 As of March 31, 2013, with the fiscal year 50% complete, 71.8% of the District’s 
budgeted operating revenue has been collected. The primary source of operating 
revenue received to date is taxes. Ad Valorem taxes comprise 68% of the budgeted 
operating revenues and drive collections based on the annual cycle of the property tax 
bill.  The remaining revenue source is fund balance which represents the amount of prior 
year residual revenue that is budgeted in the current year and has already been 
received.  Total FY2013 sources collected were 82.1% of budget or $510.7 million.   
 

 As of March 31, 2013, 88.6% of budgeted Ad Valorem tax revenue and 99% of budgeted 
Agricultural Privilege tax revenue have been collected. Ad Valorem and Agricultural 
Privilege tax collections peak November through January driven by the mailing of 
property tax bills in October and the 4% maximum discount available when paid in full by 
November 30.  These taxes are budgeted at a discounted rate of 95% to allow for the 
discounts property owners may take advantage of through early payment options.  
Historical ad valorem trends for the past five years through March support an average 
collection rate of 85.2%. 
 

 As of March 31, 2013, 9.6% of budgeted intergovernmental revenues have been 
collected. In addition to reimbursement agreements, intergovernmental revenues include 
proceeds from the sale of Indian River Lagoon and Everglades license plates.  Revenue 
received through March for the sale of license plates totals $203K. The bulk of 
intergovernmental revenue is from reimbursements from the Save Our Everglades Trust 
Fund, Water Management Lands Trust Fund, and the Florida Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission. Reimbursement requests are submitted to the state based 
on actual expenses incurred and are typically received later in the fiscal year.  However, 

41.a

Packet Pg. 304

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
M

em
o

 M
ar

ch
 F

Y
13

  (
12

39
 :

 M
o

n
th

ly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

– 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3)



Governing Board Members 
May 9, 2013 
Page 2 
 

 

historical trend for the last five years indicates the District typically receives about 38% of 
intergovernmental revenue by mid-year. 
 

 As of March 31, 2013, $2.5 million or 49.7% of budgeted Investment Earnings have 
been realized.  The District budgeted a conservative $4.95 million in investment earnings 
for FY2013 distributed as follows:  $4.59 million in ad valorem funds and $362K in non 
ad valorem funds.  Year to date interest earnings in ad valorem funds amount to $1.93 
million or 42.1% of the budgeted amount, while interest earnings in non ad valorem 
funds amount to $527K or 145.6% of the budgeted level.  Investment earnings reflect a 
downward trend over the past years and are representative of lower cash balances, 
reduced ad valorem tax levies and lower interest rate yields. 
 

 Lease revenue represents amounts collected from leases of real property owned by the 
District. The timing of revenue received is based on the fee schedules within the 
agreements – monthly, semi-annual or annual payments – and these varying timing 
issues impact the collection rate.  The District has currently collected $1.96 million which 
represents 72.9% of the current year budgeted lease revenue of $2.7 million. The lease 
revenue collected for lands within restricted categories such as Farm Bill and State 
Lands require these funds be used within strict guidelines as defined by acquisition 
agreements.   
 

 Budgeted licenses, permits and fees revenue is from water use permits, environmental 
resource permits and right of way permits.  FY2013 income received totals $11.6 million 
and is primarily due to unbudgeted receipts of $10.2 million from dedicated Lake Belt 
and Wetland mitigation fees from restoration projects and fees for mining tonnage 
removed. The balance of receipts includes permit fees $435K (53.5% of budgeted 
revenue) and licenses/miscellaneous fees of $915K (61.5% of budgeted revenue). 
 

 Budgeted revenue in the Other category includes $275K in civil penalties and 
enforcement fees and $250K in miscellaneous revenues such as cash discounts, 
insurance reimbursements, refunds for prior year expenditures, and sale of recycled oil 
and scrap metal.  Fiscal year collections amount to $423K representing 80.6% of the 
budgeted $525K. 
 

 Sale of District Property represents the sale of real property and land. This is budgeted 
conservatively due to the uncertainty involved.  FY2013 revenues received total $397K. 

 
 Self insurance premiums represent the District’s contribution and the contribution from 

active and retired District employees to the self funded health benefits program.  Also 
included is the District’s contribution to the workers compensation, auto and general 
liability self insurance program.  Contributions of $10.1 million received through March 
equate to 39.4% of the $25.7 million budget and reflect monthly premiums. 
 

Expenditure and Encumbrance Status:    
 
As of March 31, 2013, with 50% of the year complete, the District has expended $191.1 million 
or 34.0% and has encumbered $126.8 million or 22.6% of its non-reserve budget.  The District 
has obligated (encumbrances plus expenditures) $318.0 million or 56.6% of its non-reserve 
budget. 
 
 

41.a

Packet Pg. 305

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
M

em
o

 M
ar

ch
 F

Y
13

  (
12

39
 :

 M
o

n
th

ly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

– 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3)



Governing Board Members 
May 9, 2013 
Page 3 
 

 

Summary of Expenditures and Encumbrances by Program – This financial statement 
illustrates the effort to date for each of the District’s program areas.  Provided below is a 
discussion of the primary uses of funds by program.  
 

 The Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan Program has obligated 44.4% and 
expended 10.3% of their $125.6 million budget.  Principal expenditures include 
personnel services ($2.8 million), contractual services ($1.2 million), operating ($494K), 
and capital outlay ($8.5 million). Contractual services and operating encumbrances   
($9.3 million) and capital outlay encumbrances ($33.5 million) include the following 
projects: L-8 Flow Equalization Basin, C-44 Reservoir/STA Project, CERP Monitoring 
and Assessment, C-111 Spreader Canal, Southern Crew, Loxahatchee Impoundment 
Landscape Initiative, Picayune Strand, South Miami Dade Seasonal Operations Study, 
Biscayne Bay Coastal Wetlands, WCA3 Decompartmentalization, and Central 
Everglades Planning Study. 
 

 The Coastal Watersheds Program has obligated 67.4% and expended 27.6% of their 
total $18.0 million budget.  Principal expenditures include personnel services ($1.5 
million), contractual services ($3.2 million), operating ($53K), and capital outlay ($257K). 
Contractual services encumbrances primarily consist of interagency agreements      
($5.0 million) including: St. Lucie River and Indian River Lagoon Initiatives Projects, St. 
Lucie River License Tag Projects in Martin and Palm Beach counties, Loxahatchee River 
Preservation Initiative Projects, Big Cypress Basin Stormwater Projects, Spanish 
Creek/Four Corners, Miami Gardens NW 178th Dr Stormwater Retrofit, El Portal 
Stormwater Improvements, Mirror Lakes/Halfway Pond Rehydration, Lakes Park 
Restoration; remaining contractual encumbrances ($1.9 million) include: St. Lucie River 
and Caloosahatchee River Regulatory Source Controls; Biscayne Bay, Loxahatchee 
River, St. Lucie River and Caloosahatchee Watershed Research and Water Quality 
Monitoring; Florida Bay and Coastal Wetlands Project; Lake Trafford Biological 
Monitoring; Big Cypress Real-time Monitoring and Modeling; Big Cypress Basin 
Saltwater Network Plan; refinement of hydrological model for Naples Bay; and Collier 
County Water Quality Monitoring. Capital outlay encumbrances ($227K) are for 
Preliminary Survey and Geo-tech services and preliminary design for the Lake 
Hicpochee Hydrologic Enhancement project.    

 
 The District Everglades Program has obligated 47.4% and expended 32.3% of their 

total $52.5 million budget. Principal expenditures include personnel services ($8.1 
million), contractual services ($2.8 million), operating ($3.1 million), and capital outlay 
($3.0 million). Contractual services encumbrances ($3.1 million) primarily include the 
operations monitoring, maintenance, and repair of Stormwater Treatment Areas (STA’s), 
Diesel Oxidation Catalyst Installation, STA 1E Exterior Levee Certification, STA 
Structure Inspection Program, Sulfur Action Plan, and Everglades Regulation Source 
Control. Operating encumbrances ($1.0 million) are in support of the overall operations 
and maintenance of vegetation and exotic plant control of the STA’s. Capital outlay 
encumbrances ($3.8 million) include work on Everglades Agricultural Area A1 Flow 
Equalization Basin, and STA1W Expansion, completing Compartments B & C, G-250S 
and G-337 Pump Bearing replacement, and construction on the G-251 Trash Rake 
Replacement. 

 
 The Kissimmee Watershed Program has obligated 57.0% and expended 6.1% of their 

total $31.8 million budget.  Principal expenditures include personnel services ($777K), 
contractual services ($559K), operating ($20K), and capital outlay ($572K).  Contractual 

41.a

Packet Pg. 306

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
M

em
o

 M
ar

ch
 F

Y
13

  (
12

39
 :

 M
o

n
th

ly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

– 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3)



Governing Board Members 
May 9, 2013 
Page 4 
 

 

services and operating encumbrances ($1.2 million) primarily consist of the Kissimmee 
River Restoration Evaluation ($210K), Kissimmee Basin Modeling and Operating 
System ($556K), the Oak Creek project ($120K), Rolling Meadows ($75K), hydrologic 
monitoring ($194K), and land acquisition costs and environmental risk assessments 
($40K). Capital outlay encumbrances ($15.0 million) are primarily for the Kissimmee 
River Restoration land acquisition cases and the Kissimmee River Restoration project.   

 
 The Lake Okeechobee Program has obligated 52.4% and expended 16.0% of their 

total $23.0 million budget. Principal expenditures include personnel services             
($1.8 million), contractual services ($1.7 million), operating ($149K), and capital outlay 
($60K). Contractual services and operating encumbrances ($8.2 million) primarily 
consist of the Dispersed Water Management and Florida Ranchland Environmental 
Services Projects ($7.4 million), Information Technology Support ($448K), Northshore 
Navigation Canal project ($95K), Lake Okeechobee Watershed Pre-Drainage 
Characterization study ($68K), Phosphorous Source Control project ($44K), Phosphorus 
Reduction projects ($91K), Water Quality Assessments and reporting ($44K), and 
Lakeside Ranch STA ($39K).  Capital outlay encumbrances ($132K) are primarily the 
Lakeside Ranch STA and Dispersed Water Management. 

 
 The Land Stewardship Program has obligated 42.9% and expended 21.4% of their 

total $19.5 million budget.  Principal expenditures include personnel services ($1.8 
million), contractual services ($1.8 million), operating ($490K), and capital outlay ($12K). 
Contractual and operating encumbrances ($3.9 million) include the maintenance of 
vegetation and exotic plant control, provision of law enforcement services, and 
management of District owned lands and facilities. Capital outlay encumbrances ($285K) 
are primarily for work on the C-139 Annex Mitigation project. 

 
 The Mission Support Program has obligated 48.4% and expended 39.1% of their total 

$52.4 million budget. Principal expenditures include personnel services ($11.1 million), 
contractual services ($3.3 million), operating ($5.5 million), and capital outlay ($349K).  
Contractual services encumbrances ($2.9 million) include Information Technology 
consulting services, hardware, software, and systems maintenance for the fiscal year; 
facilities maintenance and repair services, and audit and legal professional services.  
Operating encumbrances ($1.7 million) include utilities, equipment rental and space 
rental. Capital outlay encumbrances ($121K) include computer hardware and design 
work for the Emergency Operations Center air conditioner system and data center 
upgrades. 

 
 The Modeling and Science Support Program has obligated 55.2% and expended 

42.0% of their total $12.9 million budget. Principal expenditures include personnel 
services ($4.2 million), contractual services ($883K), operating ($264K), and capital 
outlay ($72K). Contractual services and operating encumbrances ($1.7 million) include 
technical and peer reviews, computer hardware and software, organic analysis, 
sediment/water quality sampling, fuel, utilities, and equipment rental.  Capital outlay 
encumbrances ($53K) are primarily for field equipment. 

 
 The Operations and Maintenance Program has obligated 71.5% and expended 51.8% 

of their total $141.1 million budget.  Principal expenditures include personnel services 
($25.5 million), contractual services ($25.1 million), operating ($16.5 million), and capital 
outlay ($5.9 million). Encumbrances for contractual services and capital outlay ($26.2 
million) primarily relate to the O&M capital program for maintenance and repair of 

41.a

Packet Pg. 307

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
M

em
o

 M
ar

ch
 F

Y
13

  (
12

39
 :

 M
o

n
th

ly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

– 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3)



Governing Board Members 
May 9, 2013 
Page 5 
 

 

existing water management system canals and water control structures including C-41A 
Canal Bank Stabilization, North Shore Trash Rake Project, Miami B-47 Building 
Replacement, Hillsboro Canal Bank Stabilization Design, S-193 Navigation Lock 
Refurbishment, Diesel Oxidation Catalyst Installation, S-5A Hardening and Service 
Bridge Refurbishment, S-331 Repower and Gearbox Replacement, S-140 Pump Station 
Refurbishment, S-21 Cathodic Protection, S-2, S-3, S-4 Roof Replacements, Information 
Technology Shelters, Central and Southern Flood Control Structure Inspections, L-40 
Exterior Levee Certification, East Coast Protective Levee, Central Bridges 
Repairs/Replacements, project culvert replacements, the SCADA Systems Study, 
Vertical Datum-NAVD88, and Operations Decision Support System software. Operating 
encumbrances ($1.6 million) are primarily associated with field station daily operations 
and maintenance including vegetation and exotic plant control for the Central and 
Southern Flood Control system. 
 

 The Regulation Program has obligated 53.2% and expended 46.0% of their total $25.4 
million budget.  Principal expenditures include personnel services ($8.0 million), 
contractual services ($731K), operating ($2.8 million), and capital outlay ($76K).  
Contractual services encumbrances ($1.1 million) include application development, 
permit scanning contractors/support, and computer hardware and software. Operating 
encumbrances ($416K) primarily include hardware, software, fuel, and equipment. 
Capital outlay encumbrances ($324K) consist primarily of the ePermitting enhancement 
project which saves time and expenses with online filing/searching of permits. 

 

 The Water Supply Program has obligated 58.2% and expended 35.2% of their total 
$17.6 million budget.  Principal expenditures include personnel services ($2.7 million), 
contractual services ($582K), operating ($2.7 million), and capital outlay ($201K). 
Contractual services encumbrances ($4.0 million) include the Caloosahatchee Rule 
Making ($131K), Central Florida Water Initiative ($597K), WaterSIP grants ($265K), 
Florida Automated Weather Network ($45K), Lower Floridan Aquifer ($92K), interagency 
agreements for Alternative Water Supply projects ($1.8 million), Big Cypress Basin 
($708K), hydrologic data gathering ($389K), and education/outreach ($20K). Capital 
outlay encumbrances ($31K) consist primarily of the Lower Floridan Aquifer project. 
 

 Reserves of $60.1 million are held for future transfer to program areas as project needs 
and requirements are identified by staff and presented to the Governing Board for 
review.  Sixty million dollars ($60.0 million) of these reserves are designated as 
economic stabilization reserves, including $10.0 million for O&M capital projects.  
Remaining managerial reserves include programmatic balances of $17K for Lake 
Okeechobee and rebudget reserves of $38K for Land Stewardship. 
 
 

 Debt Service expenses amount to 70.0% ($29.5 million) of the total $42.1 million 
budget.  Debt service principal and interest payments include Land Acquisition Bonds 
issued through the Water Management Lands Trust Fund and Certificates of 
Participation.  Scheduled debt service payments are structured into a single principal 
payment and partial payment of interest in October and the balance of interest in April.   

 

We hope these reports and the associated narrative will aid in understanding the District’s 
financial condition as well as expenditure performance against the approved budget.  If you 

41.a

Packet Pg. 308

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
M

em
o

 M
ar

ch
 F

Y
13

  (
12

39
 :

 M
o

n
th

ly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

– 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3)



Governing Board Members 
May 9, 2013 
Page 6 
 

 

have any questions, please feel free to call Chris Flierl at (561) 682-6078 or Mike Smykowski at 
(561) 682-6295. 
 
DB/CF/MS 
Attachment 

41.a

Packet Pg. 309

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
M

em
o

 M
ar

ch
 F

Y
13

  (
12

39
 :

 M
o

n
th

ly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

– 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3)



Annual Budget Expenditures Encumbrances 

Reported 

Available Budget 

% 

Expended 

% 

Encumbered 

% 

Obligated 

CERP

Personnel Services 6,796,173$             2,775,928$             -$                        4,020,246$             40.8% 0.0% 40.8%

Contractual Services 18,084,222 1,194,247 9,220,455 7,669,520 6.6% 51.0% 57.6%

Operating 1,312,560 494,070 101,651 716,839 37.6% 7.7% 45.4%

CERP Indirect 4,750,000 3,609 - 4,746,391 0.1% 0.0% 0.1%

Travel 45,703 11,563 636 33,504 25.3% 1.4% 26.7%

Capital Outlay 94,655,976 8,518,519 33,459,604 52,677,853 9.0% 35.3% 44.3%

Total CERP 125,644,634 12,997,937 42,782,346 69,864,352 10.3% 34.1% 44.4%

Coastal Watersheds

Personnel Services 3,473,992 1,485,732 - 1,988,260 42.8% 0.0% 42.8%

Contractual Services 12,767,769 3,176,035 6,934,840 2,656,895 24.9% 54.3% 79.2%

Operating 104,031 52,519 11,038 40,474 50.5% 10.6% 61.1%

Travel 25,115 3,967 595 20,554 15.8% 2.4% 18.2%

Capital Outlay 1,644,126 256,840 227,073 1,160,212 15.6% 13.8% 29.4%

Total Coastal Watersheds 18,015,034 4,975,092 7,173,546 5,866,395 27.6% 39.8% 67.4%

District Everglades

Personnel Services 16,656,556 8,109,514 - 8,547,042 48.7% 0.0% 48.7%

Contractual Services 11,893,034 2,757,236 3,099,818 6,035,980 23.2% 26.1% 49.2%

Operating 7,189,445 3,058,012 989,672 3,141,762 42.5% 13.8% 56.3%

Travel 31,650 5,933 131 25,586 18.7% 0.4% 19.2%

Capital Outlay 16,738,559 3,039,685 3,839,666 9,859,209 18.2% 22.9% 41.1%

Total District Everglades 52,509,245 16,970,380 7,929,287 27,609,579 32.3% 15.1% 47.4%

Kissimmee Watershed

Personnel Services 2,258,385 776,651 - 1,481,734 34.4% 0.0% 34.4%

Contractual Services 11,450,902 558,709 1,171,926 9,720,268 4.9% 10.2% 15.1%

Operating 71,031 20,090 23,500 27,441 28.3% 33.1% 61.4%

Travel 22,465 4,968 900 16,597 22.1% 4.0% 26.1%

Capital Outlay 17,950,078 572,074 14,976,609 2,401,396 3.2% 83.4% 86.6%

Total Kissimmee Watershed 31,752,862 1,932,491 16,172,935 13,647,435 6.1% 50.9% 57.0%

South Florida Water Management District
Summary of Uses - Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds (Unaudited)

As of: March 31, 2013

1 of 3

41.b

Packet Pg. 310

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
S

ta
te

m
en

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 U

se
s 

o
f 

F
u

n
d

s 
M

ar
ch

 F
Y

13
  (

12
39

 :
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al



Annual Budget Expenditures Encumbrances 

Reported 

Available Budget 

% 

Expended 

% 

Encumbered 

% 

Obligated 

South Florida Water Management District
Summary of Uses - Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds (Unaudited)

As of: March 31, 2013

Lake Okeechobee

Personnel Services 4,376,880$             1,819,137$             -$                        2,557,743$             41.6% 0.0% 41.6%

Contractual Services 17,768,269 1,654,230 8,033,801 8,080,239 9.3% 45.2% 54.5%

Operating 605,119 148,678 176,693 279,748 24.6% 29.2% 53.8%

Travel 6,356 210 - 6,146 3.3% 0.0% 3.3%

Capital Outlay 198,348 60,165 132,458 5,726 30.3% 66.8% 97.1%

Total Lake Okeechobee 22,954,973 3,682,419 8,342,952 10,929,602 16.0% 36.3% 52.4%

Land Stewardship

Personnel Services 3,658,390 1,820,309 - 1,838,081 49.8% 0.0% 49.8%

Contractual Services 12,352,863 1,839,836 3,694,637 6,818,390 14.9% 29.9% 44.8%

Operating 1,235,080 489,672 197,694 547,715 39.6% 16.0% 55.7%

Travel 16,165 5,738 - 10,427 35.5% 0.0% 35.5%

Capital Outlay 2,209,437 12,074 285,288 1,912,074 0.5% 12.9% 13.5%

Total Land Stewardship 19,471,936 4,167,629 4,177,619 11,126,687 21.4% 21.5% 42.9%

Mission Support

Personnel Services 22,535,234 11,110,914 200,000 11,224,320 49.3% 0.9% 50.2%

Contractual Services 8,806,119 3,313,069 2,864,045 2,629,004 37.6% 32.5% 70.1%

Operating 18,656,476 5,519,434 1,667,837 11,469,205 29.6% 8.9% 38.5%

CERP Indirect 2,500 - - 2,500 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Travel 347,780 188,654 21,241 137,885 54.2% 6.1% 60.4%

Capital Outlay 2,006,605 348,504 120,532 1,537,569 17.4% 6.0% 23.4%

Total Mission Support 52,354,715 20,480,575 4,873,655 27,000,484 39.1% 9.3% 48.4%

Modeling & Science Support

Personnel Services 9,126,301 4,210,211 - 4,916,091 46.1% 0.0% 46.1%

Contractual Services 2,981,971 882,763 1,451,109 648,099 29.6% 48.7% 78.3%

Operating 668,881 264,420 201,616 202,845 39.5% 30.1% 69.7%

Travel 43,485 8,627 957 33,901 19.8% 2.2% 22.0%

Capital Outlay 127,697 72,123 52,853 2,721 56.5% 41.4% 97.9%

Total Modeling & Science Support 12,948,335 5,438,143 1,706,535 5,803,657 42.0% 13.2% 55.2%

2 of 3

41.b

Packet Pg. 311

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
S

ta
te

m
en

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 U

se
s 

o
f 

F
u

n
d

s 
M

ar
ch

 F
Y

13
  (

12
39

 :
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al



Annual Budget Expenditures Encumbrances 

Reported 

Available Budget 

% 

Expended 

% 

Encumbered 

% 

Obligated 

South Florida Water Management District
Summary of Uses - Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds (Unaudited)

As of: March 31, 2013

Operations & Maintenance

Personnel Services 50,049,972$          25,488,069$          -$                        24,561,903$          50.9% 0.0% 50.9%

Contractual Services 45,256,159 25,145,883 15,799,018 4,311,258 55.6% 34.9% 90.5%

Operating 28,037,783 16,529,807 1,626,485 9,881,490 59.0% 5.8% 64.8%

Travel 138,902 60,343 24,087 54,473 43.4% 17.3% 60.8%

Capital Outlay 17,622,779 5,880,173 10,369,881 1,372,725 33.4% 58.8% 92.2%

Total Operations & Maintenance 141,105,594 73,104,274 27,819,471 40,181,849 51.8% 19.7% 71.5%

Regulation

Personnel Services 16,534,410 8,027,072 - 8,507,339 48.5% 0.0% 48.5%

Contractual Services 2,027,005 730,739 1,089,188 207,078 36.1% 53.7% 89.8%

Operating 6,373,287 2,847,332 416,429 3,109,527 44.7% 6.5% 51.2%

Travel 25,985 9,622 1,143 15,220 37.0% 4.4% 41.4%

Capital Outlay 465,888 75,888 324,345 65,655 16.3% 69.6% 85.9%

Total Regulation 25,426,576 11,690,652 1,831,106 11,904,818 46.0% 7.2% 53.2%

Water Supply

Personnel Services 5,667,038 2,701,924 - 2,965,114 47.7% 0.0% 47.7%

Contractual Services 6,115,784 581,891 4,000,340 1,533,552 9.5% 65.4% 74.9%

Operating 5,560,429 2,714,558 9,420 2,836,451 48.8% 0.2% 49.0%

Travel 9,926 2,606 41 7,279 26.3% 0.4% 26.7%

Capital Outlay 250,399 200,804 30,566 19,029 80.2% 12.2% 92.4%

Total Water Supply 17,603,576 6,201,782 4,040,367 7,361,427 35.2% 23.0% 58.2%

Reserves

Reserves 60,071,025 - - 60,033,025 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Total Reserves 60,071,025 - - 60,033,025 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Debt Service

Debt Service 42,136,957 29,482,154 - 12,654,803 70.0% 0.0% 70.0%

Total Debt Service 42,136,957 29,482,154 - 12,654,803 70.0% 0.0% 70.0%

Grand Total 621,995,460$        191,123,529$        126,849,818$        304,022,112$        30.7% 20.4% 51.1%

3 of 3

41.b

Packet Pg. 312

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
S

ta
te

m
en

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 U

se
s 

o
f 

F
u

n
d

s 
M

ar
ch

 F
Y

13
  (

12
39

 :
 M

o
n

th
ly

 F
in

an
ci

al



SOURCES ANNUAL BUDGET
ACTUALS THROUGH 

3/31/2013
VARIANCE (UNDER) / 

OVER BUDGET
ACTUALS AS A % 

OF BUDGET
Ad Valorem Property Taxes 268,114,920$             237,540,050$             (30,574,870)$                  88.6%
Agricultural Privilege Taxes 11,352,040                  11,240,388                  (111,652)                          99.0%

Intergovernmental - Ad Valorem 5,423,928                    2,190,571                    (3,233,357)                       40.4%
Intergovernmental - Non Ad Valorem 73,172,901                  5,382,176                    (67,790,725)                    7.4%

Intergovernmental Total 78,596,829                 7,572,747                   (71,024,082)                   9.6%
-                                    -                                    -                                    

Investment Earnings - Ad Valorem 4,592,000                    1,932,678                    (2,659,322)                       42.1%
Investment Earnings - Non Ad Valorem 362,300                       527,370                       165,070                           145.6%

Investment Earnings Total 4,954,300                   2,460,048                   (2,494,252)                      49.7%
-                                    -                                    -                                   

Leases 2,692,618                    1,963,499                    (729,119)                          72.9%
-                                    -                                    -                                    

Permit Fees 812,160                       434,645                       (377,515)                          53.5%
Licenses and Misc. Fees 1,487,150                    914,753                       (572,397)                          61.5%
Mitigation Fees - Lake Belt & Wetlands 105,000                       10,243,257                  10,138,257                      9755.5%

Licenses, Permits and Fees Total 2,404,310                   11,592,655                 9,188,345                       482.2%
-                                    -                                    -                                       

Other 525,000                       422,905                       (102,095)                          80.6%
Sale of District Property 250,000                       396,879                       146,879                           158.8%
Self Insurance Premiums 25,712,821                  10,127,692                  (15,585,129)                    39.4%
SUB-TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 394,602,838               283,316,862               (111,285,976)                 71.8%
Fund Balance 227,392,622                227,392,622                -                                    100.0%
TOTAL SOURCES 621,995,460$             510,709,484$             (111,285,976)$                82.1%  

USES ANNUAL BUDGET EXPENDITURES ENCUMBRANCES1
REPORTED 
AVAILABLE 

BUDGET

% 
EXPENDED

% 
ENCUMBERED

% 
OBLIGATED2

CERP 125,644,634$             12,997,937$                42,782,346$                   69,864,352$          10.3% 34.1% 44.4%
Coastal Watersheds 18,015,034                  4,975,092                    7,173,546                        5,866,395              27.6% 39.8% 67.4%
District Everglades 52,509,245                  16,970,380                  7,929,287                        27,609,579            32.3% 15.1% 47.4%
Kissimmee Watershed 31,752,862                  1,932,491                    16,172,935                      13,647,435            6.1% 50.9% 57.0%
Lake Okeechobee 22,954,973                  3,682,419                    8,342,952                        10,929,602            16.0% 36.3% 52.4%
Land Stewardship 19,471,936                  4,167,629                    4,177,619                        11,126,687            21.4% 21.5% 42.9%
Mission Support 52,354,715                  20,480,575                  4,873,655                        27,000,484            39.1% 9.3% 48.4%
Modeling & Sci Supp 12,948,335                  5,438,143                    1,706,535                        5,803,657              42.0% 13.2% 55.2%
Ops & Maintenance 141,105,594                73,104,274                  27,819,471                      40,181,849            51.8% 19.7% 71.5%
Regulation 25,426,576                  11,690,652                  1,831,106                        11,904,818            46.0% 7.2% 53.2%
Water Supply 17,603,576                  6,201,782                    4,040,367                        7,361,427              35.2% 23.0% 58.2%
Debt Service 42,136,957                  29,482,154                  -                                        12,654,803            70.0% 0.0% 70.0%
SUB-TOTAL NON-RESERVES USES 561,924,435               191,123,529               126,849,818                   243,951,088         34.0% 22.6% 56.6%
Reserves 60,071,025                  -                                    -                                        60,071,025            0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
TOTAL USES 621,995,460$             191,123,529$             126,849,818$                 304,022,112$       30.7% 20.4% 51.1%

1 Represents unexpended balances of open purchase orders  
2 Represents the sum of expenditures and encumbrances as a percentage of the annual budget

South Florida Water Management District
Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds (Unaudited)

For the month ended: March 31, 2013. Percent of fiscal year completed: 50%

41.c

Packet Pg. 313

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 U

se
s 

o
f 

F
u

n
d

s_
M

ar
ch

 F
Y

13
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
at

ic
  (

12
39

 :
 M

o
n

th
ly



South Florida Water Management District
Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds
For the Month ending March 31, 2013

(Unaudited)

Actuals Variance
Current Through (under)/Over Actuals as a
Budget 3/31/2013 Budget % of Budget

Sources
Taxes1 279,466,960$         248,780,438$         (30,686,522)$        89.0%
Intergovernmental Revenues 78,596,829             7,572,747               (71,024,082)          9.6%
Interest on Invested Funds 4,954,300               2,460,048               (2,494,252)            49.7%
License and Permit Fees 2,404,310               11,592,655             9,188,345             482.2%
Other2 29,180,439             12,910,974             (16,269,465)          44.2%
Fund Balance 227,392,622           227,392,622           -                              100.0%
Total Sources 621,995,460$        510,709,484$        (111,285,976)$     82.1%

1 Includes Ad Valorem and Agricultural Privilege Taxes
2 Includes Leases, Sale of District Property, and Self Insurance Premiums

Current Available
Budget Expenditures Encumbrances 3 Budget %Expended %Obligated 4

Uses
Water Resources Planning and Monitoring 54,714,156             21,046,749             12,241,021           21,426,386$           38.5% 60.8%
Acquisition, Restoration and Public Works 241,370,521           44,615,910             72,473,584           124,281,027           18.5% 48.5%
Operation and Maintenance of Lands and Works 251,156,380           94,112,610             36,981,796           120,061,974           37.5% 52.2%
Regulation 29,253,844             13,253,400             2,302,378             13,698,066             45.3% 53.2%
Outreach 2,825,914               1,335,382               160,761                 1,329,772               47.3% 52.9%
Management and Administration 42,674,645             16,759,479             2,690,277             23,224,889            39.3% 45.6%
Total Uses 621,995,460$        191,123,529$        126,849,818$      304,022,112$        30.7% 51.1%

3 Encumbrances represent unexpended balances of open purchase orders and contracts.
4 Represents the sum of expenditures and encumbrances as a percentage of the available budget.

This unaudited financial statement is prepared as of March 31, 2013, and covers the interim period since the most recent audited financial
statements.

41.d

Packet Pg. 314

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 U

se
s 

o
f 

F
u

n
d

s_
M

ar
ch

 F
Y

13
 s

ta
te

  (
12

39
 :

 M
o

n
th

ly
 F

in
an

ci
al



TABLE OF CONTENTS
INDIVIDUAL PERMITS ISSUED BY

AUTHORITY DELEGATED TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FROM April 1, 2013 TO April 30, 2013

  

              I PERMIT APPLICATIONS           

COLLIER COUNTY
GLADES COUNTY
LEE COUNTY
MARTIN COUNTY
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY
MONROE COUNTY
OKEECHOBEE COUNTY
ORANGE COUNTY
OSCEOLA COUNTY
PALM BEACH COUNTY
POLK COUNTY

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

PAGE

43.a

Packet Pg. 315

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



1

COLLIER COUNTY

1.

2.

3.

4.

CYPRESS WOODS GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB

HACIENDA LAKES OF NAPLES LLC

PANTHERS GREY OAKS LLC

SFI  NAPLES RESERVE  LLC

SEC 18, 19  TWP 48S  RGE 26E

SEC 25  TWP 49S  RGE 25E

ACREAGE:   

ACREAGE:   

119.80

118.20

LANDSCAPE

LANDSCAPE

ALLOCATION: 19.58 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 

ALLOCATION: 20.36 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

APRIL 28, 2013

MAY 19, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 11-14,19, 30  TWP 50S  RGE 26,27E

SEC 1  TWP 51S  RGE 26E

ACREAGE:  

ACREAGE:  

610.75

592.51

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

    PERMIT TYPE:

    PERMIT TYPE:

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION MODIFICATION, 

INCLUDES CONSERVATION EASEMENT TO THE DISTRICT)

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION MODIFICATION)

    RECEIVING BODY: 

    RECEIVING BODY: 

HENDERSON CREEK BASIN

ONSITE WETLANDS VIA SWMS

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

APRIL 22, 2013

MAY 12, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

CYPRESS WOODS GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB

HACIENDA LAKES OF NAPLES PHASE I

NAPLES GRANDE GOLF CLUB

NAPLES RESERVE

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

130108-13

121009-11

130107-9

121120-1

11-01561-W

11-03312-P

11-00806-W

11-00090-S-02

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

WATER SOURCE: 

WATER SOURCE: 

ON-SITE LAKES AND LOWER TAMIAMI AQUIFER

ON-SITE LAKE(S)/POND(S),LOWER TAMIAMI AQUIFER,GOLDEN GATE CANAL

    PERMIT TYPE:

    PERMIT TYPE:

WATER USE MODIFICATION/RENEWAL

WATER USE RENEWAL

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 316

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



2

GLADES COUNTY

1.

LYKES BROS INC

SEC 4-9, 16-19,1-5, 8-17, 21-24, 26-27  TWP 41,41S  

RGE 32,31E

ACREAGE:  15905.60
AGRICULTURAL

    PERMIT TYPE: SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT (CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION MODIFICATION)

    RECEIVING BODY: NICODEMUS SLOUGH, C-19

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: JULY 22, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

NICODEMUS SLOUGH WATER MANAGEMENT PROJECT APPL.  NO.
PERMIT NO.

111219-12
22-00058-S

LAND USE:

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 317

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



3

LEE COUNTY

1.

2.

3.

4.

PLANTATION DEVELOPMENT LTD

MIROMAR LAKES LLC

OCP HOLDING CO LLC

RIVER HALL COUNTRY CLUB HOMEOWNERS ASSOC INC

SEC 24-26,34,35  TWP 46S  RGE 27E

SEC 27, 34-36  TWP 43S  RGE 26E

ACREAGE:   

ACREAGE:   

2090.00

462.06

AGRICULTURAL

LANDSCAPE

ALLOCATION: 346.84 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 

ALLOCATION: 79.75 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

APRIL 22, 2013

APRIL 11, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 11-14,23,24  TWP 46S  RGE 25E ACREAGE:   5.00

ALLOCATION: NOT REQUIRED
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: APRIL 10, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 22  TWP 45S  RGE 21E ACREAGE:  78.00
RESIDENTIAL

    PERMIT TYPE: ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (PERMIT EXTENSION, INCLUDES CONSERVATION 

EASEMENT TO THE DISTRICT)

    RECEIVING BODY: ONSITE WETLANDS

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: APRIL 20, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

HARBOUR POINTE AT SOUTH SEAS RESORT

MIROMAR LAKES

OCP HOLDING CO  LLC GROVES

RIVER HALL

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

130219-14

120103-3

120808-2

110805-10

36-00583-S-02

36-04087-W

36-00077-W

36-04006-W

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

WATER SOURCE: 

WATER SOURCE: 

SURFICIAL AND SANDSTONE AQUIFERS

SANDSTONE AQUIFER,ON-SITE LAKES,LOWER HAWTHORN AQUIFER

    PERMIT TYPE:
    WATER SOURCE: WATER TABLE AQUIFER

WATER USE RENEWAL

DEWATERING

    PERMIT TYPE:

    PERMIT TYPE:

WATER USE MODIFICATION/RENEWAL

WATER USE RENEWAL

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 318

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



4

MARTIN COUNTY

1.

2.

3.

JUPITER HILLS CLUB INC

HM PROPERTY INVESTMENTS LLC

PORT MAYACA PLANTATION PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION 

INC

SEC 13, 24  TWP 40S  RGE 42E ACREAGE:   .00
GOLF COURSE

WATER USE RENEWAL

    WATER SOURCE: SURFICIAL AQUIFER SYSTEM

ALLOCATION: 36.98 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 5, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 22,26-29  TWP 39S  RGE 37E ACREAGE:   117.00

ALLOCATION: 147.1 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 15, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 24  TWP 38S  RGE 39E ACREAGE:  32.70
COMMERCIAL

    PERMIT TYPE: ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (CONCEPTUAL APPROVAL MODIFICATION AND 

CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION MODIFICATION, INCLUDES CONSERVATION EASEMENT

TO THE DISTRICT)

    RECEIVING BODY: ONSITE WETLAND

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 14, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

JUPITER HILLS CLUB

MARTINGALE COMMONS

PORT MAYACA PLANTATION

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

121114-15

120716-8

090227-48

43-00054-W

43-01784-P-02

43-02096-W

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

    PERMIT TYPE:
    WATER SOURCE: SFWMD CANAL L-47

WATER USE MODIFICATION

DIVERSION AND 

IMPOUNDMENT

AGRICULTURAL

    PERMIT TYPE:

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 319

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



5

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

1.

2.

3.

CITY OF MIAMI BEACH

BELLAGIO LENNAR LLC

PODERE TERRANOVA, LLC

SEC 8  TWP 58S  RGE 38E ACREAGE:   200.00
AGRICULTURAL

ALLOCATION: 19.61 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: JUNE 17, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 27  TWP 53S  RGE 42E ACREAGE:   1.00

ALLOCATION: NOT REQUIRED
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 23, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 21  TWP 52S  RGE 40E ACREAGE:  72.22
RESIDENTIAL

    PERMIT TYPE: ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (NEW CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION)

    RECEIVING BODY: ON-SITE RETENTION

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 20, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

BAYSHORE NEIGHBORHOOD 8 PACKAGE C LAKE PANCOAST

BELLAGIO LENNAR

PODERE TERRANOVA

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

130128-1

130114-13

130319-6

13-04840-W

13-05310-P

13-05304-W

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

WATER SOURCE: BISCAYNE AQUIFER

    PERMIT TYPE:
    WATER SOURCE: WATER TABLE AQUIFER

WATER USE RENEWAL

DEWATERING

    PERMIT TYPE: WATER USE EXISTING/UNPERMITTED

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 320

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



6

MONROE COUNTY

1.

FLORIDA KEYS AQUADUCT AUTHORITY

SEC 3  TWP 67S  RGE 27E ACREAGE:   50.00

ALLOCATION: NOT REQUIRED
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: JUNE 20, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

CUDJOE REGIONAL WASTEWATER INNER ISLANDS COLLECTIO APPL.  NO.
PERMIT NO.

130218-7
44-00532-W

LAND USE:

    PERMIT TYPE:
    WATER SOURCE:

WATER USE PROPOSED

DEWATERING

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 321

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



7

OKEECHOBEE COUNTY

1.

2.

 CHAD RUCKS

COQUINA WATER CONTROL DISTRICT

SEC 7,8,17,18  TWP 35S  RGE 34E

SEC 10-16,20-29,32-36  TWP 34S  RGE 33E

ACREAGE:   

ACREAGE:   

631.00

1.00

ALLOCATION: 77.08 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH

ALLOCATION: NOT REQUIRED

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: 

JUNE 2, 2013

MAY 13, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

C AND M RUCKS DAIRY

SECTION 10 EXCAVATION

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

080716-18

130212-10

47-00229-W

47-01127-W

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

    PERMIT TYPE:

    PERMIT TYPE:

    WATER SOURCE:

    WATER SOURCE:

UPPER FLORIDAN AQUIFER

WATER TABLE AQUIFER

WATER USE EXPIRED/PREVIOUSLY PERMITTED

WATER USE PROPOSED

LIVESTOCK

DEWATERING

AGRICULTURAL

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 322

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



8

ORANGE COUNTY

1.

V F HORIZON INVESTMENTS L L C

SEC 3, 4  TWP 24S  RGE 27E ACREAGE:  314.01
RESIDENTIAL

    PERMIT TYPE: ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (NEW CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION), INCLUDES 

CONSERVATION EASEMENT TO THE DISTRICT)

    RECEIVING BODY: REEDY CREEK WETLAND AND HUCKLEBERRY LAKE

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: APRIL 27, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

LATHAM PARK NORTH APPL.  NO.
PERMIT NO.

121109-14
48-02239-P

LAND USE:

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 323

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



9

OSCEOLA COUNTY

1.

2.

FLORITURF SOD

ROLLING OAKS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES LLLP

SEC 22  TWP 28S  RGE 31E ACREAGE:   173.00
AGRICULTURAL

ALLOCATION: 29.02 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 23, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 3,4  TWP 25S  RGE 27E ACREAGE:  38.89
COMMERCIAL
ROADWAY

    PERMIT TYPE: ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION MODIFICATION)

    RECEIVING BODY: ADJACENT WETLANDS

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 7, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

FLORITURF SOUTH

ROLLING OAKS COMMONS

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

130222-8

120720-21

49-02284-W

49-01801-P

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

WATER SOURCE: UPPER FLORIDAN AQUIFER

    PERMIT TYPE: WATER USE PROPOSED

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 324

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



10

PALM BEACH COUNTY

1.

2.

FLORIDA GAS TRANSMISSION COMPANY LLC

TONSET COMPANY INC

SEC 5,16,22,23,28,29  TWP 42,44,45,47,49S  RGE 42E ACREAGE:   .09

ALLOCATION: NOT REQUIRED
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: APRIL 30, 2013

___________________________________________________________________________________

SEC 17  TWP 44S  RGE 43E ACREAGE:  18.92
RESIDENTIAL

    PERMIT TYPE: ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE (NEW CONSTRUCTION/OPERATION)

    RECEIVING BODY: ON-SITE RETENTION

    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: JUNE 4, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

FLORIDA GAS TRANSMISSION PALM BEACH COUNTY MASTER

TONSET PROPERTY

APPL.  NO.

APPL.  NO.

PERMIT NO.

PERMIT NO.

130130-1

080924-6

50-10214-W

50-10248-P

LAND USE:

LAND USE:

    PERMIT TYPE:
    WATER SOURCE: WATER TABLE AQUIFER

WATER USE PROPOSED

DEWATERING

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 325

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



11

POLK COUNTY

1.

MACK FARMS INC

SEC 3-6  TWP 31S  RGE 31E ACREAGE:   657.00
AGRICULTURAL

ALLOCATION: 194.79 MILLION GALLONS PER MONTH 
    LAST DATE FOR AGENCY ACTION: MAY 22, 2013
___________________________________________________________________________________

HARDEE FIELDS APPL.  NO.
PERMIT NO.

121221-10
53-00259-W

LAND USE:

WATER SOURCE: UPPER FLORIDAN AQUIFER

    PERMIT TYPE: WATER USE MODIFICATION/RENEWAL

___________________________________________________________________________________
43.a

Packet Pg. 326

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

D
 A

p
p

ro
va

l A
p

p
s 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

 (
12

62
 :

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r'

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)


	Introduction
	1. Call to Order - Dan O'Keefe, Chair, Governing Board
	2. Pledge of Allegiance - Dan O'Keefe, Chair, Governing Board
	3. Recognition of former Governing Board Member Joe Collins - Dan O'Keefe, Chair, Governing Board
	4. 1235 : Employee Recognitions
	a. May 2013 Employee Recognitions

	5. Agenda Revisions - Reagan Walker, Director, Office of Governing Board & Executive Services
	6. Abstentions by Board Members from items on the Agenda
	7. Water Resources Advisory Commission (WRAC) Report - Kevin Powers, Chair

	Consent Agenda
	8. Public Comment on Consent Agenda
	9. Pull Items for Discussion from Consent Agenda
	10. Board Comment on Consent Agenda
	11. 1236 : Approval of Minutes
	12. 1215 : Regulatory Consent Items
	a. ca_reg_rm_100_sd (Revised II)

	13. 1218 : Right of Way Regulatory Consent Agenda
	a. ca_om_reg_101

	14. 1237 : WRAC Waivers
	15. Resolution No. 2013 - 0501  : Release of District canal, road and mineral reservations, and issuance of non-use commitments
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0501  : Release of District canal, road and mineral reservations, and issuance of non-use commitments
	a. ca_om_200_Map_18527
	b. ca_om_200_Map_18528_18529_18530
	c. ca_om_200_Map_18531-18536
	d. ca_om_200_Map_18537
	e. ca_om_200_rd_ExhA

	16. Resolution No. 2013 - 0502  : Approve the conveyance of a portion of District fee owned C-103S right of way
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0502  : Approve the conveyance of a portion of District fee owned C-103S right of way
	a. ca_om_201_Map_BR100-001

	17. Resolution No. 2013 - 0503  : Authorize Exec. Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Troup Indiantown WCD Annual Election
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0503  : Authorize Exec. Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Troup Indiantown WCD Annual Election

	18. Resolution No. 2013 - 0504  : Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pine Tree WCD Annual Election
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0504  : Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pine Tree WCD Annual Election

	19. Resolution No. 2013 - 0505  : Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pal Mar WCD Annual Election
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0505  : Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pal Mar WCD Annual Election

	20. Resolution No. 2013 - 0506  : Approve ten year agricultural (row crops) with Pero Family Farms, Inc. (Lease Agreement# 4600002862)
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0506  : Approve ten year agricultural (row crops) with Pero Family Farms, Inc. (Lease Agreement# 4600002862)
	a. ca_om_206_MAP_JLS_ROWCrops_Pero_Appraisal 2 

	21. Resolution No. 2013 - 0507  : Alligator and Waterfowl Hunting in Compartment C and STA 6
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0507  : Alligator and Waterfowl Hunting in Compartment C and STA 6
	a. ca_om_208_ExhA_map

	22. Resolution No. 2013 - 0508  : Public Small Game Hunting Areas, 2013-14 Hunting Season
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0508  : Public Small Game Hunting Areas, 2013-14 Hunting Season
	a. ca_om_209_ExhA1_map
	b. ca_om_209_ExhA2_map

	23. Resolution No. 2013 - 0509  : Clewiston Flat Mowing - Contract Number 4600002863
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0509  : Clewiston Flat Mowing - Contract Number 4600002863

	24. Resolution No. 2013 - 0510  : C-51 Memorandum of Understanding
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0510  : C-51 Memorandum of Understanding
	a. Project Protocol Memorandum of Understanding Draft 2013-5-3

	25. Resolution No. 2013 - 0511  : Governing Board Committee Charters Policy Changes
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0511  : Governing Board Committee Charters Policy Changes

	26. Board Vote on Consent Agenda
	27. General Public Comment

	to show consent agenda votes insert items here
	Workshop
	28. 1255 : Tech Reports - Water & Eco Conditions
	29. 1223 : Land Assessment Process Update - Ray Palmer, Section Leader, Real Estate (ext. 2246)
	30. 1234 : Central Everglades Planning Project Update
	31. Legislative Update - Ernie Barnett, Assistant Executive Director, Everglades & Water Resources (ext. 2110)
	32. 1260 : Loxahatchee Replacement Storage

	Discussion Agenda
	33. Resolution No. 2013 - 0512  : Water Reuse Week
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0512  : Water Reuse Week

	34. Resolution No. 2013 - 0513  : Consumptive Use Permitting - policy change
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0513  : Consumptive Use Permitting - policy change

	35. Resolution No. 2013 - 0514  : North Shore Trash Rakes - Contract Number 4600002858
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0514  : North Shore Trash Rakes - Contract Number 4600002858

	36. Resolution No. 2013 - 0515  : S-5A Final Design - Contract Number 4600002851
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0515  : S-5A Final Design - Contract Number 4600002851

	37. Resolution No. 2013 - 0516  : S-13 Repowering and Automation Project - Purchase Order Number 4500074756
	Printout: Resolution No. 2013 - 0516  : S-13 Repowering and Automation Project - Purchase Order Number 4500074756

	38. General Public Comment

	Public Hearing
	39. 1241 : ROW - Rule Adoption
	a. 2013-04-26 Chapter 40E-6 FAC
	b. 2013-04-26 Chapter 40E-62 FAC

	40. 1219 : Statewide Environmental Resource Permitting
	a. ph_reg_102_Exhibit A
	b. ph_reg_102_Exhibit B


	Staff Reports
	41. 1239 : Monthly Financial Statement – March 2013
	a. Monthly Financial Statement Memo March FY13
	b. Summary Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds March FY13
	c. Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds_March FY13 programmatic
	d. Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds_March FY13 state

	42. General Counsel's Report - Carolyn S. Ansay
	43. 1262 : Executive Director's Report
	a. ED Approval Apps April 2013

	44. Board Comment

	Attorney Client Sessions
	45. 1233 : ATTORNEY CLIENT SESSION - USA
	46. Adjourn

	Appendix
	4.a · May 2013 Employee Recognitions
	12.a · ca_reg_rm_100_sd (Revised II)
	13.a · ca_om_reg_101
	15 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0501  : Release of District canal, road and mineral reservations, and issuance of non-use commitments
	15.a · ca_om_200_Map_18527
	15.b · ca_om_200_Map_18528_18529_18530
	15.c · ca_om_200_Map_18531-18536
	15.d · ca_om_200_Map_18537
	15.e · ca_om_200_rd_ExhA
	16 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0502  : Approve the conveyance of a portion of District fee owned C-103S right of way
	16.a · ca_om_201_Map_BR100-001
	17 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0503  : Authorize Exec. Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Troup Indiantown WCD Annual Election
	18 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0504  : Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pine Tree WCD Annual Election
	19 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0505  : Authorize Executive Director or her designee to cast SFWMD votes in Pal Mar WCD Annual Election
	20 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0506  : Approve ten year agricultural (row crops) with Pero Family Farms, Inc. (Lease Agreement# 4600002862)
	20.a · ca_om_206_MAP_JLS_ROWCrops_Pero_Appraisal 2 
	21 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0507  : Alligator and Waterfowl Hunting in Compartment C and STA 6
	21.a · ca_om_208_ExhA_map
	22 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0508  : Public Small Game Hunting Areas, 2013-14 Hunting Season
	22.a · ca_om_209_ExhA1_map
	22.b · ca_om_209_ExhA2_map
	23 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0509  : Clewiston Flat Mowing - Contract Number 4600002863
	24 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0510  : C-51 Memorandum of Understanding
	24.a · Project Protocol Memorandum of Understanding Draft 2013-5-3
	25 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0511  : Governing Board Committee Charters Policy Changes
	33 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0512  : Water Reuse Week
	34 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0513  : Consumptive Use Permitting - policy change
	35 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0514  : North Shore Trash Rakes - Contract Number 4600002858
	36 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0515  : S-5A Final Design - Contract Number 4600002851
	37 · Resolution No. 2013 - 0516  : S-13 Repowering and Automation Project - Purchase Order Number 4500074756
	39.a · 2013-04-26 Chapter 40E-6 FAC
	39.b · 2013-04-26 Chapter 40E-62 FAC
	40.a · ph_reg_102_Exhibit A
	40.b · ph_reg_102_Exhibit B
	41.a · Monthly Financial Statement Memo March FY13
	41.b · Summary Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds March FY13
	41.c · Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds_March FY13 programmatic
	41.d · Statement of Sources and Uses of Funds_March FY13 state
	43.a · ED Approval Apps April 2013


